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The Chair (Mr. Peter Fonseca (Mississauga East—

Cooksville, Lib.)): Welcome to meeting number 121 of the House
of Commons Standing Committee on Finance.

The committee is considering matters related to committee busi-
ness and, more specifically, the motion of PS Rachel Bendayan,
which was previously stood on Thursday, November 9, 2023.

Today's meeting is taking place in a hybrid format pursuant to
the Standing Order 15.1. Members are attending in person in the
room and remotely using the Zoom application.

I'd like to make a few comments for the benefit of the members.

Please wait until I've recognized you by name before speaking.
For those participating by video conference, click on the micro-
phone icon to activate your mic, and please mute yourself when
you're not speaking. For interpretation for those on Zoom, you have
the choice, at the bottom of your screen of either the floor, English
or French. For those in the room, you can use the earpiece and se-
lect the desired channel.

Although this room is equipped with a powerful audio system,
feedback events can occur. These can be extremely harmful to in-
terpreters, causing serious injuries. The most common cause of
sound feedback is an earpiece worn too close to a microphone. We
therefore ask all participants to exercise a high degree of caution
when handling the earpieces, especially when your microphone or
your neighbour's microphone is turned on. In order to prevent inci-
dents and safeguard the hearing health of the interpreters, I invite
participants to ensure that they speak into the microphone into
which their headset is plugged in, and to avoid manipulating the
earbuds by placing them on the table, away from the microphone,
when they are not in use.

I remind you that all comments should be addressed through the
chair. For members in the room, if you wish to speak, please raise
your hand. For members on Zoom, please use the “raise hand”
function. The clerk and I will manage the speaking order as best we
can, and we appreciate your patience and understanding in this re-
gard.

We have PS Bendayan who would like to speak, and then MP
Lawrence.
Go ahead, PS Bendayan.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan (Outremont, Lib.): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Mr. Chair, I appreciate the introduction you provided at the be-
ginning of the meeting, but for the sake of procedure, I move that
the committee resume debate on my motion on the Canada pension
plan, a motion that I first moved formally on November 6, 2023.

By way of background, I do think it is relevant to remind the
Canadians listening, and even those in this room, that I put this mo-
tion on notice way back on November 2. I moved it on November
6, at which point we did have the beginning of a filibuster. I moved
it again on November 9, which was followed by more than two and
a half hours of a Conservative filibustering to avoid getting to a
vote on this motion.

I certainly hope that now, after several weeks, members have
come to the committee with either proposals for amendments or the
intention to vote one way or another on this important motion, so
that we can get back to the housing study that had commenced and
was a productive use of our time with witnesses.

I certainly hope to come back to that as soon as possible, Mr.
Chair.

The Chair: Thank you, PS Bendayan.

1 have MP Lawrence, and MP Blaikie after that.

Mr. Philip Lawrence (Northumberland—Peterborough
South, CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

With your indulgence, I would just like to congratulate all of the
members and witnesses whom we heard on our week of travelling
from coast to coast. I thought there were great questions and even
better answers from many of our witnesses. I had the pleasure of
being there for Quebec City, Toronto and Winnipeg. I'm sure all
stops were great.

As I said earlier, I just want to make sure my comments are an-
chored in the motion. I'll just read the first line of the motion:

Celebrates the Canada Pension Plan as the foundation of a secure and dignified re-
tirement for tens of millions of Canadians and a pillar of Canada’s economy;

My remarks will focus mainly on Canada's economy per the mo-
tion.

We are of course, in an extremely difficult economic time, really
with extremes that we haven't seen since the Great Depression.
Philip Cross, of course, the noted academic and statistician has said
that we have the worse GDP since the Great Depression. We're ac-
tually contracting. I believe it's per person GDP. Those numbers are
obscured a little bit.
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For those Canadians listening at home, they may be confused
when they hear the Liberals say, we had an increase in GDP. Our
increase in population is obscuring the actual economic numbers
because while the absolute numbers are higher, the actual per Cana-
dian numbers are lower. This government is in some respects suc-
cessfully obscuring the truth. But you know what, Canadians feel it.
The people of Northumberland—Peterborough South are very
much aware of the economic times.

We see other indicators such as food banks being at record lev-
els. I believe it's two million Canadians per month who visit food
banks. I heard a statistic just this morning that fully a third of food
bank attendees, customers—I guess "clients" may be the best way
to refer to them—are new. These are folks who have never been to
a food bank before. I heard a great interview this morning of one of
the individuals who is in charge of a food bank.

You can imagine the energy, exhaustion and the stress it would
take for someone who had never been to a food bank and probably
never thought they would ever go to a food bank. Yet this govern-
ment, instead of focusing on these very critical issues, is obsessed
with scoring political points, to sow division. We all know from the
first Prime Minister Trudeau of policies that, if not a willful, are
certainly negligent, and of efforts that have alienated large portions
of our country. Traditionally that might be viewed as western
Canada, but I can tell you that in rural Ontario it's the same thing.

The folks in my riding, in part of rural Canada, very much feel
like they are alienated and aren't thought about or cared about by
this government. You see that even more so in the carve-out from
the carbon tax. Yes, I'm glad that the Prime Minister got the memo
from the Atlantic members of caucus who said that they can't cam-
paign on this. We can't go back. We can't face our residents with a
carbon tax at $80 a tonne.

I'll just remind people on the record as well, because there was
some confusion—I'm sure it was honest confusion—on the road
when I said carbon taxes had quadrupled. In 2019, the carbon tax
was $20 per tonne. It is now $80. Four times $20 is $80. Sorry, it
will be in the spring of 2024. I should correct that. We have the
quadrupling of the carbon tax and in many cases a very meagre re-
bate coming back the other way.

® (1555)

We get this exemption, this carve-out, this acknowledgement that
in fact the carbon tax is leading to an affordability crisis, as we
heard from Tiff Macklem. He shared with us that 16% of inflation
is actually directly because of the carbon tax and that 33% of infla-
tion over target is directly because of the carbon tax. Those are all
numbers.

I'm sure this is honest confusion, but I have heard many Liberal
and even NDP members in the House, and even in this very com-
mittee, get very confused on that point and say things like it's only
1.5%. That's just not true. That's not what the governor said. The
governor said, and he confirmed it, that it was actually 60 full basis
points, which is 16% of inflation.

There is no doubt that by having that exemption, that carve-out
only for Atlantic Canada.... I should be fair, though. I want to be
completely transparent and make sure that we have all the facts. It

does apply to other people across the country who heat their homes
with oil. The reality is that the majority of people who heat their
homes with oil are out on the east coast, which is where the Prime
Minister's caucus was very upset. It's going to make many Canadi-
ans feel left out in the cold, literally and figuratively.

It's the logic, Mr. Chair, that really.... I don't understand it. I hear
Minister Wilkinson say, you don't understand. Fuel oil is really bad
for the environment, so we have to take the carbon tax off it. But
then that same guy will say, you don't understand, gasoline is really
bad for the environment so we have to quadruple the carbon tax.
There's a complete gap of logic.

Every time I hear this debate, not even as a partisan or as a Con-
servative but as someone who studied philosophy at university, [
don't understand the logic of it. Either the carbon tax leads to less
of something, and so we should put it particularly heavily on bad
things, or it doesn't, and then we should remove it all and, instead,
allow Canadians to have the resources they need to make the deci-
sions they need to. Actually, that brings me to Bill C-234.

As some of you might be aware, I originated Bill C-206—it's a
private member's bill—back in 2019. That was the predecessor to
Bill C-234, which was to remove the carbon tax from propane and
natural gas for farmers. This would affect farmers from coast to
coast to coast.

® (1600)

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Mr. Chair, I have a point of order based
on relevance. The Conservative member is talking about a bill that
is currently before the Senate and that has absolutely nothing to do
with the motion on the floor at this committee.

The Chair: MP Lawrence, you were talking about the economy.
Perhaps you could get back to the economy and to PS Bendayan's
motion on the CPP.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you very much. I'll anchor my
comments to make sure that the connection is clear.

The carbon tax is having a huge impact on the economy, and we
actually heard that testimony. You don't have to take my word for
it, Mr. Chair. You can take Tiff Macklem's word for it. The number
one problem with the economy—which I think is universally
agreed upon by Bill Morneau, John Manley and Minister Free-
land—is inflation.
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We heard testimony from the Governor of the Bank of Canada
that 16% of that inflation or 33% above target is directly related to
the carbon tax, so one really can't talk about the economy without
talking about the carbon tax.

I know that might offend the sensibilities of some Liberals be-
cause this is the signature piece that has really—it hasn't really ac-
complished anything on the environment. In fact, all it's doing is
actually, as I had the opportunity to talk about a little bit, pushing
Canadian companies to either leave fully or to put their manufactur-
ing offshore so that they don't have to pay a carbon tax.

In places like Guangdong province or in West Virginia, where
they may rely heavily on coal, they don't have to pay the carbon
tax, which means that instead of having clean Canadian natural gas
powering industry relatively efficiently, we have the same products
being made in Guangdong province, in West Virginia and else-
where in the world where they power with coal.

I would much rather have the hydroelectric dam in Niagara Falls
powering and creating manufacturing in Ontario as opposed to hav-
ing coal in the outskirts of Beijing and around other industrial areas
where they don't have the same clean tech that we do here in
Canada.

Getting back to the bill I was talking about, which was Bill
C-2006, agriculture is a primary part of the economy, and I think one
of the most critical parts of the economy. We want to talk a little bit
about how carbon tax interrelates with agriculture, both of which
are critical to the economy.

I had the great pleasure of introducing Bill C-206 in Parliament
in 2019, which was a bill to exempt natural gas and propane from
the carbon tax regime for farmers. As I said, it would affect farmers
from coast to coast to coast, but particularly those who are drying
grain. This was on the heals of—excuse the language; it's the term
they use in agriculture circles—"“the harvest from hell”. It was a
very wet harvest, which created a very moist grain and corn. Indi-
viduals had to pay tens of thousands of dollars in carbon tax. That
continues to this day, and that was at $20 per tonne. As I said, it's
been quadrupled now to $80 per tonne. We heard great testimony
on the road. I hope that members of the government, particularly,
were listening to CAPP and other expert witnesses.

We took that all the way to the Senate, Mr. Chair. We got it all
the way there, and unfortunately, Prime Minister Trudeau called his
unnecessary $600 million election, so it stalled there in the Senate.

To my great relief and admiration, my great colleague Mr. Ben
Lobb brought it back in the form of Bill C-234. I might say that Mr.
Lobb actually improved the bill to include barn heating amongst
other small but important amendments that he made to that bill.

We're here now again. It's back in the Senate. Unfortunately, the
Liberal government in the so-called independent Senate, and 1 do
say “so-called”, is utilizing pressure on the senators it controls.

They can call them Liberals. They can call them whatever they
want to call them. They listen to their master in Prime Minister
Trudeau, and they are currently stalling that bill.

One of the reasons I think they might be stalling it is that the en-
vironment minister, Mr. Guilbeault, has said that if there's one more

carve-out, he will resign as environment minister. That carve-out, [
believe, is coming.

® (1605)

We have the support there, so I would call on the Prime Minister
to.... If he has to choose between his environment minister and
Canadian agriculture, the choice is easy. You go with Canadian
agriculture. I'm sure Mr. Guilbeault, despite his criminal record, is
eminently employable. I believe he'll be just fine, going forward.

The question is on the carbon tax. We should have farmers, and
will likely have farmers, as exemptive, as long as the Liberal sena-
tors don't hold it up too much.

By the way, to anyone listening, please write your Liberal MP—

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Mr. Chair, I have a point of order.

I am renewing my point of order on the subject of relevance.
With much respect, my colleague has not respected your direction,
Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Again, MP Lawrence, please stick to the motion:

1. Celebrates the Canada Pension Plan as the foundation of a secure and digni-
fied retirement for tens of millions of Canadians and a pillar of Canada's econo-
my;

2. Recognizes the important contribution of the Quebec Pension Plan which was
established independently at the same time as the Canada Pension Plan; and,

3. Stands with the majority of Albertans who are opposed to Premier Danielle
Smith's dangerous plan to withdraw from the Canada Pension Plan that threaten
the pensions of millions of seniors and hardworking Canadians from coast to
coast.

Let's focus on that.

Mr. Adam Chambers (Simcoe North, CPC): On the same
point of order, Mr. Chair—

The Chair: Go ahead on the point of order.
Mr. Adam Chambers: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

1 believe the member was getting there. With respect, agriculture
would be a strong pillar of Canada's economy—

The Chair: That's not a point of order.

The member can speak, but I would ask the member to focus on
the motion.

Go ahead, MP Lawrence.
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Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I think it actually is self-evident that the carbon tax is affecting
farmers, and agriculture is a big part of the economy. If this mem-
ber is saying somehow that agriculture is not part of the Canadian
economy, I wish he would just come out and say that, because my
farmers certainly feel differently than that.

Perhaps, Mr. Chair, I might speculate that maybe their lack of re-
spect for farmers is leading to the extreme food insecurity that mil-
lions of Canadians are facing right now. I firmly disagree with the
member that agriculture is not.... I believe agriculture is part of the
economy, and I'm going to continue to talk about it. It says it right
here—“a pillar of Canada's economy”—so I'll continue to talk
about it.

Talking about agriculture this year, the testimony we heard to
this very finance committee in Winnipeg, from agriculture groups
and farmers themselves, was no doubt.... They agreed that probably
the best solution is not any more carve-outs, but to cancel the car-
bon tax once and for all. When you think about it, is there any other
button this government could hit that would reduce inflation by
16% tomorrow, and from being 33% above target? What other poli-
cy lever would be that effective in fighting inflation? Honestly, 1
mean this. When I no longer have the floor, what's their answer to
reducing inflation? I have a policy right now that will reduce the
rate of inflation by 16% and 33%.

Although I agree with most of Mr. Macklem's testimony on the
impact of carbon tax on inflation, it should be pointed out that he
just talked about the direct impact, and he was only talking about
fuel. That's not even the full impact on inflation; it's actually just
part of it. The other thing he said.... I know members across the
aisle, whom I respect, have said, “Well, yes, Phil, but it's only for
one year”—and it's true that he did say that. But the reality is the
carbon tax is set to increase all the way to 2030, to $170 per tonne,
which means it will have an impact on inflation every year until
2030. So, it doesn't stop this year. The impact on inflation will con-
tinue to go forward, because when you cancel the carbon tax, you
eliminate not only the carbon tax now, but the future increases as
well. That's a question I'm looking forward to putting to Governor
Macklem going forward, because it is clear, basic logic on that.

When you look at the overall divisive policies of this government
and the carbon tax carve-out, what you see is that the carbon tax is
getting more and more holes in it. In fact, it's almost untenable go-
ing forward, because you have the heating oil exemption; you'll
have the farmer exemption, hopefully, soon; and then there are oth-
er exemptions that are not in there, which I don't understand quite
why. No one has been affected by the affordability crisis more than
persons with disabilities. Why should there not be a carbon tax ex-
emption for persons with disabilities?

On that, despite the fact that we're 1,000 days from the introduc-
tion of legislation with respect to the Canada disability benefit, and
it's been over one year since the enabling legislation, we still don't
have it funded. This government has to be fair to persons with dis-
abilities, and we heard great testimony on that, with respect. We are
now “double punishing” persons with disabilities, who unfortunate-
ly, and to the great criticism of our society, are often at the lowest

quintile of economic performance. This is not a reflection on them;
it's a reflection on us as politicians.

I'm hoping that the fall economic statement finally funds this
benefit, which I believe had unanimous support in the House of
Commons. But now, in addition to that, we're going to charge indi-
viduals a carbon tax, which is very difficult.

® (1610)

Canadians who are most economically vulnerable in general are
often hurt disproportionately by regressive taxes like the GST and
the carbon tax. I had the opportunity to talk to a poverty advocate.
He said that, in his experience, only 4% of those who are most fi-
nancially vulnerable, those at the bottom of the economic spectrum,
file their income taxes. For those individuals making an income of
over $20,000 to $25,000, they are paying taxes, and it's a net eco-
nomic loss. For those unfortunately not reaching that threshold, or
even sometimes higher, they are in receipt of net benefits.

For example, if individuals who have had difficult economic
times, for whatever reason, do not file their income tax returns,
which according to that poverty advocate is 96% of them, they
don't get the carbon tax rebate. However, the reality is, on the mea-
gre earnings they carve out—and I'm sure they are doing their best
to make more but for whatever reason, obstacles and barriers are in
their way that I'm sure are beyond their control—they have to pay
carbon tax. If they are paying rent, they are either paying it directly
or paying it indirectly through heating costs. They are probably us-
ing some type of transportation that likely requires some type of
fossil fuel, and once again, they are paying for that in dollars.

We had further testimony from the City of London as well, and
they talked about how difficult it was. That, Mr. Chair, was some of
the more startling testimony about the number of individuals who
lost their lives on the city streets in London. It was deeply moving
for myself and, I'm sure, for the other members. They agreed that
one thing we could do as parliamentarians would be to reduce the
cost of heating. Many of the organizations that provide solace, or
care, or respite to individuals who find themselves unhomed have
to pay the carbon tax. That is at the cost of providing more benefits
to individuals who are in the most difficult circumstances we could
imagine. Instead of buying extra winter coats, they are having to
pay for the carbon tax.
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It's incredibly difficult for me to understand why a government
that has mired our country in a housing crisis, where mortgages are
up two or three times, where rent is up two times, and that's if you
can find a place.... In some communities in my riding, like Cobourg
and Port Hope, they are facing vacancy rates of less than 1%, so
even if you have the $2,000 or $2,500 a month to pay for housing,
it just doesn't exist. I just cannot understand why the government
continues to go in the direction of making life more difficult.

Quite frankly, the root of a lot of those issues is our productivity
crisis. Canada, unfortunately, is ranked near the bottom of the
OECD with respect to productivity. I hope, in the fall economic
statement, they are looking through a lens of productivity. If I were
advising the Minister of Finance—maybe she's listening, but I don't
know—I would put every single economic policy through a pro-
ductivity lens. In some cases, there might be things that outrank
productivity, but, for everything this government does, they should
look at the productivity of it, because even inflation is affected by
productivity.

® (1615)

Of course, we've heard a lot from the Governor of the Bank of
Canada Tiff Macklem, who talked about inflation and the effect of
demand on inflation. However, there are two sides to it. There are
two sides to the ledger. There's both demand and supply. What the
Governor of the Bank of Canada is attempting to do is reduce de-
mand. He's trying to get fewer dollars chasing goods. He's doing
that mainly by talking about monetary policy, reducing the money
supply and increasing interest rates. That reduces the money. He's
even, unprecedentedly.... | have to admit, I was a little taken aback
at the finance committee that he was so forthright. Good on him for
calling for the federal government, which was spending at a growth
rate of 3.5%, to bring it down to under 2%. Otherwise, it would be
at cross-purposes or unhelpful to his efforts.

There's the other side. There's the demand side. Slowing demand
is painful. Slowing demand increases interest rates, which makes
mortgages more expensive. It also causes unemployment and puts
you on that path towards recession and maybe even “stagflation”.

Now, there's another way. There's another side of the ledger. We
call that “supply”. The study of that is called “supply-side eco-
nomics”. If we can increase the number of goods, society becomes
more prosperous. It doesn't come with the pain that reducing de-
mand does. In fact, it's the exact opposite. If you increase supply,
you increase economic opportunities for everyone. You increase
prosperity. You increase the wealth of the nation. You increase the
size of the pie. What I firmly believe this government needs to do,
not just to combat inflation now....

We could be in for, as Tiff Macklem and other economists have
commented, structural high inflation, meaning we're simply not
producing enough goods to meet the demand we have, especially
with the large population growth we have. Rather than tamping
down demand by saying, “Canadians need to do with less and be
happy about it”—which seems to be the calling words of the other
side—I believe Canadians can produce more, make more and be

more prosperous.

When we increase economic growth—it's been proven over and
over again, from JFK to Brian Mulroney—we help the most vulner-

able. It's when we get that economic squeeze in supply.... It's not
the wealthy in our society. It's not the millionaires who suffer.
They'll be just fine. When you're making a million bucks a year and
lose 10% of your income, it's probably not a good time. I've never
earned a million dollars, but it's probably not a good time. Howev-
er, if you're making $10,000 a year and lose 10% of your income,
you're probably not going to eat some days. It's the most vulnerable
who get crushed.

Actually, once again, Governor Macklem came out and pretty
much said this. Governor Macklem called inflation “a tax that dis-
proportionately affects the most vulnerable members of society.”
Once again, I was surprised by Governor Macklem's candour on the
topic. I look forward to having him back here again so he can am-
plify these comments, because inflation is an incredibly corrosive
force on our economy. It waters down the wealth of Canadians.

® (1620)

I understand that the governor has to do what he has to do right
now to reduce inflation, which is increase interest rates. His job is
going to be made harder, meaning he'll have to increase interest
rates more if this government can't get their spending under control.
In fact, Scotiabank said, in a recent report, that actually a full $700
of the average mortgage is the direct result of this government's
profligate spending. In that same report, [ believe, they said that in-
vestment in housing is down 14%, meaning that we don't have
more houses coming online.

We are welcoming newcomers, which is fantastic and great, but
we owe it to them as well as to individuals who were born in
Canada, to enable them to afford housing. If we can't deliver the
housing for newcomers and all Canadians, that's devastating. Not
being able to afford a house isn't just that you don't get a lawn; of-
tentimes people choose not to have families at that point because
they just don't have any place to put their children. We are causing
all sorts of social and economic pain by not having the appropriate
housing plan in place.

Our leader Pierre Poilievre has come up with a common-sense
housing plan to reduce taxes, to reduce red tape and to incentivize
municipalities to get more housing starts out the door, but right now
we're going the wrong way. In fact, in testimony before this very
finance committee, the CMHC said that, no, the current policies
will not bridge the housing gap, which means we have another nail
in the structural inflation coffin.
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Our productivity issues are reducing our supply of pretty much
everything and now we have housing.... We are unable to increase
the number of houses that we need, which would increase housing
going forward.

Then on top of that, we're also limiting the ability to make use of
our own natural resources. Of course, a large portion of inflation in
CPI is actually fuels, such as gasoline, diesel. Because we are limit-
ing our ability to be self-sufficient—even though we have clean,
great Canadian natural gas, Canadian energy—the impact of that is
we will be increasingly dependent on other countries, meaning we
will be dependent on world markets with respect to future fuel
prices, which will leave us exposed to a shock in energy prices.
This government, in many ways, is creating the perfect storm for
structural high inflation.

We need to have a common-sense plan to get this economy back
on the rails. Our leader has said very clearly that CPP is something
that we believe should continue to be national in scope—with, of
course, the noted exemption of Quebec. We would encourage Al-
bertans and Alberta to stay in CPP, but we do have trouble with the
language, particularly the third line of Ms. Bendayan's third line in
there, third paragraph.

I would like to move an amendment at this point to delete that
and replace it with the following, “The Liberal government's poli-
cies such as the carbon tax and Bill C-69 are lead to greater divi-
sion in our country.”
® (1625)

The Chair: Is that an amendment?

Mr. Philip Lawrence: It's an amendment, yes.

The Chair: Is there debate on this? Is there no debate?

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I will put myself on the list.

The Chair: Is that for debate on this amendment?

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Yes, it is. Thank you—

The Chair: You're speaking to your amendment.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Yes, exactly.

I think it's important to note that this Liberal government has
continued to put forward policies that divide our great country.
Whether it be the carbon tax that I've talked about and will continue
to talk about, Bill C-69, which is referred to as the “no more
pipelines” bill, or Bill C-48.

Abraham Lincoln famously said that a house divided cannot
stand. We need to have a country that is working together. We need
from every corner, from Nova Scotia to British Columbia, everyone
rowing in the same direction and working together to make this the
great country that we know it should and can be.

When we look across our country, we see individuals increasing-
ly feeling as though they are being left out by this government,
whether you are a logger in British Columbia or you're working in
the oil fields in Alberta.

® (1630)

Mr. Daniel Blaikie (ElImwood—Transcona, NDP): Was that
your timer?

Mr. Philip Lawrence: It was, exactly.

That's to tell me to get started.

That's the one point.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: That's your preamble done.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Exactly, I'm going to focus on the meat of
my comments NOw.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Don't set a bar you can't meet. Manage your
expectations.

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!
Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you, thank you.

1 do enjoy my friends in the NDP and their always interesting
comments.

Yes, we're talking about division and the way these policies are
sowing division. We have the carbon tax exemption, which is the
latest example of Liberals' playing one side of the country against
another.

I'm going to take a little bit of a break because I want to hear
from one of our Atlantic members with respect to how his con-
stituents feel about division in this country and whether it's on the
rise or otherwise.

The Chair: We'll go to MP Ellis on the amendment.

Do you want to speak to the amendment?
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I'm sorry; I thought it was on this.

The Chair: Okay, you were. I didn't realize that.

He had raised his hand, MP Blaikie. I wasn't sure if that was...

Mr. Philip Lawrence: If you want to go first, Daniel, that's
okay.

Mr. Stephen Ellis (Cumberland—Colchester, CPC): He can
go first if he'd like. I'm just visiting here.

The Chair: We have MP Blaikie, then MP Ellis on the amend-
ment.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I will try to be as relevant to the amendment
as my colleague just was to the motion—maybe more so. We'll see.

Look, I think it's important to state that I'm quite satisfied with
the motion as it stood. I don't see any particular need to amend the
motion, particularly not in the way that my colleague has proposed.
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If I understand correctly, the reason why we're not on the housing
study is that my Conservative colleagues take exception to the
phrase “Premier Danielle Smith's dangerous plan”. I think it is pret-
ty clear, if you look at some of the public domain polling, that a
majority of Albertans are very seriously concerned about the
prospect of leaving the Canada pension plan.

I think it's pretty clear, if you've read the coverage of this particu-
lar proposal by various media outlets, that it's something the Alber-
ta government dreamt up in order to try to create some political
leverage. I think it is dangerous to stake the pension futures of
Canadian workers across the country on a political gambit to try to
wrest things out of Ottawa. I think a government that is trying to act
in the interests of its people doesn't politicize their pensions in that
way.

The Canada pension plan has an excellent track record of,
frankly, great returns. I think there are lots of people who would
like to see, in their personal investment portfolio, returns of the
kind that the CPP has seen. I think they've averaged about 10%
over the last 10 years—of course, it's been a very tumultuous 10
years. Until interest rates went up it was pretty hard to get a 10%
return on much of anything. There are always debates about what
the Canada pension plan invests in, and how much it invests, and
all the rest. I don't think there should be any debate about the effica-
cy of the CPPIB in securing a good return for Canadian pensioners.

I don't take exception to this. What I would say to my colleagues
is that not long ago we passed a motion objecting to the HSBC-
RBC merger. We did that because even though there were some
folks.... If memory serves, I don't think the Liberals voted on that
particular proposal. They didn't oppose it, but they didn't support it
either. I think what's notable about that, notwithstanding the merits
of abstention—I won't speak to that at the moment—was that we
got to make a decision as a committee. I get that there are some
folks around the table who want to defend Danielle Smith more
than they want to study housing. That's not the point of view of ev-
eryone around the committee table. Maybe we'll find out that it is—
I don't know. The point is that we'll know when we have the vote.

I don't think that suspending the work that this committee was
managing to do in a constructive way on the housing file.... Some-
thing that we haven't seen enough of is constructive, productive
work. This is in order to provide political cover for Danielle Smith,
who, as I say, is doing something that is dangerous, risky and in my
opinion not motivated by the right reasons. I think that is a mistake.

I'd be very glad to see us come to a vote. As I say, when it came
to the RBC-HSBC merger, it wasn't that we didn't have a consen-
sus...and that's not the way that we operate in Parliament, in any
event.... You often hear Conservatives talk about the wonder of ma-
jority democracy and 50% plus one, and all of that, but 50% plus
one only matters if you get to have a vote. Now, when they don't
like it they say you need to have a consensus. When they do like it,
then 50% plus one will do. Which is it? Is it 50% plus one, or is
consensus-based decision-making?

If the Conservatives want consensus-based decision-making to
be the way we do things on Parliament Hill, surely they'll have to
carry a very different attitude and posture into committee meetings
and the House of Commons than they have been, for as long as |

can remember. [ would say their posture is not one that promotes
consensus decision-making. I've been part of organizations that op-
erate on a consensus-based model, and the discussions around the
table look very different.

® (1635)

If the commitment is to 50% plus one, then so be it. I'm not ad-
vocating for a change to consensus-based decision-making. I'm just
saying if you have and you support a 50% plus one model, the only
way that is functional is if you allow for votes to happen, and what
the Conservatives are doing is essentially imposing a consensus-
based decision-making model on the committee by refusing to al-
low for a vote when they don't agree with the motion.

I am to take from this that the only way we're going to have
votes around here is if the Conservatives already like what the mo-
tion has to say.

As a New Democrat, I know very well what it means to lose
votes and, nevertheless, be committed to an institution in which I
don't always win based on the rules—but I don't take my ball and
go home. I don't refuse having business happen simply because |
don't like all of the business that's being conducted. I focus on the
next battle.

People are free to take whatever position they want around the
table. What I don't like is a position that says, unless we like what's
in the motion, there won't be any votes. And I will say, for as much
as I have disagreements with my Liberal colleagues from time to
time, what I'm reading in the tea leaves is that they weren't thrilled
about the RBC-HSBC merger motion at committee. I don't know;
I'll leave that for them to say. They didn't vote against it. They
didn't vote for it, but they did allow the vote to happen, and I don't
see that we need to sit here much longer, provided that we can al-
low a vote to happen.

Then we will know the will of the committee, as we came to
know the will of the committee on the RBC-HSBC merger, and we
will move on from there. The reason we're not moving on is that
the Conservatives are doing Danielle Smith's dirty work at this ta-
ble because they don't like the idea that a committee of the House
of Commons would criticize her.

I don't think that's the threshold here. We're allowed to have
votes on these kinds of things, or at least we should be.
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If need be, I can say more about the amendment but certainly on
the main motion, I'm happy to proceed to a vote. I think it is fine as
it stands. I don't think the amendment improves the motion in any
way, nor do I think it helps us get closer to a consensus. If that's
indeed what the Conservatives are looking for, I don't see this
amendment as having contributed to that at all.

I do know that when the motion was first moved there was some
talk about trying to find an amendment and come closer to a con-
sensus. I've been willing to listen with an open ear on that. This
amendment has not been part of those conversations, and it is clear-
ly designed not to bring the committee closer to any kind of con-
sensus.

There is a little bit of disappointment on that front, to be sure,
that protecting Danielle Smith's political hide is going to be more
important to federal Conservatives around this table than approach-
ing consensus, but I'll leave it now to my Conservative colleagues
to carry on talking.

Thank you.
® (1640)
The Chair: Thank you, MP Blaikie.

MP Ellis.
Mr. Stephen Ellis: Thank you very much, Chair.

Thanks, everyone, for allowing me to be here and speak on this
important motion.

We know very clearly that the motion my colleague moved is re-
ally about division and, as he mentioned, Cumberland—Colchester
is in Atlantic Canada and has been significantly affected by the di-
visive carbon tax and the negative impact it's had on the people I
represent. Certainly, it is a time when we have had more outcry
from citizens on one policy than anything else, mostly because, of
course, they cannot afford to heat their homes or house themselves
and feed themselves, and this is incredibly distressing.

I was a family physician for 26 years, and certainly some people
questioned my sanity for leaving that and coming here as a politi-
cian, leaving a well-respected profession to come here to do some-
thing quite different. That said, having had very deep relationships
with many people over a quarter of a century plus, you begin to re-
alize the pain Atlantic Canadians are feeling at the current time is
disproportionate to any other time. Certainly, in my adult life, never
before do I remember people going in droves to the food bank. In-
deed, the food bank in my particular riding, the food bank in Truro,
had to reach out to the county to ask them to pay their mortgage,
first of all, because their mortgage rates were incredibly high—
which we know is driven by the reckless spending of the NDP-Lib-
eral coalition government—but also because the demand at the
food bank was more than ever, such that they couldn't meet the de-
mand while meeting the payments on their mortgage.

When you begin to look at those realities of life and the fact that
one dear little old lady called.... I spoke with her and she said the
following. In fact, there are two stories that I think are very, very
important in telling about the division we're seeing in this country.
This one lady called and said she got up in the morning—she lived
in a mobile home—she turned on the heat so it would heat up, she

got something to eat, and she then went back to bed with her
clothes on and pulled the covers up until suppertime when things
got cold again. She then turned on the furnace again, warmed up
the house, had something to eat and then went back to bed. That
was how she spent her days last winter over and over and over
again. When you begin to understand that's how she spent her days,
it becomes very unfulfilling.

I think the other thing another lady made very clear was a con-
cept that she called “ungrocery”, which, to me, was something
that's not a real word. That being said, it was incredibly dishearten-
ing to hear her story that she said she would get her grocery cart, go
around the supermarket, pick out the things she wanted, realize she
could not afford them and then do the opposite, taking things out of
her cart such that she would have a bill at the end of the day she
could afford. When you begin to look at those things, it becomes
very, very difficult in the country to understand the division this
NDP-Liberal coalition has created.

The other thing when we talk about division is that we under-
stand that in rural Atlantic Canada many people still live in single-
family houses and heat their homes with oil. That becomes a diffi-
cult situation. We know that the cost of home heating fuel has sky-
rocketed under this NDP-Liberal coalition, but the sad thing that
goes along with it that has helped create this division is the fact that
a company called Sustainable Marine Energy had a tidal power
project, part of which was based in the great riding of Cumber-
land—Colchester, but because the Department of Fisheries and
Oceans, run by the NDP-Liberal coalition, refused to provide them
direction on how to go forward they had to abandon it.

The difficulty, of course, with that is in the Bay of Fundy we
have the highest tides in the world, the most potential, and the po-
tential there would suggest there is a possibility that when har-
nessed the tidal power in the Bay of Fundy would actually be able
to power all of Atlantic Canada, provide every person there with
the energy they need at a reasonable cost. Sustainable Marine Ener-
gy was the only company in the history of attempting to harness
tidal power to have the ability to actually put electricity back into
the grid.

® (1645)

When the NDP-Liberal coalition government refused to provide
forward direction, I took the opportunity to speak to the director of
Sustainable Marine. It was really quite fascinating. He was very ex-
cited. His company developed a new style of ship platform that was
able to place its tidal power harnessing equipment on top of the wa-
ter. We had an incredible discussion.
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The people from FORCE were there, which is the federal gov-
ernment arm of monitoring with respect to tidal power projects. Re-
ally, of course, the concern people may have had was how many
fish were actually harmed by the process of harnessing tidal power.
They had underwater listening devices and video devices, and the
only event that was close to being harmful was that a fish swam
through the turbines once. It wasn't injured. It wasn't hit. It wasn't
affected in any way, shape or form. Those comments were echoed
by the federal government monitoring arm, FORCE, as well. It was
very clear that the method proposed by Sustainable Marine was not
harming fish at the particular site.

When we look at this, we have a federal government that is
harming the ability of Atlantic Canadians to provide energy into the
grid, to actually provide enough energy, as I said, for the entirety of
the Atlantic provinces in a sustainable manner, which would free
them from the need to buy it elsewhere of course.

When we talk about emissions, it always fascinates me. When
we think about tidal energy, there are no emissions—zero. How
much better could it get than that? You don't harm the local fish en-
vironment, and you have zero emissions, with a possibility to pro-
vide enough energy for all of Atlantic Canada. The only thing
standing in the way is the Department of Fisheries and Oceans re-
fusing to provide guidance to allow Sustainable Marine to move
forward. It had one platform in the water, which again was the only
project to ever supply energy back into the grid.

The meeting also included one other company, because people,
of course, will say that somebody else will do it. I asked the one
other company if it actually had a project proposal. It didn't, but it
had an idea. I asked if it had any investors. It didn't. It didn't have a
project in the water. It had no money, and it wasn't putting power in
the grid. The other company said that was correct.

However, for the one company that is putting power in the grid,
what are we doing? We are telling it to go home. Not “we” on this
side of the House. Let's be clear on that. The NDP-Liberal coalition
and the Department of Fisheries and Oceans are saying, “take your
ball and your bat, and go home”.

What did Sustainable Marine do? It took it upon itself to remove
all its equipment from that site. It not only did that, but also spent
an extra quarter of a million dollars to send divers to the site to en-
sure that not one piece of plastic, chain, or any other remnant of
their project was left to contaminate, so to speak, the site it was us-
ing for its project.

The only good news is that when I spoke to—

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Mr. Chair, I have a point of order.
The Chair: There is a point of order.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The point of order is on relevance. I very much appreciate the
guest appearance by my Conservative colleague opposite. I was in-
tent on listening to him until the point where it seemed to devolve
into the details of a very specific story that not only has nothing to
do with the motion on the Canada pension plan, but also has noth-
ing to do with the amendment now on the table—at least to my
mind. Perhaps the member could come back to the issue at hand.

® (1650)

The Chair: MP Ellis, please focus, like I said, on the motion and
the motion as amended.

Mr. Stephen Ellis: Absolutely, Chair. We're talking about divi-
sion, and I think it's important that folks understand the carve-outs
that have happened with respect to the carbon tax around this coun-
try. That has created significant division, and the division, of
course, is related directly to energy security. Of course, now the
tidal power project has been cancelled by the lack of direction pro-
vided by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans. It was a signifi-
cant glimmer of hope for Atlantic Canadians to allow them and
us—I'll include myself there—to become energy-independent. This
is a significant division-creating area for all of us in Atlantic
Canada, based on the policies of this NDP-Liberal coalition govern-
ment.

When I asked Sustainable Marine whether they would consider
coming back, how this gentleman worded it was, “You know, if you
threw me a lifeline, I would probably climb up the rope.” That says
a lot for the gentleman and for Sustainable Marine to be looking at
how to harness tidal power as an energy source, which would be a
tremendous feat.

As I said, the largest tides in the world are in the Bay of Fundy. If
we could possibly do that, which they were well on their way to do-
ing, then that would change the landscape. We wouldn't need to be
talking about the divisive policies of the NDP-Liberal government
here in Ottawa, because Atlantic Canadians would not be requiring
carve-outs, because they continue to need to use home heating fuel
as a fuel source. As I said, this certainly causes significant difficul-
ties for the two elderly ladies whom I discussed previously.

One other thing, of course, that has caused significant problems
for Atlantic Canadians is that, historically, they would rely meagre
pensions, the OAS—and we're talking about the Canada pension
plan—but they also rely on equity built up in their homes after
many years. In Nova Scotia and the other Atlantic provinces, peo-
ple tend not to move around a whole lot. They would own their
own homes for a considerable length of time. Now when we begin
to talk to young people in Cumberland—Colchester, we understand
very clearly that the cost of a home has doubled, the cost of a mort-
gage has gone up 150% and, of course, the cost of rent has doubled.

We're beginning to see that. People have not only energy insecu-
rity now, because we know their ability, as I discussed over the last
several minutes, to pay their energy bills has gone down, and their
energy bills have gone up; and we also know their ability to buy a
house is now being lost. The next generation coming along have
significant despair.
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It's interesting. My colleague from South Shore—St. Margarets
came up with a great new word that this government, the NDP-Lib-
eral coalition, is selling to people, and it's called “hopium”. They
are wanting people to have hope from their opioid-laced policies. 1
won't divert myself into the opioid crisis, but for many of their oth-
er policies they're selling this haze-inducing utopia that just does
not exist for the average person out there.

Certainly those of us on this side of the discussion are clearly
getting incredible numbers of people who are losing hope, because
of the divisive nature of this NDP-Liberal coalition. I know very
clearly that my colleagues on the other side are getting it as well. I
talked to many of them after we came back in September on how
their summer was. When they were out door-knocking, the disdain
with which they were greeted at the door really led them down this
road of division, of needing to carve-out a carbon tax relief for At-
lantic Canadians.

® (1655)

We know that when they were out door-knocking and talking
about their “hopium” policies, people were not buying that any
more. People really understood very clearly the policy of continu-
ing to spend $600 billion of inflationary spending, as my great col-
league spoke about, and supply-and-demand economics. We know
very clearly that those “hopium” types of policies are things that
Canadians from coast to coast have been able to see through and
understand. This kind of foolish spending is no longer something
that they believe in.

What they believe in is common sense. They know very clearly
that things like tidal power, like being able to afford a home, to feed
yourself, and to keep a roof over your head are very important to
Canadians. What they understand very clearly is that they want the
chance to do that.

They want a chance to buy their own home so that they could get
back to what would normally happen to Atlantic Canadians, before
the highest inflation we've seen in 40 years. Their ability to buy a
house would appreciate modestly in value over the many years that
they would actually own the home. Then if they were owning that
home—and of course, as their lives became shorter and shorter—
they would know that not only would they have perhaps a small
pension, if they were fortunate, but they would have equity in their
home, which would then allow them to live through the latter years
of their lives in relative comfort.

We know that, as the NDP and Liberals have gone around knock-
ing on doors this summer, they know that the “hopium” they were
selling to Canadians just doesn't exist. Canadians are not buying
that, and they know very clearly that the crisis that now exists is
creating a division across this country.

The other thing, of course, that is causing division and distrust in
the NDP-Liberal coalition is related to Bill C-234, which my col-
league talked about, being in the Senate now. We know very clearly
that Canadian farmers....

I think it's important and germane that we understand how that
supply chain works. When you tax the farmer who grows the food
and you tax the trucker who delivers the food, then the person, the
consumer at the final end, of course, is going to be paying more and

more. That's common sense that anybody could understand. As a
friend of mine once said, “Businesses don't pay more tax. They
pass those taxes on to consumers.” When you tax the farmer and
you tax the person who delivers it, then the person who buys it at
the end of that chain, of course, is going to pay more for that prod-
uct.

There's no expectation—well, perhaps there is on the part of this
NDP-Liberal coalition—that the farmer would absorb all of those
costs. We know, when we talked to our agriculture critic, that the
costs for farmers and the requirement to heat their barns and dry
grain have gone up precipitously over the last eight years, making it
almost untenable.

We know that, very clearly, Canada really should be a power-
house in our ability to feed the world. Very sadly, the disrespect that
the NDP-Liberal coalition has shown to farmers is not allowing
Canadian farmers to do that. When we have an ability to do that—

The Chair: Do you have a point of order, Mr. Blaikie?

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: On a point of order, I believe he's talking
about the bill that would provide a carbon tax exemption for farm-
ers who are drying grain using fossil fuels. He may know that New
Democrats supported that legislation, and that's why it's in the
Senate, because New Democrats voted for it. He keeps talking
about an NDP-Liberal coalition not supporting things that the NDP
has supported.

I'd remind him, actually, that we recently—
The Chair: MP Blaikie, that's not a point of order.

MP Ellis, you have the floor.

Mr. Stephen Ellis: That's not really a point of order. Thank you
very much.

It's interesting, but really, as we all know—

The Chair: However, MP Ellis, I do ask you to focus on the mo-
tion and the amendment that has been brought forward by MP
Lawrence.

I'll read the motion one more time for you.
® (1700)
Mr. Stephen Ellis: Sure.

The Chair: The motion reads:
That the Chair of the committee immediately report to the House, that the com-

mittee:

1. Celebrates the Canada Pension Plan as the foundation of a secure and digni-
fied retirement for tens of millions of Canadians and a pillar of Canada's econo-
my;

2. Recognizes the important contribution of the Quebec Pension Plan which was
established independently at the same time as the Canada Pension Plan; and,

3. Stands with the majority of Albertans who are opposed to Premier Danielle
Smith's dangerous plan to withdraw from the Canada Pension Plan that threaten
the pensions of millions of seniors and hardworking Canadians from coast to
coast.

That's what we have, MP Ellis.
Mr. Stephen Ellis: Thank you very much, Chair.

I don't know if you read the proposed amendment by my col-
league.
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The Chair: There is a proposed amendment. It was brought in
to.... If you'd like to, you can.

Mr. Stephen Ellis: I'm good. I know what it says. It just was
clear that the amendment related to division, and that's exactly what
I was speaking to—the significant division that sadly now exists
across this great country related to the policies that the NDP-Liber-
al government has created. These policies are perhaps not specifi-
cally related to Bill C-234, but the difficulty with Bill C-234, of
course, is that it's stalled now in the Senate thanks to the Prime
Minister's Office trying to stall it there. That's crystal clear in my
mind, again, creating more division throughout this country.

Certainly, that is something that we don't need. We know that my
colleague talked about productivity and the difficulties that exist
there. As I said very clearly in wrapping up, Chair, the difficulties
that exist in Atlantic Canada with respect to the affordability crisis
and the ability for people to feed themselves, keep a roof over their
heads and to heat their homes in the coming winter is a position
that is absolutely untenable.

People do not want to simply exist. They would like to thrive,
and I truly believe that Canadians have the ability to do so, which is
being usurped by the NDP-Liberal coalition. Perhaps, as my col-
league would say, it is not specifically related to the NDP part of
Bill C-234, but it certainly relates to their support of other govern-
ment incredibly expensive and not spendthrift policies.

Chair, having had the ability to speak a little bit about Atlantic
Canada, I want to make it clear.... It's interesting that my colleagues
talk about our wanting to prop up Danielle Smith. I'm obviously not
from Alberta. I've never met Danielle Smith and certainly have no
requirement to prop up Danielle Smith's government. I think that
she's more than capable of doing that herself.

That being said, I do think it's important that people really con-
tinue to understand that the job of His Majesty's loyal opposition is
to hold the government to account, and when we see things that are
not appropriate for all of Canada and are causing division, then I
think that it continues to be the job of the loyal opposition to call
those out.

That is the style of government that we have. I think everybody
around this table knows that. I believe Mr. Blaikie knows that very
clearly—the Westminster style of government—and certainly that
is something that we, as Conservatives, will continue to support.

I would have to say that the division sowed is troubling to me,
and, on behalf of Atlantic Canadians, it is troubling to all of us.

I thank you, Chair. I will cede the floor.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Ellis.

I have MP Chambers, and then I have a list with MP Lawrence
after that.

Mr. Adam Chambers: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

You always have a difficult job trying to keep everybody on
point. I appreciate the—

The Chair: MP Chambers, on that, you are up next on the main
motion.

Mr. Adam Chambers: Thank you very much, so I'll get another
opportunity.

This is on the amendment.

I appreciate the comments by my NDP colleague, Mr. Blaikie. I
always find that I have to do a little bit of self-reflection every time
he speaks. I think he makes some fairly good points about opportu-
nities. We don't always have the opportunity to make consensus
choices. Certainly there are examples in which motions are passed
at the committee that not everybody agrees with, whether they ab-
stain or what have you.

The challenge I have with this motion is that there is actually an
opportunity to have every party at the committee send a message, to
the Government of Alberta and Albertans, that reiterates the impor-
tance of the CPP, that Canadians benefit from the CPP and that Al-
bertans can be encouraged to stay within the CPP. There is all-party
support for that motion. There is not all-party support to make the
motion politically advantageous and for the government to use a
province to help them in their failing poll numbers.

We could get out of this room today if we actually just dialed
down the motion a bit, and I could guarantee you that there would
be a news article written about all parties supporting the CPP. I can
tell you that there probably won't be a news article written about a
highly politically motivated motion that's passed with non-consen-
sus votes.

The bigger point is that there is an opportunity, as the leader of
the official opposition has put forward language that supports the
CPP. If the other parties aren't interested in considering that lan-
guage, which was circulated well in advance.... In fact, immediately
upon the motion's being moved to debate, the Conservatives
worked on and provided sample language that would take the polit-
ical language out of the third point, including standing with Canadi-
ans who wish to protect the CPP and encouraging Albertans to re-
main in the CPP so that it can be secured for Albertans and all
Canadians—with, of course, apologies to the good people of Que-
bec, who have their own pension plan.

We can pass that today, but the government has decided that it
wants to make an example out of Premier Danielle Smith because
they're failing in the polls. They'd rather fight her than fight the
Leader of the Opposition.

The odd irony in all of this is that this is actually derailing the
government's own legislative agenda. There are two bills that have
to come before this committee to be passed before we break for the
holidays, and it's actually the government that's chosen to move this
motion instead. The government's choosing to move a politically
motivated motion at committee instead of allowing its legislative
agenda to go forward, which seems pretty bizarre to me. They're
choosing to pick a fight with Danielle Smith rather than getting cer-
tain bills passed through this committee.

What's going to end up happening is that we're going to rush.
We'll have very few meetings on the fall economic statement when
it gets here. We'll have few meetings on Bill C-56 when it gets
here. We won't do our diligence as a committee because the govern-
ment's interested in picking a fight with Danielle Smith.
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I'm not a great historian of parliamentary precedent and motions
that have been reported to the House, but it seems a little odd that a
committee wants to single out a particular province. Personally, if it
said British Columbia, with an NDP premier, or now an NDP pre-
mier in Winnipeg, I still don't think that would be appropriate.

® (1705)

There are questions in question period every day about Danielle
Smith's CPP plan. Some members can be encouraged to run for
provincial Parliament, but the motion as it's written allows the chair
to report to the House. That means concurrence can be moved on
that motion, which will spark a debate, and members of Parliament
can get up and make any comments they like about Premier
Danielle Smith and Alberta's CPP.

We have the opportunity—
® (1710)

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Mr. Chair, on a point of order, I was just
waiting for the clarification, but it hasn't come. Perhaps, through
you, Mr. Chair, I can just ask if the member is moving an amend-
ment, while he's speaking to an amendment of one of his Conserva-
tive colleagues, because he seems to have read something out that
he likes very much.

Is that an amendment that the member is moving?
The Chair: We are on an amendment.

Mr. Adam Chambers: We're on an amendment already.

Mr. Chair, thank you very much. I appreciate the question. I was
just indicating that there are other less political amendments that
I'm not moving.

The Chair: PS Bendayan is asking if this is a subamendment.

Mr. Adam Chambers: No, Mr. Chair.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: He doesn't actually like it, then.

Mr. Adam Chambers: Mr. Chair, the language was circulated to
all of the relevant individuals immediately upon the government
member moving the motion. We can end up playing politics with
this all night. It's actually the government's legislative agenda that's
being put at risk.

By the way, the Minister of Finance has requested that we begin
the review of the proceeds of crime and money laundering act,
which is statutorily obligated to occur before the end of this calen-
dar year. That's one meeting. We only have six meetings left. We're
supposed to do Bill C-56 and the fall economic statement.

I'm a bit puzzled why the government has decided to move this
motion now and not accept any friendly amendments that have
been recommended until now.

By the way, we're also supposed to hear from the Minister of Fi-
nance. Now, I think the minister has given us a date—December 7.
I assume it will be a combination of Bill C-56, the fall economic
statement, plus inflation and housing. The minister only likes to
show up to committee when there's legislation to pass. There's ei-
ther that theory, which is reasonable, or the other theory, which is
that the Prime Minister's Office doesn't allow her to come, because

she's actually too good at committee and she overshines the Prime
Minister.

We went through this last spring. To remind people, it's actually
the Prime Minister's Office that doesn't want the Minister of Fi-
nance here, because she's actually doing a better job than the Prime
Minister on some things. We'll only get her for an hour, and she
might say that she's going to be very generous and give us an extra
20 minutes. The reason why this committee's dysfunctional is be-
cause the Minister of Finance actually hasn't agreed to any invita-
tion to this committee outside appearances that she decides to make
to pass legislation.

If we want reasons for which Conservatives are making a point
about this motion, then I'll sum them up in a few points. The first is
that we have an opportunity as a committee to actually have a con-
sensus and tell Albertans that we, as an entire committee, feel that
the Canada pension plan is important. The second is that we are go-
ing to harm ourselves in our ability to pass legislation through the
committee. I can't believe I'm making recommendations to the gov-
ernment about how they can pass legislation quicker through the
committee. This is what's going to end up happening.

The government's decided to move a politically motivated mo-
tion to distract from its failing results in the polls. They think that
Premier Danielle Smith is better fodder for the Prime Minister than
the leader of the official opposition. It's unfortunate that we can't
get a consensus on the committee to send a message to the Alberta
government and Albertans about the importance of the CPP.

1 will take Mr. Blaikie's recommendations and intervention to
heart and reflect upon whether as a matter of principle I'll continue
to hold up the passage of a politically motivated motion, or whether
there may be an opportunity just to abstain. At this juncture, it de-
fies logic why we're here arguing about a politically motivated mo-
tion, when there's so much work the committee needs to do. We
could pass it pretty quickly otherwise. If the government members
are signalling that they're open to a friendly amendment, I think we
could probably wrap it up pretty quickly. That's not the message
that we've been given.

® (1715)

We only have six meetings left. We're going to take one, I be-
lieve, for a ministerial appearance.

We're supposed to take one for a statutory review of the Proceeds
of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act. By the
way, if we don't do that, the government is going to get a bad mark
from the Financial Action Task Force, which is reviewing Canada's
approach to money laundering. I don't really think we want a black
X; I don't think that the government wants a black X.

It seems to me that the government doesn't have a ton of leverage
to decide to put this politically motivated motion through the com-
mittee. I guess they should have thought about that before they de-
cided to bring the motion.
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In addition, the motion doesn't recognize that, by design, the CPP
has with it withdrawal criteria for provinces if they decide they
want to set up their own plan. I don't think that's a great idea, but
we could hear from the Bloc Québécois about the QPP. It has actu-
ally functioned fairly well, I think, for Quebeckers.

It's within each provincial government's right to ask whether it's
getting value for money for its own taxpayers and its residents in
the CPP. There is a mechanism by which a province can exercise
that ability and have a discussion.

I don't actually believe that the methodology is on such sound
footing as to provide the result in terms of the assets that would be
given to Alberta should it withdraw. But the truth is, that's for Al-
bertans to think about and discuss internally. We could send them a
message, as a committee, that is unanimous, or we can let a politi-
cally motivated motion pass the committee and not get much trac-
tion or attention because it's politically motivated.

Call me an idealist. I just happen to think there's an opportunity
to do something here where we're all on the same page. I recognize
that it may not be where everybody is at the moment, but I still hold
out hope.

I suppose if Mr. Blaikie's intervention is the signal that we can't
get there, then I'll certainly have to reflect on the path forward. But
I do think it would be something if the committee actually said that
we all support the CPP.

Whatever member wants to move concurrence in the House and
talk until their heart's content about the political decisions of a par-
ticular premier in order to score local political points at home, that's
up to that member. I just don't think the committee is a perfect
place to single out a provincial premier.

I stand to be corrected by the historians on what previous com-
mittees have done in this respect, but I'll remind members that just
as the winds of change may sweep through Wellington Street and
Langevin Block—yes, that's right, I still call it "Langevin Block"—
the winds of change can sweep through provincial legislative build-
ings, as it has in Manitoba. We now have an NDP government in
Manitoba. We have an NDP government in British Columbia.

I don't really want to create a precedent for the future where
committees will single out various premiers, when a particular par-
ty is failing in the polls, in order to score political points to distract
from a narrative.

® (1720)

We have an opportunity to send a message as a committee. If
we're now being told that no one wants to take that opportunity,
we're prepared to talk it out.

The government is just wasting its own time at this point. I hope
it's clear—we're going to burn through this meeting, and we're go-
ing to burn through Thursday's meeting. We won't be getting any
legislation passed here. It will require a direction from the House.
We will shortchange stakeholders who have serious concerns about
the fall economic statement. As we understand, there will be some
tax measures put in that legislation that deserve to be scrutinized.
There are lots of stakeholder concerns about Bill C-56, which we're
not going to spend a lot of time on anyway.

Frankly, maybe we could make a deal and maybe the motion
could be passed. If no one wants to take the nice approach and pass
a unanimous motion, but their government is intent on having the
political fight, maybe we could make a deal where the Minister of
Finance would actually show up at the committee. I could be per-
suaded to abstain on a vote on the CPP if the Minister of Finance is
going to actually appear on any one of the number of studies we
have open, other than just showing up, as is the tradition, to pass
legislation through committee.

Mr. Chair, I hope I've given my colleagues something to think
about. If they are open to hearing, formally, that amendment, to re-
duce the political tension and get a nice moment where we all lock
arms and send a message to the great people of Alberta about the
Canada pension plan, I'd be open to moving that at the appropriate
time.

However, Mr. Chair, as I say, call me an idealist, but I think we're
going to miss a sincere opportunity to do some nation building and
unifying for once, and instead continue down the path of sowing
the seeds of division.

With that, Mr. Chair, I'll cede the floor.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Chambers.

We have MP Lawrence, please.
Mr. Philip Lawrence: Is there anyone after me, Mr. Chair?
The Chair: No, I don't think so.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Okay. I'll cede my time to Mr. Deltell,
and I'll go on this after.

The Chair: Okay. We have MP Deltell.
[Translation]

Mr. Gérard Deltell (Louis-Saint-Laurent, CPC): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

I'm delighted to be participating in this debate at the finance
committee. It's very kind of you to have me. I recognize a face from
the environment and sustainable development committee. Greetings
to him, and I want to publicly invite him to go for a spin, should he
feel so inclined. Thank you.

[English]

Mr. Chair, I want to address some concerns about this issue, be-
cause we're talking about respect for the Constitution, and also re-
spect for the will of each and every province. I think it's quite im-
portant, when we live in a confederation—this is what Canada is all
about—that we respect the fact that, yes, some provinces can have
their own agenda.
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[Translation]

We do indeed have the Canada pension plan, but we also have
the Quebec pension plan, which has a long history. It was estab-
lished in the mid-1960s, following frank, honest, effective and suc-
cessful negotiations, setting Quebec apart from the rest of Canada.
It doesn't mean that people are happier or less happy, but it does
mean that people have taken full responsibility for their choices and
decisions, and we know how that's turned out. Soon, the plan will
have been around for 60 years, and things seem to be going well.
The original motion refers to the committee recognizing, “the im-
portant contribution of the Quebec Pension Plan which was estab-
lished independently at the same time as the Canada Pension Plan”.
If things weren't going well, we would know, but they are, so that's
good.

From our standpoint, it's important to respect the will of the
provinces in certain areas of jurisdiction. That means having frank,
constructive and fruitful discussions to create a win-win situation
for Canadians. All of us here want to make everyday life better for
Canadians. No one is here to create problems. We have opposing
views on how to go about it, which, of course, is the whole basis of
politics. We have differing views, but when ideas clash, good things
come. That's how it should be, and we need to respect that.

These last eight years, we have seen this government's insatiable
appetite to encroach on provincial jurisdiction. We saw examples of
that recently in Supreme Court and other rulings on the federal gov-
ernment's ambitions in environmental matters. It's not for nothing
that I brought this up earlier. I am on the environment and sustain-
able development committee. I am the official opposition's critic for
the environment and climate change, so I am particularly attuned to
the issue. This case sets the example. We can do things the right
way, and we can respect one another's decisions and areas of juris-
diction. However, that wasn't the case when it came to the environ-
ment, in many respects.

I can hear my fellow members rushing to point out that the
Supreme Court gave the federal government the right to legislate in
relation to carbon pricing. The challenge to the Liberals' carbon tax
went all the way to the Supreme Court, which ruled that the gov-
ernment had the authority to implement the tax. Just because the
Supreme Court says you can do something doesn't mean you
should. What happened next? The government's approach clearly
did not have the intended result.

Need I remind my fellow members that, after eight years of this
Liberal government lecturing the entire planet, Canada was ranked
58th out of 63 countries for its efforts to tackle climate change?
That is a far cry from the Liberal rhetoric, which is all about
preaching endlessly. That score did not come from the official op-
position, the Conservatives, or some institute. It came from the UN,
which nearly a year ago, ranked Canada 58th out of 63 countries,
following eight years of Liberal rule. Clearly, the Liberals' policy is
not having the intended results.

The reason I bring it up is Bill C-69, which a number of
provinces took issue with, including Quebec. It contains provisions
that are almost insulting to the collective memory of Quebeckers,
with the federal government giving itself somewhat of a veto power
over Quebec's hydroelectric projects.

® (1725)

Whenever I talk about it, I feel as though I'm divulging a secret
that has unfortunately been kept for far too long. People are
shocked when they find out. They wonder, “What's this all about?”
Rivers are the site of hydroelectric projects, and rivers are under
provincial—not federal—jurisdiction. What, then, is this power the
federal government has given itself?

Section 7 of the Act created under Bill C-69 contains very spe-
cific provisions that allow the environment minister to subject ma-
jor hydroelectricity projects to environmental assessments, should
he be so inclined. Those projects are none of his business, though.

Quebec is quite fortunate to have everything it needs, geographi-
cally speaking, to unlock enormous green energy potential through
hydroelectricity. We are obviously very happy about that. Shortly, I
will go over some of the landmark moments culminating in Que-
bec's energy self-sufficiency and talk about how people in the for-
ties and fifties had the vision needed to turn Quebec into a hydro-
electricity powerhouse. That can be said of the seventies as well.
We saw that same vision come to fruition recently, when the current
premier inaugurated the Romaine hydroelectric complex, alongside
the Honourable Jean Charest, Quebec's premier from 2003 to 2012
and the person who green-lit the project.

Through Bill C-69, the federal government gave itself the power
to subject hydroelectric projects to federal environmental assess-
ments.

Let me say this. Like an adult, Quebec carries out its own envi-
ronmental assessments, and the system works. Of course, people
will remember how certain assessments were carried out hurriedly.
Everyone in Quebec obviously remembers when the Parti
Québécois government unfortunately bypassed the environmental
review process for the most polluting project in Quebec's history,
the Mclnnis cement plant in Gaspé. The then environment minister
gave the go-ahead to the most polluting project in history.

That was a sad day, indeed. Need I point out who the environ-
ment minister at the time was? No other than the current member
for Chambly, the leader of the Bloc Québécois. Dear friends, now
when you hear the leader of the Bloc Québécois preaching about
the environment to everyone who doesn't think like he does, remind
him that he was the most polluting environment minister in Que-
bec's history.

All that to say, Quebec is capable of carrying out its own envi-
ronmental assessments of hydroelectric projects. Why, then, did the
federal government empower itself to redo what Quebec has al-
ready done? Going through the process a second time is absolutely
pointless. It goes much further than that. As far as we're concerned,
the environmental experts who analyze—

® (1730)

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie (Joliette, BQ): I have a point of order,
Mr. Chair.
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[English]

The Chair: Yes, on a point of order, MP Ste-Marie.
[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: I think the honourable member misled
the committee when he was talking about Mr. Blanchet.

When Mr. Blanchet was environment minister, the project that
was announced didn't look anything like the project that was
launched under the Liberal government in Quebec City. What the
member said is incorrect, just like the disinformation in the Conser-
vative Party's ads on social media.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

[English]

The Chair: It's not a point of order, but if MP Deltell would like
to clarify [Inaudible—FEditor].

[Translation]

Mr. Gérard Deltell: Mr. Chair, I would remind the honourable
member for Joliette that, unfortunately, his leader was the environ-
ment minister when those decisions were made.

On a similar point, I want to highlight that barely a few weeks
ago, the members of his party were very excited in the House at the
mention of Anticosti Island being named a UNESCO world her-
itage site. The honourable member was delighted. He may not re-
call, however, that the current leader of his party was prepared to
allow exploratory oil drilling on Anticosti Island when he was envi-
ronment minister. That, too, reflects poorly on the member.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: | have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
[English]

The Chair: We have a point of order.

[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Again, the honourable member enjoys
misleading the committee. What the previous Quebec government
sought out to do was provide an overview of the situation—not to
pursue industrial development of the resources, but to document the
existing resources. That's not at all the same thing.

Thank you.

[English]

The Chair: Merci, MP Ste.-Marie.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I have a point of order.

The Chair: It's not a point of order, but I'll ask MP Deltell if he
would like to clarify.

It's up to you.

On a point of order, MP Lawrence.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you.

[Translation]

That is not a point of order.
[English]

The Chair: That's correct.

It's up to MP Deltell if he'd like to clarify.
[Translation]

Mr. Gérard Deltell: Mr. Chair, the reality is the reality. If the
government didn't plan to develop the resources, why exactly did it
carry out an assessment? That's what I want to know.

Now, let's get back to a very important point, the fact that this
government empowered itself to do what the provinces were al-
ready doing. It's duplicating the process that is already taking place.
As far as we're concerned—this is the point I was making, and the
member for Joliette will no doubt agree—the experts at the Bureau
d'audiences publiques sur I'environnement du Québec are just as
skilled as the environmental experts in Ottawa. They are experts, so
why do the work twice, if not to delay projects?

Goodness knows that, as we speak, we need green energy and we
need hydroelectric projects. The matter is currently being debated
in Quebec society, and that's a good thing. Although I stay out of
matters that fall under provincial jurisdiction, I must say that I
would welcome Quebec building more hydroelectric dams and en-
hancing its incredible hydroelectric capacity. The very nature of our
territory—our geography, our waters—gives us the good fortune of
having rivers that fuel this tremendous energy, and so much the bet-
ter.

Why, then, is Ottawa getting mixed up in things that are none of
its business? Unless we build a dam on the St. Lawrence Seaway, it
doesn't concern Ottawa—not that I think there would ever be a dam
on the St. Lawrence Seaway, anyway. I'm sure the member for Joli-
ette would agree.

We see the federal government's insatiable appetite to interfere in
matters that are none of its business. From where we stand, being in
a confederation means respecting every province's desires and aspi-
rations for development, in keeping with the Canadian Constitu-
tion—and that's how it should be.

Bear in mind that in the forties and fifties, when Quebec under-
took large-scale studies and projects to develop its hydroelectric ca-
pacity, Ottawa got involved. We have to recognize that, at the time,
the provincial authorities were also—

® (1735)
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I have a point of order.

Mr. Gérard Deltell: —competent and strong, ensuring that
things were done the right way.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair. While
this back and forth between the Bloc Québécois member and the
Conservative member is fascinating, as is the review of Quebec's
hydroelectric history, I think the discussion has veered away from
the Conservative amendment on the table and the original motion,
which—may I remind the committee—pertains to pensions.
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Also, I want to take this opportunity to reach out to my Conser-
vative friends. I understood from Mr. Chambers' comments that if
the minister agreed to appear before the committee as part of a sep-
arate study, not a study on the bill, we could move to a vote and the
Conservative members would abstain. I was sure 1 heard
Mr. Chambers make that offer.

I checked on my end, and I have confirmation that the minister
will appear before the committee to answer questions in connection
with a study, not the bill, on December 7.

Thank you.
[English]
The Chair: Ms. Bendayan, that is not a point of order.

MP Deltell, please.
[Translation]
Mr. Gérard Deltell: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank the member for Outremont for her comments.
She is well aware that I have the utmost respect and esteem for her.
It always surprises me that certain members of her party are minis-
ters and yet she is not. Obviously, that reflects on the Prime Minis-
ter's judgment, but that's another story.

The member for Outremont's motion says, word for word, that
the committee “recognizes the important contribution of the Que-
bec Pension Plan which was established independently at the same
time as the Canada Pension Plan”. It illustrates that a province is
able to do one thing and the federal government, another. That is
not what the federal government is in the habit of doing, however.
Let's take a closer look. Some will argue that things are fine and Ot-
tawa minds its own business, but I don't think so.

Luckily, in the forties and fifties, Quebec wanted to fully develop
its hydroelectric potential, and that led to the province becoming a
green energy powerhouse.

I will never apologize for being the environment and climate
change critic or sharing with my fellow committee members the
historical events that turned Quebec into what is now an energy
powerhouse. Hydroelectricity is a powerful green energy not just
for Quebec, but also for Canada as a whole. It came about because
people made important decisions.

In 1944, the Liberal government announced the creation of Hy-
dro-Québec and nationalized the Montreal Light, Heat and Power
Company. The Beauharnois power plant already existed, but
through expansion, its energy production tripled in the forties and
fifties.

Great projects followed, projects that seem to have gotten lost in
the collective history of Quebeckers, unfortunately. They were nev-
ertheless present, as the full potential of the Bersimis river was real-
ized. The project was extraordinary, literally blazing new trails. To
give you a sense of the area, you go up the north shore till you get
to about Forestville. You go about 100 kilometres inland, and there,
in the middle of the forest, you'll see the Bersimis river. Two super-
powerful hydroelectric dams were built in 1953 and 1956, and
70 years later, they are still in operation. A vision for the future was

laid out in the 1970s, and this potential was fully realized under the
leadership of Hydro-Québec, a Crown corporation.

At the same time, the North Shore was also home to a thorough
assessment of the extraordinary potential of the Outardes and Mani-
couagan rivers, which run alongside one another. At the time, the
assessment revealed that the rivers could accommodate seven hy-
droelectric dams. After recalculation, it was determined that six
dams would ultimately be built. If anyone ever tells you that
they've been to the Manic-4 dam, they are lying, because no such
dam was ever built. Manic-1, Manic-2, Manic-3, Manic-5, Out-
ardes-1 and Outardes-2 were built. That hydroelectric potential was
realized in the fifties. Studies were carried out, and construction of
the iconic Manic-5 dam was green-lit in 1958. It remains one of the
greatest achievements in the minds of Quebeckers. It is a source of
great pride for the nation, in particular, and rightfully so.

The same can be said of other initiatives to assess hydroelectric
potential and build plants, including the one on Highway 50, the
Carillon generating station, inaugurated in 1962 by René Lévesque,
then minister of hydraulic resources. There's actually a great picture
of René Lévesque with his son that was taken by photographer An-
toine Desilets, the father of Luc Desilets, the member for Riviére-
des-Mille-iles, if memory serves me correctly. I have to give him a
shout-out.

Quebec was able to develop its hydroelectric potential in the for-
ties and fifties, and again, in the seventies with the great James Bay
hydroelectric project. Let's not forget it was the subject of quite the
debate at the time, with some arguing that the development wasn't
necessarily a good idea and that it was better to pursue nuclear en-
ergy. That argument, which is perfectly legitimate, was put forward
at the time.

Some rather peculiar statements by today's standards were made
then. One commentator said it wasn't necessarily smart to erect a
dam on every single Catholic French-Canadian river. The person
who made that statement—which I repeated off the top of my head,
but you get the gist—was no other than Jacques Parizeau, who, as
we know, was very helpful to Quebec in other ways.

The reason I bring this up today is to remind members that when
provincial jurisdiction is respected, great and wonderful things hap-
pen.

® (1740)

Hydroelectricity is a good example of that, but unfortunately, this
federal Liberal government wants to encroach on areas that are not
under its jurisdiction. We saw that in the case of hydroelectricity in
Quebec. As the environment critic, | am extremely proud to talk
about this enormous green energy potential. We also see that in to-
day's motion, which recognizes the important contribution of the
Quebec pension plan as well as the Canada pension plan.



November 20, 2023

FINA-121 17

At the time, there were discussions, debates and a bit of a
tug-of-war, if you will. That is perfectly legitimate and entirely nor-
mal in a democracy. It worked out, as we see, because the will of
the provinces was respected. The federal government needs to do
its job, which is bringing people together and acting within its juris-
diction. If the provinces happen to have their own projects, the fed-
eral government needs to respect that. That's what happened in the
case of the pension plans and hydroelectricity. With this govern-
ment, though, we see a constant appetite to erode the current sector.
That causes tension with the provinces but doesn't move anything
forward.

I will leave it there. I wanted to share a different take on this de-
bate. The principle is the same: the country is much better off when
provincial jurisdiction is respected.

Thank you.
The Chair: Are you done, Mr. Deltell?

Mr. Gérard Deltell: I may want to quickly read an article. In
English, the headline more or less reads as follows: Drilling on An-
ticosti Island a good thing, says Minister Blanchet. The article was
written by Paul Journet, an eminent journalist whose reputation is
unassailable.

You look a little confused, Mr. Chair, so I can tell this is your
first exposure to Mr. Journet. However, I do know that others here
are familiar with him, including the member for Outremont, who
knows him quite well. I do too, since he is an old colleague from
my days as a reporter at the National Assembly of Quebec.

In a June 8, 2013 article in La Presse, Paul Journet wrote some-
thing along these lines:

The regulations to protect water during drilling activities won't necessarily pre-
vent oil exploration on Anticosti Island, and that's a good thing, according to en-
vironment minister Yves-Frangois Blanchet.

He is, of course, referring to the current leader of the Bloc
Québécois.
® (1745)

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. Ste-Marie.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: [ want to remind the honourable mem-
bers of the committee that the government of the day's goal was to
map the existing resources by way of drilling. It wanted to quantify
how much was there in order to frame the debate. Mr. Blanchet, the
environment minister at the time, wanted to find out whether there
were indeed resources. His thinking was that the quantity of re-
sources wasn't significant, which could put an end to the debate.

The real purpose was exploratory drilling. As for how distin-
guished journalist Paul Journet was able to report the comments—
[English]

The Chair: Thank you, MP Ste-Marie.

It's not a point of order. We give a lot of latitude, but maybe MP
Deltell would like to clarify that.

MP Deltell.
Mr. Philip Lawrence: [ have a a point of order.

[Translation]

Mr. Gérard Deltell: May I remind the member that the article's
headline proclaimed that, according to Minister Blanchet, drilling
on Anticosti Island was a good thing?

[English]
The Chair: Okay, MP Deltell.

I have nobody left on my list.

MP Lawrence.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: My apologies, Mr. Chair, but I did men-
tion when I ceded the time that I'd like to go on.

The Chair: I'm sorry. I had you before MP Deltell, and then I
didn't realize that you were coming on again.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: It's all good. We're all friends here at the
finance committee.

The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. Lawrence.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: We've had lots of substance here, but [
wanted to add a little more substance. I have some materials that I
think are critical to add to the debate.

I'll start out with a respected reporter, John Ibbitson. I won't read
his entire article, though it probably merits doing so. For the sake of
brevity, I'll just read parts of it.

He starts by saying that Prime Minister Trudeau could point to
some “accomplishments”, and then says, “every prime minister's
highest priority should be to leave the federation stronger, or at
least not weaker, than [he] found it.” It says, “By that measure”—
and these are Mr. Ibbitson's words, not mine—"“Mr. Trudeau's
tenure has been a failure.” He continues, "Alberta Premier Danielle
Smith, whose United Conservative Party was elected on a platform
of challenging Ottawa, is threatening to pull the province out of the
Canada Pension Plan. While we can debate whether the LifeWorks
assessment of how much of the CPP's assets Alberta would be enti-
tled to—or that of [the] University of Calgary economist Trevor
Tombe, or some other formula—the fact remains that the pension
plan in particular, and Canadian unity in general, would be [weak-
er] were the province to leave."

The article goes on to say, “It's not surprising, then, that Mr.
Trudeau would come to the defence of the CPP. What is surprising
is [his] depth of...hostility.”

The article states that Prime Minister Trudeau wrote to Ms.
Smith and said, “'I have instructed my cabinet and officials to take
all necessary steps to ensure Albertans—and Canadians—are fully
aware of the risks of your plan, and to do everything possible to en-

195

sure the CPP remains intact".

That's interesting. The article goes on to quote Mr. Trudeau as
saying, “'We will not stand by as anyone seeks to weaken pensions
and reduce the retirement income of Canadians.' Ms. Smith, in turn,
dismissed the Prime Minister's warning as 'overwrought.”
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It states, “Employment Minister and Edmonton MP Randy Bois-
sonnault further manifested Ottawa's get-tough approach [on] Sun-
day, when he warned on CTV's Question Period that if Albertans
leave...CPP, 'it's a one-way ticket."”

Mr. Ibbitson's article goes on to say, “There is no need...to panic.
We are a long way from Alberta pulling out of the CPP. The
province's former treasurer, Jim Dinning, is [a] leading public [con-
sultant], which may or may not lead Ms. Smith to call a referendum
on the issue. Federal Conservative Leader Pierre Poilievre has
urged Albertans not to leave the plan, while sympathizing with
their frustration.”

It goes on to say, “But it's worth pausing to reflect on the damage
Mr. Trudeau has inflicted on Canadian unity after eight years in
power.”

I hesitate because I don't want to overstate this, but it's been a
pattern of the Prime Minister that when this nation is at its most
vulnerable, instead of being a great unifier, he becomes the great di-
vider, whether that's with respect to personal health independence
or, in this case, with respect to the CPP. The Prime Minister has the
choice to be either a statesman or a politician, and clearly he's cho-
sen the latter. He has once again put his own personal interests
above those of our country.

This is the most damning of criticism of any leader because for
any leader to even be in the ballpark of successful, they must put
their country first, as many prime ministers in the past have, even
ahead of their own political ambitions and even over the ambitions
of their parties. This is clearly not the case.

That's what's really troubling about what this motion is all about.
My colleague Mr. Chambers said that we could walk out today with
a unifying motion that the NDP, the Liberal Party and the Conser-
vatives could all agree to, which would encourage Albertans to stay
as part of the CPP.

® (1750)

Instead, the Liberal Party has chosen to amplify this Prime Min-
ister's message of division. This should cause self-reflection, I
would think, by everyone at this committee, not the least of whom
is the NDP member who, instead of being a force for collaboration
and unity, is instead encouraging amplifying division.

I will continue to read:

Progressive centralizers in Laurentian Canada tell each other that Ottawa must
act on this or that “in the national interest.” But the national interest is emphati-
cally not served if their actions anger large swaths of the country.

When the Liberals won their majority government in October, 2015, they had a
golden opportunity to reverse decades of Liberal unpopularity in the West. The
Grits had taken 17 seats in British Columbia, seven in Manitoba, four in Alberta
and one in Saskatchewan. They were well placed to grow that vote with policies
that consulted rather than dictated, that recognized the importance of the re-
source-based Western economy and that respected the distinct societies of the
Prairies and B.C.

Mr. Trudeau inherited a federation at peace. In Quebec, the Parti Québécois was
out of government and in decline, and the federal Bloc Québécois was decimat-
ed, having taken only 10 seats in the 2015 election. Things were quieter on the
federal-provincial front than at any time since the 1950s. Surely this was a time
to strengthen national bonds — between English and French, between the Heart-
land and the West.

Eight years later, the Bloc is resurgent, with 32 of Quebec’s 78 seats. Coalition
Avenir Québec Premier Frangois Legault is stoking French-English tensions,
most recently by almost doubling out-of-province tuition for students attending
English universities.

And Alberta is perhaps even more estranged. If the government did hold a refer-
endum on withdrawing from the CPP, it would in reality be a referendum on in-
creased sovereignty for the province.

Meanwhile, and not coincidentally, polls suggest the Conservatives would
trounce the Liberals if an election were held today.

I'm honestly not concerned with the politics of the day. Polls will
come and go. Liberal governments will come and go, Conservative
governments will come and go, and maybe one day an NDP gov-
ernment will come and go. However, we have, as members of Par-
liament, a sacrosanct responsibility to our country, which I firmly
believe is the greatest country in all the world, to do everything in
our power to put it first.

Our country is starting to fray, not at the edges, but at the main
seams that hold us together. The Prime Minister could have handled
this very differently, but that cat is out of the bag, so there's nothing
we can do there. However, this finance committee can still do the
right thing. Instead of going for political points, maybe for a story
here or there, I don't know, it might even help the Liberal Party. I
don't know. I don't think it would, but maybe their calculus in the
PMO is that it somehow helps them.

We've got to have our eye on the long game on national unity.
There simply are not many objectives that are more important than
national unity. The scars this government has been creating with re-
spect to division will long outlast this government.

Honestly, in all candour, I have respect for my colleagues across
the way. I got to know them a little bit on the trip and I know them
to be intelligent, respectful, good people. I would just tell them to
talk to the PMO and say, this is an opportunity, I think, even to win
politically, to look like the bigger party in a unifying way, but know
that this is creating damage. To get a story here or there, continuing
to inflict pain and to create division among our country, just isn't
worth it, guys.

® (1755)

I'll continue on here. Mr. Ibbitson continues:

What went wrong? In a word: bossiness. The Liberals imposed conditions on the
provinces before granting health funding. They imposed a carbon tax on
provinces that didn't meet carbon-reduction targets. Bill C-69 imposed such in-
trusive conditions on resource development that the Supreme Court ruled the
law unconstitutional.

The Liberals decided that national priorities justified using...spending power to
dictate terms to the provinces. They were willing to let the Prairie oil-and-gas
sector suffer in order to meet [their] carbon reduction targets. The result: increas-
ing resentment toward Ottawa across the country. This is Canada today, on
Justin Trudeau's watch.
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Once again, | know that we all have pressures, and the pressure
to win on the latest face-off or the latest scrimmage is powerful, as
is getting that great social media clip where you're taking a shot at
the Conservatives, and you feel good in the moment. To somehow
spike the ball on Danielle Smith is perhaps because, as my col-
league said, they see that as a richer target, or a better foil than our
official Leader of the Opposition.

These jobs that we have are serious. They come with incredible
consequences. We have a choice every day in every action we take.
Either we can be a voice of reasonability, a unifying voice, a voice
for a better Canada or we can go for the cheap political points.

The Chair: MP Lawrence, we will be suspending now for about
an hour.

U7 (Pause)

® (1900)
The Chair: We are back.

My list reads that we left off with MP Lawrence.

MP Lawrence, you have the floor, and you're speaking to the
amendment to the motion.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Just because we are coming back from a
break, would you mind, Mr. Chair, reading the proposed motion
with the amendment?

The Chair: It reads:
That the Chair of the Committee immediately report to the House that the com-
mittee:

1) Celebrates the Canada Pension Plan as a foundation of a secure and dignified
retirement for tens of millions of Canadians and a pillar of Canada's economy;

2) Recognizes the important contribution of the Quebec Pension Plan which was
established independently at the same as the Canada Pension Plan; and,

3) Stands with the majority of Albertans who are opposed to Premier Danielle
Smith’s dangerous plan to withdraw from the Canada Pension Plan that threaten
the pensions of millions of seniors and hardworking Canadians from coast to
coast.

The amendment reads:
That point 3 of the motion be deleted and substituted by:

This Liberal government's policies such as the carbon tax and Bill C-69 are lead-
ing to greater division in our country.

That is the motion and the amendment.
Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you very much.

I appreciate that, Mr. Chair, to set the stage, as it were.

I'd like to welcome my colleague Mr. Kurek, who is joining us
today. I believe Mr. Genuis will be joining us as well in a little bit.

As 1 left off, a politician often has the choice—and a leader, a
prime minister, even more so—between being a statesman and be-
ing a politician. A statesman will always do what's in the best inter-
ests of the nation. A politician will sometimes take the opportunity
to score political points. I think we've seen what course Prime Min-
ister Trudeau has taken. As a member of Parliament, but more im-
portantly as a Canadian, I do find that very disappointing.

It is, of course, a legacy. As Mr. Ibbitson said in his article, in
2015 the Liberals actually came in with some representation from

the west, but that's been quickly being eliminated. In politics, things
can change in the blink of an eye, but as of now it appears as
though if the election were held today, there would be very, very
limited representation from the Liberal Party and it's not healthy.

We really want to have at least two national parties that can
speak for the entire country. I suppose the Prime Minister has cal-
culated that there's some type of electoral victory he can gain by
disenfranchising Alberta, by picking a fight with the premier and
by treating Albertans unequally when it comes to the carbon tax ex-
emption. [ can't for the life of me honestly understand even the pol-
itics of how they're going to gain any popularity from picking a
fight with the premier.

Even in this committee, unfortunately, members have chosen to
pick a fight. Conservatives are very agreeable, actually, to having
an amended motion that would say something to the effect that we
would encourage Albertans to stay in the CPP, but instead, they've
chosen politically charged language naming their premier specifi-
cally and sort of creating a political firestorm. Maybe they want to
have stories written about it. I can't guess why, but all it will do to
Albertans, I'm sure, is infuriate them that once again the Liberal
government is choosing not to acknowledge them.

It's been going on for about, what, 50 years, Damien, that Alber-
ta's...? It goes back to the first Trudeau and the national energy
plan. I know I said that and I know it's a swear word to my two Al-
bertans here, but—

Mr. Damien Kurek: There are three.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: There are three. I'm sorry. Why don't you
jump in here? It's good to see you, my friend.

It truly is challenging.

I actually want to go back to provide some foundation. My team
found a great article written around the time of the inception of the
Canada pension plan. I'll read some of it and make some comments
as I go:

A major landmark in the development of Canada's social security system was
reached in April 1965, when the new Canada Pension Plan was enacted. The law
establishes, for the first time, a contributory system of earnings-related old-age,
disability, and survivor insurance benefits in Canada. It was assented to on April
3, 1965, and...proclaimed on May 5. The collection of contributions under the
new program will commence in January 1966, and retirement benefits will first
become payable in January 1967.

The effect of this new legislation is, in general, to superimpose a system of con-
tributory wage-related retirement pensions on top of [an] existing system of uni-
versal flat-rate old-age pensions, which is retained and, in fact, expanded. The
new retirement pensions will be equal to about 25 percent of earnings at the end
of an initial transitional period of 10 years.

® (1905)

In addition, contributory disability and survivor pensions are introduced; such
pensions have previously been provided in Canada only to needy persons on an
assistance basis.
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All the new insurance benefits will be financed from contributions paid by in-
sured persons and employers. The new Canadian social insurance program is
similar in significant respects to the Federal old-age, survivors, and disability in-
surance (OASDI) program of the United States. There are, however, a number of
important and interesting differences between the two systems. Some of the sim-
ilarities and differences are pointed out in the course of the discussion below.

Previous Legislation.

Canada has had Federal legislation dealing with old-age assistance since 1927.
Similar legislation providing assistance for blind persons was adopted in 1937
and revised in 1951, and assistance to permanently and totally disabled persons
was first provided in 1955. These assistance programs are similar in many ways
to those in the United States. They are, in effect, cooperative Federal-Provincial
programs, under which the Canadian Government makes grants to the Provinces
covering a part of the cost of the Provincial programs. These programs were es-
tablished and are administered by each Province separately.

At present the Federal Government pays 50 percent of the payments up to $75 a
month to persons with limited means aged 65-69. It also shares in the cost of
payments of up to the same amount under the programs for permanently and to-
tally disabled persons and blind persons who pass a means test. In addition, the
individual Provinces often make supplementary payments under their general as-
sistance programs, the costs of which are shared by the Federal Government un-
der the Unemployment Assistance Act of 1956. All of these assistance expendi-
tures are financed from general revenues of the Federal and Provincial govern-
ments.

The Provinces, for a number of decades, have also been providing assistance
pensions to needy widowed mothers. The Federal Government does not partici-
pate in the cost of these pensions, but proposals to do so have been made under
the Canada Assistance Plan now being developed. The new assistance plan,
which would consolidate and improve existing programs, has already been the
subject of formal Federal-Provincial discussions.

That's interesting. Even in 1965, they saw the merit of having
discussions with the provinces, not dictating to the provinces. There
was a collaborative or co-operative approach. The article continues:

The Old Age Security Act, passed in 1951, established a national system of uni-
versal flat-rate old-age pensions, administered entirely by the Federal Govern-
ment. Before the 1965 legislation, this program provided for payment of a flat
pension to every person who reached age 70 and who satisfied certain minimum
requirements regarding length of residence in Canada. The amount of the old-
age pension was originally fixed at $40 a month.

I did have discussions with interpreters that sometimes they
found it hard when members were reading text. I'm aware I'm read-
ing text. Am I doing all right, interpreters? Am I good, yes? Do I
need to slow down? Are we good? Maybe thumbs up, yes? I want
to make sure we're okay. If I need to slow down, let me know.
Again, the article continues:

The program of universal old-age pensions is financed out of a special old-age
security fund set up in the general consolidated revenue fund of the Federal
Government. The old-age fund receives its income from the earmarked yields of
three taxes—a 4-percent tax on taxable income up to $3,000 a year for all indi-

viduals; a 3-percent tax on all corporate income subject to the corporate income
tax; and a 3-percent tax on manufacturers' sales.

® (1910)

1 assume my NDP colleague would like that. Manufacturing
sales have been replaced by the GST. It's amazing it's still around,
because the Liberals said that they were going to get rid of it. It
continues:

The universal flat-pension program provided for by the Old Age Security Act
will continue in force concurrently with the social insurance program enacted in
1965. The basic nature of the flat pension remains essentially unchanged, but
certain modifications have been made in the age at which it is payable, in its ad-
justment to price changes, and in its residence requirements.

The subtitle is:
LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF CANADA PENSION PLAN

The Canadian Government had been studying the possibility of introducing a
contributory pension insurance program for a number of years. In 1950 a Joint
Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on old-age security was
formed to review the existing old-age pension program, which operated with a
means test and was subject to widespread criticism. After hearing testimony on a
contributory and earnings-related insurance program, the Committee unani-
mously recommended a universal flat-rate pension beginning at age 70, as well
as a Federal-Provincial old-age assistance program for persons aged 65-69 with
limited means. The Old Age Security Act and the Old Age Assistance Act of
1951, both of which became effective in January 1952, followed closely the
Committee’s recommendations.

The Federal Government in 1958 engaged Dr. R. M. Clark “to conduct an in-
quiry into facts relating to old-age security systems in effect in Canada and the
United States.” His report—ZEconomic Security for the Aged in the United States
and Canada—contained no recommendations. It was presented to the Govern-
ment early in 1959.

In July 1963 the Government submitted a resolution in the House of Commons
and issued a supporting statement indicating its intention of enacting a contribu-
tory pension plan. The plan originally provided only for retirement pensions and
pensions for aged survivors, in recognition of doubts that had been expressed
about the constitutional competence of the Federal Government, under the
British North America Act, to provide disability benefits and benefits for sur-
vivors under age 65. The plan thus limited was incorporated in a bill (C-75) that
was given first reading in March 1964.

The Province of Ontario meanwhile had adopted a law in April 1963 requiring
every private employer in the Province who employed 15 or more workers to
maintain for them a pension with certain vesting provisions. (Under amendments
adopted in 1964, maintenance of such a plan is no longer mandatory.) The
Province was also studying the possibility of establishing a public pension for
Ontario.

The Province of Quebec began developing a pension plan in August 1963, and
in April 1964 it announced the details of its own pension insurance program.

So you see, provinces starting their own pension plan is neither
new or novel. In fact, this is a dialogue that's been going on for
over 60 years. The article continues:

Other Provinces also evidenced considerable interest in pensions—a subject of
concern to them not only for itself but because of its implications for savings
and capital accumulation.

The various developments at both the Federal and Provincial levels made neces-
sary extensive consultation, therefore, between the Federal Government and the
Provincial governments on the subject of pension planning. Four formal Federal-
Provincial conferences were held during 1963 and 1964 at which the subject was
discussed, including the proposals made by the Federal Government.

® (1915)

In June 1964, agreement was reached with the Provinces for amendment of sec-
tion 94-A of the British North America Act to empower both the Canadian Par-
liament and the Provincial legislatures to enact legislation concerning survivor
and disability [benefits] as well as.... The Canadian Constitution now authorizes
the Federal Parliament to legislate concerning all three types of pensions, but it
also provides that Federal legislation shall not affect the operation of any present
or future Provincial legislation dealing with pensions.

On the...Federal-Provincial negotiations...the Department of National Health and
Welfare of the Federal Government in August 1964...a White Paper—The
Canada Pension Plan. This document outlined and explained the pension insur-
ance program that the Government was advancing.



November 20, 2023

FINA-121 21

The substance of the White Paper proposals was incorporated in a bill (C-136),
which was introduced in the House of Commons for first reading on November
9, 1964. After second reading on November 18, the bill was referred to a Joint
Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons. The Committee recom-
mended certain substantive changes, as well as a number of technical changes.
The Government approved and took action on most of these recommendations.
The revised Canada Pension Plan...was subsequently passed in the House of
Commons on March 29...on April 2. It received Royal Assent on April 3, 1965.

I'm starting with the history here. You can see that, in the forma-
tion of the CPP, it was not simply a federal government dictating to
the provinces. In fact, it was occurring organically across the nation
in various provinces, including Ontario and Quebec. Once again, it
wasn't just the federal government dictating to the provinces, “This
is how we're going to go.” A spirit of collaboration and co-opera-
tion built the CPP into being the trusted source of retirement in-
come Canadians can rely on. The Prime Minister's divisive rhetoric
on this is quite a departure from the history of the CPP.

I stand ready to continue, but I understand that my colleagues al-
so want to talk. I often tell my son when he's playing minor hockey
that it's important to pass the puck to make sure that other people
have their opportunity to shine as well.

With that, I cede my time, but I would like to be put back on the
list, Mr. Chair.

® (1920)
The Chair: Thank you, MP Lawrence.

I have MP Majumdar, MP Kurek, MP Blaikie and MP Lawrence.

Mr. Shuvaloy Majumdar (Calgary Heritage, CPC) Chair, it's
a real honour to be able to join you and all of the members of this
committee here. It's nice to meet many of them for the first time. As
the rookie in Parliament, it's a real special place, to be in the com-
pany of so many tenured people.

Today is a really important debate in the finance committee. It's
affecting my own province of Alberta, which is a part of the coun-
try that was a big part of the solution in recovering from the
2008-09 global financial crisis. It's a part of the country that fuels,
feeds and supports our national economy as the backbone of our
success as a country. That can only happen if it has a partner in a
federal government that understands how national unity works and
is an ally to our energy sector, to the energy workers and to the peo-
ple who do great work every single day across a range of issues.

As I think about what we're here to debate, after eight years of
Justin Trudeau, provinces have actually never been as divided. This
government inherited a legacy of national unity and of a country
confident about its future. It has found a way to pit one group
against another and traffic in identities, with one region against an-
other. Provinces are planning to just not collect the carbon tax be-
cause of their prime minister's unfair application of a temporary
pause. His Liberals voted just against a common sense, fair motion
to extend this temporary pause to all Canadians.

I have constituents who I now represent who called and told me
that they might be losing their house at the end of this year. Their
costs are going through the roof; their mortgage is out of control.
They have three children they're trying to feed and put through
school. They asked why only one part of the country gets relief

from this painful carbon tax. Why, in our own backyard in Calgary,
do we not feel like we are eligible for that kind of relief?

Provinces have also taken the federal government all the way to
the Supreme Court to fight their unfair energy policies. They are at
the natural resources committee now trying to ram through another
bill that is bad for Alberta, which is Bill C-50, the unjust transition
bill.

With this bill, I think there's some expertise we could reflect on
that is non-partisan and comes from a place of love for country and
the unity we represent. I'd love to take a minute here, with your per-
mission, Chair, to explain some of the thinking that came to us as
early as last year.

One of the greatest scholars in this country is a woman named
Heather Exner-Pirot. She's at the Macdonald-Laurier Institute. She's
a senior fellow there who leads on Arctic, energy and critical min-
erals. She's one of the most important thinkers of our time. I can
say she's a dear friend and former colleague of mine.

Back in May, 2022, she published a really important article enti-
tled “Ottawa's 'just transition' needs to be challenged for encourag-
ing fantasy around oil and gas”. I think that says something. It's
about a government that divides Canadians on the basis of region
and traffics in fantasies that undermine a wellspring of support for
this country.

Our energy industry has the capacity to lower international emis-
sions if we could only get other countries off dirty coal. Our energy
has the ability to partner with first nations in true economic recon-
ciliation in this country. Our energy sector would have the capacity
to fund whatever entitlements the Prime Minister and his NDP-Lib-
eral partner, Mr. Singh, would invent next. It would rebuild our
armed forces. It would defeat Russia, Iran and China in their ambi-
tions to have hegemony around the world.

I think her article is quite apt and worth paying attention to. Let
me share it with colleagues around the table at this point. She
writes:

A fantasy has emerged in Canada called a “just transition.” In this paradigm, the
transition from dirty fossil fuels to clean, renewable energy in the form of solar
panels and windmills will create a prosperous, low-carbon future with a thriving
green economy. Taking action now will make our economy stronger and more
competitive.

The catch is that workers and communities who depend on the oil and gas sector
will be disadvantaged. The “just transition” ensures no one is left behind, with
workers given the supports to succeed in other, more sustainable, fields. So com-
mitted is the federal government to this version of reality, that it is planning to
introduce legislation in its name, to codify its “people-centred just transition
principles.”

We've heard “peoplekind” before. Maybe that's not her intention
or what the intention was in the preamble for this legislation.
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She continues:

The first and most obvious challenge to this premise is that there isn’t much of a
transition yet. Global demand for oil and gas is as high as it has ever been.
Whether you think this is good or bad, it is a fact. Years of underinvestment in
production, now topped with sanctions on Russia, mean that prices for LNG and
refined products are at record levels. Energy experts think crude oil will soon
hit $180 a barrel or higher. Even if demand does eventually match up with sup-
ply, it still makes sense for the western world to maintain some production of its
own, instead of relying on OPEC and Russia. Canada, by far the world’s biggest
oil exporter that is a democracy, should be the last man standing.

Furthermore:

It seems almost farcical to dedicate legislative effort and taxpayer dollars to
training programs for unemployable oilpatch workers, or to help oil and gas re-
gions become economically viable. Canada has never exported more crude and
bitumen than it does now, buoyed by the recent completion of the Line 3
pipeline, the reversal of the Capline pipeline, and global markets taking whatev-
er we could muster. But labour, especially experienced labour, is a constraining
factor, and is hampering growth, even with wages at three times or more the
Canadian average.

These are high-quality jobs that Heather is describing, with peo-
ple wearing boots, vests and hard hats and getting things done for
this country. She adds:

The joke is they need to start retraining coders to become drillers.

This is an argument she's making pitched to modern reality:

Critics might concede that, yes, although there is a temporary reprieve in de-
mand, in order to save the planet we need a transition, the sooner the better. The
idea seems to be that we can, or should, stop using petroleum products, and any
oilsands project or pipeline we build now is destined to become a stranded asset.
This is the fantasy that “just transition” encourages. But it needs to be chal-
lenged.

Thank God Heather is doing that challenge here, in stating:

The average Canadian thinks of petroleum use in terms of pumping gas into
their vehicle, and therefore subscribes to the fallacy that when we all drive elec-
tric vehicles, the need for fossil fuels will disappear. But there are infinite uses
for hydrocarbons. They are an incredibly flexible, available, and useful
molecule, and even when we stop using them for combustion
Mr. Yvan Baker (Etobicoke Centre, Lib.): 1 have point of or-
der, Chair.

The Standing Orders require that during the debate all members
speak to the topic at hand. The topic at hand is the motion and the
amendment to the motion. I don't see the relevance of what the
member is speaking to as to the amendment.

The Chair: On the point of order, yes, could we just speak to the
relevance of the motion or the amendment, please.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan (Calgary Forest Lawn, CPC): | have
a point of order, Chair.

The Chair: On a point of order, Mr Hallan.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I think it's very relevant given that we
are talking about the amendment that this Liberal government's
policies such as the carbon tax and Bill C-69.... When we say "This
Liberal government's policies" in the amendment, I think it encap-
sulates everything my friend and colleague is so eloquently talking
about. Even inside the amendment it says that these kinds of poli-
cies are leading to greater division in our country. He's making a
case for how divided Canada is after eight years of this Prime Min-
ister. I think it's very relevant.

The Chair: On the same point of order, MP Blaikie.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I do agree. I think a number of these things
are covered in the amendment. However, I do find passing strange
that Conservatives at this table have spent more time talking about
the elver eel population in Atlantic Canada than they were prepared
to spend talking about the CPP before they moved an amendment
so they could talk about something else. I'm just saying this.

® (1930)

The Chair: We'll go back to MP Majumdar.

On a point of order, MP Genuis.

Mr. Garnett Genuis (Sherwood Park—Fort Saskatchewan,
CPC): Thank you.

1 was about to raise a question of privilege that my point of order
wasn't being recognized. I know how much members at this com-
mittee have expressed their appreciation for those types of points in
the past.

It is great to be here with colleagues.

On a point of order, I think you'd find unanimous consent to
commend the member for Calgary Heritage for his excellent re-
marks so far.

He's certainly doing a much better job representing the people of
Calgary than the chair of the natural resources committee, who was
repeatedly trying to shut down the interventions of Conservative
members who were simply trying to defend our beloved province.

I think the member is speaking to the unity that used to exist in
this country, the unity that sadly no longer exists after eight years of
this Prime Minister, who is no longer worth the cost.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: On a point of order, Mr. Chair, I think
it's quite clear that Mr. Genuis is not raising a point of order. As
much as I have heard about this fantastic filibuster that the Conser-
vatives are engaged in at the natural resources committee, this is the
finance committee, and before the finance committee at the mo-
ment is a motion on the Canada pension plan.

The Chair: We're talking about the motion, yes, but we are go-
ing to go back to MP Majumdar.

The floor is yours, MP Majumdar.

Mr. Shuvaloy Majumdar: I appreciate the guidance that I'm
getting from colleagues around the table. It shows you, Mr. Chair,
that they underestimate the essential use that Canadian energy has
to the national unity of Canadians, the health of their retirement and
their savings, and how misguided their amendment to the motion
has been. It's something that I think is absolutely relevant to get in-
to, in terms of understanding the power of our energy sector and the
ways it can be used to ensure the pensions of all Canadians.
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If we had national unity around these issues, then this wouldn't
even be an issue to begin with. If Albertans felt that their energy
sector was taken seriously, unlike now, in which it's being denigrat-
ed by members across the way.... It is unsurprising, frankly. This
has been their MO for quite some time—eight long years, ['ve been
advised. That is how long they've been against our energy sector.

I am grateful to have the opportunity to introduce Dr. Exner-
Pirot's work and her findings about how our fossil fuels and their
molecules are “incredibly flexible, available, and useful...even
when we stop using them for combustion, demand for them for oth-
er uses — plastic, textiles, rubber, packaging, detergents fertiliz-
er — will continue to grow.” This is a bedrock of our national eco-
nomic life and what feeds our pensions.

“They are also essential in the production of solar panels, wind
turbine blades, batteries and thermal insulation” in our energy inge-
nuity, which is certainly something that Conservatives stand to sup-
port in promoting every aspect of our economic life.

Dr. Exner-Pirot continues, “Likewise, oilsands bitumen compo-
nents like asphaltenes and resins are used in many products that
light crude cannot provide, and can be developed into advanced
material such as carbon fibre, which in turn could displace carbon-
intensive steel.”

We're talking about the component parts of Canadian energy, the
manufacturing process that feeds our pensions and in which our na-
tional unity needs to be upheld.

She says:

The more immediate question, however, is if we will stop using hydrocarbons
for fuel. Here, the pragmatist must concede that the problem with fossil fuels is
not the fuel per se, but the emissions. It is going to be far cheaper and faster to
invest hundreds of billions of dollars into carbon capture, than it will be to re-
place tens of trillions of dollars worth of fossil fuel infrastructure with brand
new energy systems.

LNG can already be produced and burned with very low emissions, and blue hy-
drogen (derived from natural gas) does even better. Japan and other countries
that are pragmatic in their energy deliberations are already preparing for that
version of the future.

Fossil fuels have been demonized....

“Demonized”, she writes. Demonized, she said, because she
knows that this is part of the record of division that the Trudeau
Liberals are imposing across this country.

She continues:

and so it has become popular to want to eliminate them, alongside Big Oil, as
part of a just transition. That is not practical, in fact it's impossible. The smarter
strategy—which Canada should be leading instead of sabotaging

—that's to the point of national unity—

is one that focuses relentlessly on eliminating the emissions caused by burning
hydrocarbons, and using them for clean energy and materials instead.

That is the plan that Dr. Exner-Pirot suggested would strengthen
our national unity in a time of great division. But this was a year
ago. This was before Germany and Japan came to Canada, as a
united country, and said “Listen, we need your energy. We want to
create revenues for your country in a way that actually helps lower
emissions around the world, helps your people be prosperous, helps
to deflate the support that dictator oil has been leveraging around

the world.” That is certainly something critical to the motion at
hand.

I think even further about the kind of opportunity we have, as a
country, were we an energy superpower. In fact, Heather Exner-
Pirot published a piece in October of this year, just a month ago,
where she said, “Canada could have been an energy superpower.
Instead we became a bystander”.

This record of division has resulted in a country that has been
weakened in its influence around the world. Liberals pretend that a
trade agreement is the only antidote to solving the war in Ukraine
when, frankly, our gas displacing Russian gas in Europe would de-
feat the Russians in one fell swoop.

So let's describe the kind of power that Canada could have as a
united country. We could have been an energy superpower because
the “Government”—the summary says—“has imposed a series of
regulatory burdens on the energy industry, creating confusion, inef-
ficiency and expense”.

® (1935)

This is the kind of division we see in the country. Allow me to
venture deeper into this, because I think it's an argument worth re-
flecting on very carefully. This is the stuff that fuels our pensions.
This is the stuff that fuels the retirement of every Canadian:

Oil arguably remains the most important commodity in the world today. It paved
the way for the industrialization and globalization trends of the post-World War
11 era, a period that saw the fastest human population growth and largest reduc-
tion in extreme poverty ever. Its energy density, transportability, storability, and
availability have made oil the world's greatest source of energy, used in every
corner of the globe.

There are geopolitical implications inherent in a commodity of such significance
and volume. The contemporary histories of Russia, Iran, Venezuela...Iraq [and
others] are intertwined with their roles as major oil producers, roles [that] they
have used to advance their (often illiberal) interests on the world stage. It is fair
to ask why Canada has never seen fit to advance its own values and interests
through its vast energy reserves. It is easy to conclude that its reluctance to do so
has been a major policy failure.

I will comment here. It's a major policy failure with impact on
our pensions and on our economic life, and a major policy failure
with impacts on our national unity. Team Canada is certainly not
team Canada. It's divided Canada. It's broken Canada. Yet this is
despite the fact that, as Heather writes:

Canada has been blessed with the world's third largest reserves of oil, the vast
majority of which are in the oil sands of northern Alberta

—my home province and Garnett's backyard—

although there is ample conventional oil across Western Canada and offshore
Newfoundland and Labrador as well. The oil sands contain 1.8 trillion barrels of
oil, of which just under 10 percent, or 165 billion barrels, are technically and
economically recoverable with today's technology. Canada currently extracts
over 1 billion barrels of that oil each year.
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Just as an aside, when Germany came to Canada, they asked for
our natural gas. Had we made that deal with them, the revenue to
Canada—Dr. Christian Leuprecht and I have written about this—
would be the sum total of $65 billion a day. In its entirety, that rev-
enue to the Canadian treasury alone would be three times the na-
tional budget. It would help us pay down our debt. That one deal
with Germany would have done so much good in this world.

Let's continue with Dr. Exner-Pirot's commentary here:

The technology necessary to turn the oil sands into bitumen that could then be
exported profitably really took off in the early 2000s. Buoyed by optimism of its
potential, then Prime Minister Stephen Harper pronounced in July 2006 that
Canada would soon be an “energy superproducer.” A surge of investment came
to the oil sands during the commodity supercycle of 2000-2014, which saw oil
peak at a price of $147/barrel in 2008. For a few good years, average oil prices
sat just below $100 a barrel. Alberta was booming until it crashed.

Two things happened that made Harper's prediction fall apart. The first was the
shale revolution—the combination of hydraulic fracturing and horizontal drilling
that made oil from the vast shale reserves in the [U.S.] economical to recover.
Until then, the US had been the world's biggest energy importer. In 2008 it was
producing just 5 million barrels of crude oil a day, and had to import 10 million
barrels a day to meet its ravenous need. Shale changed that, and the US is now
the world's biggest oil producer, expecting to hit a production level of 12.4 mil-
lion barrels a day in 2023.

The United States is now a competitor to Canada in energy pro-
duction and, in this, it is a vital interest of ours to unlock that poten-
tial for our pensions, for our people, for our workers and for our
country in every aspect of our national life.

Heather continues:

For producers extracting oil from the oil sands, the shale revolution was a terri-
ble outcome. Just as new major oil sands projects were coming online and were
producing a couple of million barrels a day, our only oil customer was becoming
energy self-sufficient.

® (1940)

Because the [U.S.] was such a reliable and thirsty oil consumer, it never made
sense for Canada to export its oil to any other nation, and the country never built
the pipeline or export terminal infrastructure to do so. Our southern neighbour
wanted all we produced. But the cheap shale oil that flooded North America in
the 2010s made that dependence a huge mistake as other markets would have
proven to be more profitable.

If shale oil took a hatchet to the Canadian oil industry, the election of the Liber-
als in 2015 brought on its death by a thousand cuts. For the last eight years, fed-
eral policies have incrementally and cumulatively damaged the domestic oil and
gas sector. With the benefit of hindsight in 2023, it is obvious that this has had
major consequences for global energy security, as well as opportunity costs for
Canadian foreign policy.

This is a country that, when united, could be performing way
above where we are today. She continues:

Once the shale revolution began in earnest, the urgency in the sector to be able
to export oil to any other market than the United States led to proposals for the
Northern Gateway, Energy East, and TMX pipelines. Opposition from Quebec
and BC killed Energy East and Northern Gateway, respectively. The saga of
TMX may finally end this year, as it is expected to go into service in late 2023,
billions of dollars over cost and years overdue thanks to regulatory and jurisdic-
tional hurdles.

Because Canada has been stuck selling all of its oil to the United States, it does
so at a huge discount, known as a differential. That discount hit a staggering
US$46 per barrel difference in October 2018, when [West Texas Intermediate]
oil was selling for $57 a barrel, but we could only get $11 for [Western Canada
Select]. The lack of pipelines and the resulting differential created losses to the
Canadian economy of $117 billion between 2011 and 2018, according to Frank
McKenna, former Liberal New Brunswick Premier and Ambassador to the Unit-
ed States, and now Deputy Chairman of TD Bank.

As an aside, these are people who understand how our economic
life is managed and how our people can retire safely. Furthermore,
she adds:

The story is not dissimilar with liquefied natural gas (LNG). While both the
[U.S.] and Canada had virtually no LNG export capacity in 2015, the United
States has since grown to be the world’s biggest LNG exporter, helping Europe
divest itself of its reliance on Russian gas and making tens of billions of dollars
in the process. Canada still exports none, with regulatory uncertainty and slow
timelines killing investor interest. In fact, the United States imports Canadian
natural gas—which it buys for the lowest prices in the world due to that differen-
tial problem—and then resells it to our allies for a premium.

We're being taken by the nose, because the Prime Minister is
more interested in dividing Canadians rather than uniting us around
our mutual success. Moreover, Heather notes:

Canada’s inability to build pipelines and export capacity is a major problem on
its own. But the federal government has also imposed a series of regulatory bur-
dens and hurdles on the industry, one on top of the other, creating confusion, in-
efficiency, and expense. It has become known in Alberta as a “stacked pancake”
approach.

Let's now get into the anatomy of how the Prime Minister has di-
vided Canadians and is undermining the unity of the country when
it comes to our CPP or any other proposition that we have for the
world. She states:

The first major burden was Bill C-48, the tanker moratorium.

Do you remember that one?

In case anyone considered reviving the Northern Gateway project, the Liberal
government banned oil tankers from loading anywhere between the northern-
most point of Vancouver Island to the BC-Alaska border. That left a pathway on-
ly for TMX, which goes through Vancouver, amidst fierce local opposition. I
have explained it to my American colleagues this way: imagine if Texas was
landlocked, and all its oil exports had to go west through California, but the fed-
eral government banned oil tankers from loading anywhere on the Californian
coast except through ports in San Francisco. That is what C-48 did in Canada.

It's a brilliant analogy. Furthermore, she continues:

Added to Bill C-48 was Bill C-69, known colloquially as the “no new pipelines”
bill and now passed as the Impact Assessment Act, which has successfully de-
terred investment in the sector. It imposes new and often opaque regulatory re-
quirements, such as having to conduct a gender-based analysis before proceed-
ing with new projects to determine how different genders will experience them:
“a way of thinking, as opposed to a unique set of prescribed methods,” accord-
ing to the federal government. It also provides for a veto from the Environment
and Climate Change Canada Minister—currently, Steven Guilbeault—on any
new in situ oil sands projects or interprovincial or international pipelines, re-
gardless of the regulatory agency’s recommendation.

® (1945)

This is the division incarnate that Prime Minister Trudeau has
deployed against Alberta's energy sector, against Albertans and
against the national unity that compels our CPP.

Heather continues:

The Alberta Court of Appeal has determined that the act is unconstitutional, and
eight other provinces are joining in its challenge.
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This is the image of a divided country.

But so far it is the law of the land, and

—for very good reason—
investors are allergic to it.

Federal carbon pricing, and Alberta’s federally compatible alternative for large
emitters, the TIER (Technology Innovation and Emissions Reduction) Regula-
tion, was added next, though this regulation makes sense for advancing climate
goals. It is the main driver for encouraging emission reductions, and includes
charges for excess emissions as well as credits for achieving emissions below
benchmark. It may be costly for producers, but from an economic perspective, of
all the climate policies carbon pricing is the most efficient.

Industry has committed to their shareholders that they will reduce emissions;
their social license and their investment attractiveness depends to some degree
on it. The major oil sands companies have put forth a credible plan to achieve
net zero emissions by 2050. One conventional operation in Alberta is already net
zero thanks to its use of carbon capture technology. Having a predictable and
recognized price on carbon is also providing incentives to a sophisticated carbon
tech industry in Canada, which can make money by finding smart ways to se-
quester and use carbon.

Isn't it amazing that the energy sector that helps our country re-
cover from economic calamity and from postpandemic planning is
also the same sector that's leading innovation and energy transition
technology? It's this ingenuity that needs to be unlocked that
Heather describes so perfectly here.

She continues:

In theory, carbon pricing should succeed in reducing emissions in the most effi-
cient way possible. Yet the federal government keeps adding more policies on
top of carbon pricing. The Canadian Clean Fuel Standard, introduced in 2022,
mandates that fuel suppliers must lower the “lifecycle intensity” of their fuels,
for example by blending them with biofuels, or investing in hydrogen, renew-
ables, and carbon capture. This standard dictates particular policy solutions,
causes the consumer price of fuels to increase, facilitates greater reliance on im-
ports of biofuels, and conflicts with some provincial policies.

Again, a policy of the federal government is pursuing division at
every turn across this entire country.

Heather adds:
It is also puts new demands on North American refinery capacity, which is al-

ready highly constrained.

The newest but perhaps most damaging proposal is for an emissions cap, which
seeks to reduce emissions solely from the oil and gas sector by 42 percent by
2030.

Listen. This is an all-out attack on common sense.

Moreover, Heather, says:

This target far exceeds what is possible with carbon capture in that time frame,
and can only be achieved through a dramatic reduction in production. The emis-
sions cap is an existential threat to Canada’s oil and gas industry, and it comes at
a time when our allies are trying, and failing, to wean themselves off of Russian
oil. The economic damage to the Canadian economy is hard to overestimate.

In fact, I would contend that what Dr. Exner-Pirot is describing
here is how Justin Trudeau is helping Vladimir Putin fund his war
machine against Ukrainians, and it's unconscionable that members
across the way would just allow that to happen. At the end of the
day, we cannot allow the Canadian Prime Minister to be a partner
of Vladimir Putin in how he has been murdering and butchering in-
nocent Ukrainians. This is something that you'd think members
across the way would care about, but they're not even paying atten-
tion to what we're saying here in this moment.

Heather notes:

Oil demand is growing, and even in the most optimistic forecasts it will continue
to grow for another decade before plateauing. Our European and Asian allies are
already dangerously reliant on Russia and Middle Eastern states for their oil.
American shale production is peaking, and will soon start to decline. Low in-
vestment levels in global oil exploration and production, due in part to ESG (en-
vironmental, social, and governance) and climate polices, are paving the way for
shortages by mid-decade.

An energy crisis is looming. Canada is not too late to be the energy superproduc-
er the democratic world needs in order to prosper and be secure. We need more
critical minerals, hydrogen, hydro, and nuclear power. But it is essential that we
export globally significant levels of oil and LNG as well, using carbon capture,
utilization, and storage...wherever possible.

® (1950)

Heather concludes:

Meeting this goal will require a very different approach than the one currently
taken by the federal government: it must be an approach that encourages growth
and exports even as emissions are reduced. What the government has done in-
stead is deter investment, dampen competitiveness, and hand market share to
Russia and OPEC.

This is the devastating cost that the division of Justin Trudeau
and his NDP-Liberals had on our Canadian national unity. This is
the type of indictment of the kind of leadership that has created
problems that we didn't need to deal with had there been in the Al-
berta energy sector a partner in the national government.

It was partner that was part of team Canada, part of defeating
Russia's war in Ukraine, part of lowering emissions internationally,
part of economic reconciliation with our first nations, and part of a
healthy and vibrant pension life for our people. It was to provide
stability and security of a social safety net for the most vulnerable,
and part of being allied with workers, so they can get shovels in the
ground—

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: On a point of order, Mr. Chair, I believe
my colleague opposite read into the record content that supported
the price on pollution, for which I thank him.

Can we get back to the content of the motion that is before us,
Mr. Chair?

My point of order is on relevance.

The Chair: Thank you, PS Bendayan.

We'll focus on the motion, and the amendment.

Mr. Shuvaloy Majumdar: I appreciate the opportunity to have
shared Dr. Exner-Pirot's perspective on a range of topics to show
that sometimes we can agree with the majority of views. She's an
independent researcher and has some thoughtful arguments. I'm
proud to know her. She also described the abuse of the price on pol-
Iution and the measures imposed in addition to the carbon tax, now
subjectively applied across this country in a way that divides Cana-
dians even more deeply. I think her point was especially bang on in
that regard.
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I appreciate the opportunity to join my colleagues for a bit of
time to speak to the virtues of the Alberta and Canadian energy sec-
tors as part of our national unity, and as part of a major contribution
to our national pensions. It's important to have national unity
around the question of unleashing the energy sector, because it's not
just about Alberta; it's about the prosperity of every Canadian.

At this time, I'd like to cede my time to my colleague, Mr. Kurek,
and then re-add my name to the list, please.

The Chair: Next, we have MP Kurek, MP Blaikie, and MP
Genuis.

Mr. Damien Kurek: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I just want to commend my new colleague from Calgary Her-
itage for his excellent contribution to this conversation. I'd like to
thank him and just highlight to the good people of Calgary Heritage
that they elected a fine man to succeed in a constituency, Mr. Chair,
that has had some fine individuals, including Mr. Bob Benzen,
whom I had the pleasure of working with on the environment com-
mittee for a period of time, and also Mr. Stephen Harper, the former
prime minister and somebody who understood something that I'm
going to talk about here, something that will be, I think, very com-
plementary to the points that my colleague here has shared: what
national unity is, how it needs to be shepherded well and how poli-
cy decisions made in our nation's capital can have a devastating ef-
fect on that.

Certainly, Shuv, you have big shoes to fill. However, I certainly
appreciate your contributions here to this discussion, and I think
that they highlight how important it is to the substance of what
we're talking about here.

We have a motion that seems to have been brought forward for
little other reason than to further divide Canadians. The Conserva-
tives have brought forward what I think is a very common-sense
amendment that would highlight the fact that the government is do-
ing just that. It is playing the games of fear and division. It is pitting
region against region. Mr. Chair, as I expand on this just slightly,
the key point that needs to be made here is that it goes back to the
very foundations of what our country is.

If I could go back to the founding document now known as the
Constitution Act, 1867—what was initially known as the British
North America Act—it laid out or developed a framework that is
very relevant to the discussions that we have daily in this place.

Over the many clauses of the BNA Act—or Constitution Act,
1867—we have this tension that was intentionally developed. We
had an understanding that what were then quite divided colonies in
what is now Canada—initially four, the recent addition after that, of
course, being Prince Edward Island and then further provinces
joined the federation after that.... A series of colonial governments
brought forward a wide range of diverse concerns.

Now, the idea of a unified state was not new in the lead-up to
1867. It had been tried a number of times. There was a whole host
of different mechanisms and things that had been brought forward
and tested out, so to speak, Mr. Chair, that had various levels of
success. In the lead-up to 1867, there was the acknowledgement
amongst a very diverse range of ideas brought around the table to
those whom we know are the fathers of confederation—and to the

many others who participated in that process, many of whom are
lost to history, including indigenous voices, women who were key
and central players in that.... The process of getting to the point
where we had, ultimately, the BNA Act that created the foundation
of our country was an understanding of something that is incredibly
relevant to what we're discussing here today, and it is that we have
to have that ability to respect different regions of our country, that
we will have different ideas, different belief systems, different lan-
guages. There will be a series of differences that would be easy to
point to as dividing factors in what created problems with the vari-
ous iterations of trying to unite the colonies that make up what we
now know as Canada here today.

® (1955)

What was acknowledged was that we could have the ability to
respect diverse voices around the metaphorical table while ensuring
that there was a strong governmental structure. I can only imagine,
Mr. Chair, what many of those conversations would have looked
like around those meetings in which they would have been hashing
out the ideas that have led to the country that we now know and
love today as Canada. Those would have decided what areas would
be under federal jurisdiction and what areas would be under provin-
cial jurisdiction, with the understanding of where cities and munici-
palities and counties would play a role in that and they would have
developed that structure to ensure that it responded to the dynamics
that the world faced at the time, which was very notable.

In fact, it is said that one of the reasons Ottawa was chosen as the
capital for the new country of Canada was the military and strategic
importance of its being situated on the dividing line between what
were then Upper and Lower Canada, the French and the English,
the Catholics and the Protestants. It was a strategic place, but it also
had military merit: It was a former barracks on top of a hill with a
good view.

At the time, the Americans faced a host of domestic challenges
and they were very much focused inward on them. During those
days and especially in the years leading up to 1867, there was a
fear. I say fear because I think that accurately articulates that there
was a possibility that the Americans at the time might have looked
outward to expand their empire, and the result was this understand-
ing that we had to have a strong federation, with the idea of a feder-
ation being strategic.

I can only imagine the many conversations among the Fathers of
Confederation. They would have looked at contemporary examples
at that point in time, which would have included the United States
republic as a constitutional republic, and the way democracy played
in that. Of course, we take a lot—in fact, the opening words of the
British North America Act speak very much about its being a gov-
ernment modelled in principle after that of the United Kingdom,
but understanding that there were differences because our country
was vast.
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Geographically it is vast. The divisions that exist are significant
and they have been significant since long before our nation was a
country. But as the tension was found to determine what would be
an appropriate balance of power between provinces and a federal
government, the national state, and what that would look like, not
only in the context of the initial four colonies that became early
Canada but also in the context of understanding that there was po-
tential to see Canada grow and expand—and understanding in fact
the Latin motto for our country, the rough English translation of
which is “from sea to sea”—and understanding that there was that
desire, that dream to unify a vast space of land that, although so
very diverse, could be unified together.

Those battles were fought, and then that continued. Mr. Chair, |
won't go into the many hard-fought and the more peaceful exam-
ples, but, of course, it hasn't always been peaceful. We had ele-
ments of revolution. I'm sure there are many Canadians watching,
Mr. Chair, who would think back to their social studies curriculum
or history curriculum, depending on the province, and they would
think of Louis Riel and the battles that took place around 1886. In
fact, Louis Riel's name is on one of the bronze plaques showing
elected members of Parliament, although he never had the chance
to take his seat. How he was able to sign the scrolls is quite a story,
actually. His name is on one of those bronze plaques that we all
have the honour of having our name on, something in which we
join with these icons of Canadian history, that being one of so many
examples.

® (2000)

In my home province of Alberta, there were intense negotiations
and certainly a host of varying opinions. In fact, we quite often will
hear the story of the proposal for a province of Buffalo. “Buffalo”
echoes the historical large mammal somewhat. For those around
this room who may not be familiar, it's like a cow but much bigger
and with horns. It's a wild animal that defined much of the land-
scape. There was this idea that there could be this united province
of Buffalo.

In fact, Mr. Chair, I found it very interesting, when earlier this
year I posted a picture of a historical cairn that is located in my
constituency. It's actually on a corner of what used to be a number
of administrative districts in what was then known as the “north-
west territories”. The conversation that ensued and the people
reaching out having seen this post on Facebook and Instagram was
fascinating. It was quite incredible to be able to dive into some of
the elements of that history.

In 1905, when Alberta and Saskatchewan were added to the fed-
eration, it was with a great deal of optimism. I've had the chance to
be involved in politics for a little while now and one thing I like to
do when looking back at historical events is to look at the newspa-
per headlines of the time. Having read the headlines of the newspa-
pers for both the province of Alberta and the province of
Saskatchewan.... In fact, they were not daily newspapers. In some
cases it was actually a few days after these provinces became a part
of the federation that an incredible amount of optimism was felt.
There was the understanding and the ability to see growth as a unit-
ed country, even though we were very different.

Mr. Chair, that has not always been an easy process. I'll get into
the reason [ wanted to briefly take us through this history. It's be-
cause it leads towards something that was a hard lesson learned,
Mr. Chair.

In 1905, when the provinces of Alberta and Saskatchewan were
added to the federation, the optimism associated with that was tem-
pered somewhat over the coming decades. It was learned that al-
though the Fathers of Confederation had worked diligently to deter-
mine the balance and tension that exists to ensure that while we
have a strong federal government, there would be respect for our
regional governments—or provincial governments, as they are
known in Canada—there was a missing element to that when the
Laurier government brought forward the amendment to the Consti-
tution that added Alberta and Saskatchewan. It excluded the admin-
istration of natural resources, which is why this is such a relevant
part of this conversation.

A host of reasons were discussed at the time. One can look back
from the perspective of the 21st century here in 2023 and determine
whether or not it was politics or whether it was because it was a
Liberal prime minister. Certainly I've heard that from many con-
stituents, who look back at the Liberals governing our country and
the attacks on the west that have taken place that seem to define
much of Liberal governments.

Some reasons were articulated, but the provinces did not have
the ability to manage their own resources. That was added a couple
of decades later. In fact, I think it was two and half decades after
that when there was this understanding that the provinces should be
treated equally.

To the many who I'm sure are watching this, there were very few
exceptions. One exception was representation in the Senate and the
other was the specific note in the Charter of Rights and Freedoms,
which is of course the Constitution Act of 1982. Otherwise, all
provinces in this country are treated the same. That's part of the
strength here and what is building the foundation for what I trust
will be a point that truly moves the needle on ending the division
that Justin Trudeau and his Liberal governments have perpetrated
upon our country.

® (2005)

The provinces of Alberta and Saskatchewan pushed to ensure
that they could in fact have that equal status. Then we fast forward
half a century or so, Mr. Chair, to the constitutional negotiations
and what ultimately ended up being the repatriation of the Constitu-
tion and the passing of the Constitution Act, 1982, which renamed
the British North America Act to the Constitution Act, 1867. There
are a host of other constitution acts as well, although they're not as
well known, because they have to deal with either the entry of a
province to the federation or a host of other amendments that have
taken place from time to time.
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Mr. Chair, this is to highlight how important the lead-up to 1982
was. The premier of Alberta at the time, Peter Lougheed, spent a
great deal of time in negotiations. This is where we have this ten-
sion that exists. Again, this was at the conclusion of Pierre Elliott
Trudeau's time as prime minister—although he did lose and spent I
think it was about 15 months on a short hiatus when Joe Clark's
Progressive Conservatives had won a minority government. Ulti-
mately, they lost in a confidence vote when they recalled Parlia-
ment. Then, of course John Turner was the successor to Pierre El-
liott Trudeau.

Many Canadians have not had the opportunity...and I would sug-
gest it's something that is very valuable and speaks to the larger
context of why so many Albertans were terrified of the thought of
having another Trudeau in office. It's because when Pierre Elliott
Trudeau first started the conversation, it's not that it was a new con-
versation. It had various iterations, looking back at some past news
articles about what that did look like from time to time. When those
conversations started, what was imagined by the machinations of
Pierre Elliott Trudeau to what ended up being the negotiated agree-
ment that resulted in the Constitution Act,1982, was very different.
It is quite stark, actually. I didn't have a chance to bring with me
some of those documents. Let me just enlighten members of the
committee a little bit on this, specifically Liberal members, because
this is their party's legacy. It would have radically reshaped our
country in a way that would make it virtually unrecognizable.

Now, I certainly have very little respect for Pierre Elliott
Trudeau. I'll get into some of the more contemporary reasons for
that here in a few moments.

One of the noteworthy figures in that negotiation was then Alber-
ta premier Peter Lougheed. I happen to know some of his family
members. I've heard some of the stories about their uncle and the
process that was the constitutional negotiations. It is a fascinating
thing to be able to look back and to understand the hard-fought way
in which the balance of power among the different levels of govern-
ment in our country was maintained. I certainly credit Peter
Lougheed for working so diligently to ensure that could take place.
That laid the foundation for much of the prosperity that Alberta and
all of Canada has seen over the last four decades or so.

Mr. Chair, it was those negotiations that had started...and there
was a significant push-back from provinces, political activists, aca-
demics and constitutional lawyers.

I had the opportunity to spend some time at my alma mater after
winning a scholarship named after the late Mel Smith, who was one
of those figures involved in some of those constitutional negotia-
tions.

I can tell you, Chair, it is fascinating. It is a drive through history
that provides such extraordinary context. It makes me, quite
frankly, proud to be Canadian and truly honoured to be a part of the
political process. It speaks to the way that we've come to agreement
in this country. It doesn't always mean that we agree, but it means
that we're willing to sit down, negotiate, come to an understanding
and figure out something that works for everybody. Whether that be
prior to 1867, and the tension that existed in trying to figure out
what would be federal responsibility and what would be provincial
responsibility, or what they should even call the country, was all

part of those negotiations that came forward and trying to figure out
exactly what things would look like.

® (2010)

Of course, we have the history of treaties, and, Mr. Chair, I could
go on at length, and I'll spare the committee this, but it is fascinat-
ing to look into some of the—in some cases—pre-Confederation
history of where the treaties with indigenous people come from and
the processes through which those were brought about. What's very
interesting, Mr. Chair, is that actually adds to the strength of what
our country is. We've seen this ability to take differences and be
able to have those tough conversations to figure things out.

It doesn't mean that it's always been done well, don't mistake that
for one second, but, certainly, when it comes to.... In fact, there's
another historical cairn—and you'll forgive me, Mr. Chair, if I'm
very proud of the area I represent—where there's this area, and it's
on a lake known as Sounding Lake in the eastern part of my con-
stituency, and it's in what is Treaty No. 6 territory. In I believe it
was 1884—although don't quote me on that date—it was around
that time in the 1880s when the plains were vast and outside of a
few settlers and the indigenous peoples, there was not a lot there.

In fact, I had read a book at one point that articulated what it
would have been like if you had taken an airplane and flown over
the vastness of the North American plains prior to the construction
of the railways and what we know as modern settlements. It would
have been vast, it would have been largely unpopulated, although,
certainly, there were a host of very advanced cultures within our in-
digenous communities and the Métis, a very proud legacy. And the
conversation around Métis and Métis communities in Alberta will
accentuate the point I'm trying to make that is so closely related to
the amendment at hand and the motion that's been brought forward
by the Liberals. It speaks to how in the 1880s we truly saw thou-
sands, and this historical cairn on the beautiful shores of Sounding
Lake....

Sounding Lake, although it's called a lake, it's truly just a large
slough and at different points of the year, depending on how much
rainfall there has been, that will determine whether or not there's
water. That's not a new phenomenon, at different points in history
there's been water in it, and at different points in history there
hasn't. That history goes back long before modern weather tracking,
but includes the oral tradition of indigenous peoples who lived in
the area.

In the 1880s when there was a gathering of I believe—and I'm
going from memory, here—6,000 indigenous people plus a couple
of thousand of those who were then known as the “white man”, but
settlers who were there....
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Mr. Chair, just as [ was on this cairn, it's on a little bit of a knoll
on the edge of what is called Sounding Lake, it was incredible to
think about some of the context, which I'm endeavouring to high-
light here, about what our country is and the foundations that allow
us to, in the midst of a diversity of opinions and thoughts, be able to
bring forward an ability to be united, and that's the point here. Mr.
Chair, as we look back to a century after that point, back to the ne-
gotiations that led up to the 1982 Constitution Act, we saw that
specifically, Peter Lougheed spent an inordinate amount of time
and led the country in fighting to ensure that specifically resources
remain the sole jurisdiction of the province. The result was after
that was passed, the Constitution was brought home and, of course,
there was the signing ceremony with the late Queen Elizabeth and
the pomp and circumstance associated with that and the continuing
development of what Canada could be, that hard-fought tension that
was found between what the federal and provincial governments,
different levels of government, should be.

Mr. Chair, we have to be able to look back just before 1982 and
something that is incredibly important, and it is something that my
constituents know very well. I will admit, this was something that
happened long before I was born, in fact, I know there are a number
of my colleagues here who probably were not born yet.

® (2015)
I won't suggest who probably was.
A voice: You have [[naudible—Editor].
Mr. Damien Kurek: No, it's just an acknowledgement of fact.

Long before I was born, it was something that became synony-
mous with the frustration many Albertans face with our national
government here in Ottawa. It still elicits a strong emotional re-
sponse. In fact, if you go to a coffee shop in Battle River—Crow-
foot—the area I am so proud to represent, with 110,000 people over
about 53,000 square kilometres of beautiful east-central Alberta
countryside—and mention the national energy program, Mr. Chair,
there will be a strong response. People will have strong opinions.
I'd like to get into the reason for that.

At the time, there was acknowledgement that Alberta was start-
ing to see a tremendous amount of prosperity. Largely, this came
about because of the discovery of conventional oil reserves. I
would encourage the Liberal and NDP members specifically to take
note of my talking about “conventional oil reserves”, because I'm
going to make a differentiation that is absolutely key to the discus-
sion of both the amendment at hand and the motion that is meant to
divide. The discovery of conventional oil reserves meant we could
find, drill for and produce oil that could be sold on the global mar-
ket in a very economical way. The result was the beginning of the
unprecedented prosperity brought about as a result of this. What's
very interesting....

I will take a small detour here. My late grandfather Kurek, who
was very proud to be one of.... This speaks to another issue I'll get
to at some point, which is LNG. LNG is simply liquefied—
® (2020)

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Mr. Chair, I hate to interrupt the member
opposite, but I have a point of order.

The Chair: PS Bendayan has a point of order.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you very much.

We have listened to pre-Confederation history and governments
ranging in all shapes and sizes over the course of the 1960s and on-

wards. Now, I believe the member was referring to a story from his
grandfather.

Mr. Chair, I invite you to bring the member back to the motion
and amendment at hand. I also recall that you announced, at the be-
ginning of this session, that we would hear from Mr. Genuis. I hope
that wasn't false advertising. We are all waiting with bated breath
for that further filibuster from a new member.

Mr. Chair, thank you for indulging me with yet another point of
order on relevance.

The Chair: Thank you, PS Bendayan.

We have another point of order.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I assure the member that anything I have to say is nowhere near
as profound or significant as what Mr. Kurek has to say.

1 think, with regard to the matter of order, the presumption on the
other side is that arguments rooted in history are necessarily irrele-
vant. The member pointed out that the member was making argu-
ments grounded in Canadian history, as if it were obvious that talk-
ing about the past is somehow irrelevant.

I think—

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: It was obvious based on the words that
were spoken.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: —the underlying, fundamental philosophi-
cal differences between Conservatives and Liberals is this: We
think the past is something that needs to be learned from and is rel-
evant in contemporary debate—

The Chair: MP Genuis—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I'm just trying to finish my thought here.
The Chair: Just calm down.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: It's an exciting place, if I can—

The Chair: Listen, first off—I think I've let you know this be-
fore—we don't like crosstalk. It affects the interpreters quite a bit.
It's not good for their health and safety.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I was the one talking. That's the issue. You
started it.

The Chair: There was a lot of crosstalk.
Mr. Garnett Genuis: Let me finish.

The Chair: Anyway, we are going back to....

On the same point of order, yes, go ahead, MP Blaikie.
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Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I was waiting for Mr. Kurek to get to an ex-
position of pre-Confederation, state-run pension plans, but it never
came home to roost. I sure hope he's going to find his way there,
because that would establish a clear—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: On that point, Mr. Chair, I was hoping
we'd hear more about Bismarck, because—

The Chair: Thank you, MP Blaikie.
MP Genuis, we're going back to MP Kurek.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: —Bismarck was the one who initiated the
first—

The Chair: MP Kurek, I know you're going to do your best to
tie it back to the motion—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Bismarck would not have allowed—
® (2025)
The Chair: —and the amendment.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: —previously independent parts of the re-
cently unified German empire to have their own—

The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. Kurek.
Mr. Damien Kurek: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I do find it somewhat ironic that....

First, let me apologize to my colleague from Yellowhead. I didn't
mean to insinuate anything about his age. I have no doubt there is
significant wisdom with it.

Mr. Gerald Soroka (Yellowhead, CPC): [Inaudible—Editor]

Mr. Damien Kurek: Look, what I do find very concerning is
this. I've been quite clear—I would be happy to go into more detail,
but I think, for the sake of brevity, I will not—as to why this is all
so very relevant to the conversation at hand. That's specifically to
the amendment, but also to the larger motion, where we see that
this Prime Minister, under his Liberal government.... The parlia-
mentary secretary has moved this motion, which is interesting to
begin with, because that's very different from how Justin Trudeau
promised he would run things in Parliament when he was first
elected. I'll get into more detail on his understanding of, or his po-
liticalization of, the way in which Parliament works. I'll certainly
get into that a little bit later.

Mr. Chair, I think the reason to be concerned is this. When I was
talking about the history and about the conversation we are having
about this motion...which is not unprecedented. It's something that
we have seen built up over time. Specifically, we are talking about
the son of a former prime minister.

I was talking about my late grandfather Kurek, because there's a
very, very clear connection to the issue at hand. In the late 1960s,
he had the opportunity to be part of the construction. Later, for
most of his life, he worked for a number of different gas compa-
nies. It was one of the first large-scale natural gas production facili-
ties in that area of the province, although not the first natural gas
facility. I would highlight that Viking, Alberta, claims to have one
of the first. It's quite fascinating. There's a beautiful mural, actually,
on a wall there. I'd encourage members, if they're ever going

through Viking, home of the Sutter family, to stop and take a look
at some of that history.

The reason it's so relevant to the issue at hand is that we started
to see the responsible development of Alberta resources, which I
am proud my family was part of. I talk often about the farming his-
tory I have in my family. I won't get into the specifics here as to
why I'm so proud of that, because we're talking about resource de-
velopment. My family's story is like that of those of so many other
Albertans—getting to see the building of an industry that has led to
an unprecedented level of prosperity not only for Albertans and a
few families but also truly for our country. We should be proud of
that prosperity.

Quite frankly, I find it incredibly disappointing that the Liberals
would be somehow ashamed of the context this provides to the
country that we have here today. I attempted to briefly articulate the
history related to the division of different levels of government and
the tension—I use the word “tension” specifically—that is meant to
exist between different levels of government. It doesn't mean there
needs to be agreement, but it means there needs to be that under-
standing that in the midst of disagreement, there can be the ability
to work together.

Take the example of my family, which is like that of so many
others. My late grandfather Kurek worked his entire life as a gas
operator and was very, very proud of that. It led to my father having
a pretty good life. It was a regular middle-class life.

1 would just note something that I think is very, very interesting.
When we saw the introduction of natural gas to the community of
Consort, we saw a radical change take place.

® (2030)

This is especially relevant because it speaks to how, as natural re-
sources were developed, we saw the ability to transition from
things like coal to more energy-efficient, safer types of energy.
Consort, because of its proximity to what is the Gooseberry Lake
gas plant, which my late grandfather Kurek helped build and then
operated there for much of his life, speaks to that connection to his-

tory.

Now, as we see that there are these connections to the resource
sector, we saw that the elder Trudeau, Pierre Elliott Trudeau, in-
flicted a level of division on this country that we are still reeling
from.

That is often summed up—as I've mentioned before, if you go to
a coffee shop in Battle River—Crowfoot—in a palatable frustration
that exists about how Alberta was disregarded, ignored and inten-
tionally targeted by its government in Ottawa, and that's not just for
individuals who are born significantly before me who experienced
it and lived through it.

It was in the form of the national energy program. You saw the
beginning stages of just an amazing level of prosperity that Alberta
was starting to see, and the potential and the entrepreneurial spirit
that defined so much of why I am so proud to be from the province
of Alberta, and you saw that shut down, stamped out by a heavy-
handed government in the nation's capital.

The Chair: We're suspended until Thursday.



November 20, 2023

FINA-121 31

[The meeting was suspended at 8:32 p.m., Monday, November
20, 2023]

[The meeting resumed at 11:02 a.m., Thursday, November 23,
2023]

® (8300)

The Chair: Welcome back to meeting number 121 of the House
of Commons Standing Committee on Finance.

The committee is considering matters related to committee busi-
ness, specifically the motion by PS Rachel Bendayan and the
amendment by MP Lawrence.

Today's meeting is taking place in a hybrid format pursuant to
Standing Order 15.1. Members are attending in person in the room,
and remotely using the Zoom application.

I'd like to make a few comments for the benefit of the members.

Please wait until I recognize you by name before speaking. For
those participating by video conference, click on the microphone
icon to activate your mim, and please mute yourself when you are
not speaking.

Regarding interpretation for those on Zoom, you have the choice
at the bottom of your screen of either the floor, English, or French.
For those in the room, you can use the earpiece, and select the de-
sired channel.

Although this room is equipped with a powerful audio system,
feedback events can occur. These can be extremely harmful to in-
terpreters, and cause serious injuries. The most common cause of
sound feedback is an earpiece worn too close to the microphone.
We therefore ask all participants to exercise a high degree of cau-
tion when handling the earpieces, especially when your micro-
phone, or your neighbour's microphone, is turned on.

In order to prevent incidents, and safeguard the hearing health of
the interpreters, I invite participants to ensure that they speak into
the microphone into which their headset is plugged in, and to avoid
manipulating the earbuds by placing them on the table away from
the microphone when they are not in use.

I remind members that all comments should be addressed
through the chair. For members in the room, if you wish to speak,
please raise your hand. For members on Zoom, please use the
“raise hand” function. The clerk and I will manage the speaking or-
der as best we can, and we appreciate your patience and under-
standing in this regard.

On that, we last left off where MP Kurek had the floor and was
speaking to the amendment. We had a speaking order of MP
Blaikie, MP Genuis, MP Lawrence, MP Majumdar, and MP Soro-
ka.

Mr. Corey Tochor (Saskatoon—University, CPC): Can I
please be added to the speaking list, Chair.

The Chair: Okay.

MP Kurek.
Mr. Damien Kurek: Thanks very much, Chair.

It's good to be back before the finance committee to talk about an
issue that is so important to many of my constituents, many Alber-
tans and, of course, many Canadians.

Specifically, I'm glad to have the chance to continue to talk about
how this amendment in particular, and some of the foundations sur-
rounding the motion that Ms. Bendayan brought forward, is contin-
uing a trend that endeavours to divide this country for the narrow
political interests of a Prime Minister who seems to care about
nothing more than his electoral success. He has built a political in-
frastructure and political movement around almost a cult of his per-
sonality that is bent on dividing our country.

Mr. Chair, if you recall, when I had the opportunity to speak to
Mr. Lawrence's very common sense amendment where the intent
was very clear, we were endeavouring to take out the politics of the
motion to bring a resemblance of something that should be, I be-
lieve, the responsibility of so many Canadians.

Chair, if I could, I left off talking about my late grandfather
Kurek, who.... It seemed to offend the Liberal members of this
committee that I would dare talk about a member of my family who
was the son of Polish immigrants, and left in the late 1930s a diffi-
cult situation in Poland. He was seeking opportunity and what we
would say now—what many would define as—is the Canadian
dream.

I talked a bit about my grandfather's involvement in the oil and
gas industry, and, specifically, the construction of the Gooseberry
Lake gas plant. At some point maybe—probably not before the fi-
nance committee, although we'll see what circumstances lead to—
I'd be happy to talk at length about the value of Canada's energy in-
dustry. It has actually a very direct correlation with the livelihoods
and pensions of Canadians, and especially a very big connection to
the division perpetrated upon our country by Prime Minister Justin
Trudeau and his Liberals.

Chair, the reason why I specifically brought up that story.... It's
puzzling to me that it would offend the Liberals to talk about what I
shared a bit—very briefly and succinctly—because, of course,
Canada, and the diversity of our history is immense. However,
when I started talking about the story of my late grandfather, the
Liberals became almost unhinged in the offence taken—

® (8305)

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz (Davenport, Lib.): Mr. Chair, on a point
of order, what the heck does this have to do with the motion? Hon-
estly.

Some hon. members: That's debate.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: My parents came from another country as
well.

An hon. member: That's not a point of order.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: What does it have to do with the motion?
I'd like to know the relevance, please.

The Chair: I would ask that we be respectful of each other.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: It's on relevance, Mr. Chair.
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I don't want to hear your story, Mr. Kurek. Let's talk about the
motion, please.

The Chair: MP Dzerowicz, please, let's not have crosstalk over
that.

MP Kurek, please be mindful of relevance in sticking to the mo-
tion and the proposed amendment.

Mr. Damien Kurek: Absolutely, Mr. Chair.

Again, it's almost predictable that the Liberals would be so of-
fended by how the story of our country has been stitched together
by stories like mine. I'm sure Liberal members and my colleagues

have stories that make up what is the Canadian story. I'm very
proud of that.

It's unbelievable that this would be so offensive to Liberal mem-
bers, and specifically as it relates directly to this motion. It is—

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: I have a point of order.

The Chair: Ms. Dzerowicz, is this a point of order on relevance?

MP Kurek, could you please focus on the amendment to the mo-
tion?

Mr. Damien Kurek: Absolutely, Chair.

Once again, I find—

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Mr. Chair, on a point of order, if the mem-
ber doesn't have a copy of the motion at hand, do you think we can
give it to him?

Mr. Damien Kurek: I have a copy, Mr. Chair.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Through you, Mr. Chair, could you ask the
member whether he has a copy of the motion?

Mr. Damien Kurek: That's not a point of order.

Mr. Corey Tochor: On a point of order, Mr. Chair, with all due
respect, your role as chair is to mitigate the interruptions caused by
unfounded points of order. I'm surprised by what I'm witnessing
here at the committee.

As much as I'm subbing in today—

The Chair: Thank you, MP Tochor.

The point of order was on relevance, and that is an allowable
point of order.

We are going back to relevance, MP Kurek, on the motion.

On a point of order, | see MP Hallan.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: A point of order for relevance can be
brought up. The issue is that you have to make the decision on
whether he is preambling to get back to that motion or not.

In my opinion, this is what he's doing. He's laying out the pain
that Canadians are feeling, and you have to consider that—
® (8310)

The Chair: Thank you, MP Hallan.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: —when you're making your decision.

The Chair: We are going back to MP Kurek. I'm asking you to
be relevant to the amendment to the motion.

Mr. Damien Kurek: Thanks, Mr. Chair.

I've been so rudely interrupted a couple of times now in making
that very clear connection between the amendment we are dis-
cussing and the larger conversation around Ms. Bendayan's motion
that is so specifically designed to not bring our country together but
rather divide Canadians against each other. In this case, it's to di-
vide Albertans against the rest of the country, to divide in every
way possible.

I do find it really funny—and maybe this is because Justin
Trudeau believes that Canada is a post-national state—that they
don't believe in the idea of Canada. I find it really concerning, Mr.
Chair, that you would have members of the Liberal Party who
would be so offended by the fact that my story—as would be the
case, I would expect, with every person around this table, every
member of Parliament in the unique journey they take to be a part
of Canada's House of Commons—speaks to what we are as Canadi-
ans.

Now the members opposite.... Why this is so directly relevant to
the issue at hand is that members opposite are making this a con-
cern for our country, which is a fair comment to make. The fact that
they would deny the stories of Canadians to be a part of this con-
versation truly is an astounding revelation of the attitude with
which the Liberals approach the governing of our country.

Mr. Chair, whether it's my family and my late Grandfather
Kurek, who I spoke very, very briefly about, or whether it be other
members, [ know quite well that my Conservative team members
here, all of them, have incredible stories that lend to the idea that
has built Canada, specifically the infrastructure associated with
that.

Mr. Chair, when we are talking about the divisions being brought
to our country by a government that is so bent on ensuring that it
push forward on policies like the carbon tax that have a direct im-
pact on the livelihoods of Canadians.... Mr. Chair, I would venture
back, if I could, to 2015. The conversation surrounding the carbon
tax directly relates to this motion here because it's the consequences
of the policies of this Liberal government and its attitude toward
how it governs this country that have led to an untenable situation.

In 2015, in the conversation around the carbon tax, the then lead-
er of the Liberal Party and now Prime Minister, Justin Trudeau,
time and time again, when asked about some of the intricacies
about how the carbon tax would be applied, Mr. Chair, made it
clear throughout the course of that campaign, for example, that he
would not impose his will, the federal government's will, on Cana-
dians and that he would not be overstepping his bounds as Prime
Minister.

Yet, we saw how, even in the early days of the Liberals' mandate
post-2015, provincial governments no longer mattered. We saw that
the Liberals would do anything and everything they could to tram-
ple upon provinces, to trample upon any person, any group or any
jurisdiction that did not fulfill their political objective. We see that
very, very clearly with the carbon tax.
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Mr. Chair, if I could, I'll take you back to one of the first meet-
ings that the then environment minister, Catherine McKenna, had
with her provincial counterparts. The press release, the invitation to
that meeting, very clearly said that they wanted to come together to
discuss climate action and actions on the environment.

However, Mr. Chair, what was interesting.... It was actually Scott
Moe, who was the environment minister for the Province of
Saskatchewan at the time, who attended that meeting. When he
walked into that meeting, he found something, and it was not a col-
laborative environment, not a minister who was willing to listen,
not a government that was looking out for the best interests of the
country and willing to collaborate with its jurisdictional partners.

® (8315)

For the sake of brevity, Chair, I won't go into it, although there
are members here who are different from those who were here
Monday night. I talked a little about some of our history. It is rele-
vant to dive back into the history of what led to the formation of
how Canada is meant to operate as country. When Premier Scott
Moe, who was the then Saskatchewan environment minister,
walked into that meeting, he learned quickly that it was not meant
to be one of collaboration. It was not meant to be one of discussion.
He walked into that meeting and found that the Liberal minister, led
by the Prime Minister and those activists who seem to control the
Prime Minister's Office, had been handed instructions as to what
they would and would not accept. At the time, it made quite a bit of
news. The then environment minister of the Province of
Saskatchewan, Scott Moe, actually walked out of the meeting.
When asked by the media, he ironically said something that echoes
throughout our history: “Just watch me.”

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I remember that.
Mr. Damien Kurek: It was quite a moment.

Chair, it was interesting that with the then environment minis-
ter—and I know the former Saskatchewan premier Brad Wall quite
well—there was a willingness to develop those relationships to
work together for the good of our country. Although they might
have disagreed on the politics—and I can assure you that Brad Wall
and Justin Trudeau do not agree on very much when it comes to
politics—there was a willingness and an understanding, with Justin
Trudeau having just won the election, that there was a need to work
together. However, that only went in one direction.

Chair, what is so disgusting, quite frankly, is that we have seen
an erosion of national unity that has taken place over the last eight
or so years that Justin Trudeau has been Prime Minister. There has
been an erosion of national unity, Chair, because we have seen,
continually, how the Prime Minister does not care about our na-
tion's unity, does not care about ensuring a prosperous Canada for
all, but rather he's quick to hold some back so that he can pick win-
ners and losers. The result, Mr. Chair, is a divided country.

The reason I talk about the carbon tax, and specifically the way
the then leader of the Liberal Party—the third party at the time—
talked about the carbon tax, is that he promised it would be a col-
laborative process. Yet, we saw that, the moment he was elected, it
was nothing more than talk. If I could give credit to the Liberals for
one thing—I apologize to my Conservative colleagues—it is that

they are good at politics. They are good at the rhetoric, good at say-
ing the right things at the right time and good at the strategy associ-
ated with that.

Chair, the ultimate reason that is not a compliment is they are so
good at politics for the purposes of attaining power that they are
leaving our country divided and weaker as a result. To my friends
across the table in the Liberal Party, being good at politics is not
enough to be good at governing the country. You have to be willing
to work together. We've seen time and time again that they are sim-
ply incapable of doing that.

Mr. Chair, the carbon tax is a good example. We had a number of
provincial governments elected throughout the last eight years that
specifically opposed the carbon tax. You would think that would be
a valid question that a provincial government could run on, espe-
cially after I read the Supreme Court ruling on that. If I could sum
it up in the fact that—

® (8320)
The Chair: We're going to suspend as the bells are ringing. As

we usually do, we ask if we could continue straight through until
close to the vote. Do we have unanimous consent?

Some hon. members: No.

The Chair: We need UC to continue and then just vote, and then
come back after the vote.

A voice: There's no UC.
The Chair: I heard no UC for that. Okay, there's no UC.

We're suspended until after the vote.

e (Pause)

® (1210)
® (8410)
The Chair: We're back. We've all voted, everybody. We voted

the right way. We have more good news here. We have our hard-
working clerk Alexandre Roger's birthday is this week.

Some hon. members: Hear, hear!

The Chair: Happy Birthday, Alexandre.

There's another opportunity for us to thank all of those who trav-
elled to the east and west and the many cities for the PBC. We have
thank Alexandre and his team and everybody who coordinated all

of the logistics that made that happen, thank you.

Now we're back with MP Kurek.

Mr. Damien Kurek: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.
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Of course, it is good to be able to continue this conversation. |
was a little surprised actually that the Liberals denied consent to al-
low this meeting to continue because I was happy to continue talk-
ing about the divisions that Liberal Prime Minister Justin Trudeau
has inflicted upon our country. Chair, let me just highlight a couple
of examples of this.

On the very human level, when I speak with constituents an in-
creasingly common sentiment that I hear, and this is tragic, is that
my constituents feel that Canada is broken. In many cases, Chair,
they will share things with me like they're simply not sure about
whether our country has a future. In fact, there are some who feel
like there's no option but to see that the consequences of disunity
could be absolutely devastating to the future of our country.

Chair, the reason why that's so tragic is that it could have been
avoided and should be the priority of any leader and any member of
a governing party. Their first priority in government should be na-
tional unity. Yet we have seen over the last eight years an intention
of dividing Canadians for narrow political gain. In fact, we saw that
just this past week in how the Liberals intentionally included in a
free trade agreement with Ukraine a carbon tax mechanism. It's
shameful that they would be so intent on division that they do this
even with a country at war. To play that sort of politics is absolutely
shameful. Chair, I have the court ruling here on the Impact Assess-
ment Act, and we see that it was found to be largely unconstitution-
al, Bill C-69.

This should be no surprise to anybody who has listened to com-
mentary on this subject over the last six or so years since this was
introduced. Every province—in fact the only thing we see
provinces united in these days it seems is that they're united against
the actions of Justin Trudeau, and that's certainly not a record that
one should be proud of. I talked about the carbon tax. It has inten-
tionally divided Canadians, including I mentioned the Canada-
Ukraine Free Trade Agreement. It was the Conservatives who ini-
tially negotiated that back in 2013. In fact, it was Stephen Harper
who looked Vladimir Putin in the face and told him to get out of
Ukraine. That's leadership, not like what we have seen by this divi-
sion perpetrated by Prime Minister Justin Trudeau.

We've see the carbon tax and this recent carve-out that benefits
3% of Canadians. It continues to punish the other 97% of Canadi-
ans, including those who are struggling to pay their heating bills for
propane, natural gas and other forms of energy that are still subject
to that. We see that intention to divide. In conversations around
equalization where there should be the willingness to have real con-
versations with provinces, we have not seen that under Justin
Trudeau. He may talk big about a photo op, but then when it comes
to what happens behind closed doors, it's division and pitting region
against region. We see that with the continued conversation around
the emissions cap.

Chair, I could only imagine if the Prime Minister was to pick any
other part of the country and tell them that they cannot do what
they are good at. Could you imagine any other sector, whether it be
manufacturing or whatever the case may be, pick a part of the
country and if the federal government was to swoop in and say you
can't do what you're good at.... Mr. Chair, it is absolutely shameful
the division that is being perpetrated on this country by Prime Min-
ister Justin Trudeau and his Liberals.

We see that with the Keystone XL. This is the tragic irony, Chair,
especially with the Keystone XL pipeline. The Alberta portion of
that pipeline is in my constituency, and I saw about 2,000 jobs lost
because our Liberal Prime Minister refused to work with his Amer-
ican counterpart because they were so blinded by ideology around
the future of energy security in North America that they cancelled
the pipeline at a time when Conservatives were vocally saying the
entire time that energy security would be key to our world's securi-
ty future. Yet, we see that the Liberals capitulated. We see that with
the just transition, a policy that is designed to divide Canadians for
narrow political gain. We see this with LNG.
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Again, there were, I think, 18 projects on the books when Justin
Trudeau took office. Never before in Canadian history.... Whether it
be Canada's fiscal situation, whether it be with the economic oppor-
tunities, Justin Trudeau was handed a circumstance that any world
leader would be jealous of, yet he squandered it away for narrow
political gain.

Chair, the reason that this is so applicable to the conversation we
are having today around this amendment and the motion is because
the Liberals, throughout the last eight years, have led our country to
a point where Canadians are pitted against one another and where
there is division layered upon division. The result is that we have
seen less prosperity.

The result is that we have seen political divisions that are incred-
ibly harmful. In fact, just this past week, you had Liberals who
were almost incoherent because Canadians would dare question
that they were concerned about the activist environment minister—
the same environment minister who was criminally charged for en-
vironmental activism—who would try to influence so-called inde-
pendent senators, although they certainly showed their hand in the
last week. Members of that Liberal party were so outraged that
Canadians would dare to share an opinion that contradicted their of-
ficial narrative. It is truly unbelievable and shameful.

Chair, many of my constituents, as I shared at the last meeting,
remember Pierre Elliott Trudeau and the divisions perpetrated upon
our country. In fact, I often still hear—Rick would probably re-
member some of those days, as I wasn't born yet—that many are
not surprised that the son of Pierre Elliott Trudeau would continue
along that path where he—you've heard of the Trudeau salute—
would continue to divide this country for political gain.

It is unbelievable. It is unacceptable, and Canadians deserve bet-
ter.
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Chair, I hope for this committee that Liberal, NDP and Bloc
members will take seriously this common-sense amendment to try
to take some of the language of division, the politics of division,
out of this motion, which has been brought forward for no other
reason than to continue perpetrating that division upon Canadians,
east versus west, north versus south, urban versus rural and, in this
case, the rest of the country against Alberta.

I look forward to continuing the discussion on this. I hope that
this committee will see that better is possible, that we can bring
home a country that is once again unified. However, the history of
the last eight years certainly does not give me and my constituents
optimism in that regard. That is why we so desperately need a
change. We need a government that is willing to put the unity of
our country ahead of personal partisan political goals, and as we in-
creasingly see with the number of scandals that seem to be making
Liberal insiders rich, their personal financial interests.

Thank you very much, Chair, for this opportunity. Certainly I'd
be happy to expand further on the connection between this amend-
ment and the history that has led to the point we're at today, and I
certainly will do so. As I cede my time to the next person on the
list, I would ask to be put back on the list so that we can continue
this conversation.

Thanks, Chair.
® (8420)
The Chair: Thank you, MP Kurek.

I've got MP Blaikie, please.
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I'm certainly glad to have the opportunity to weigh in on the
question of the Canada pension plan. I will start by talking a little
bit about the plan. There has been a lot of discussion around the ta-
ble so far, particularly by Conservative members, but there hasn't
actually been a lot of talk about the Canada pension plan.

I think the Canada pension plan has been an excellent thing for
Canadians. The only deficiency in the plan, as far as I'm concerned,
is that we're not paying enough into it to get a larger benefit out of
it. When the Canada pension plan was designed, it was meant to be
only a third of Canadians' retirement income. It has been an incred-
ible success in terms of what it was designed to be, which is just a
third of what people would need to get by in retirement.

The other third was to be a company pension. The final third was
to come from Canadians' own personal savings and investments.

We live in a Canada today where over 70% of people working at
a job don't have a company pension plan of any kind, whether it's a
defined contribution plan or a defined benefit plan. Right there,
when we're talking about the Canada pension plan and what it was
designed to be—to work in concert with a company pension and
personal savings—we know that the Canada pension plan won't get
people through their retirement because they don't have that other
leg of the three-legged stool that was supposed to be the foundation
of Canadians' retirement income.

I think that's a problem. Employers should be exhorted and
pushed to bring back company pensions or we need to recognize

that the CPP now is meant to provide at least two-thirds of Canadi-
ans' retirement income. We don't have a Canada pension plan that is
built to provide two-thirds of Canadians' retirement income.

I would say that the CPP was designed for a system that no
longer pertains. We either need to considerably expand the Canada
pension plan or develop a strategy for pushing more employers to
offer their own pension plans to employees.

When we look at the third leg of the stool and at the affordability
crisis we are facing today.... Frankly, from the early 1990s on, real
wages have not kept pace with the pace of inflation. Even when in-
flation was at target, wages did not grow as quickly as the price that
people were paying for housing. For as much as the housing crisis
has accelerated over the past two or three years, it's a 30-year tra-
jectory that has led us to where we are. It's on an exponential curve.

For those at home who aren't familiar with exponential curves,
the further you go on the curve, the more quickly things rise. As we
continue on this exponential crisis curve, it's not a surprise to see
that prices are increasing more and more every year.

Canada still isn't addressing some of the fundamental causes of
the housing crisis. What that means for Canadians' personal savings
and their ability to buy RRSPs, to invest or to just sock away cash,
is that it diminishes as the cost of groceries, food, prescription
drugs and everything else goes up. That means the third leg of that
stool is also in bad shape.

The good thing about the CPP is that the premiums are taken
from employers. They're taken off the cheques of Canadian workers
before that money enters into their accounts, so Canadians aren't
forced to bid that money to increase the price of a home to get it
over that of either the other Canadians' or the investor they are
competing against to get a home. The money people make as part
of their wage package has not contributed to inflation in housing
because it's already getting socked away in a pension plan and is
not available to bid on the cost of the home. That's also been a great
benefit to Canadians.

The only solid leg of the retirement savings three-legged stool
that's supposed to get Canadians through retirement that is in any
kind of good shape is the Canadian pension plan. It is in very good
shape. They are required to have regular actuarial reports that pro-
nounce on the state of the Canada pension plan. That plan is in
good shape for the next 75 years-plus.
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Over the last 10 years, it's seen an average return of 10%. Many
Canadians who have private investments through mutual funds and
other things like that would be very happy to see a 10% return over
the last 10 years.
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That return is partly because of the size of the Canada pension
plan. It means that it can play in investment space that smaller mu-
tual funds can't, and it's also able to spread the risk over all of the
Canadians who work in the labour market, which is millions of
them. I don't have the exact number, but if you think of the 40 mil-
lion Canadians, most of them are going to participate in the work-
force at some time in their life, and they are going to pay into the
CPP. That means spreading the risk across everyone in Canada,
whereas normally, if you invest in a fund, you don't have that big a
fund. This is going to be relevant too when we talk about Alberta
deciding to have its own pension plan if, indeed, that's where the
Conservative government in Alberta wants to go.

The CPP is the only part of the Canadian retirement savings edi-
fice that's in good shape. It does that in part by sharing risk over a
larger group of people. Say, you ask someone this: Would you like
to be in a pension plan with 10,000 members, would you like to be
in a pension plan with 100,000 members, would you like to be in a
pension plan with a million members, or 40 million members? |
think most Canadians are going to say, “I'd like to be in the plan
with 40 million members, because, wow, is that ever going to allow
me to spread the risk across lots more people.” It's going to allow
their pension fund to make investments that are more likely to get a
return and to spread risk across the portfolio. That's one of the great
benefits.

Moreover, there's another great benefit of the Canada pension
plan. Because it applies to all workers no matter where they live
and work in the country—with the exception of Quebec, of course,
which has its own plan—it's fully portable. Now, that has been an
advantage to Canadian workers, who have had to go to other
provinces to secure work, but ultimately want to retire in their
home province. It has also been an incredible advantage to employ-
ers who have wanted to secure labour from other parts of the coun-
try when their own province hasn't been able to meet the labour
need. It has meant that people don't have to compromise on their
pension in order to go to work in another part of the country.

I think the portability of the CPP as well as its ability to spread
risk are two very important advantages.

There's another advantage to having the Canada pension plan
that I'm going to highlight today. I talked earlier about how over
70% of Canadians working today don't have any pension plan at
all, but for those who do, often and more and more as time goes on,
there are defined contribution plans.

What that means is the whole risk of the pension lies on the
worker. If the investments don't turn out, that means a reduced ben-
efit for the worker, whereas in a defined benefit plan the workers
are guaranteed a certain benefit that they can bank on, that they can
budget with.

We know when it comes to the CPP that that defined benefits
have not been growing quickly enough to make up for rising costs,

and Canadians, who are depending only on their CPP.... Again, that
would be true for a larger and larger share of workers who haven't
had a company pension as they retire. They've struggled to be able
to put money away, while they're trying to pay the rent and the gro-
ceries. But their CPP amount will be the same amount, and even
though it doesn't grow fast enough, it will grow by predictable mea-
sures. That is an incredible benefit to Canadians and another reason
why, in my view, we should be talking about expanding the Canada
pension plan. I think it's really unfortunate that the major debate
we're having about the Canada pension plan right now is about
shrinking it by having the Province of Alberta exit.

1 disagree strongly with Premier Smith in Alberta, who has been
driving this. I think there's a lot of public opinion polling showing
that this isn't actually something Albertans are calling for. This is
something that the government is trying to create a desire for in the
province of Alberta. I don't believe that will be good for Albertans,
and I don't believe it will be good for Canadians in the rest of the
country, because the CPP is an excellent plan for all the reasons I
have just mentioned.

So, what are the problems with Danielle Smith's plan, or what
she's proposing? Well, there's a LifeWorks report that the Alberta
government commissioned a couple of years ago, but didn't release
until after the election—presumably because they knew what we
know, which is that the overwhelming majority of Albertans aren't
interested in leaving the Canada pension plan, and for good reason.
Apparently they understand something that Danielle Smith does
not.

They hired LifeWorks. We know LifeWorks by another name.
They reinvented themselves. It used to be Morneau Shepell. In oth-
er words, Danielle Smith hired some random Liberal to run the
numbers for her. It's odd to see Conservatives, who usually really
get in a tizzy any time you quote a Liberal source, unless it happens
to agree with the position they have already taken.... It would be
very interesting to go back and see all of the things that Conserva-
tives have had to say about Morneau Shepell, particularly those
who would seek to defend Danielle Smith.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Don't kid yourself, Mr. Chair. What's going
on in here....

The Chair: [/naudible—Editor]
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Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I'm following the lead of my col-
league, Julie. I want to know if there is any relevance to what Mr.
Blaikie is saying to the topic.
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The Chair: MP Blaikie, be relevant to the motion and the
amendment, please.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Sure, but I'm talking about the report that
Danielle Smith commissioned about the CPP. I'm right on topic. I
would love it if any Canadian listening today would lay out Mr.
Kurek's remarks at committee beside mine, and see who's more rel-
evant to the topic at hand.

I thank Mr. Hallan for his intervention, but I hope he will take
my reassurances to heart that [ am, indeed, very relevant.

It was an interesting point for him to intervene, because he
helped make my point. My point is that Canadians here shouldn't
kid themselves about what's going on with the Conservative Party
at this table. It's nothing but a defence of Danielle Smith. They
have said that they apparently—the federal Conservatives—support
Alberta's staying in the plan. They say the only thing they find ob-
jectionable in the motion is the mention of Danielle Smith. So
what's going on here?

Well, if it's not on the substance of the issue, then it must be the
politics of the issue. They've identified that for us by saying that
they would gladly pass this motion if it didn't mention Danielle
Smith. So what's happening here is a defence of Danielle Smith—
and perhaps they're taking their cues from Preston Manning, who in
a recent email encouraged the federal Conservatives to have a clos-
er practical relationship. A news article says that Manning “encour-
aged a 'closer practical relationship' between Premier Danielle
Smith's United Conservatives and the federal Conservatives to pro-
mote shared interest, adding 'Everybody benefits, especially Alber-
ta.”

Now, surprise, surprise, the email was sent out by one of the pil-
lars of the Canadian Conservative movement—I think it's fair to
call Preston Manning that. What we see here are Conservatives say-
ing that they agree with the substance of the issue, but they just
don't think anyone should be allowed to criticize Danielle Smith;
and they're going to tie up the whole finance committee, which is
studying the housing crisis. They're going to put an end to that
study effectively in order to run political defence for Danielle
Smith.

I think that is pretty interesting. As I was saying, Danielle Smith
hired a former Liberal finance minister's company, Morneau Shep-
ell, to run the numbers for her. They came up with quite an impres-
sive number, which is testament to what consultants are prepared to
do for the right fee. We know a lot about that in Ottawa. The Liber-
als love to hire consultants. This was a Conservative government
hiring a Liberal consultant to get a number they wanted that says
Alberta would be entitled to over 50% of what's currently in the
Canada pension plan.

There are lots of other people, who aren't random Liberals, who
have said that Alberta's entitlement would be a lot less. We'll leave
it to the Conservatives to decide whether they want to take the ad-
vice of a paid random Liberal, or the advice of the CPPIB, for in-
stance, the Canada Pension Plan Investment Board, or some of the
other economists who have come and said that, in fact, Alberta
wouldn't be entitled to 55% or 60% of what's in the Canada pension
plan fund, but would probably be entitled to somewhere between
12% and 18%, which is a considerable difference. It's considerable

in terms of percentages, but when you think that we're dealing in
hundreds of billions of dollars, the absolute difference becomes
quite impressive indeed.

As 1 say, they hired a random Liberal, got a number that they
wanted. It's reminiscent of the Brexit campaign. You may recall
Boris Johnson, a Conservative, came up with the number of £350
million a day, he said, that could be reinvested in the National
Health Service in Britain. People in the U.K. would get the best
health service ever. Now doesn't that start to sound like somebody
else? Donald Trump. I'll come back to him in a minute.

Just vote for Brexit and get the best health care ever, with £350
million pounds a day. Well, people in the U.K. did. It would be in-
teresting to ask them how they feel about their health care.

I read an article recently that says that U.K. health care is really
not much better at all since Brexit, but even we as Canadian parlia-
mentarians have spent a lot of time talking about the consequences
of Brexit. It's had a terrible economic impact on the United King-
dom, and it's had a terrible political impact, if we think about the
conflict between Ireland and Northern Ireland and what it has done
on the border and the potential for violence that has started up
again. All of that was predicated in part on a lie—a lie about what it
would mean for the United Kingdom's economic performance if
they did what the Conservatives there encouraged them to do, a lie
about what it would mean for their health care if they were to go in
that direction.

The other thing that the National Health Service and Brexit de-
bate have in common with the CPP is that the decision is irrevoca-
ble. There is no path back for the United Kingdom into the Euro-
pean Union, just as there will be no path back into the Canada pen-
sion plan for Alberta if this decision is made. I find it very reassur-
ing to know that the majority of Albertans aren't interested in that,
because it would do damage not only to Alberta workers but to
workers across the country—except in Quebec, of course—because
it would have a significant impact on their pensions.

Why is this plan dangerous? Well, it's dangerous because of the
impact that it would have, but Alberta doesn't have to decide to
leave the Canada pension plan in order for it to be dangerous now.
What's being talked about is a potential referendum in 2025, and
people say, “Okay, well, that's a ways away.” Even if Alberta did
decide to leave, it would be another two or three years before they
were out of the plan, so now we're into 2027 and 2028. “Well,
maybe this isn't such a bad thing and we should let the process roll
out,” they say, hence Conservative voices here saying: “Don't criti-
cize Danielle Smith. Let her go out to consult.”
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Folks who have talked to the Canada Pension Plan Investment
Board, which knows a bit about investing, would know that when
you're managing a $580-billion portfolio that also includes a lot of
hard assets, investment decisions have to be made years in advance
in order to have enough liquidity to pay out someone who's de-
manding 12%, 18% or 50% of your holdings. You need to start ar-
ranging your investments in such a way as to be able to pay that
out. Those investment decisions are not four or five years away.
Those investment decisions are coming soon.

That's why what Danielle Smith is doing in Alberta is not inno-
cent, and it's not harmless. It is dangerous, and it's dangerous now,
because for the Canada Pension Plan Investment Board to take the
Government of Alberta seriously, it means it has to start lining up
its investment decisions now. This organization, which has been
successful in delivering a 10% return over the last 10 years for
Canadians through very difficult economic times, has to contem-
plate changing its investment behaviour in the near future in order
to have enough liquid assets to pay out Alberta if Alberta decides to
leave, and if that happens on a 2027, 2028 or 2029 timeline. It's
coming.

It's coming and they have to be ready for that, so it is a danger-
ous plan. As I said, I think it's predicated on some bad numbers by
some random Liberal, but it's also important to note the idea that
somehow Alberta is paying more into the CPP than it's getting out
assumes that because people happen to be working in Alberta from
other parts of the country—and, I would add, at Alberta's invita-
tion—means that, yes, it was paid into in Alberta, but I don't think
there's anything wrong with people retiring to their home province
and collecting their pension there. Effectively, what Danielle Smith
is saying is that she wants to control where people take their retire-
ment, and that if they worked in Alberta, they should retire in Al-
berta, because that's the only way to have fairness.

I think people should have the financial freedom within Canada
to retire wherever they like. If they did the work, they receive those
payments made into the CPP. Alberta never received those pay-
ments. Those workers received those payments. Yes, from an Al-
berta employer, but an Alberta employer who recruited them, hired
them and asked them to stay and to work for them in that province.
It's up to Canadian workers to decide where they take their retire-
ment and where that money goes in their retirement.

I would add also that there's a liability the provinces where they
retire are assuming, which is their health care liability, among oth-
ers. Those folks who have retired to their home provinces are living
on a much lower income and paying their taxes with a lower in-
come in their home province and need to access health care ser-
vices there. To say it's unfair because when their employer paid
what the worker earned on their labour into the Canada pension
plan they were working in Alberta and now they've retired to New
Brunswick.... To say that somehow that's unfair to Alberta I think is
to misunderstand the nature of those contributions. Those are con-
tributions for the worker. They're not contributions for any one
province.

Alberta wouldn't have been able to generate that wealth without
having people come to do the work to extract barrels of oil from the
ground. They did that at Alberta's invitation and, more particularly,
the invitation of employers within Alberta. That's not a bad thing.

That's actually how we say we want it to work. Conservatives who
promote agreements on internal labour mobility...that's all so people
can work in one province and retire in another or work in different
provinces at different times.

® (8440)

They're not just fans of international labour mobility within
Canada; they've been fans of international labour mobility interna-
tionally. You wouldn't know it, to listen to them talking in the
House of Commons today, but the trade agreements that they've
supported consistently over the last 30 years have all included
labour mobility chapters in order to make it easier for companies to
take workers from outside of Canada and bring them here.

Now they say they're offended that there are going to be some
South Korean workers coming to set up battery plants. I share their
concern. | don't think that this public investment was made in order
to create jobs for people outside of Canada. I do think that the gov-
ernment should have gotten some guarantees on that, but I also rec-
ognize that Canada currently—and I'm glad that it will in the fu-
ture—doesn't have expertise in battery manufacturing.

What the Conservatives say when they defend international
labour mobility clauses in trade agreements is that sometimes you
need expertise that doesn't exist and that we shouldn't make it hard
on businesses to secure the expertise they need to set up shop in
Canada and have successful investments. Now, all of a sudden
when that's happening, under the very clauses that they bragged
they negotiated, it's a crime. It's a crime, and we're all supposed to
be really upset about it. I think they need to get their house in order
and decide what they're in favour of or not.

As a New Democrat, | say this with some great comfort because
we've often been very critical of the labour mobility chapters in
trade agreements. I think of the CPTPP, and the Canada-European
Union Trade Agreement, CETA. If you go back and look at the
record, what were we talking about? Among other things it was the
international labour mobility provisions and how they're sometimes
abused in order to import workers to keep wages in Canada artifi-
cially low. Yes, I'm quite familiar with this debate.
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What they're doing in terms of calling those workers “replace-
ment workers” so that they can get out of taking a position on anti-
scab legislation I think is sad and pathetic. I think it does a disser-
vice to the debate in the House of Commons and a disservice to
Canadian workers who have their jobs taken while they're out on
the picket line. Let's not pretend like somehow this is a new con-
cern, that we don't know about how this works, where these work-
ers are coming from or how they're getting into the country. We
know they're coming because they're coming under the auspices of
the very agreements that Conservatives like to brag they negotiated,
so give me a break on that one.

All that is to say that Conservatives support labour mobility, but
when it doesn't suit them, they're happy to turn around and com-
plain about it. They're complaining about it right now in the context
of these battery plants. I think there are some important concerns
there that have to be addressed, but we're not going to get to the
bottom of it if we're not honest about the mechanisms by which
they're coming. Now, the Alberta government wants to say that
even though it's supported labour mobility for workers to come and
work in Alberta, when they decide to take their retirement back
home close to their family, somehow there's some kind of financial
inequity. That's not true if you look at it and realize that the money
belongs to the workers and that they should be free to take their re-
tirement incomes wherever they want. Governments should not dic-
tate where people are allowed to take their retirements. If we be-
lieve in full mobility within Canada as a right of Canadian citizen-
ship and the right of a Canadian worker, that therefore should not
be used as an argument for fiscal inequity when we're talking about
the Canada pension plan.

Is this motion divisive? No, I think it's reasonable to criticize the
Danielle Smith government, for all of the reasons that I've just laid
out. We need to be able to have a frank conversation about the one
reliable pillar of Canadians' retirement incomes. It's okay to name
names in that debate. Danielle Smith doesn't hesitate to mention the
names of people she disagrees with. The Conservatives don't hesi-
tate to mention the names of the people they disagree with. I've cer-
tainly heard Conservatives criticize Rachel Notley—if we want to
talk about federal politicians criticizing provincial politicians. They
certainly didn't hesitate from criticizing the Notley government.
The idea that somehow it's automatically divisive or out of bounds
for people to criticize folks in provincial politics is an argument
that I might accept from my Bloc colleague, but I'm not going to
accept it from the Conservatives, who have made a trade of attack-
ing provincial governments that they disagree with.

I was interested in this question. I went back and thought it was
quite interesting to see that Pierre Poilievre, the now leader of the
Conservative Party, in 2018 said—I believe it was at this very com-
mittee—“Madam Chair, the finance minister is now commenting
on the provincial policies in the various jurisdictions. That is just
fine. In Ontario....” Then he went on to attack the Wynne govern-
ment.
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We've heard directly from the Conservative leader that he thinks
it's totally fair game. We've not only heard him saying that it was
fine for Bill Morneau at the time, who incidentally went on to write
that—well, he's the owner of the company that wrote the report for

the Alberta government, but never mind—he's done it himself. He's
done it many times. On October 30 of this year my colleague Jenny
Kwan got up in the House of Commons to ask him a question about
social and co-op housing, and he got up and talked about what the
B.C. NDP were doing and he described social housing is a “Soviet-
style takeover of housing.” Well, you can think what you want
about the comment. I personally think it's patently absurd.

That was just a totally ridiculous comment, but he made it, and
that was a criticism of a provincial government. But now they're
saying, “Oh, wow, we can't name a provincial government. That
would be really divisive.” To call the B.C. government a Soviet
government isn't using language that I would characterize as de-
signed to encourage national unity, Mr. Chair, so let's just take a
pause on that and reflect on that.

Let's also reflect on the fact that the Conservative leader has
hardly any meaningful policies to address the housing crisis. The
one thing he hangs his hat on is going after municipal politicians
outside of federal jurisdiction—municipal jurisdiction is not federal
jurisdiction—and he's been making a career of going around the
country attacking municipal jurisdictions and attacking municipal
politicians. That's not a great move from a national unity point of
view, and it's clearly not a move that says we can't talk about what
other levels of government are doing here. Kind of his whole thing
on housing is talking about other levels of government so he doesn't
have to talk about the absence of federal housing policy in his own
bill—

An hon. member: Should I donate to your campaign?

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: —which is really about giving land away to
developers in a similar fashion we saw take place in Ontario.

Now we have an amendment to this motion because the Conser-
vatives, more than anything, want to take out reference to Danielle
Smith, because they're taking their cues from Preston Manning. The
amendment is to take out reference to Alberta's plan to leave and to
replace it with a bunch of stuff about energy policy so that they
have something they'd prefer to talk about.
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That's consistent with a strategy we've seen now for a while,
which is that the Conservatives don't want to talk about any of the
things that are politically inconvenient for them. We saw that right
when we came back to the House, the Prime Minister made some
serious allegations. We've seen now that the U.S. is similarly con-
cerned about an assassination attempt by a Sikh nationalist on its
own soil. We saw the Prime Minister make what was a very serious
accusation at that time, and we had a debate about it for an entire
evening in the House of Commons, and in the course of that debate
we saw one Conservative speaker speak for five minutes and they
took a pass on the rest of the debate because we know Stephen
Harper—
® (8450)

Mr. Corey Tochor: On a point of order, I'm sorry, Chair, but
what is the relevance of this to the motion?

The Chair: I would ask that MP Blaikie be relevant to the mo-
tion and the amendment.

I would also ask you, MP Tochor—I know there has been a lot of
chatter—if you could just keep it down while MP Blaikie is making
his comments.

MP Blaikie, go ahead.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I'm happy to establish the relevance. My ar-
gument is that this amendment is designed to give them an excuse
to talk about something other than what is uncomfortable for them
to talk about, which is the Canada pension plan generally and
Danielle Smith specifically, and I'm establishing that it's part of a
pattern of behaviour that we've seen with Conservatives—

Mr. Corey Tochor: On a point of order, Chair, this has nothing
to do with the motion on the floor. It's not relevant. It has nothing to
do with the amendment.

I do not think Danielle Smith is in the amendment.

The Chair: It is on the amendment. Yes, it is.

Continue, MP Blaikie.
MP Tochor, I have ruled.

MP Blaikie, please—
Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I have a point of order, Chair.
The Chair: Go ahead on a point of order.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: The subamendment that we're sup-
posed to be talking about is very clear, and I would challenge what
you're saying. It says, "This Liberal government's policies, such as
the carbon tax and Bill C-69, are leading to greater division in our
country." I don't see Danielle Smith's name in there. I don't see the
pension plan in there. I don't see anything like that in there, and af-
ter all, we're on the subject—

The Chair: Thank you, MP Hallan. We're speaking to the mo-
tion and the amendment.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: We are speaking to the subamend-
ment.

The Chair: We are speaking to both.

An hon. member: There is no subamendment. There is just the
Conservative amendment

The Chair: MP Blaikie, you have the floor.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: And, the part you didn't read, is that it re-
moved clause 3 from the original motion, which is the clause that
makes reference to Danielle Smith.Give me a break, guys.

This is not unlike what we witnessed in the House last night
where we saw two Conservative members get up to speak to anti-
scab legislation and they never once spoke to the bill, never once
mentioned the term “strike”, never once mentioned the term “lock-
out”, never once talked about replacement workers in any relevant
sense. This is my point. When it's politically uncomfortable for
them to talk about something, they don't. They then make up other
things to talk about or they insert other things—

An hon. member: It's not something uncomfortable at all—
The Chair: Allow the member who has the floor to continue.
® (8455)

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: They insert other things into the debate. It's
not an accident that they started interrupting me when I started talk-
ing about India, because part of their silence was designed to pro-
tect Modi, someone Stephen Harper has a very close personal rela-
tionship with and has even tweeted about positively. The Conserva-
tives took a pass on that debate because Stephen Harper has a close
relationship with Modi in India and they want to look past some of
the serious human rights violations the Government of India is re-
sponsible for. They don't want to talk about it.

Then when I start talking about it, we start getting disruptive
points of order because it's uncomfortable for them. Their strategy
is to silence people, just as they've been trying to silence this com-
mittee because they don't like the fact that some of us don't agree
with Danielle Smith and are willing to name it, so they haven't al-
lowed us to have a vote. That's really what all of this is about. It's
about avoiding a vote because they know that a number of us on
this committee are critical of Danielle Smith and they don't accept
that anyone could be.

They are the ones who like to talk a lot about democracy and its
importance, but you see in their behaviour that when you don't
agree with their position, they seek to silence you. They seek to
stop decisions being made when they know they're not going to get
the outcome they want. That is the most undemocratic that you can
be.

Mr. Damien Kurek: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: On a point of order, Mr Kurek.
Mr. Damien Kurek: Thanks.

My point of order is that the NDP member has been speaking
now for 30 minutes. I thought he would find that—

An hon. member: That's not a point of order.

The Chair: That's not a point of order.

MP Blaikie, please.
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Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I'm sorry, I was just trying to have equal
time with Mr. Kurek. I didn't realize that would be objectionable to
him. In fact, I think to meet the bar, I still have some ways to go, so
I will continue.

An hon. member: About an hour and 20 minutes.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I made the point on India, which was that
what we saw was a strategic silence by the Conservatives when
Parliament was talking about an issue they didn't like. It wasn't in
their political interest, so that's how they got out of that one.

We're seeing something similar happen on the Canada-Ukraine
Free Trade Agreement. They decided that they wanted to vote
against it. | talked earlier about Preston Manning encouraging clos-
er collaboration between Danielle Smith and the federal Conserva-
tives. What we're seeing in the United States with the Republican
movement there—and Donald Trump particularly, who I think was
bought and paid for by Russia—is that Republicans are raising
doubts and criticisms of Ukraine in order to undermine that effort.

We know that a lot of strategy is shared between Canadian Con-
servatives and the Republican Party in the United States, and
they're going to these conventions now as Republicans in the States
and what are they hearing? It's that we should be more critical of
Ukraine. What are the Conservatives doing? For maybe the first
time ever, they're voting against an international free trade agree-
ment. They want to make it about the carbon tax because that's
what they like to talk about. Suddenly, they're not talking about the
war in Ukraine anymore. They're talking about the carbon tax.

They're not talking about the fact that President Zelenskyy him-
self wanted Canada to implement this agreement and asked Canada
to vote in favour of it. They're not talking about the fact that on the
Day of Dignity and Freedom in Ukraine, they voted against the
Canada-Ukraine Free Trade Agreement that President Zelenskyy
had asked Canada to pass, because they want to talk about the car-
bon tax because that's more politically expedient for them. To try to
make the Canada-Ukraine conflict about the carbon tax works bet-
ter for them than explaining why, after hanging out with their Re-
publican buddies in the United States, they came back and decided
to vote against the Canada-Ukraine Free Trade Agreement.

I get why that's an uncomfortable conversation, but that's the
conversation we should be having—not another conversation about
the carbon tax, which we have often in this place and which is often
used to distract from a number of topics. In fact, I've seen Conser-
vative MPs from provinces that don't even have the federal carbon
tax use that same strategy. In British Columbia there's no federal
carbon tax, yet I've watched Conservative MP after Conservative
MP get up to talk about how they're serving their constituents by
talking about the federal carbon tax, as if the carbon tax in B.C.
wouldn't apply the day after a federal carbon tax was eliminated.

We see pretty consistent strategies going on.

I made reference earlier and I'll do it again.... And I'm sorry Mr.
Perkins isn't here because he was one of the MPs up in the chamber
last night talking about the anti-scab legislation, an uncomfortable
topic for Conservatives because they have been trying to portray
themselves as being on the side of workers. We know that the right
to strike is one of the most important rights when it comes to work-

ers being able to stand up for themselves and bring home powerful
paycheques. We know, because we have watched Conservatives
vote against anti-scab legislation in the past and for right-to-work
legislation in the past, that Conservatives are not on the side of
workers.

They don't want to talk about it in the House. It's why they
wouldn't talk about it in the House last night.

® (8500)

The Chair: I'm going to interject at this time.

We've talked about Ukraine. The Holodomor commemoration is
happening at this time on the Hill.

Members, we will suspend.

[The meeting was suspended at 1:00 p.m., Thursday, November
23]

[The meeting resumed at 3:59 p.m., Monday, November 27]

The Chair: Welcome, everyone.

We are resuming meeting number 121 of the House of Commons
Standing Committee on Finance. Pursuant to the order of reference
of Thursday, November 23, 2023, the committee is commencing its
study of Bill C-56, an act to amend the Excise Tax Act and the
Competition Act.

As indicated in the memo that was sent out last week, I'd like to
remind members that amendments to the bill must be submitted to
the clerk of the committee by noon tomorrow, Tuesday, November
28. It is important for members to note that, pursuant to the order
adopted by the House on Thursday, November 23, the noon dead-
line is firm. This means any amendments submitted to the clerk af-
ter the deadline and any amendments moved from the floor during
the clause-by-clause consideration of the bill will not be considered
by the committee. It is important that, when submitting amend-
ments, members also send an XML version of the amendment file.
This will ensure that the legislative clerks are able to quickly put
together the package of amendments, which will be a benefit to all
members of the committee.

Today's meeting is taking place in a hybrid format, pursuant to
the Standing Order 15.1. Members are attending in person in the
room and remotely using the Zoom application.

I'd like to make a few comments for the benefit of witnesses and
members.

Please wait until I recognize you by name before speaking. For
those participating by video conference, click on the microphone
icon to activate your mic, and please mute yourself when you are
not speaking.

There is interpretation. For those on Zoom, you have the choice
at the bottom of your screen of floor, English or French. For those
in the room, you can use the earpiece and select the desired chan-
nel.
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Although this room is equipped with a powerful audio system,
feedback events can occur. These can be extremely harmful to the
interpreters and can cause serious injuries. The most common cause
of sound feedback is an earpiece worn too close to the microphone.
We therefore ask all participants to exercise a high degree of cau-
tion when handling the earpiece, especially when your microphone
or your neighbour's microphone is turned on.

In order to prevent incidents and safeguard the hearing health of
the interpreters, I invite participants to ensure that they speak into
the microphone into which their headset is plugged and avoid ma-
nipulating the earbuds by placing them on the table away from the
microphone when they are not in use.

As a reminder, all comments should be addressed through the
chair. For members in the room, if you wish to speak, please raise
your hand. For members on Zoom, please use the “raise hand”
function. The clerk and I will manage the speaking order as best we
can. We appreciate your patience and understanding in this regard.

I'd now like to welcome our witnesses. With us today is the
Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Finance, the Honourable
Chrystia Freeland. Welcome, Minister. I see that you're wearing
your Ukraine pin colours. Thank you for commemorating the
Holodomor this weekend with the community.

Joining you today, from the Department of Finance, is the assis-
tant deputy minister of the tax policy branch, Miodrag Jovanovic.

The floor is yours, Minister, for opening remarks.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland (Deputy Prime Minister and Minis-
ter of Finance): Thank you, Mr. Chair. | am wearing the Ukrainian
colours because this weekend was the 90th anniversary of the
Holodomor. There were many residents of your constituency there,
and our colleague Yvan Baker was there as well on this solemn oc-
casion. I thought it was definitely worth standing in solidarity with
Ukraine today.

[Translation]

I am delighted to be here with you and the committee members
to discuss Bill C-56, the affordable housing and groceries act. This
legislation is part of our government's economic plan to build an
economy that is focused on the well-being of all Canadians, to cre-
ate good jobs people can count on.

Our plan is working. In the first half of this year, Canada ranked
third highest in the world for foreign direct investment and had
more per capita investment than any other G7 country—better than
the United States, the United Kingdom, Germany, Italy, France and
Japan. Canada has the lowest deficit and the lowest debt-to-GDP
ratio in the G7. The International Monetary Fund projects that
Canada will see the strongest economic growth in the G7 next year.

All of that means that our economy is creating excellent jobs for
Canadians right across the country. In fact, there are over a million
more people working today than there were prepandemic. Building
on that significant progress, our government is taking new concrete
measures, under the affordable housing and groceries bill, to ad-
dress two of the biggest challenges facing Canadians, access to
housing and affordability.

[English]

I'd like to outline why it is so important that we work together to
pass this legislation.

First, we are removing the GST on new purpose-built rental
housing, which we all know will help build more homes faster
across Canada. This is about making the math work for builders
and giving them an incentive to build more homes that would oth-
erwise not move forward due to construction costs. For example, in
the case of a two-bedroom rental unit valued at $500,000, a builder
will benefit from $25,000 in tax relief. That makes it more cost-ef-
fective for them to build. It's going to build more rental homes
faster. We know Canadians need that.

Our plan is already delivering results. To give you one example,
a Toronto-based developer said, after we announced this measure,
that this developer will now build 5,000 new rental units across the
country. These are units that were otherwise on hold. Provinces, in-
cluding Ontario, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island and New-
foundland and Labrador, have followed our lead by eliminating
provincial taxes on new rentals, and that is getting even more new
rental housing built across Canada.

In the fall economic statement that I tabled last week, the federal
government is also proposing to eliminate the GST on the construc-
tion of new co-op, purpose-built rental housing, something that
members of this committee have been advocating for and that
we've been having very good constructive conversations about.

Today, about a third of all Canadians rent their homes, and
whether they are students, families, seniors or new Canadians, it's
essential that we build more rental homes and build them faster. 1
really believe that is a goal that all members of this committee
share, and by passing the affordable housing and groceries act, we
can help to do just that.

Bill C-56 would also increase competition across our economy,
particularly in the grocery sector. More competition means lower
prices and more choice. By increasing competition and cracking
down on unfair and anti-competitive practices, we're helping to sta-
bilize prices for Canadians. That includes by amending the Compe-
tition Act to give more power to the Competition Bureau to help the
bureau investigate and crack down on price-fixing.

We are also removing the efficiencies defence to end anti-com-
petitive mergers that raise prices and limit choices for Canadians.
We are empowering the Competition Bureau to put a stop to situa-
tions where large grocers prevent smaller competitors from estab-
lishing operations nearby.
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Through our economic plan, our government will continue to do
everything we can to build an economy that works for everyone,
and that is exactly what this legislation will help to do.

Thank you. I'm happy to take your questions.

The Chair: Thank you, Minister Freeland. I'm sure members
have many questions.

We are starting with our first round of questions. Each party will
have up to six minutes to ask questions.

We are starting with MP Hallan, for six minutes.
Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: Thanks, Chair.

Minister, what is your projected growth rate for your government
spending next year?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: I'd like to start, Mr. Hallan, by talking
about one of the things that we all know can make life more afford-
able for Canadians and—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: Minister, respectfully, I only have six
minutes. It was a quick answer on the question—

The Chair: MP Hallan—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I'll continue my questioning. Thank
you, Chair.

The Governor of the Bank of Canada, who sat in that chair re-
cently, said, “we expect government spending to grow at about
2.5%. What that means is, if all those spending plans are realized,
government spending will be adding to demand more than supply is
growing, and in an environment where we're trying to moderate
spending and get inflation down, that's not helpful.”

I'll help you out, Minister. In your own fall economic statement
on page 77, according to your numbers, it calculates to be about
5.5% growth. That's more than double what the governor said
would be helpful. The governor also said that your fiscal policy and
his monetary policy of trying to tackle inflation by raising interest
rates are rowing in opposite directions.

Do you agree with him, or do you disagree with him?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Let me quote the governor from
Wednesday, the day after I tabled my fall economic statement. He
said the fall economic statement “is not adding new or additional
inflationary pressures over the next couple of years, which is the
critical period over which we will be looking to reduce inflation
and get it back to the target”. He also said, and I'll quote the gover-
nor—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: Respectfully, Minister, by adding $20
billion—
Hon. Chrystia Freeland: I'm sorry—

The Chair: MP Hallan, we've had this conversation before. 1
don't want you interjecting when the minister is answering or when
any witness is—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: It's a very simple question.

The Chair: It's okay if it's a simple question, MP Hallan. I want
you to listen to the answer and then ask your next question. That's
what I want you to do.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I have a point of order.

The Chair: What I'm asking for is decorum and respect here.

MP Lawrence.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: We get the minister so seldom here. |
think we should be allowed to ask the questions we want to ask. I
believe that's called democracy.

The Chair: Yes, MP Lawrence, you can ask the questions you
want to ask. You have to then listen to the answers. I don't want
crosstalk. It affects the interpreters.

We hear this all the time, and we want these things to stop here at
our committee, so I'm asking—

Mr. Philip Lawrence: On the point of order, with respect, we
have seen that Minister Freeland and all Liberal ministers are adept
at filibustering their way out of—

The Chair: That is not a point of order, MP Lawrence. What
we're talking about right now are the health and safety of our inter-
preters, stopping crosstalk, and respect and decorum.

I'm going to allow the minister to answer the question. Then MP
Hallan will have time to ask his next question.

MP Hallan.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: Mr. Chair, I'll ask in another way. The
governor said—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: 1 wasn't finished my answer, I'm
afraid.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: It's my time, Minister, respectfully.

The Chair: MP Hallan, again, the minister had the floor. Allow
the minister to finish the answer to your question and then ask your
next question.

Minister.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: 1 was asked a direct question about
comments from the Governor of the Bank of Canada. I responded
by directly—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: It's a yes-or-no answer.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —quoting comments he made about
fiscal policy last week.

Let me simply say that the governor said, after I tabled the fall
economic statement, “The fall economic statement also includes
some new fiscal guardrails beyond the near term, and from the per-
spective of monetary policy, I do think that's helpful.”

We've had a clear statement from the Governor of the Bank of
Canada—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: Okay, Minister—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —about the fall economic statement
and how fiscal policy and monetary policy are working.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: He said what would not be helpful is
if you spend above 2.5%, and in your own fall economic statement,
the calculations worked out to more than 5.5%. Was the Governor
of the Bank of Canada lying, yes or no? It's just a yes or no.
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Hon. Chrystia Freeland: As I said, the governor had an oppor-
tunity last Wednesday to comment directly on the fall economic
statement. He did, and I've quoted his remarks precisely.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I'll take that answer as you don't agree
with the governor.

I'll have to move on.

The Chair: I'm going to interject.

MP Hallan, again, I don't want this happening for the whole
meeting.

MP Hallan, you'll ask your question, you'll get an answer and
then you can ask your next question, but do not crosstalk for the in-
terpreters' sake. We hear about this all the time from the inter-
preters, so we're going to stop this behaviour.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: Chair, I have six minutes to ask ques-
tions.

The Chair: I just stopped your time.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: It was a simple yes-or-no answer. I'm
going to move on, Chair.

The Chair: You still have three minutes and seven seconds. The
time is stopped.

Go ahead.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I'll move on.

Minister, what are the interest payments Canadian taxpayers are

stuck with next year on your government's debt? I just need the
number.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: The debt service charges are outlined
in detail in English on page 77 of the fall economic statement
and—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: It's page 82, actually.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —page 90 in French.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I just need the number, so if you have
it—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Let me also point out—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: Minister, I just need the number.

The Chair: MP Hallan, again it's happening. It doesn't stop.

MP Hallan, I'm letting you know—

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Mr. Chair, on a point of order, you're the
one who's crosstalking right now. You're continually interrupting
Mr. Hallan.

The Chair: MP Lawrence, that's not a point of order.

MP Hallan, ask your question, allow for an answer and then ask
your next question.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I'll help out the minister.

Once again, on page 82, Minister, of your own fall economic
statement—

The Chair: MP Hallan, you do not have the floor right now.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: It's my time, Chair.

The Chair: The minister was answering your question.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: No, she wasn't.

The Chair: The minister was answering your question. Allow
the minister to answer the question and then you can get on—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I just need the number, Minister,
please.

The Chair: —to your next question.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: What's the number for interest pay-
ments next year on Canadians?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: As I said, the debt service charges are
clearly outlined on pages 77 in English—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: What's the number?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —and 90 in French, but let me point
out some important features of Canada's fiscal debt. Our—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: Let me answer, because you're not an-
swering the question, Minister. On Page 82—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —debt-to-GDP ratio and deficit—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: —of your fall economic statement,
the interest charge—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Mr. Chair, I can't speak when some-
one else is speaking.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: —on your government's debt is going
to be $52.4 billion. Can you please let Canadians know—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: If Mr. Hallan is interested in speaking
to himself, I'm not sure why [/naudible—Editor] to come to com-
mittee.

The Chair: Minister and MP Hallan—
Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: She's crosstalking.

The Chair: That's right. We don't want any crosstalk. What
we're asking for is no crosstalk.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: Let me continue. We've established
that the interest on your government's debt on Canadians' heads is
going to be $52.4 billion.

On page 82, can you please let Canadians know what the health
transfer costs are going to be next year?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: As I was saying before 1 was inter-
rupted, when it comes to Canada's fiscal track, it's worth pointing
out that Canada's debt—

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —and deficit are both—
The Chair: There is a point of order.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Mr. Hallan asked a very simple question,
and I do not understand why the minister can't answer the question.

The Chair: That is not a point of order, MP Lawrence.
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Mr. Philip Lawrence: A witness has an obligation to respond to
questions.

The Chair: No, that is not—

Mr. Philip Lawrence: They absolutely do, especially when they
are a minister of the Crown.

The Chair: The witness is answering questions. Allow the min-
ister to answer the question, MP Lawrence.
Go ahead, Minister.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Our debt and deficit are both the low-
est in the G7. Canada also—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: That wasn't the question, Minister.
Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —continues to enjoy a AAA credit
rating.

Let me give you two other data points on the sustainability of
Canada's fiscal position. First, foreign investors are buying Canadi-
an government bonds.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: Minister, I'll give you one more
chance.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: The share of foreign investors in our
debt has gone from around 15% in 2008—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: What is the number for what the
Canada health transfer will be next year? I'd like just the number.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —to close to 30% today. Those are in-
vestors who are voting with their money.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: What is the number for the Canada
health transfer next year? Can you provide a number?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Is the floor mine, Mr. Chair, or is Mr.
Hallan interested in answering his own question?

The Chair: The floor is yours to answer the question from Mr.
Hallan, yes.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: On page 82, table A1.6—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Another relevant point when it comes
to the sustainability of Canada's debt is the fact that Canada, be-
cause we have a fiscally responsible—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I'll take my time back.

Let me establish for Canadians, since the minister won't answer,
that interest on Canadian taxpayers—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —economic plan, currently enjoys a
premium on U.S. debt. Right now, the Canadian 10-year today—

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: —because of the government's debt—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: It's impossible for me to answer, Mr.
Chair.

The Chair: Minister and MP Hallan, it's not going to work with
this crosstalk.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: I'll continue, then. I have another
question for the minister.

Minister, I have to establish for you, since you won't answer
yourself, that the interest charge on Canadian taxpayers, because of
your government's debt, is $52.4 billion.

Health transfers next year are going to be $52.1 billion. Why are
you paying bankers, bondholders and your Bay Street buddies more
money than what doctors, nurses and the health care system will get
next year?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Mr. Chair, thanks to our government's
fiscally responsible economic plan, in addition to attracting foreign
investors, Canada enjoys a premium relative to the U.S. when it
comes to borrowing. That means Canadians pay less than Ameri-
cans do. That speaks to the effect of having a fiscally responsible
economic plan to make the necessary investments in Canada and
Canadians.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Hallan.

We will now go to MP Baker, please.

Mr. Yvan Baker: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Deputy Prime Minister, thank you very much for being with us
today.

Thank you for wearing the ribbon you're wearing and for being
there to commemorate the Holodomor in Toronto. I know it was
very meaningful to the community and to many Canadians.

We're here today to study a bill that has important affordability
measures for Canadians to help folks with the cost of living.

I think it's important to understand that global factors are driving
inflation and affordability here at home. We know, as all of us have
heard from multiple witnesses at this committee, how Russia's in-
vasion of Ukraine for the last 21 months has impacted energy
prices and food prices globally and here at home. These are prices
that Canadians pay at the grocery store and at the pumps every day.

To stop these global pressures on inflation, I believe we have to
ensure that Ukraine achieves a decisive victory in this war. The
modernized Canada-Ukraine free trade agreement is essential to
this. All parties in this House, except for one, understand this.

Minister, I'd like to hear your thoughts on the Conservative Par-
ty's failure to support Ukraine by voting against the Canada-
Ukraine free trade agreement in this time of need.

Mr. Marty Morantz (Charleswood—St. James—Assiniboia—
Headingley, CPC): I have a point of order, Mr. Chair. I'm not sure
what the relevance of that question is to the subject of Bill C-56.
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Mr. Yvan Baker: Mr. Chair, the bill the minister is here to speak
about is about affordability measures for Canadians. I outlined in
the preamble to my question that affordability is a challenge for my
constituents and for Canadians coast to coast, and that some of the
key causes of the affordability challenges are from the war in
Ukraine. I am asking the minister to comment on some of the mea-
sures in this Parliament that were recently voted on that touch on
this.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Baker.

Mr. Marty Morantz: On the point of order, Mr. Chair, the ques-
tion was—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Let me speak directly to the relevance
of that question.

G7 finance ministers, at our meeting in October in Marrakech,
spoke directly to the economic consequences of Russia's illegal in-
vasion of Ukraine: “Russia's war has...increased global food insecu-
rity, and exacerbated global economic challenges.”

Mr. Marty Morantz: | have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Go ahead, on a point of order.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Are we getting French interpretation?

The Chair: Yes, interpretation is coming to us in French on the
English channel.

Can we switch? Okay. We've done that.

Mr. Yvan Baker: How much time do I have, Mr. Chair?

The Chair: You have a minute and 52 seconds.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: G7 finance ministers further said, “We
call on Russia to immediately end its illegal war against Ukraine,
which would clear one of the biggest uncertainties over the global
economic outlook.”

Therefore, Putin's illegal invasion of Ukraine is certainly a war
of dictatorship against democracy. It is certainly—

Mr. Marty Morantz: On a point of order, again, [ don't see what
the relevance of this discussion is to the bill we are here to analyze:
Bill C-56, the affordable housing and groceries act.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: It is directly relevant.
Mr. Marty Morantz: I'd like you to rule on that.

The Chair: MP Morantz, I have been listening to the discussion
and it is relevant.

Mr. Marty Morantz: You think this discussion is relevant to
Bill C-56.

The Chair: I believe it is relevant, yes.

Mr. Marty Morantz: You're kidding.

The Chair: Yes, I do.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: It is directly relevant, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: We will allow the minister to continue. I believe it is
relevant.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: As G7 finance ministers agreed,
Putin's illegal war is raising global food prices. It is raising global
energy prices. It is directly hurting every single Canadian we repre-
sent here.

Also, we all had an opportunity last week to stand with Ukraine,
say no to Putin and tell him to end his costly war.

Mr. Marty Morantz: | have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: There's a point of order.

Mr. Marty Morantz: It's okay. We'll let it go this time.

The Chair: Okay.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: We had that opportunity. The Bloc
took that opportunity to tell Putin to end his war, make life more
affordable for Canadians and stop killing Ukrainians. The NDP
took that opportunity to say no to Putin, support Ukrainians and, by
the way, bring down food and energy prices. The Liberals did too.

One party voted against it and I'm appalled. I'm appalled the
Conservative finance critic, who represents the province of Alber-
ta.... More than 8% of the population of Alberta is Ukrainian Cana-
dian. MP Morantz represents the great province of Manitoba. More
than 12% of the population of that province is Ukrainian Canadian.
Not much astonishes me anymore about this Conservative party,
but that action really does.

Mr. Yvan Baker: Thank you, Minister.

Over the last few years, Canadians have lived through more un-
certain times. When I say that, I'm talking about things like the
global pandemic, its aftermath on our economy, the effects of cli-
mate change and so much more. It's in these tougher economic
times that I think Canadians hold dear and focus on their financial
security and savings. Part of that is their retirement.

That's why I found it quite puzzling—and I think many col-
leagues found it puzzling—to hear calls by Premier Smith to break
up the Canada pension plan, a move the Conservatives at this very
committee have yet to condemn. Over the last few weeks, rather
than standing up for Canadians' pensions, the Conservatives have
preferred to filibuster at this committee as we've been debating that
very issue.

I'd like to hear your thoughts on this, Minister.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: I have also been very puzzled by that
Conservative behaviour, particularly since the Conservative leader
did, after a long delay, come out with a statement speaking up for
the Canada pension plan, which provides security and dignity for
all Canadians in their retirement. There is a real contrast between
what the leader said when asked and the behaviour of his members
of Parliament when it comes to acting.



November 20, 2023

FINA-121 47

It's something this committee could do to support Canadians in
having a safe and dignified retirement. Also, it is very much a part
of the cost of living, which this bill is addressing.

Mr. Yvan Baker: Thank you very much, Minister.

That's it for me, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Thank you, MP Baker.

We'll now go to MP Ste-Marie.
[Translation)
Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good afternoon everyone.
Good afternoon, Minister. Thank you for being here.

I'm going to have questions about the competition aspect of
Bill C-56 for Mr. Champagne, your fellow minister. My questions
for you pertain to the GST rental rebate.

When we were briefed on Bill C-56 at the beginning of the pro-
cess, we were told about studies that included numbers, projections
or forecasts for the GST rebate. We still haven't gotten that infor-
mation. It's tough for lawmakers to make decisions without the
numbers.

What are your projections when it comes to the GST rebate?
How many more buildings or units will it generate, do you think?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: I see that Mr. Jovanovic would like to
answer, but I'll start, Mr. Ste-Marie.

First, I want to say how much I appreciate the fact that you are
wearing the Ukrainian colours, as I am. I know that the Bloc
Québécois understands the significance of the war. Not only is it a
fight for democracy, but it is also a fight that is having a serious
economic impact on each and every Quebecker. Thank you for that.

On the subject of housing and the GST, I want to first say how
pleased our government is to have signed a $900-million housing
agreement with Quebec. We are going to build a lot of housing
units, thanks to the agreement.

With respect to the GST, I'll refer to the estimate by Professor
Mike Moffatt, who projected that between 200,000 and
300,000 more apartments would be built in the next seven to
10 years thanks to this measure. I repeat, that's his assessment. As
you know quite well, many macroeconomic factors come into play.
That's why Professor Moffatt said that his assessment is based on a
lot of variables, but we can say with certainty that the measure will
encourage the construction of rental housing.

That is the view of economists and home builders, and I think we
all realize that Canada needs more rental housing units. We need to
build a lot of them, and that's what this bill will help us do.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you.
Professor Moffatt estimates that, with this measure, it will be

possible to build 200,000 to 300,000 more units. I take it that is the
figure you and your department are using.

Would the bulk of those 200,000 to 300,000 units have originally
been condos that are being shifted over to the rental market in-
stead?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: I think that reflects a portion of the
new units.

In the past two weeks, I've made two announcements in places
where rental units were being built, and the builders told me two
things. First, as you suggested, by removing the GST on the con-
struction of rental units, we have created an economic incentive to
build rental housing as opposed to condos, because we need more
rental units. Second, the whole housing construction sector is fac-
ing economic challenges, including those that build rental housing
exclusively. It's hard for them to obtain financing.

This measure will really encourage the construction of rental
housing on two levels. Other measures include $20 billion in addi-
tional funding for the construction of rental housing, which was an-
nounced before the fall economic statement. Some people want to
build housing units, but can't because of a lack of financing.

A third, very important, factor is that municipalities have to cre-
ate opportunities to build housing. That is why our government is
signing agreements directly with municipalities to support those op-
portunities.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: How much time do 1 have left,
Mr. Chair?

[English]

The Chair: That is the time. We're a little over, MP Ste-Marie.
[Translation]

Thank you.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: All right. Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: We'll go to MP Blaikie, please.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Minister. I'm pleased to have you at the committee.

I'm glad to be able to amend the bill to ensure that housing co-
operatives are also captured by the GST rebate. I think that's an im-
portant improvement, and it's one I'm looking forward to making in
legislation soon.
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One of the other concerns that New Democrats have with respect
to the GST rebate—we haven't been able to reach an agreement so
far, but I'm hoping it may yet be within reach—is applying the GST
rebate to non-profit housing projects that either began construction
or began in some other significant way prior to September 14 this
year. I don't have complete numbers and we'd be very happy to
have complete numbers. Please send those along to the committee
if you have them. I suspect that the government has them some-
where.

There are a number of non-profit housing projects that the feder-
al government is funding through the national housing strategy that
aren't proceeding because the increase in interest rates has meant
that the original business case for the housing when it was ap-
proved for financing, grants or whatever the support from the gov-
ernment is.... Because of rising interest rates, the projects haven't
been able to proceed. For those projects, applying the same GST re-
bate can be the difference between moving ahead or not.

I'm wondering if you have those numbers and if you'd be able to
provide them to the committee, either here today or promptly after
this meeting.

Are you concerned about projects that the federal government
has approved funding for that aren't proceeding because we're in
difficult times and interest rates have been going up? What do you
say to non-profits that are waiting to hear if the GST exemption is
going to apply to them, so they can move forward with the projects
they thought they had a financial basis to proceed with until the
ground shifted?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: There are lots of elements to that
question. I will try to take them in turn.

Let me start by talking about new co-op, purpose-built rental
housing. I very sincerely want to thank you for the conversations
we've had and for really focusing on that issue. I am glad to be very
clear that our intention, with the support of all MPs who agree with
this step, is to eliminate the GST on the construction of new co-op,
purpose-built rental housing.

I am also happy to be very clear, Mr. Blaikie, that working with
you has helped have that measure included, so thanks a lot. I think
we agree that co-ops are a great form of housing in terms of afford-
ability but also in terms of building community. We'll talk about the
FES later on, but as per conversations you and I have been having,
there is additional support for co-ops, so that's good.

On the September 14 point, we were very clear in the announce-
ment on September 15 that it was for new projects going forward,
and I think the rationale is clear. Our purpose was to encourage the
building of additional rental homes rather than to create more sup-
port for stuff already in the system. We wanted to have the most ad-
ditional building we could in exchange for this measure. That is
why it made sense to say we were improving the terms and that
now is the time to get in and build stuff that wasn't previously
planned.

I'll say two things quickly to your broader point about affordable
housing and construction outside of the market sector.

First, as you know, in the fall economic statement we have pro-
vided more financing specifically for affordable housing, and I
think that is a good thing. I said two things, but I'm actually going
to say three things.

Second of all, I think this measure in the market space is helpful
to people in the affordable space too. Not the only challenge but a
big part of the challenge is simply a lack of supply. Creating more
market supply is going to ease pressures for everybody in the econ-
omy. I hope you agree with that. I think that is what this measure
absolutely does.

This is my final point. You spoke about the macroenvironment. I
agree with you that the macroenvironment is very challenging for
Canadians right now. It is also challenging for not-for-profit hous-
ing builders and for for-profit housing builders. That is why I was
glad to have the opportunity to cite the comments of the Governor
of the Bank of Canada last week about the fall economic statement
and more broadly his comments about where he sees the macroen-
vironment going.

The Chair: MP Blaikie, that is your time.

Members, we don't have time for a full round, so we're going to
divide the time equally. Looking at the time, I think we have about
five minutes per party.

We will start with the Conservatives for five minutes.

MP Lawrence, go ahead, please.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you very much.

At the last meeting, you were kind enough to stay for a little ex-
tra time. Maybe you'd indulge us again, Minister.

I thought our last exchange was respectful and I was proud of it.
I hope this one will be as well. I would ask you to keep your re-
sponses as brief as you can so that Canadians can get full responses
to their questions.

The first question I'm going to ask you is relatively straightfor-
ward. Could you please tell me what the growth rate per capita in
real GDP in Canada was in the first quarter of this year?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: The IMF predicts that Canada next
year will have the highest growth rate in the G7. That is very posi-
tive.

As I said in my opening remarks, Canada attracted, on a per capi-
ta basis, more foreign investment than any other G7 country in the
first six months of this year. In total dollar terms, Canada is the
third-most attractive destination for foreign investment.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I appreciate that, Minister.
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Hon. Chrystia Freeland: That's relevant to GDP per capita, be-
cause if we—

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I don't disagree. I would just like an an-
swer to my question, if you would be kind enough to respond—just
a number.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: I've responded with where Canada's
GDP is, and I think Canadians should take comfort in the fact that
we are predicted—

Mr. Philip Lawrence: GDP per capita—

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —to have the strongest economic
growth in the G7.

We've been talking about debt and deficits, and the overall
growth of GDP is the relevant number there.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: With respect, there is an issue here and
you aren't responding to it. I think it's important to have intellectual
honesty in this conversation.

I'm asking you about GDP per capita. Canada's population has
swelled in recent years. It has masked our GDP per capita, which is
per individual. Each Canadian is getting poorer. They're getting
poorer, Minister. This is an issue.

I'm asking you again for just the number. What was the GDP per
capita in the first quarter, the second quarter or the third quarter?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Mr. Lawrence, you and I have had
very respectful exchanges, and I'm grateful for that, but I have to
say, after your leader's performance last week when he jumped to
accusations of terrorism, alarming all Canadians, and after your
party's vote to fail to support Ukraine, it is a bit rich to take this
tone.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: [ have a point of order, Mr. Chair. You
laid out at the beginning of the meeting that we should give time to
answer the questions. That had nothing to do with the question. I
would ask you to take a look at what kind of relevance her answer
had to the question at hand.

The Chair: Thank you for that point of order.
Yes, Minister, please be relevant.

MP Lawrence, go ahead.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you.

I'll answer my own question since unfortunately you're unwilling
to. I say that with the greatest respect.

For the first quarter, it was -0.6%. For the second quarter, it was
-0.28%. RBC predicts that per capita, it will be -0.31%.

Canadians are getting poorer, Minister. In the U.S., the average
GDP per capita is about $80,000. In Canada, it's a little
over $50,000. That's a $30,000 gap. That gap has never been big-
ger.

GDP relates directly to the wealth of the nation, and it's not the
superwealthy, not the Trudeaus and Morneaus, who get hurt. It's the
people at the lowest end of the spectrum. When you lose 10% of
your wealth and you're a Morneau, that hurts a bit, but when you're

a single mom just trying to get to the end of the month, that means
you don't get to feed your kids.

With the greatest respect, Minister, could you please comment on
per capita GDP? Tell the constituents in Northumberland—Peter-
borough South that what they're experiencing is real and that when
they're going to food banks and struggling, you have some concern
for that.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: 1 have a great deal of concern for
Canadians who are struggling in a very challenging economic envi-
ronment right now. That is why we should be debating the mea-
sures in the bill. Other parties have put questions specifically about
the measures.

This bill is about getting more housing built, and building more
housing is a direct answer to affordability challenges. This bill is
about creating more competition in the grocery sector. That is also a
direct answer to housing challenges.

With due respect, Mr. Lawrence, speaking about struggling sin-
gle mothers in your riding, they are helped by our early learning
and child care program. That has cut the cost of child care by 50%.
Your party voted against it. They are—

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: —helped by the Canada child benefit.
Your party is proposing to cut all of these measures.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you, Minister. I'm at the end of my
time. [ appreciate that.

We voted for that. Mr. Chambers, you're absolutely correct.

I want to repeat something you said in 2015: “the OECD has cut
its 2015 GDP forecast for Canada to a dismal 1.5%.” By the way,
that is now predicted to be 1.3% this year. “By way of excuse, the
minister today claimed, ‘We are doing better than most developed
countries’. That is simply not true. The OECD puts us behind Aus-
tralia, Germany...Israel, the Netherlands, South Korea, Sweden, the
U.K.,, [and] the U.S.” In per capita numbers, we're behind all those
countries today. “This is no global problem, as the government
likes to pretend to excuse its shoddy management. This is a made-
in-Canada runway to recession.”

Do you still agree with that?
The Chair: Thank you, MP Lawrence. That's the time.
Now we're going to MP Dzerowicz, please, for five minutes.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Thank you so much, Mr. Chair.

Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Finance, thank you for
being here today to talk to this very important bill.
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I was very happy over the weekend to get a chance to go to my
first tree lighting. [ had a chance to meet and talk to a lot of Daven-
port residents, who talked to me about what was top of mind for
them. Affordability and economic issues were top of mind for
them.

My first question to you is this: How does the bill we're talking
about, Bill C-56, alleviate some of the economic difficulties that
Canadians, such as those in my riding of Davenport, are facing to-
day?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Thank you for the question.

It does so very directly. I think two of the challenges that Canadi-
ans are facing in their lives today most directly are housing and the
cost of everything else they need for their regular life. This bill ad-
dresses those very specifically.

On housing, we had a good conversation with MP Blaikie and
with MP Ste-Marie about the GST. That is very clearly a measure
that has already increased the number of rental units being built in
Canada.

I'd like to elaborate a bit on what Mr. Blaikie and I spoke about.
We definitely believe we need to put measures in place to encour-
age specifically the construction of affordable housing and to be
sure that affordable housing stays in that space. However, we also
believe a big part of the housing challenge is supply. Canada has
the great advantage of being a country with a growing population.
That is one of our economic strengths. To be sure that this strength
is sustainable and is a true strength, we have to build more homes
faster. Lifting the GST on purpose-built rentals is a really big part
of that.

A second area—I think you'll have a chance to discuss it with
Francois-Philippe further but I'm happy to talk about it too—is the
truly historic changes to Canadian competition law. We all know
that more competition is good for Canadians. It helps them have
more choice and better prices. These measures are truly a once-in-
a-generation transformation that will help stabilize prices, ensure
that Canadians have more choice and ensure that, particularly in the
grocery sector, local grocers are not elbowed out.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Thank you for that.

One of the other topics, of course, is housing. You've been talk-
ing to that. I know you've been talking about adding a lot more sup-
ply. This bill would help do that. There have also been structural is-
sues within the housing market and issues around getting more
housing done.

Can you speak to how our government is addressing the struc-
tural shortage of housing supply?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: Yes, 100%. Mr. Ste-Marie is on the
screen, and he touched on this in talking about how lifting the GST
on purpose-built rentals creates an incentive for builders to choose
to build purpose-built rentals rather condos.

Very close to your riding and my own, two weeks ago [ was at a
construction site just north of Yonge and Eglinton. There are 2,600
purpose-built rental homes being built right now in the Toronto area
using our apartment loan financing initiative, to which we're
adding $15 billion in the fall economic statement. The builders be-

hind that project said to me that by lifting the GST, we have
changed the math for them and made it more appealing for them to
be building purpose-built rentals rather than condos. I think that is a
very important element.

Looking ahead to the no doubt deeply informative conversations
we'll be having about the fall economic statement, I would say that
one of the measures that I think will immediately help Canadians is
cracking down on short-term rentals on Airbnb in provinces and
municipalities that require registration. I like that measure because I
think we all agree that it is about supply, supply, supply. We need
more homes built faster, but it would also be good to have more
homes right away. Economists estimate that about 30,000 homes
that are currently being used for short-term rental could immediate-
ly be turned over to Canadian families to live in long term.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Thank you so much.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Dzerowicz.

MP Ste-Marie, you have five minutes.

[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Minister, I have a request and two questions for you. I will fire
them off, and then, you can answer.

To begin with, could you please ask your officials to send the
committee the finance department's projections pertaining to the
GST rebate enhancement? How many more housing units will it
generate? Are the projections based solely on Mike Moffatt's as-
sessment, or does your department have more detailed analysis?
That is my request.

Now for my two questions.

First, under Bill C-56, the GST rebate applies to the construction
of any rental housing but does not include any criteria for afford-
ability. If I understand the bill correctly, you have the power to de-
fine affordability criteria in the regulations at a later time. Do you
plan to do that? Does this measure apply to all rental housing?

Second, a lot of developers are a bit confused by the fact that
Bill C-56 does little to define certain things as they relate to coming
into force. Some measures are deemed to have come into effect on
September 14, 2023, but they aren't well defined. I'll give you an
example, so you can enlighten us or, if need be, get back to us with
a written answer.
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Take a construction project. Say the foundation of the building is
dug before September 14, 2023. The ground floor is commercial
space, and everything above is rental units. Since the construction
started—but only for the commercial space—the developer wants
to know whether they can access the rebate. The digging started be-
fore Bill C-56 came into force. People have questions about that.

In short, I want to know about the possible addition of affordabil-
ity criteria through regulation, and the definition that would apply
in the scenario I just described.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: All right.

Thank you for those very clear and specific questions about the
bill we are here to discuss.

When it comes to affordability, we agree that we need programs
to encourage the construction of affordable housing. We have such
programs. In the fall economic statement, we set out an additional
billion dollars precisely for that construction.

We believe it's important to look at supply as well. In Quebec
and across Canada, more housing is needed. We believe measures
are also needed to stimulate housing construction, period. The deci-
sion to eliminate the GST on the construction of rental housing is
meant to encourage the construction of rental units overall.

I want to make two other points.

First, by creating more housing, we are helping everyone who is
looking for an apartment, including those who have less. When
more units are on the market, rents become more affordable.

Second, the measure is based on the construction of rental units.
As you know, people who have to rent tend to have less money. By
encouraging developers to build rental properties instead of condos,
as you pointed out, we are helping those who are less fortunate.
This will help make life more affordable.

We also understand that targeted measures are needed to support
affordable housing.

In response to your second question, I wouldn't want to comment
on a specific situation without having all the information. I don't
think that's a good idea. However, we are happy to have a discus-
sion with you. What I can tell you now is that I hope the intent be-
hind the bill is clear: we want to encourage the construction of new
units, not give money to people who were already building housing.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Ste-Marie.

This will be our final question for Minister Freeland.

It's MP Blaikie for five minutes.
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I think the issue is this: There were a number of non-profit hous-
ing providers in the stream for which the federal government had
approved some form of financing or funding. While those are al-
ready in the pipeline, they're not going to come to fruition without
some kind of further financial help. Presumably, the government
has a list of what these projects are and can calculate what it will
cost.

Has your department done that calculation?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: I understand the question, and I do un-
derstand the situation as, by the way, I know you do as well.

I want to be clear that, from my perspective, the single biggest
objective of lifting the GST on purpose-built rentals.... This is real-
ly a supply measure. It is about saying that Canada is a growing
country, so we need to build more homes and, in particular, we
need to build more rentals. We think this is broadly helpful for all
Canadians who rent. I want to be clear that this is a supply, supply,
supply measure.

I take your point that we also need to have measures specifically
focused on affordable housing. I agree with that point. We have a
set of other programs specifically geared to the affordable housing
sector.

My final point, as I said—I'll be super quick—is this: The
macroenvironment is so important here. We're also focused on do-
ing what we can to help...a positive direction in the macroenviron-
ment. That will help all Canadians.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: One issue is that the replenishment of some
of those funds—which, as you say, contribute to building more af-
fordable housing in Canada—announced in the fall economic state-
ment is deferred for another two years. In the meantime, there is a
considerable need. Steve Pomeroy is a housing policy expert in
Canada. He said that, for every one unit we're building of afford-
able or social housing, we're losing 15. It seems to me that, at a rel-
atively low cost and by attaching a rider to this initiative, we could
ensure that some of the units the government is already bragging
about in their numbers on affordable housing actually get built.

If you're not prepared to do that, is the government going to take
those units out of its talking points for how many units of afford-
able and social housing the national housing strategy is building, or
can we do something to save those units and ensure they get built
so that the talking points are true?

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: I think the concern we share, at heart,
is to have more homes built in Canada, especially more rental
homes, with a particular and additional concern for affordable
housing. You know very well that there is a suite of programs in
place to support the building of more affordable housing. If the core
of your message is that we need to continue to do more, I agree
with that. I agree with that on housing, broadly.
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I think you've seen this in the sequence of measures this fall. We
started with GST on purpose-built rentals. Then you saw the hous-
ing accelerator fund rolled out in city after city. You then saw us
add $20 billion to the CMB program to provide even more financ-
ing for housing construction. Then you saw some additional mea-
sures in the fall economic statement.

Do I think we have more work to do to get at that core point? I
totally agree we do. I think we have to work on a number of fronts
at the same time.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Going forward, the GST rebate will help
some non-profit projects pencil out that otherwise wouldn't.

My question is this: Where the government has already commit-
ted funds and those projects aren't going ahead, does that become
lapsed funding? Is this a consideration for the housing department
in meeting its 3% savings target? Why is it that we can't get this
help to allow projects already seen as valuable and approved for
some kind of financial assistance by the federal government to be
seen through to completion?

What happens to the money that has been committed then? Does
it just go back into government coffers as part of spending control,
or does it get carried forward so new projects...? I think that would
be unfortunate, because Canadians are losing time and money in
the delay.

Why not help the projects that are ready to go by including them
in the GST rebate?

The Chair: A final, super-short answer, Minister, is what I need.

Hon. Chrystia Freeland: If I have to keep it super-short, I'll just
say that we need to focus on three things at the same time: supply,
supply and supply. We have to have a particular focus on affordable
housing. We have to do all of this in the context of an economic
plan that creates jobs and growth in a fiscally responsible way.
That's how we do the right thing when it comes to the macroenvi-
ronment in Canada.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Blaikie, and—

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Mr. Chair, I have a quick point of order. |
want to put it on the record, and then we'll let the minister go.

In the rounds here, it was six across and five across, which disad-
vantaged the Conservative Party.

The Chair: I'll speak to that, MP Lawrence.

You would know this. That's what we always do in our commit-
tee when we don't have enough time for a full second round. We
truncate the second round and we add the time equally. We've done
it since the beginning. We've always done it. We've done it for two
years now. That's how we roll here on this committee. I think it's a
good way, and it allows all members to have some time.

Thank you, Minister, for your testimony on Bill C-56. We really
appreciate your time.

Now, we are going to go into transition. We are going to suspend
here for a few minutes as Minister Champagne gets ready to come
to the table.

Thank you.

We're suspended.

¢ (1700 (Pause)

® (1705)

The Chair: We are back. I call this meeting back to order.

Pursuant to the order of reference of Thursday, November 23,
2023, the committee is resuming its study on Bill C-56, an act to
amend the Excise Tax Act and the Competition Act.

1 would like to welcome our witnesses with us here today. We
have the Minister of Innovation, Science and Industry, the Hon-
ourable Frangois-Philippe Champagne.

Welcome, Minister.

Joining the minister is the Department of Industry senior assis-
tant deputy minister, strategy and innovation policy sector, Mark
Schaan.

Minister, you'll provide members with opening remarks, and then
the members will have an opportunity to ask you questions over the
next hour.

Minister, the floor is yours.

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne (Minister of Innovation,
Science and Industry): Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I think it's my first time at your esteemed committee. I feel privi-
leged to be here today.

[Translation]
Good afternoon everyone.

It is a pleasure to be able to speak today to the Competition Act
amendments contained in Bill C-56, the affordable housing and
groceries act.

[English]

Competition drives innovation. I think every member would
agree. It lowers prices and encourages better product quality and
choice. That's what we want for Canadians.

Our competition framework needs to be updated to keep up with
today's reality. This is why we've introduced Bill C-56, which in-
cludes some of the most significant reforms to the Competition Act
since 1986, some 37 years ago.

As 1 said, over the past decades, markets have greatly changed
due to digitization and globalization. We have seen corporate con-
solidation and an imbalanced distribution of economic power in our
country.
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[Translation]

Delivering on the government’s commitment to undertake a for-
mal review of the law and its enforcement regime, I launched the
consultation on the future of competition policy in Canada, in
November 2022.

[English]

The consultations were extensive and very comprehensive. They
lasted 120 days, with five round tables across Canada. We received
more than 400 submissions from Canadians and stakeholder organi-
zations.

[Translation]

Bill C-56 contains important amendments that give the Competi-
tion Bureau increased powers. We focused on prioritizing these
changes because we knew they would have a real and significant
impact on Canada’s retail grocery sector, which needs greater com-
petition and, certainly, more choice for consumers.

[English]

It's very simple, colleagues. The bill makes three key amend-
ments. The first one is to allow the bureau to seek subpoenas to
compel information when conducting market studies. Second, we
will repeal the so-called efficiencies defence, which currently al-
lows harmful mergers to proceed, even if they don't benefit Canadi-
ans. Third, we'll expand the scope of reviewable agreements that
could harm competition, such as restrictive covenants you find in
leases when you have a large grocery store that collaborates with
the landlord to block a small grocery store from coming in nearby.

Let me talk a bit about market studies.
[Translation]

The purpose of market studies conducted by the Competition Bu-
reau is to better understand competitive dynamics and make recom-
mendations to government. Currently, the bureau cannot compel
companies to provide information outside a law enforcement inves-
tigation. As a result, the studies it releases may be missing impor-
tant information.

This deficiency was made clear by the bureau’s recent retail gro-
cery market study. The bureau did not benefit from the full co-oper-
ation of the major grocery chains for its study, and the Standing
Committee on Agriculture and Agri-Food recently recommended
that this gap be remedied.

A large number of submissions to the public consultation were
also in favour of granting formal information-gathering powers for
market studies.

[English]

However, many stakeholders insisted that any framework that
would be put in place should also provide safeguards to avoid fish-
ing expeditions and undue burdens on companies. Our proposed
framework takes these concerns into account, and it balances the
need for the collection of vital information with reasonable safe-
guards to protect businesses.

On the so-called efficiencies defence, as you would recall, Mr.
Chair, that's quite a unique and highly criticized feature of our com-

petition law regime. It currently protects a merger that harms com-
petition so long as generated corporate efficiencies offset the harm
to competition.

Think about that for a moment. Why should we allow mergers
that demonstrably harm competition in this country? That's the
question we need to ask ourselves.

[Translation]

In our consultation, we heard that this exception was possibly the
single-largest weakness in a law that had failed to rein in corporate
concentration, including in the grocery sector.

[English]

The elimination of the efficiencies defence will give priority to
the protection of competition in merger review. I would say to my
esteemed colleagues that it is time for corporate mergers that don't
benefit Canadians to be consigned to the history books.

Next is vertical collaboration.
[Translation]

However, agreements between non-competing entities, such as
landlord and tenant, also known as vertical agreements, are outside
the scope of the bureau’s review of potentially anticompetitive
agreements.

[English]

An example of the kind of agreement that we want to stop is the
use of what we call “land controls”, such as restrictive covenants
that can prevent new grocery stores from setting up shop across our
country. This hurts competition and can even lead to food deserts,
when the original tenant leaves a particular location. This is, simply
put, unacceptable, and I hope every member of this committee
thinks so too. We will ensure that these agreements, whose very
purpose is to restrict competition, will be reviewable.

In conclusion, the bill will benefit Canadians with an empowered
Competition Bureau, enable greater competition, bring more trans-
parency to markets, block harmful mergers and ensure the bureau
can review all forms of anti-competitive agreements. I think what
we want, and what every Canadian wants, is less consolidation,
more competition and better prices for Canadians.

With that, Mr. Chair, I will be more than happy to take questions
from my esteemed colleagues.

The Chair: Thank you, Minister Champagne. Thank you for
coming before our committee on Bill C-56.
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We are now getting into our first round of questions. In this
round, each party is going to have up to six minutes to ask you
questions.

We are starting with MP Williams, please, for the first six min-
utes.

Mr. Ryan Williams (Bay of Quinte, CPC): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Thank you, Minister, for being here.

I want to start by thanking you for taking my private member's
bill on eliminating the efficiencies defence. The Competition Bu-
reau hasn't intervened yet, but I promise not to have it intervene. It's
great to see that we have some good ideas for competition in this
bill.

Minister, I want to start with something you said on September
19 in the House of Commons. You said, “One thing that was clear
yesterday with the major grocery chains from across the country is
that we must not allow any measure to affect our farmers, the small
and medium-sized businesses across the country that contribute to
the food chain.”

We talk about competition. We talk about all the elements that
add costs up the chain, and this bill is called the affordable housing
and grocery act. We have taxes on our farmers, on our manufactur-
ers, on our truckers and on our storage facilities, cold storage
specifically, that get added to all the food bills and then get added,
of course, to the grocery bill.

Minister, do you agree with a tax freeze on the Canadian food
supply chain, yes or no?

Hon. Frangois-Philippe Champagne: First of all, Mr. Chair, [
want to thank Mr. Williams. I'm proud to say that, for once, the
Conservatives have sided with government to abolish the efficien-
cies defence. It shows the work of this committee. I want to thank
Mr. Williams, because he indeed has put forward a private mem-
ber's bill that would do that.

We started consultation. I would say this particular clause is real-
ly an anomaly if you look at the OECD countries. I think we're the
only country in the world to have anything close to that. I'm happy
to say that collaboration like this is what we want see in legislation.
We have seen other pieces of legislation that are key.

You will have seen that we have reformed the Investment
Canada Act. Now we're looking, obviously, at the Competition Act.
The type of work that Mr. Williams has been doing, and the fact
that the Conservatives support that particular clause and, I would
think, the bill, is what we want to see. I'm proud to see that the
Conservatives have sided with the government on something so
crucial.

Mr. Ryan Williams: Thank you, Minister. You didn't answer my
question, but that's okay.

I think what we're missing on this.... I just want to talk about tax
for a minute. When we talk about competition, we also talk about
competition in terms of lowering costs as much as we can.

Your own government this year, when we look at the last four
years, is collecting $52.1 billion in GST revenue. That is up from

four years ago and $37.4 billion. That is a 139% increase in GST.
When we look at grocery stores, most Canadians listening at home
won't even know they pay GST at grocery stores, but they are.
They're paying a billion dollars per year at the grocery store. Some
of them won't see it because I know there's another phenomenon:
Not only are they seeing taxes, but they are seeing all their gro-
ceries shrink.

Minister, when we talk about grocery taxes and we talk about
shrinkflation, what specifically in this bill is going to tackle both of
those?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: I'm happy for those
Canadians who are watching, and Mr. Williams will be happy to be
able to clip that I congratulated him for having worked with us on
removing the efficiencies defence. You can clip that, and I'll be
happy to support it.

What I want to say is that I think what my honourable colleagues
in this committee understand is that the best way to stabilize prices
in Canada, whether it is mid- to long term, is more competition. It
is true in the grocery sector. It is true in many other sectors of our
economy. That is why these particular provisions are key in order to
provide more affordability, more choices and more innovation in
the country.

To come to your point about shrinkflation, you'll be happy to see,
Mr. Williams, that soon we will be taking action with respect to the
practices we've seen. We have looked at best practices in France
and the U.K. I've been talking to colleagues around the world. I am
also talking to colleagues in Washington because, as you know, this
is not unique to the Canadian market, this issue of shrinkflation.

For colleagues who don't know, it's basically keeping the same
package but reducing the number of grams, for example, in a box of
pasta. It's very difficult for consumers to realize whether they are
getting the same bargain, a better bargain or a worse bargain for
what they're paying.

I think you will see soon, Mr. Williams, and I think you will be
happy, that we're going to tackle that specifically to better inform
consumers and make sure that Canadian law is respected.

Mr. Ryan Williams: Thank you, Minister.

One thing that has come out—and this has come from the indus-
try, so we are really focused on the industry, the manufacturers, the
farmers and the truckers—is that there's a plastic package ban com-
ing. The Supreme Court deemed it unconstitutional. We'll see what
happens.

In the grocery store, that's going to mean the elimination of all
plastic in the fruit and vegetable and prepared food sections. The
industry has come back to say that it is going to cost the grocery
industry $6 billion, which will mean a 30% increase in food costs.



November 20, 2023

FINA-121 55

Can you comment on that? I am sure you know. You met with
the grocers. They've expressed it to us. I'm sure they expressed it to
you. How is that going to make companies more competitive with
food prices in Canada?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: I think that somehow,
Mr. Williams, we can do both. We can both protect the environment
and have more affordability and competition in the country.

To your point, I have talked to the industry, not only to the large
manufacturers and grocers but also to the industry writ large. I un-
derstand. I have been engaging with them to listen to their concerns
and to make sure that while we, on the one hand, protect the envi-
ronment and also have meaningful regulations that continue to pro-
tect consumers, we will, at the same time, maintain competition in
this country.

I would say that this bill is probably a cornerstone in terms of af-
fordability and how we can help Canadian consumers. That's why
I'm so happy and keen to see you at the committee today.

Mr. Ryan Williams: I have a last question, Minister, a real quick
one.

You've brought in a grocery code of conduct, but you didn't make
it mandatory, which means that it's useless, really, right now. Do
you have plans to make it mandatory and make the grocers abide by
that code of conduct?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: Mr. Chair, I won't take
any credit, really, for the grocery code of conduct. I have to give
credit to those who deserve it. This was an industry-led code of
conduct co-chaired by Minister Lamontagne from Quebec. My col-
league Minister MacAulay has spent two years working on that.

My job, Minister.... I mean, sir. I was about to give you an up-
grade today.

Mr. Ryan Williams: You give me too much credit.

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: We want that to come to
fruition as quickly as possible, because we think it's a good way to
bring more balance, [ would say, to the negotiations.

One of the groups I've met and I am sure you know well is the
independent grocery association, which represents about 6,500.
They have been very adamant to me that this is a step in the right
direction to better balance the power when one is a small producer
trying to negotiate with some of the big brands in the country.

The Chair: Thank you.
Thank you, MP Williams, and welcome to our committee.

We have MP Weiler, please, for six minutes.
[Translation]

Mr. Patrick Weiler (West Vancouver—Sunshine Coast—Sea
to Sky Country, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

It's always a pleasure to see Minister Champagne.

Thank you to Mr. Schaan for being here as well.

[English]

We are seeing inflation come down in Canada. We know it has
been persistently high with grocery prices, and from one end of the
riding that I represent to the other, people still have sticker shock
when they go grocery shopping. It's so important that we work on
measures that are going to improve affordability in this area.

Minister, I was hoping you could first speak to how the lack of
competition is affecting the elevated grocery prices in Canada.

[Translation]

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: Thank you for your ques-
tion and your introductory comments in French, Mr. Weiler. I will
answer first in French and then in English.

The last serious attempt to reform the Competition Act was in
1986. That was nearly four decades ago, so I think a major reform
of the law is long overdue.

We took the first step in that direction in February 2022, through
the budget.

[English]
We then introduced in November this very broad consultation.

I must say to colleagues who are part of this committee that we
should take pride in this being a government and a Parliament that
listens to people. We conducted a market study or, let's say, consul-
tation for almost two years looking at the different aspects. People
would agree, particularly in the grocery sector.... That's why you
see that these three key amendments are really focused. It's because
it's a complex industry and an unregulated industry, but one, I
would say, that affects Canadians in their daily lives. We have seen
what types of things would make the most sense.

To me, it is shocking to think that, in 2023, in a G7 country, the
competition authority would not have subpoena powers when it
does market studies. Members of this committee should all be
cheering when we receive royal assent, because it's pretty unique, if
you think about it, that you would have a body there to look at
competition that does not have subpoena powers. We are probably
one of the very few countries in the world that I can think of that
has an authority that cannot seek information or documents.

We've seen how this could be harmful, because in the last study
that was done on the food sector, as I said in my opening remarks,
we saw various degrees of co-operation with this entity. Think
about that. This entity is there to inform Canadians, government
and Parliament, so for it not to be able to have a full understanding
of the market is pretty concerning to me.

Even that is going to help a lot, because in this industry or oth-
ers.... Think about it. There are so many other industries for which
we may want to do market studies to better understand what the
competitive dynamic is, why we are where we are, why the prices
are what they are and what the issues around competition are.
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I'll give you a small example. One of the things I'm trying to do
is bring another grocer into the country to disrupt the market. It's
what they call a deep discounter. That's the term they use in the in-
dustry. When I talked to the U.S. grocers, one of the reasons they
didn't come to Canada—believe it or not, it's not the market—was
the restrictive covenant in leases. They said, “Minister, we looked
at Canada but, believe it or not, even as big as we are, it was ex-
tremely difficult to find a place we could lease because of all these
restrictive covenants in leases.” I got that from some of the big gro-
cers in the U.S.

[ said, “Wow. Imagine that.” If Canadians knew that.... Now po-
tentially—I'm not saying it's a done deal—you have grocers that
may want to come to Canada, and one of the problems they have is
leasing premises because of what are called land control provisions
basically preventing them from being able to rent premises so that
they can offer an alternative to consumers.

These kinds of measures are really down-to-earth and are going
to help Canadians, and they'll certainly bring more competition to
our country.

Mr. Patrick Weiler: Thank you for that. Certainly, you can get
far by asking nicely, but having the power to actually compel that
evidence is so important.

I want to pick up on that point. One of the aspects of this new
legislation will allow the minister to be able to direct the Competi-
tion Bureau to undertake a market study. As part of this, I'll just
mention that I see in parts of the region I represent, for instance,
gas prices that are just as high in an area that has 15¢ less a litre in
tax, as prices in another area that has that tax.

I'm curious. As part of this new power, would it be possible for
the minister to direct a market study in a particular region, or would
this new power just be for the nation as a whole?

Hon. Frangois-Philippe Champagne: [ would say that this is to
investigate market dynamics. If the market dynamics are specific to
a particular region, I don't see why it could not be done. Obviously,
the power is national, but if you were to find some discrepancy in a
particular market that warrants us to look into that.... As you know,
there are a number of checks and balances in the system. We have
to publish the mandate and the terms of reference. There is a dis-
cussion with the minister and the commissioner.

However, if the market dynamics warrant—because, as you sug-
gested, there could be some regional aspect to it.... For example, we
know that refining is normally and generally a regional market as
opposed to a national one. You refine where you sell. If there were
issues that were brought to the attention of either the minister or the
commissioner, and there was a particular market dynamic that war-
ranted our investigation, I think someone should be open to that.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Weiler.
Now we'll go to MP Ste-Marie, please.

[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good afternoon, Minister. Thank you for being here today.

We are very pleased with all the amendments to the Competition
Act proposed in Bill C-56. These are fundamental changes. People
have been calling for them for some 20 years. The amendments will
bring us more in line with practices in the United States and Eu-
rope, particularly when it comes to the bureau's analyses going for-
ward. Up to now, any time a proposed acquisition promised
economies of scale or efficiency gains, it was approved, regardless
of the abuse of dominance that might ensue.

In that connection, the committee has begun looking at Royal
Bank's acquisition of HSBC Bank. The Competition Bureau did a
study, but under the old toothless regime. Do you agree with me
that, once Bill C-56 is implemented, the Competition Bureau
should redo its study of the transaction under the new more binding
rules, particularly from an abuse of dominance standpoint?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: First, Mr. Ste-Marie, let
me say how nice it is to see you. I thought I would get to see you in
person, but I'm glad to have the chance to see and hear you. I know
you have long been an actively contributing member of the com-
mittee.

I appreciate what you said about eliminating the efficiencies de-
fence. You mentioned it as well. There seems to be a consensus on
the issue—if not a consensus, at the very least, agreement among a
wide range of experts that it is time for Canada to scrap the de-
fence. I'm not so sure it has served Canada well. We now have a
mature economy that is perfectly capable of functioning without it.
For supporters of the Competition Act, the Investment Canada Act
and other such laws, stability and predictability are key. Those are
the things that matter to investors.

Obviously, these provisions aren't retroactive. I'm sure that, as an
economist, you can appreciate why. The idea is to be able to take a
forward-looking view. As you may have noticed, the vertical agree-
ment provisions and other changes come into force a year after the
bill receives royal assent. That is to give market participants time to
make the necessary changes to contracts such as property leases.

Generally speaking, as you know, the law is forward-looking, not
retroactive, in accordance with the principles of natural justice.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you for your answer. That was
very clear. May I just point out that the minister who appeared ear-
lier still hasn't signed off on the acquisition, since it would create an
upheaval in the highly concentrated finance market? I do under-
stand your answer, however. Thank you.

Let's turn to the grocery and food sector, since that is what the
bill is meant to address, according to you. The level of market con-
centration we've seen in recent decades has been appalling. We've
gone from a few dozen chains or grocers to three—five, if we add
Walmart and Costco. Those five control 80% of the market.
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Bill C-56 is helpful because it would prevent that type of concen-
tration going forward, putting an end to the phenomenon. However,
it wouldn't automatically lead to new grocery entrants. I heard you
tell Mr. Weiler that you would like to see a U.S. grocer enter the
market.

After Bill C-56, isn't it necessary to tackle the issue at a deeper
level? If we want to see profits at a more acceptable level in the
grocery and food sector, don't we need to rethink the abuse of dom-
inance, to prevent big players from taking advantage of their dis-
proportionate market share and passing on higher input costs to
consumers, as the Governor of the Bank of Canada told us?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: As always, I think your
assessment is spot-on, Mr. Ste-Marie.

Three players actually control over 50% of the market, Loblaw,
Sobeys and Metro. Two U.S. companies, Costco and Walmart, also
play a role in the industry. I have spoken to various grocers, specifi-
cally, in Europe and, of course, in the U.S.

I think Bill C-56 can help us attract a new player, at the very
least. Believe it or not, one of the reasons why a U.S. grocer didn't
come to Canada has to do with the infamous covenants in leases.
Currently, if there is a grocery store in a mall, the owner can stipu-
late in the lease that a competing store can't open within so many
kilometres. Imagine what that's like for a new grocer trying to enter
the market. The simple fact that these agreements will be review-
able changes the market dynamics. When I met with grocers, that's
what they told me. They want to be able to look further ahead to
see how they could set up shop in Canada.

I take your point about the abuse of dominance. Government
business motion number 30 gives the committee the latitude to ex-
amine those very reforms. I think that's important, so I encourage
you to pursue that. The bill introduced by Jagmeet Singh,
Bill C-352, contains some amendments. There are some things
worth exploring in there as well.

We have a historic opportunity. The last time the act was re-
formed was 37 years ago. If we want to change the trajectory we've
been on for the past 30 years, now is the time. Bill C-56 will give
us some excellent tools to do that.

That said, there is still a lot to do. We addressed that in the fall
economic statement. I think Bill C-56 moves us in the right direc-
tion. Having spoken to grocers interested in coming to Canada, I
can tell you that they are watching all this closely. I think we have
some good stuff here.

The reality of the market is this: three players control half the
market in Canada. Today, as parliamentarians, we would do well to
change that reality as quickly as possible. Ultimately, I want to see
food prices stabilize, new players enter the market and—

[English]
The Chair: Thank you, MP Ste-Marie.
Minister, you got wound up, and we couldn't stop you.

[Translation]
Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you.

[English]

The Chair: Now we're going to MP Blaikie for six minutes.

Go ahead, please.
[Translation]

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Something that really struck us when Rogers took over Shaw
was that the Competition Bureau was apparently opposed to the
deal. It had to challenge the deal in court because it didn't seem to
have all the information it wanted. At the end of the day, the minis-
ter approved the takeover despite the objections of the Competition
Bureau.

How do you think the reforms proposed in the bill would have
changed things in that takeover?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: That's a very good ques-
tion, Mr. Blaikie. Thank you for your contribution.

I want members to keep in mind that I blocked the Rogers-Shaw
takeover because I was adamant that we needed a fourth player na-
tionally. Why did I do that? It was clear that with Videotron, in
Quebec, prices were 20% to 30% lower, on average, than in the rest
of Canada. I wanted to block the transaction in its original form, to
have a fourth strong player and put downward pressure on prices.

According to Statistics Canada figures, things are moving in the
right direction. Prices are coming down. It's tough to predict what
would have been different had Bill C-56 been in place at the time. |
can speculate, although I shouldn't. With the Competition Bureau's
new market study powers, certain aspects of the transaction may
have been available before it was referred. The bureau may have
been able to gain a better understanding of the market dynamics,
something that will be possible under Bill C-56.

It's important to look under the hood, if you will. When you're
examining a specific market, understanding all the dynamics isn't
exactly easy when you don't have access to witnesses and docu-
mentation. I'll go back to the example Mr. Weiler brought up. If re-
finers in a region adopt a particular practice, you really need the
powers to find that out.

Today, it doesn't make any sense to have a regulator that doesn't
legally have the power to compel information or evidence, so it can
understand what's going on and bring it to the attention of the gov-
ernment and Parliament. I think this is a step in the right direction.
It definitely can't hurt. I believe these provisions are going to make
a difference.

It's unrealistic to think that some big companies can be counted
on to co-operate voluntarily. Doing the work that needs to be done
requires judicial powers.



58 FINA-121

November 20, 2023

[English]

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: One of the other things that Canadians
found kind of shocking in the Rogers-Shaw process was that, at the
end of it all, the companies were awarded costs by the court, and
the Competition Bureau had to pay that out.

Is changing that, when the Competition Bureau is acting in the
interests of Canadians, something that your government is open to
doing?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: As I said, we're always
open. Bill C-56 is doing a number of important things, but I think
you will see in the fall economic statement.... It was kind of a three
act type of thing. First, we started in budget 2022 with a number of
things, because we saw low hanging fruit that would help competi-
tion. Second, Bill C-56 was really targeted at specific measures that
we could pass quickly to help in the grocery sector. The third act
was what we put in the fall economic statement, which was another
set of reforms.

I would certainly be open, and I know the NDP has been looking
at this issue in particular. The committee should do a bit of study
around that. I know that different jurisdictions are dealing different-
ly with that particular issue. We want to make sure we're in line
with international best practices.

If your question is, should we have an open mind on that? I'd say
yes, and I would invite committee members to look at that particu-
lar piece of legislation. Maybe there's some expert testimony that
could be brought to the committee that could inform what Canada
should do in order to address the issue you mentioned.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Certainly, some of our thinking is that it
doesn't make sense to have the burden of proof on the Competition
Bureau to prove that a merger is anti-competitive. To your point
about industry players having a better sense of how things work
and having access to data that would help make that assessment, it
makes more sense to require industry players to prove that a merger
is not anti-competitive.

I would welcome your feedback on the question of that onus and
whether it really properly lies with the Competition Bureau, which,
as you said, historically hasn't had access to all the information it
would need to make that determination. Instead, put the onus on the
people who have the information to prove that their merger won't
have negative impacts for Canadian consumers.

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: I think Bill C-56 is send-
ing a very clear signal that we take competition seriously in this
country. It's going to be a game-changer in the relations between
the Competition Bureau and the market players, because today—
imagine—you have the Competition Bureau, which, if it wants to
understand the dynamic of a market, has to rely on the goodwill of
the participants in order to understand. I would say that probably
you have some that are very forthcoming, but we've seen, for exam-
ple, when we did the last analysis on the grocery sector, that some
others were much less willing to share.

In terms of the market dynamic, it's going to change the balance
of power, if you see what I mean. Market participants will now
know and say, “Hey, if I'm not willing, they can subpoena and get

the information.” Therefore, I think we're strengthening the Com-
petition Bureau and the enforcement tools.

The NDP was also with us with respect to penalties, making sure
the efficiencies defence is gone or will be gone, and making sure
that we look at vertical agreements. Those are all signals that, if
you're sitting there as a market participant who engages in anti-
competitive behaviour, you would look at that and say, “Okay, now
the tide is changing.”

We're going to be in a world where competition is going to be a
cornerstone of the Canadian economy. We're a mature economy.
We should be able to allow pro-competitive mergers to go forward,
but certainly not those that harm consumers, as we have seen.

Ultimately, we need less consolidation and more competition in
this country. This is really sending a very clear signal to industry
that we're going to get serious about competition.

The Chair: Thank you, Minister and MP Blaikie.

We're now moving into our second round. As we have done as a
committee, we do share this time among all parties when there's not
enough time for a full round. We've done this in an amicable way,
and I hope we'll continue. Each party will get five minutes.

We are starting with MP Perkins for five minutes.

Mr. Rick Perkins (South Shore—St. Margarets, CPC): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Minister, I assume you read the Stellantis contract.

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: Mr. Perkins, I'm happy
because you seem to be at every committee at which I appear. I'm
so lucky to have you. Somehow I feel that you're following me,
whether you like me or not.

Certainly, I'm very familiar with the Stellantis contract, yes.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Did you sign it?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: Certainly, I was part of
the approval and formal signature of it. You will see that, because
as you know, Mr. Perkins, the contract will be made available, in
camera, at the INDU committee, and I think you're going to be part
of that committee.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Can you tell me what the clause in the con-
tract says about hiring Canadian workers only?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: As you would think, our
job—it's not just my job—is to maximize opportunities for Canadi-
ans. I'll think you'll be pleased to read in the contract the number of
sections and provisions that maximize benefits for Canadians.

Mr. Rick Perkins: It differs then from the Volkswagen contract,
which, I can tell people, doesn't have a clause that requires Canadi-
an employees.
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Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: Respectfully—I have
very deep respect for you, sir—the Volkswagen contract maximizes
opportunities for Canadians on all sides to make sure that—

Mr. Rick Perkins: You won't confirm that it actually has a
clause that requires Canadians to be hired.

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: Sir, as [ said many times,
you'll have the opportunity to read it for yourself. You don't need to
take it from me. You'll have the contract in front of you.

Mr. Rick Perkins: I have read the Volkswagen contract, so I am
familiar. Apparently, this mirrors the Volkswagen contract.

I would like to ask you why the government and the company
seem so confused as to what's going on with the—

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

This is simply a point of order on relevance. As Conservative
members reminded us earlier, we are on Bill C-56. I believe the
member opposite is asking about an entirely unrelated issue.

The Chair: We are on Bill C-56.

MP Perkins, I stopped the time. The floor is yours.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

This goes to the whole issue of accountability and innovation.
The minister mentioned innovation and competition. It's hard to
have competition if you're bringing in a great majority of the work-
ers from outside of the country for this, as has been reported by the
South Korean ambassador in discussions in Windsor.

Therefore, I'd like to understand. The company has said 1,600
are coming in, and it's said 900 are coming in. Which is it?

You had a minister who said that there's only one. You said
there's only a few. The company apparently has a very different
view than the government has of how many foreign workers they're
allowed to bring in.

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: Mr. Perkins, I would say,
with respect, that you seem to be the only one who is confused
about that.

I spoke to the leader of Unifor, the Building Trades Unions and
the CEO of Stellantis. Everyone understands clearly that, when you
have a new plant coming, you need to have transfer of knowledge,
technology and expertise. It's true in the United States, and it's true
in Europe.

Actually, we had Canadian workers training Americans and
Americans who trained Canadians when we had Ford or GM com-
ing into our country. For anyone who understands these big invest-
ments, that is historic and—

Mr. Rick Perkins: I understand that, Minister, but at the launch
of this contract—

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: Stellantis is invest-

ing $3.4 billion in building the plant, so I would say—
Mr. Rick Perkins: Minister, I have limited time.
The Chair: Minister and MP Perkins. I'll stop the time.

All I'm asking for is no crosstalk. It does interfere heavily with
the interpreters. We talked about their health and safety.

Please, members and Minister, let's have no crosstalk.

We're back on.

Mr. Rick Perkins: The company has put out three different fig-
ures in the last week. Your government has put out three different
figures in the last week, none of which compare to what the compa-
ny is saying publicly.

Now the company that's involved in Northvolt in Quebec is say-
ing that it's bringing in temporary foreign workers—or foreign
workers, I should say. They're not temporary. They're foreign re-
placement workers. We're getting a different story.

Can you tell me, if it isn't confused, why you need to ask for a
meeting with the company to clarify for how many jobs they're
bringing in workers from South Korea rather than filling with
Canadians?

If it's clear in the contract, you shouldn't need to do that.

Hon. Frangois-Philippe Champagne: Like I said, sir, no one is
confused. I can tell you that Unifor is not confused, nor is the
Building Trades Unions. I'm not confused. The CEO of the compa-
ny is not confused. You and your leader have tried to confuse Cana-
dians.

You asked me a question, so [ will answer.
Mr. Rick Perkins: I did, but—

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: You are confusing Cana-
dians. You failed to say that the company is investing $3.4 billion
of their money to build one of the largest plants in Canada.

Mr. Rick Perkins: That's not the issue. I didn't say how much—

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: You failed to say, sir, that
the company has stated that there will be 2,500 workers at the plant.
You failed to state to Canadians that there will be up to 2,300 peo-
ple building that plant, sir.

Mr. Rick Perkins: I agree that there will be 2,500 workers at the
plant—

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: You should not confuse
Canadians when you have an investment of that magnitude.

Mr. Rick Perkins: If that's true—

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: You have talked down
the investment with Stellantis.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Minister, I have limited time—

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: You have talked down
the one with Volkswagen, and you're talking down on Northvolt.
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You should be proud, sir, about what we have done in this coun-
try.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Minister, your own Government of Canada
website lists jobs from Stellantis. They mention candidates with or
without a valid Canadian work permit. That's for Stellantis and it's
on the Government of Canada website.

I think it's the government that's confused when it's advertising
jobs for foreign workers on its own website for this, and it can't
seem to get its story straight.

The Chair: That is the time.

I'm going to ask that we stop with the crosstalk because it does
affect the interpreters.

We are going to MP Thompson, please.

Ms. Joanne Thompson (St. John's East, Lib.): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

I'll share my time with my colleague MP Dzerowicz.

I'll begin with you, Minister. Thank you for coming to speak
about the Competition Act. It's very important.

Would you speak to the ways in which government plans to in-
troduce the additional measures that were outlined in the fall eco-
nomic statement?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: Yes. Thank you, dear
colleague, for asking that question.

On the point about the Competition Act, it was really like a
three-part act. As you said, in budget 2022 we did a number of
things at the time. There was an issue about penalties and wage-fix-
ing, for example. I called that a down payment on competition. We
knew at the time that there was much more to be done. That's why
we've had this consultation work that has lasted for about two
years. I think members on both sides would agree that competition
is key in our country. If nothing has been done in 37 years and
you're going to do something, you need to do it quickly but certain-
ly you need to do it right. That's why we have consulted widely.

What we are presenting in Bill C-56 are these three measures—
subpoena power, an end to the efficiencies defence, and looking at
vertical agreements—but you also saw in the fall economic state-
ment a reflection of what we heard. In the “what we heard” report,
there are a number of things that people have said we need to look
at. You're talking about predatory pricing, about what they call
“killer acquisitions”, about greenwashing and a number of other
things.

Take greenwashing as an example. We're going to have a regime
where if you're making a statement that what you're doing is im-
proving the environment, or you're linking that to your record on
the environment, you'll have a framework around that. I think with
these provisions we're also allowing more private parties to raise
actions. This is really going to complement things.

I think we'll be the government, Ms. Thompson, that will have
done for this country, with both the Competition Act and the Invest-
ment Canada Act, the biggest reform we've seen in decades for the
country to really be able to protect itself. We want foreign invest-

ment, but we also want more tools in the tool box to protect our na-
tional and economic security. On Bill C-56 and what you find in the
fall economic statement, if you take these three acts together, you'll
have the broadest reform of competition in the country.

The reason we want to do that is to bring us into the best in class
in the G7. I'm always looking at what we're doing and how it would
compare with the G7 countries. I think these reforms are much
needed to really modernize our framework and for market partici-
pants to take us seriously when it comes to competition. The sub-
poena power comes to me as one very simple example that people
look at and say, “Wow, imagine. To think that in Canada you have
to engage with the competition commissioner, but he doesn't really
have any power.” That doesn't make sense. We need to put a stop to
that as quickly as possible.

The work of this committee and Bill C-56 will help with that.

Ms. Joanne Thompson: Thank you.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: How much time do I have?

The Chair: You have about two minutes.
[Translation]

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Thank you for being here today, Minister.

You said the changes in Bill C-56 would ensure greater trans-
parency.

Would you mind explaining how?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: First off, thank you for
asking your question in French. I am delighted to be able to speak
with committee members in French.

The first amendment proposed in Bill C-56 pertains to market
studies, which will provide more transparency and help the Compe-
tition Bureau better understand the market dynamics.

The bureau's study on the retail grocery industry across the coun-
try is the most recent example of how that change comes into play.
The study revealed a number of deficiencies, and that is why your
fellow members on the Standing Committee on Agriculture and
Agri-Food recommended that the Competition Bureau be given en-
hanced powers.

One of the problems your fellow members flagged was how dif-
ficult it was to understand the market dynamics without all the in-
formation. That is a deficiency today. We have a regulator that
doesn't have all the tools it needs to compel information and evi-
dence, so it can understand the dynamics of the market. To under-
stand anticompetitive practices, you first have to understand the dy-
namics of the market.
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I'll give you an example. When I spoke with executives at U.S.
grocers who were interested in entering the Canadian market, [
learned that one of the barriers they faced was vertical collaboration
between suppliers and customers in the form of agreements. As |
was telling Mr. Ste-Marie, something that happens a lot in mall set-
tings, especially in rural and remote areas, is that the mall has only
one major grocery store. Leases contain non-compete clauses that
prevent competitors from opening within several kilometres of the
area.

If a wholesale-style retailer decides to leave the mall, which does
happen, it creates a food desert. In other words, you end up with no
grocery store within several kilometres, because the non-compete
clauses have deterred new players from entering the market over
the years.

When we met with independent grocers across the country—
[English]

The Chair: Please wrap up, if you can, Minister, because we're
at the time.

[Translation]

Hon. Frangois-Philippe Champagne: When we met with them,
they said it was one of the biggest changes they needed to ensure
increased competition across the country.

The Chair: Thank you, Minister.
Thank you, Ms. Dzerowicz.
[English)
Now we'll go to MP Ste-Marie, please, for five minutes.

[Translation]
Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I also want to let Ms. Dzerowicz know that her French is excel-
lent. I commend her, and I want to say thank you.

Minister, if I understand correctly, you said that, if Parliament
passes Bill C-56 with the proposed amendments in Government
Business motion number 30, the Competition Bureau will have
powers when it conducts a study on competition. The powers don't
apply for the purposes of legal proceedings. They apply to the study
of a sector or market. The bureau will be able to compel witnesses
as well as evidence.

Is that what you are saying?

Hon. Frangois-Philippe Champagne: I think you've fully un-
derstood what is being proposed.

That's why I'm saying that what we are doing here, today, and
what you are doing with your fellow members, Mr. Ste-Marie, mat-
ters. We are really moving into a whole new world. We are moving
away from voluntary co-operation and towards judicial powers to
compel information, documents or testimony, to fully understand
the market dynamics.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Very well. It has to do with market
studies, then.

That wasn't clear to me when I read Bill C-56. Obviously, we
don't have the text of the amendments flowing from Government
Business motion number 30 yet, so we are eager to see them.

You said that a number of the amendments stemming from Gov-
ernment Business motion number 30 came from a bill introduced
by NDP leader Jagmeet Singh. I'm thinking of the amendment to
increase fines and really make them punitive instead of just being
the cost of doing business. The fine would go from $5 million
to $25 million. There is more to it than that, but the fine would be
at least $25 million.

As it currently stands, Bill C-56 still fails to address something,
as far as I'm concerned. There is nothing stopping a company from
profiting from the lack of competitors by overcharging consumers.
For example, if a grocery store has a monopoly in a particular area,
the bill wouldn't stop it from taking advantage of its monopoly to
gouge customers by overcharging for products.

The bill sponsored by Jagmeet Singh, Bill C-352, deals with that
aspect. It adds the practice of directly or indirectly imposing exces-
sive and unfair selling prices.

Why didn't you include that provision in the possible amend-
ments covered by Government Business motion number 30?

Does the government agree with that amendment?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: 1 would first like to thank
you, Mr. Ste-Marie. You are always well informed when you ana-
lyze bills. I have known you a long time. I sat with you when I was
parliamentary secretary to the minister of finance at that time.

I think the bill proposed by Mr. Singh talked about tackling the
effects: price increases, or what you called price gouging.

What we want to do is tackle the cause: the lack of competition,
which leads to these price increases. History shows that regulating
prices is a complex undertaking. As you have seen, some countries
have tried to do this. You talked about price gouging, which is the
effect, when the cause is a lack of competition.

I think that all of the measures set out in Bill C-56, the fall eco-
nomic update and budget 2022 are the best way of tackling the
causes. We decided to focus on doing that, because that is really
what we need to tackle.

With that said, we have incorporated a number of the suggestions
in the bill introduced by Mr. Singh. For example, the penalties to
which you referred will be reformed. There is also the legal criteri-
on. It talks about intent and effect. That was taken from Mr. Singh's
bill.
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We are listening. I think we have demonstrated our goodwill and
our desire to move forward. Bill C-56 is a step in the right direc-
tion. As you say, Government Business No. 30 allows you, as a
committee, to look at these various aspects. There will then be the
fall economic statement.

I think that when we have finished working on the three core ar-
eas, the Competition Act will bring us into the modern economy.
We will have the tools we need to ensure more competition, better
prices, and certainly more innovation in the Canadian market.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Your answer is clear. Thank you.

With respect, however, I think there will still be sectors in some
economic regions where there will be monopolies. Competition is
allowed to develop there, but there are times when it is not viable.
In my opinion, there is still a blind spot in this regard.

Regarding the amendments proposed in Government Business
No. 30, I do not understand the third one, which is a procedural
amendment and gives the court the power to prevent an anti-com-
petitive practice. As I understand it, the existing act already pro-
hibits this kind of practice.

Will there be something else? Given that we do not have the
amendments in front of us, I am forced to indulge in a bit of specu-
lation.

Is that not simply a repetition, in the third amendment suggested
by Government Business No. 30?

[English]
The Chair: Minister, give a very short answer, please.
[Translation]

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: In the current act, you
have "intent and effect". In the proposals that might be considered,
what we have is instead "intent or effect".

The key is the "and" which is being converted to "or". I think
that is the key.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you.

The Chair: Very good, thank you.
[English]

Thank you, Minister.

It's now over to MP Blaikie, who will be the final questioner. It's
MP Blaikie for Minister Champagne.

[Translation]
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

You say that the government wants to tackle the causes or the ef-
fects. However, there are special situations. I will give you an ex-
ample. In remote regions such as Nunavut or elsewhere in the
north, or even in certain rural regions, no competition is possible
simply because it is not profitable. The prohibition on anti-competi-
tive practices does not make a lot of sense for the communities liv-
ing there.

So it is not logical to impose rules to eliminate the possibility of
using a monopoly position to raise prices unreasonably.

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: I will start by thanking
you for making your comment in French.

You make a good point. During a meeting of the Standing Com-
mittee on Finance, the Standing Committee on Agriculture and
Agri-food, or the Standing Committee on Industry and Technolo-
gy—I am not certain which committee it was, I heard several things
on this subject.

Representatives of the Canadian Federation of Independent Gro-
cers, which represents about 6,900 members across Canada, said
that one of the most complex problems concerns grocers in remote
regions or in rural regions. They gave examples in northern
Saskatchewan, if I recall correctly, and northern Alberta, or even
indigenous communities living in the north. The dynamic in those
places is even more complex.

1 would say that given the powers that would be granted by
Bill C-56, we should consider undertaking a study on this subject.

What is concerning is that the big food product manufacturers
are sometimes less inclined to sell to independent grocers. A short-
age, such as we experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic, then
causes problems. I was told that there were products available in
big chains in a city located in a remote region while the indepen-
dent grocer carrying on business in the same city did not have ac-
cess to them.

The fact that food product manufacturers gave priority to the big
chains over independent grocers should be the subject of a study by
a committee. I am not persuaded that the motion that has been
made, or Bill C-352 sponsored by Mr. Singh, would necessarily
have the desired effect. I think the cause has to be tackled.

The cause may have been connected with the contracts that
favour the big chains at the expense of independent grocers. There
may be a study to be done to get a better understanding of the mar-
ket dynamic.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Would the changes made by Bill C-56 mean
that you, as minister, would be able to initiate an investigation or
ask the Competition Bureau to do so?

Would you be prepared to initiate that kind of study once you
have the powers proposed in Bill C-56?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: That is a very good ques-
tion.

In the last study done by the Competition Bureau we saw that
there were missing pieces. The Competition Bureau does not have
the necessary powers. I want to congratulate its representatives on
the work they have done in spite of those flaws.
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Mr. Blaikie, you can be sure want to know more about this. I
want to do more and get to the bottom of things. That is why
Bill C-56 is so important to me. With the powers it provides, I think
we will be able to do more to get to the bottom of things in relation
to what the report we received today says. Ultimately, we did not
have the investigative power that would have enabled us to move
forward.

So I do really want to go further.
[English]

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Could I say, walking out of here, that the
minister committed to using his powers to look into the question?

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: You can say that the min-
ister will judiciously use the new powers given under Bill C-56 and
work with committee members any day of the week.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: That's not quite a yes. I'd love to hear a yes
or a oui.

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: However, I'm very com-
mitted.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Very well.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Blaikie.

I thank you too, Minister, for coming and talking to us about
Bill C-56.
[English]

You packed a lot into this hour. We got a lot of questions out.

Thank you for your testimony on this study. We appreciate it.

Hon. Francois-Philippe Champagne: Thank you, Mr. Chair,
for your chairmanship. I must say that, in my nine years as a mem-
ber of Parliament and many years as a minister, the way you con-
duct hearings is probably the most conducive to allowing a fair dis-
cussion between ministers and members.

The Chair: Thank you.

We're suspended for a transition right now, members.

¢ (1500 (Pause)

® (1805)
The Chair: I call this meeting back to order.

Pursuant to the order of reference of Thursday, November 23,
2023, the committee is resuming its study of Bill C-56, an act to
amend the Excise Tax Act and the Competition Act.

I would now like to welcome our witnesses.

From the Department of Finance, we have Pierre Mercille, direc-
tor general for sales tax legislation, tax policy branch; and Amanda
Riddell, director of real property and financial institutions, tax poli-
cy branch.

From the Department of Industry, we have Mark Schaan, senior
assistant deputy minister for the strategy and innovation policy sec-

tor, who was with the minister also; Samir Chhabra, director gener-
al of the marketplace framework policy branch; and Martin Simard,
senior director in the strategy and innovation policy sector.

Welcome to all of you.

They have all joined us and there are no opening statements or
remarks. We are going to go right into members' questions. In this
first round, as the officials would know, it's six minutes per party.

We are starting with MP Morantz for the first six minutes.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.
Thank you to our witnesses for being here.

Today we're talking about the affordable housing and groceries
act. I just want to frame this a bit from the perspective of the aver-
age Canadian who has eagerly tuned in to watch this meeting
tonight and to hear us talk about this act.

Maybe I will start with you, Ms. Riddell.

Do you think it would be true to say that when they hear the
name of the act, they would assume that, if it is passed, it will make
housing more affordable and groceries more affordable? Would that
be a reasonable assumption?

Ms. Amanda Riddell (Director, Real Property and Financial
Institutions, Sales Tax Division, Tax Policy Branch, Department
of Finance): I'm sorry, but can you repeat your question?

Mr. Marty Morantz: Would it be fair to say, from the perspec-
tive of Canadians who are tuned in, that once the affordable hous-
ing and groceries act passes, they could expect housing and gro-
ceries to be more affordable?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: In my case, the measure in here to speak
about is the purpose-built rental rebate.

Mr. Marty Morantz: I'm sorry. Just on my question, though....
When average Canadians hear the name of the act, the affordable
housing and groceries act, would it be safe for them to assume that,
if it were passed, housing and groceries would be more affordable
from their perspective?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: 1T don't know what their perspective
would be.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Okay.

Ms. Amanda Riddell: I'm familiar with the measure that I'm
here to speak about.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Perhaps I'll just move on, then.

Would the enhanced rebate apply to someone who purchases an
individually owned condominium unit?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: No, it wouldn't.
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Mr. Marty Morantz: Would it apply to someone who purchases
single-unit housing?
Ms. Amanda Riddell: No, it wouldn't.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Would it apply to somebody who purchas-
es a duplex?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: No.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Would it apply to somebody who purchas-
es a triplex?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: No.

Mr. Marty Morantz: What about somebody who wants to buy a
trailer in a trailer park?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: No.

Mr. Marty Morantz: So, it only applies to purpose-built rentals
that are in excess of four units.

Ms. Amanda Riddell: That's right.

Mr. Marty Morantz: If a Canadian wants to buy a unit in a
trailer park, why doesn't that Canadian get the enhanced rebate?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: If you're buying something in a trailer
park, it's tantamount to owner-occupied housing, and this rebate is
intended to help purpose-built rentals, not owned units.

Mr. Marty Morantz: What if they want to rent out the trailer?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: If it's in a purpose-built rental format
where there are four-plus units together in one building—

Mr. Marty Morantz: No, it's a single unit that they want to rent
out. Would they get the rebate?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: No.

Mr. Marty Morantz: What about a young family that just wants
to realize the dream of home ownership? Do they get the enhanced
rebate?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: No, they don't.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Let me ask you this question: Once the act
is passed, how soon after it's passed will grocery prices actually go
down?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: I can't speak to the grocery prices.

Mr. Marty Morantz: What about housing prices?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: They wouldn't go down immediately, no.
Mr. Marty Morantz: How long?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: The purpose-built rental rebate is intend-
ed to encourage new supply, and new supply takes a while to come
onto the market.

Mr. Marty Morantz: How much new supply have you calculat-
ed will be created by this legislative change?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: We haven't identified the number of units
specifically. That's a very difficult number to come up with because
it's based on a lot of assumptions.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Then you don't know if it would be one or
100,000.

Ms. Amanda Riddell: We can't give you an estimate or a specif-
ic number.

Mr. Marty Morantz: There's no analysis.

Ms. Amanda Riddell: No.

In general, the rebate is intended to make a meaningful impact on
the cost of constructing purpose-built rentals, which, of course,
should translate into an impact on the supply. However, because
there are so many market forces at play, it's very difficult to come
up with a specific estimate on the number of units that it would cre-
ate.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Then you can't tell us how many units will
be built or how quickly home prices might go down by virtue of the
passage of this affordable homes act. Is that correct?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: That's correct. This measure is—

Mr. Marty Morantz: Okay.
Let me just move on to the issue of groceries.

There's a piece that I read, and I found it very interesting. Are
any of you familiar with Michael Osborne? He's the chair of Cozen
O'Connor's Canadian competition law practice.

Mr. Mark Schaan (Senior Assistant Deputy Minister, Strate-
gy and Innovation Policy Sector, Department of Industry): Yes,
we know the competition law practice.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Do you know who Michael Osborne is?
Mr. Mark Schaan: Probably.

Mr. Marty Morantz: He wrote, “The federal government has
introduced a bill, C-56, containing amendments to the Competition
Act that the government claims will make groceries affordable
again. Some of the amendments are good, more are bad, but most
are useless.”

Would you agree with that assessment?

Mr. Mark Schaan: I would contend that the Bill C-56 changes
to the Competition Act will fundamentally and importantly shift the
overall playing field in favour of greater competition, including in
the grocery sector.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Will grocery prices come down right away
after the act is passed?

Mr. Mark Schaan: Competition Act reforms are an important
foundational element that contributes to the overall move towards
the stabilization of prices in the grocery sector.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Okay.

He went on to say that “the amendments in Bill C-56 are mostly
useless because competition law, which seeks to prevent monopo-
lies and cartels, is not designed to solve macroeconomic problems
like inflation.”

How long will this act take to actually bring down the price of
groceries? It is called the “affordable housing and groceries act”.
Will it take a week? Will it take six months? Will it take six years?
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Mr. Mark Schaan: I think it's important to understand the role
framework law plays in setting the overall context of the economy.
Some of these—

Mr. Marty Morantz: How long, roughly?

Mr. Mark Schaan: Mr. Chair, can I finish the answer?
The Chair: Yes.

Mr. Mark Schaan: Thank you.

Some of these provisions are quite substantive, in the sense of....
When we look at vertical collaborations, for instance, that has the
capacity to impact markets immediately after its coming into force.
It will prevent the capacity of grocers to potentially do agreements
with their landlords that currently freeze out competitors in the
marketplace. That is an important driver on overall prices and on
choice available to consumers.

I don't think it would be fair to contend that these changes will
not have an important impact, including immediately after the pas-
sage of the bill.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Schaan and MP Morantz.

Go ahead, MP Baker.
Mr. Yvan Baker: Thanks very much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, all, for coming to the committee, speaking with us
today and answering our questions.

At the finance committee, we've been hearing from folks. We've
been performing a study on the rising cost of living in general.
We've heard from a lot of folks who talked about the housing mar-
ket and what's driving the increased cost of housing—from my con-
stituents and, frankly, constituents across the country. The primary
reason they've said it's happening is that there is a lack of housing

supply.

I guess my question is, how do you see this bill we're studying
today, Bill C-56, increasing housing supply throughout the housing
spectrum?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: This rebate is intended to remove the
GST from purpose-built rental housing. It's a specific type of hous-
ing. I know MP Lawrence was talking about.... It's not singles and
it's not owner-built. This is not what the measure was designed to
do. It was designed for and aimed at purpose-built rental housing to
ensure that this type of housing gets on the market. It was designed
in such a way that it would lower the price for builders producing
this type of purpose-built rental housing, because we heard that a
lot of these projects just don't “pencil out”. That is the expression
they use. In a higher interest rate environment, especially, in order
to ensure they can pencil out a lot of these projects....

The rebate will help them take on projects that might not have
moved forward and allow them to move forward. It will help sup-
ply in the sense that you've lowered the cost for builders. It will al-
low projects to be profitable. It will allow a lot of projects to go for-
ward. You would assume that if there's more supply in the market,
this would, in turn, reduce prices.

Mr. Yvan Baker: Let me repeat back what I think I heard.

We have a lack of supply in housing. That's the main reason
prices are so high across the country. To address this, we need to
build a lot more housing very quickly. One of the ways we can do
that is by making housing developments that previously weren't
profitable for the developers, builders, etc. become profitable. The
GST removal on purpose-built rentals is designed to make the con-
struction of purpose-built rentals a bit more profitable. This means
that a whole bunch of projects that previously weren't profitable
and never would have happened are now going to happen.

Is that a good summary?
Ms. Amanda Riddell: That is a good summary. Thank you.

Mr. Yvan Baker: Okay. Thank you.

One thing I've heard and read is that, even though the GST rebate
we're talking about is focused on purpose-built rentals, as you just
indicated, there's a chain. If you create more purpose-built rentals,
there's a series of moves that happen throughout the housing mar-
ket. Folks who weren't in purpose-built rentals move into the new
purpose-built rentals, and this creates openings in other parts of the
market.

Is that correct? If so, what does that do for affordability in those
other segments of the housing market?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: This rebate is designed to apply to pur-
pose-built rentals at all values. One of the advantages of this is that
it creates units across the full spectrum. There are a lot of people
who don't move out of their houses, for example, and into purpose-
built rentals because there just isn't the type of unit they might
need—for example, families needing larger units, or people who
are currently overhoused but have no apartments to move into. The
idea behind the rebate is to create a wide spectrum of purpose-built
rentals that will help meet the needs of a wide variety of people
looking for housing.

As you were saying, this opens it up. If people move out of their
houses and into apartments, the houses become free. Therefore, the
overall supply should loosen and become more plentiful.

Mr. Yvan Baker: From the perspective of my constituents in
Etobicoke Centre, if there are more purpose-built rentals, the units
that become vacant—because folks have moved into those new
purpose-built rentals—become available to people, perhaps at a
lower price than they would have been otherwise.

Ms. Amanda Riddell: Perhaps. I can't speak about the price, but
yes, they would.

Mr. Yvan Baker: Absolutely.

All other things being equal, more supply equals a lower price.
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Ms. Amanda Riddell: Exactly.
Mr. Yvan Baker: I appreciate that. Thank you.

How much time do I have, Chair?
The Chair: You have a minute and a half.

Mr. Yvan Baker: When [ speak to my constituents in Etobicoke
Centre, | hear primarily about two issues: about the cost of housing
or renting a home and about the cost of life, particularly groceries. I
want to switch to the issue of groceries, if I can.

To my mind, the big three grocers—I'm talking about Loblaw,
Sobeys and Metro, the big players in the grocery market—sort of
squeeze out the opportunity for other players to enter the Canadian
market. That means less competition. Less competition, generally
speaking, results in higher prices, or higher prices than we would
have if we had more competition.

How does the bill that we're studying now lead to less concentra-
tion in the grocery sector and therefore lower prices for my con-
stituents?

Mr. Mark Schaan: Thank you, Mr. Chair, for the question.

I think this bill attacks a number of really important aspects relat-
ed to affordability and competition in the grocery sector. There's
obviously a lot of general application, so it will apply in all sectors,
but these measures were included, in part, because of their particu-
lar salience for the grocery sector.

One is that it makes transparent information and recommenda-
tions about the nature of the market so as to help understand its dy-
namism and potentially make recommendations about its overall
structure. By allowing market study powers to actually extend to
the full information of corporations, it allows for that kind of trans-
parency to potentially raise issues and bring to light particular as-
pects of the marketplace. I think that helps other competitors, but it
also helps governments and other regulators that have been helped
by market studies in the past.

Second, removing the efficiencies defence would essentially not
allow for any further mergers that are premised on the notion that
there are going to be future benefits for Canadians that potentially
are okay, because they are essentially wiped out by the significant
lessening of competition that would occur for Canadians. Obvious-
ly, that's only on a prospective basis for new mergers. However, |
think it sets the tone in terms of the overall context for how consoli-
dation would potentially look on a go-forward basis.

That also needs to be complemented by what's in the fall eco-
nomic statement, which I'm not here to talk about today, but obvi-
ously it makes some additional changes on—

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Schaan. We're well over time.
Thank you, MP Baker.

Now we'll go to MP Garon, please.

Welcome to our committee.

[Translation]

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon (Mirabel, BQ): Thank you for that wel-
come, Mr. Chair.

Hello, ladies and gentlemen.

It seems that it is impossible at present to build housing for the
poorest people, for the people who spend a large portion of their in-
come on housing.

In the documents prepared by the analysts for the meeting today,
we see that at present, without eliminating the goods and services
tax, the GST, it is not possible to build rental housing, even at mar-
ket price, in Canadian cities. We know that this price is very high.

What I understand is that the GST-related measure would make
certain construction projects involving housing that would rent at
market price, which is extremely high, marginally profitable. We
are talking about $2,000 to $2,500 or even $2,700 per month in my
riding. I would therefore like you to confirm that there will be no
affordable housing in these projects, which will instead be for mar-
ket price units.

Out of the new units that will be built as a result of eliminating
the GST, there will be no affordable units.

Is that correct?

Mr. Pierre Mercille (Director General, Sales Tax Legislation,
Sales Tax Division, Tax Policy Branch, Department of Finance):
There is no affordability criterion in the bill.

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: There will be no affordability criterion.
Thank you for your candour.

Groups like Option consommateurs have submitted briefs. They
say that we should drop the GST-related measure and improve the
national housing strategy to help poor people find housing.

Has the department evaluated that option?

Mr. Pierre Mercille: Those are tax policy questions and we are
here to talk about Bill C-56.

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: | agree that that is not your job.

Have you obtained an estimate of the number of units that will be
built in Quebec, for example as a result of this GST-related mea-
sure, during the life of the policy?

Mr. Pierre Mercille: I have not, but I am more involved in the
legislative aspect. The question was put to the Minister earlier to-
day, and she quoted the study by a professor, but I have not seen the
study in question.

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: So the department has not done any
studies on this subject.
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This GST-related measure is supposed to be the cornerstone of a
new housing policy in the government's economic statement. We
know there will be no affordable units; that is what the documents
say. As well, we do not know how many new units will be con-
structed.

In my riding, there are numerous regions where no 20-unit build-
ings, or five- or six-unit buildings, will be constructed in order to
increase density in the suburbs. If we want a denser population,
particularly around transportation corridors, whether by train or
otherwise, duplexes and triplexes will have to be built.

Buildings like that, which would be constructed quickly, are gen-
erally built by small landlords. Rent increases would then be lower
than what is usually sought by big landlords. And yet they are not
eligible for the program.

Have I understood the situation correctly?

Mr. Pierre Mercille: The eligibility criteria will be determined
by regulation.

The Department of Finance released a backgrounder on Septem-
ber 14, and according to the tax policy decision that has been made,
there will have to be at least four private units.

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: It is important to clarify that, particular-
ly for my constituents. It affects people's lives.

If someone wants to build a triplex near a transportation corridor,
for example, near the Saint-Janvier station in Mirabel, there will be
no GST rebate.

Is that correct?

Mr. Pierre Mercille: This new rebate would not apply in that
case, according to the backgrounder released by the Department of
Finance.

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: Right. I understand.

According to the documents we have received and what the min-
isters have said in the House, which is also a useful source of infor-
mation for us, it is very important that Ottawa collaborate better
with Quebec when it comes to building housing.

The economic statement says that there will be a 5% rebate on
the GST, but the Department of Finance strongly urges the
provinces to propose a similar measure for their own taxes. This
amounts to interference in matters that are under the provinces' ju-
risdiction in relation to indirect taxes.

Was Quebec consulted before the economic statement was re-
vealed, to find out whether it wanted to collaborate?

Mr. Pierre Mercille: Yes, because the measure was announced
on September 14, and the statement was released last week.

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: Right.

To your knowledge, has the Government of Quebec announced
that it was going to follow the federal government's measure and
that it was consistent with its own housing policy?

Mr. Pierre Mercille: 1 do not have that information, but the
provincial governments will decide whether they want to give these
rebates.

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: Right.

So collaboration consists of announcing a policy and hoping that
the provinces will feel obliged to follow the federal government's
measure.

My next question is about the Competition Act.

My colleague Mr. Ste-Marie asked a topical question earlier. The
Minister's hypothesis is correct in many markets: if there is more
competition, the people who raise their prices too much will leave
the market. That is the competition effect.

However, in a place like Louvicourt, in Abitibi-Témiscamingue,
in Lebel-sur-Quévillon, or on the highways in the Gaspé, there is
sometimes only one service station, so there is a natural monopoly.
If there are two competitors, both of them will go bankrupt, be-
cause there are fixed costs for operating a business.

In those situations, we have a business that exercises monopoly
power naturally and will have the opportunity, under the scheme
you are proposing, to raise its prices. The bill proposed by
Mr. Singh sought precisely to limit price increases in this type of
situation.

Why was it decided to do nothing for people outside urban areas
who live in these situations?

Mr. Mark Schaan: It is important to consider the Competition
Act as a whole. It includes measures for intervening in situations
where there is insufficient competition. It regulates the practices
and behaviours of actors in the economy. In places where there is
only one service station, or where there is a true monopoly, as you
said, it is important to increase competition in the market.

The Competition Act cannot restore competition, but it makes it
possible to combat the behaviours and practices that throw up barri-
ers to competition, such as abuse of dominance, the use of practices
intended to exercise control, attacking competitors, or any other be-
haviour that has a negative effect on the market. It is important to
understand that.

That Act contains a set of measures for intervening in those situ-
ations, but that is not the only thing that promotes competition in
the market.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you, MP Garon.

Now we'll go to MP Blaikie, please.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you.
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I just want to follow up on that question, because I think the
question had a lot to do with saying that we need a Competition Act
that—and I think this is what Mr. Singh is trying to accomplish in
his own private member's bill—recognizes that consumer protec-
tion isn't completely satisfied by having good competition law, but
that there are times when, given the location of a business, there's
just not going to be competition. You're not going to be able to get
the fixed costs of running a gas station or a grocery store in north-
ern communities down to the point where you have two businesses
competing, because between them they can't make enough money
in that community in order to run two profitable businesses. That's
why Mr. Singh is trying to include in our Competition Act the idea
that where you don't have competition, you can't abuse that market
position in order to price-gouge.

With that context, I would just put the question again: Why is it
that the government doesn't seem to want to move ahead with pro-
viding some important consumer protection in areas where compe-
tition is not possible? You can make the circumstances as
favourable as you like; there are some real-world constraints on
whether you have two competing businesses in the same communi-

ty.
[Translation]

Mr. Mark Schaan: Thank you for the question.
[English]

It is important to say a couple of things on the subject. One is
that the minister, quite rightly, pointed to the fact that a comprehen-
sive competition reform looks at effects and judges on the basis of
effects, rather than just stating that...there is no right prohibition on
a particular kind of aspect. This is because they are often use case-
specific. The goal of the Competition Act is not to be a price regu-
lator in every single market vertical, but instead to ensure that there
are effective restraints on behaviour, and where those behaviours
significantly lessen competition, we have the tools to be able to act.

Between the actions of Bill C-56 and what was announced in the
fall economic statement, there's a pretty comprehensive approach to
try to make sure that we have actually targeted and provided the
right tools for those effects that are particularly noxious to competi-
tion, whether that's abuse of confidence, whether that's a merger
that potentially rules things out, whether that's the betrayal of inputs
that are fundamental to the competition or whether that's competi-
tion that will harm the labour market. All of those kinds of func-
tions are built into the changes that are proposed.

An outright prohibition that simply suggests something is prima
facie anti-competitive is often best left to vertical regulators that are
versed in the specifics of that use case, rather than trying to do it
through a lot of general application, which can then apply on the
basis of effects.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I was glad to hear the minister almost com-
mit to using the new powers in Bill C-56 to launch an investigation
into the more specific market conditions than I'm talking about, but
I wonder what the effect is of a minister almost recommending that
such an investigation be launched. Does that meet the threshold for
actually getting an investigation, or does it just meet the rhetorical
threshold for getting through committee testimony?

Mr. Mark Schaan: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The member will know that the test for ordering a market study
as proposed in Bill C-56 is not for me, but the minister. I won't
speak for the minister on the determination he will make on market
studies, but I think he has been clear that the last market study cer-
tainly lacked some of the full information that would give rise to
the transparency about what's actually happening in some of those
marketplaces.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: To our folks at Finance, I wanted to ask if
we could get information here at this committee, and I'm happy to
have it presented in a way that doesn't name proponents, if that's
problematic for some reason.

We know there are a number of projects that have been approved
under the national housing strategy with non-profits that were in
process prior to September 14, 2023. We know, anecdotally, that a
number of those have been put on pause because the escalation in
the interest rate has meant that they can no longer proceed with
those projects.

I'd like to know how many such projects there are—projects that
have been approved for federal funding under any national housing
strategy program and have indicated they are not able to proceed,
given the state of interest rates—and the estimated costs of apply-
ing the GST rebate to those projects. I'm wondering if we can get a
commitment to have the department bring that information to com-
mittee, or send it to committee. I'm not suggesting a second appear-
ance. Preferably, we'd have it before we do clause-by-clause of the
bill, which I believe is to take place on Wednesday.

Mr. Pierre Mercille: What I can say on this is that it's definitely
not Ms. Riddell nor I who will provide the information. The infor-
mation will be communicated to the department, and it will be up to
the minister's office to decide if it can be provided to the committee
that fast.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: At the very least, what I have is a commit-

ment to take the request back, although I also made that request of
the minister, so I'm hoping that we can get to “yes” quickly.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Blaikie.

We are moving into our second round. I will hold everybody to
their exact time so that we can stop at seven o'clock and get out for
a health break. We've been here for a number of hours already.

We are starting with MP Williams. I know he wants to get to the
gym.

MP Williams, you have five minutes.

Mr. Ryan Williams: Yes. Let's do it. I'll meet you there.
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Thank you, Chair.
Thank you, officials.

Much like the IRA in the States, the Inflation Reduction Act, this
is the grocery affordability act. However, I think, as we've seen
from testimony today from the minister, this isn't as much about
grocery affordability as it is about some minor changes to the Com-
petition Act. Granted, a lot of them are really needed.

There is supposed to be a second phase of the modernization of
the whole Competition Act. Canadians are asking me, and I want
you to answer for me, please. When is that coming?

[Translation]
Mr. Mark Schaan: Thank you for the question.
[English]

The fall economic statement noted that there would be a number
of important comprehensive competition amendments that would
be part of the implementing legislation, notably to:

Strengthen the tools...available to the Competition Bureau...to crack down on
abuses of dominance...

Further modernize merger reviews, including [ending] “killer acquisitions”...
Enhance protections for consumers, workers, and the environment...[and pre-

vent] “greenwashing” claims [as well as]...focus on worker impacts in competi-
tion analysis;

Empower the Commissioner of Competition to review a wider selection of anti-
competitive collaborations...

Broaden the reach of the law by [allowing]...private parties [access to the tri-
bunal, including with remedies].

I think the comprehensive changes outlined in the fall economic
statement are consistent with the comprehensive nature of consulta-
tions.

Mr. Ryan Williams: Are you saying to me that there's not going
to be a second-phase modernization of the full Competition Act
coming from your department?

Mr. Mark Schaan: I think you'll find, when the legislation is
tabled, that the amendments in the fall economic statement are
quite comprehensive in nature and speak to nearly all the areas for
which the department consulted over the course of the consultation.

Mr. Ryan Williams: Has the department done studies on what
factors are impacting the rising price of groceries in Canada?

Mr. Mark Schaan: The department continues to analyze the
overall sector as part of the overall consideration of potential mea-
sures to take.

Mr. Ryan Williams: Where did the carbon tax rank in some of
those measures? Has the department studied that at all?

Mr. Mark Schaan: The specific analysis of that market is not
under my domain, Mr. Chair. I'm here representing the Competition
Act.

Mr. Ryan Williams: I'm asking if there ever has been a study
done by your department on the effect of the carbon tax on food
pricing.

Mr. Mark Schaan: I couldn't say yes or no, Mr. Chair. I'm not in
a position to know whether or not there's been work done in that
area.

Mr. Ryan Williams: Last year, the government made $1 billion
in GST revenues off grocery retail items, charging for somewhere
over 3,600 items in grocery stores. Has your department ever stud-
ied food affordability in terms of the snack tax, prepared tax, where
GST is having an impact on grocery prices at the grocery store for
Canadians?

Mr. Mark Schaan: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I know proposals like the snack tax and others were raised in the
consultations and in the considerations of the meetings the minister
and the department held with a number of players within the gro-
cery market. Obviously, the jurisdiction for tax changes rests with
my colleagues from the Department of Finance, but I think those
considerations have been raised by members in terms of the overall
discussions on the grocery file.

Mr. Ryan Williams: Are there any reports that have been
tabled? Has there been any internal analysis of those taxes that's
been developed, or are there any reports or documentation at all in
your department?

Mr. Mark Schaan: I know there are a number of public re-
ports—I've seen them on social media, for instance—that have in-
dicated a certain amount of analysis. I know, obviously, the depart-
ment has been looking broadly at some of the impacts and how to
potentially stabilize food prices in the sector.

Mr. Ryan Williams: If you have any of those reports in your de-
partment, please table them with the committee.

As part of what we were going to call the “theatre piece” earlier
this fall, the minister admonished the grocery store CEOs and
threatened them with penalties if they don't bring down prices.
What are those penalties going to be?

Mr. Mark Schaan: I believe that's a question for the minister.

I think the minister was clear that should actions not be taken to
stabilize food prices, he would—

Mr. Ryan Williams: Are you saying that the department would
have no idea what those penalties would have been and that it's on-
ly the minister, not the department?

Mr. Mark Schaan: I'm not in a position to answer specifically
as to what the minister may or may not contemplate, other than the
fact that he's been clear that he is open to the possibility of conse-
quences should actions not seek to stabilize prices.

Mr. Ryan Williams: How has the department been monitoring
the promised food price reduction the minister announced at the
“public spectacle”, I'll call it, with the grocery CEOs in October?
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Mr. Mark Schaan: I think there are a number of important con-
siderations, Mr. Chair, as to how the overall grocery file is being
monitored. One of them, obviously, is the role of food inflation,
which is one of the inputs into overall inflation. Published monthly,
by Statistics Canada's estimate, we have seen declines over the last
number of months in food inflation, particularly, which is going
down more quickly than overall inflation.

Mr. Ryan Williams: This is the last question, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: We're at the time, MP Williams, so we're going over
to MP Dzerowicz now.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Thank you so much, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank all our witnesses today for being here, for your
patience, for all your great work and for answering our questions.

I have two questions for you.

The first one is this. I would say the residents of my riding of
Davenport would be a little bit surprised to hear there are property
controls or restrictive covenants around independent grocery stores
setting up in certain areas. In plain language, could you explain
what those are and how the proposed changes in our legislation are
going to correct competition in the grocery sector?

Mr. Mark Schaan: Thank you for the question.

In plain language, the way the act currently thinks about collabo-
ration is traditionally a collaboration that potentially is between a
competitor and a competitor, and that collaboration potentially
harms competition and therefore is within the reach of the bureau.
What our change does in Bill C-56 is that it expands the concept of
what could be a collaboration to not just those that are between
competitors and competitors, but those that are between competi-
tors and someone else in the value chain that actually potentially
are going to impact competition.

The case that has often been used, or the example in the grocery
sector that has often been cited, has been that it might not be two
grocers getting together to collaborate to significantly lessen com-
petition, but potentially a grocer and someone else in the value
chain, like their landlord. When the grocer signs a lease agreement,
they specifically and explicitly state that part of the lease agreement
is that the landlord will not rent any other part of the premises—
let's imagine that it's a strip mall—to anybody else who competes
or sells in any vertical of the grocery store.

This isn't just preventing another grocery store. In many cases,
this is actually saying, if they run a grocery store in this strip mall,
you can't have a bakery, because a bakery sells baked goods and we
sell baked goods. You actually can't have a hardware store, poten-
tially, if they have homeware items.

What essentially this would do is expand the scope for the bu-
reau to be able to look at those collaborations, deem whether or not
they are significantly lessening competition and take action as ap-
propriate.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: That's very helpful.

I know that you were starting to talk a little about this in your
opening remarks. You were talking about some of the changes in

Bill C-56, but you also started talking about the fall economic state-
ment.

I was in the business world for about 15 years before I entered
politics, and I will say that a lot of people have been saying that we
need to make a lot of adjustments to our Competition Act to ensure
we have competition in Canada. Can you maybe talk about all the
different parts you're looking at to try to ensure that we have good
competition and we have a productive, prosperous economy, mov-
ing forward?

Mr. Mark Schaan: I appreciate the question.

If you go back even before the legislative amendments in budget
2022, you can look at the fact that the government has made a sig-
nificant resource addition to the bureau. By providing a significant
injection of new funds to empower the bureau to be well placed and
fit for purpose, one of the things the bureau has done with that, for
instance, is that it has created a digital markets group that can more
specifically look at the way in which technology and data-driven
parts of the economy are actually understood from a competition
perspective, because they run very differently, in many ways, than
traditional industries do.

The 2022 changes to the budget created a number of important
foundational elements. It took a look at penalties, for instance. It
made penalties uncapped in a number of key zones and created es-
sentially very important consensus-based items that were the foun-
dation for early reform.

Bill C-56 then targets three core areas, and it is now proposed,
under motion 30, to include at least one more, which would tackle
things like the efficiencies defence, which, as the minister noted,
right now allows for projected efficiencies on the basis of the col-
laboration to potentially outweigh the significant lessening of com-
petition and allow a merger to proceed. Then, what is in the fall
economic statement takes that even further, and what M-30 propos-
es is much similar.

Right now, for instance, abuse of dominance is one of the more
challenging things to actually enforce against. Can you prove that
someone really big in the market actually had intent to use their
bigness, if I can put it that way, to harm competition, and that there
are then effects of that in the market, as in you can prove that
they've lessened competition? What M-30 suggests is that, for those
purposes, that test should now be an “or”. You have to be big, but
in order to be able to potentially get a prohibition order from the
bureau, it's either intents or effects—not necessarily both.
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Other really important changes are these killer acquisitions, for
instance. It lengthens the period of time that the bureau has to re-
view a merger. Oftentimes when a small company is being ac-
quired—we can think of some in the tech space, for instance—we
didn't even know at the time of the merger that it was going to be
really foundational or important. Right now, there's a time limit on
the degree to which the bureau can actually look at those mergers,
so it will extend it to three years to allow for the bureau to be able
to look back, take appropriate action and bring action to bear, if
necessary.

In sum, what the overall effort has done is that it has tried to
tackle the necessary resources, the fit-for-purpose regulator and
then a series of legislative amendments that correspond with the
kind of market dynamism that I think the government has suggested
it seeks.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Thank you so much.
The Chair: Thank you, MP Dzerowicz.

Next, we have MP Garon, please, for two and a half minutes.

[Translation]
Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I would like to take a bit of my speaking time to give notice of
the following motion:

That, pursuant to Standing Order 108(2), the Committee undertake a study on
the carousel tax fraud scheme that international criminal networks are using to
collect tax refunds for GST/QST and steal hundreds of millions of dollars from
Canadian government coffers;

That this study focus in particular on the following points:
a) the reasons why Canada appears to be an easy target for this type of fraud;

b) identifying and understanding the gaps in Canada’s tax system that make this
type of fraud possible and easy to commit; and

¢) measures that should be taken by the government and the CRA to put an end
to these scams and to reclaim taxpayers’ money;

That the Committee invite the following witnesses to appear:

1) Appearing together for a period of two hours, former CRA Minister Diane
Lebouthillier and current CRA Minister Marie-Claude Bibeau, accompanied by
senior CRA officials;

2) For one hour, the Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Finance, Chrystia
Freeland;

3) For two hours each, Marius-Cristian Frunza, an expert in carousel fraud, and
Bo Elkjer, a Danish journalist who has been investigating this type of fraud in
Europe since 2009;

4) For one hour, Samer Bishay, the CEO of Ontario telecommunications compa-
ny Iristel; and

5) Any other witnesses the Committee deems necessary;
That the Committee allocate a minimum of four meetings to this study; and

That the Committee report its findings and recommendations to the House.
Mr. Chair, I would like to use my remaining 55 seconds to ask
the witnesses a question.
[English]
The Chair: You have 40 seconds.
[Translation]

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: Mr. Mercille, in response to the ques-
tions I asked, we were told that there were no studies and it was not
known whether affordability criteria will be included in Bill C-56.

I am sensing some unease. I get the impression that the measure
relating to the GST was put together off the cuff.

Bill C-56 provided the broad outline of the measure, but the rest
was sent to us by way of a departmental opinion.

Did your department work on a similar measure or a version of
this measure before the pre-sitting caucus of the Liberal Party of
Canada in the fall?

Mr. Pierre Mercille: I am not in a position to answer that kind
of question.

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: Did you work on it in the department
before September?

Mr. Pierre Mercille: I am not in a position to talk to you about
this and I do not even have the authority to talk to you about the
work done in the department.

Mr. Jean-Denis Garon: You do not seem to remember. That
speaks volumes.

Thank you.
[English]
The Chair: Thank you, MP Garon.

Next, we have MP Blaikie, please, for two and a half minutes.
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you.

1 want to confirm something with our industry officials. When
we talk about measures to reduce anti-competitive measures, it's
not to prohibit firms from increasing their market share. It's to re-
quire them to increase that market share through offering products
that more and more Canadians want to buy at prices they find more
attractive than their competitors.

Is that fair to say? I just think that can get lost sometimes in the
conversation. It's not putting a cap on anyone's market share if they
earn it. It's trying to stop, for instance, increased market share
through acquiring competitors who are having the effect of lower-
ing prices or offering superior products.

Mr. Mark Schaan: Certainly, the Competition Act is an enforce-
ment-based act, which means it takes actions when there is a signif-
icant listing of competition. However, it's goal is to engender the
right behaviours in the marketplace, which means, as you say, that
you can grow. You can continue to have an economic impact and
have growth. It just can't come at the expense of competition and,
particularly, at the expense of competition where you've rigged, es-
sentially, the competitive landscape in your favour.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Thank you, MP Blaikie.
We're now going to MP Thompson.

Ms. Joanne Thompson: Thank you, and welcome to the wit-
nesses.

If I could start with you—
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The Chair: My apologies. It should be MP Lawrence, and then
it'll be MP Thompson.

MP Lawrence, go ahead.
Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thanks very much.

Thank you to the officials for being here in overtime. We appre-
ciate it and appreciate all the work that you do.

My questions are going to be sort of feeding down into a request
for documents, just to give you a heads-up there.

This is called the affordable housing and groceries act. I'm as-
suming that there was some due diligence done with respect to the
impact that these provisions would have on reducing the price of
groceries and reducing the cost, if not of housing, then of rent.

I know my colleague, Mr. Morantz, talked about this, but I'm just
wondering if you can give me anything on housing or groceries.
We'll start with groceries. Just to give some structure, can you esti-
mate how much the price of groceries will go down as a result of
this bill?

Mr. Mark Schaan: The Competition Act amendments are aimed
at fuelling a more competitive dynamic across the economy but
specifically in the grocery sector. We did no calculations on the ba-
sis of what the framework law would impact in terms of its specific
effects on food prices. It's aimed at a general directional push to-
wards greater dynamism and competition within the grocery sector.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I don't mean to be disrespectful here. I
know you guys are all working hard. You're here at seven o'clock at
night and we appreciate it, but you've done no sort of analysis on
whether grocery prices will actually go down or not?

Mr. Mark Schaan: We did not perform any economic analysis
on the impacts of competition law amendments, which this act is
shifting, and their specific impacts on grocery prices.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: When the minister gets out there and says
this will reduce grocery prices, you have no data to back that claim
up.

Mr. Mark Schaan: We directionally understand the role that
framework law plays in the overall market place. It does not trans-
late into a new price on a can of beans at the grocery story. It con-
tributes to the overall market.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I understand that, and I understand that
you're not going to be getting down to the cost of beans, but I
would assume there would be some macroeconomic analysis. What
I would ask of you, at least as a best effort, is to go back to the shop
and then come back to the committee with any type of analysis.

I'll give you an example. Tiff Macklem, the Governor of the
Bank of Canada, was able to give us a number. He said that the car-
bon tax added about 20% to inflation. That was a hard number.
There are a lot of economic factors, but he was able to do that.

Any type of analysis that you could provide our committee
would be of great benefit, so that the minister would have some-
thing to hang his hat on when he says it will reduce grocery prices.
Can you provide him anything? Is there any proof that it will re-
duce grocery prices by even a dollar?

Mr. Mark Schaan: Mr. Chair, I'm not in a position to respond to
the specifics of that question.

What I would say is that there's a lot of analysis showing that
competitive markets bring down prices. The goal of the Competi-
tion Act amendments is in fact to bring dynamism and more com-
petition into markets, and that's the premise behind believing, par-
ticularly in these areas that were cited by the bureau in their own
study of the grocery market—

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you, sir.

Mr. Mark Schaan: —that these were important factors to con-
sider that would actually help Canadians and stabilize—

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you, sir.

1 do appreciate that. Also, my passion is directed to the minister,
not to you. I know you guys are working hard.

Now, with respect to housing, is there any type of economic
analysis, one shred of data, you can provide this committee that
says, hey, this will reduce the cost of rent by y dollars, even if you
have a wide range? I understand that you won't be able to get it
within a dollar, but maybe you might be able to get it within a thou-
sand dollars.

Is there any type of economic analysis you could provide this
committee to show that this legislation will reduce the cost of rent
for Canadians?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: Of course we do a lot of analysis and we
provide all of that analysis to the minister, but most of that is sub-
ject to cabinet confidence. It's not something we'd be in a position
to share with the committee. Rest assured that we do look at these
matters quite closely.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: There is economic analysis, but you're
just not willing to show that.

I'd like to think I'm a reasonable human being and I understand
that some of that might need cabinet confidentiality, but would you
be able to provide a redacted document or the unredacted version to
the parliamentary law clerk's office and let them review it?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: I can certainly look to see what we can
provide, but I can't make any promises.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I appreciate it. Thank you for trying.
The Chair: Thank you, MP Lawrence.

Now we go to MP Thompson, and I apologize again.
MP Thompson, you'll be the last questioner for these witnesses.

Thank you.
Ms. Joanne Thompson: Thank you.

This is a good chance, if any of you have any further comments
that you want to make, to please take the time.

Perhaps I could begin with you, Ms. Riddell.
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The need for housing is obviously continuous, whether we're
talking about someone who is truly homeless and has no shelter or
someone looking at market-driven housing, in which there is
tremendous choice and ability, or any of the spaces in between.

Could you speak to the notion that, when you provide purpose-
built rentals, you create space along that continuum, not necessarily
from one end to the other but certainly within the areas where hous-
ing is most challenging?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: The rebate is aimed at purpose-built
rentals, for which there are certain requirements. They have to have
four-plus units or 10-plus private rooms. There's no fair-market val-
ue on that. The idea is that you're trying to create as much supply
wherever that supply can be had. We're not specialists. We're not
builders in that sense, so it's up to the builders to design and build
the types of housing needed in the marketplace.

The idea behind this is that builders will be able to make previ-
ously unprofitable projects profitable, and they'll be able to enter
the marketplace.

As 1 was saying earlier, with more supply, there is generally a
positive impact on prices and bringing them down. I'm not sure
how much more I can say on that particular point.

Ms. Joanne Thompson: Thank you for that.

The minister referenced the four provinces that have followed
the federal government's lead and have also eliminated GST on
purpose-built rentals.

Is that assisting in moving the federal government's program for-
ward? Is it creating a greater impact in terms of the work on the
ground and the number of units—because it's supply, supply and
supply—that are potentially being made available as part of the
program?

Ms. Amanda Riddell: Provincial decisions are made indepen-
dently by the provinces. Although there is a harmonized sales tax,
we have the federal component, which is subject to federal deci-
sions. The provincial component on whether or not they want to
have a rebate like this is up to the provinces.

It is a policy decision for them, but from the builders' perspec-
tive, I would expect that the 5% GST versus, for example, the 8%
or 10% provincial component of the HST is a really big difference.
I would expect that in provinces that have decided to follow the
federal measure, there would be that much more of an impact in
those jurisdictions.

Ms. Joanne Thompson: Thank you.

Mr. Schaan, just very generally, because I realize there are limits
on what you can really speak about, in terms of expanding or em-
powering the Competition Bureau, what would you hope to see in
terms of support for competition?

Why is it important to focus on that?

Mr. Mark Schaan: I appreciate the question.

I'll say a few things specific to the Bill C-56 changes.

Market studies have proven effective, even without subpoena
power, to have a certain amount of directional impact on markets.

We can think about the bureau's ride-sharing market study and their
work in the telecommunications switching study. Obviously, those
studies will be far more enriching when they can actually under-
stand the real market dynamics at play and then be able to make
recommendations in transparency both to consumers and to govern-
ments.

The efficiencies defence essentially empowers them to ensure
that they actually have the tools to stop mergers that will potentially
harm markets, harm competition and ultimately harm Canadian
consumers.

The vertical collaborations is actually quite important because it
expands the construct of what looks like competition in a market-
place to recognize that it's not just two competitors facing off
against each other, but that actually they're using other players
within the market structure to get anti-competitive outcomes.

All of that means they'll now have tools in their tool kit to really
go after some of those particularly difficult or challenging aspects
of the market structures that are harming prices, overall Canadian
choice and ultimately competition.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Thompson.

We want to thank our officials and our witnesses before us.
Thank you for your testimony on Bill C-56. You did a great job. We
got a lot of information from you. Thank you for being with us here
late in the evening.

Now members, we are suspended for our health break until 7:30.

® (1900) (Pause)

® (1930)

The Chair: I call this meeting back to order. Welcome, every-
body.

We've already had three hours of testimony with two ministers
and the officials, and now we have some excellent witnesses on Bill
C-56.

Pursuant to the order of reference of Thursday, November 23,
2023, the committee is meeting to resume its study on Bill C-56, an
act to amend the Excise Tax Act and the Competition Act.

In accordance with the committee's routine motion concerning
connection tests for witnesses, I'm informed that all witnesses have
completed the required tests in advance of the meeting.

1'd like to welcome our witnesses.
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With us today, as an individual, we have lan Lee, associate pro-
fessor at the Sprott school of business, Carleton University. From
the Canadian Anti-Monopoly Project, the executive director, Kel-
don Bester is joining us. From the Canadian Human Rights Com-
mission, we have the federal housing advocate, office of the federal
housing advocate, Marie-Josée Houle. We have, from the Competi-
tion Bureau of Canada, the commissioner of competition, Matthew
Boswell. He is joined by the deputy commissioner, competition
promotion branch, Anthony Durocher. From the Co-operative
Housing Federation of Canada, we have the executive director,
Timothy Ross. From Option consommateurs, we have the
economist and analyst, Carlos Castiblanco, and Sara Eve Levac,
lawyer. Welcome.

We are going to start off with associate professor lan Lee, as an
individual, please.

Dr. Ian Lee (Associate Professor, Sprott School of Business,
Carleton University, As an Individual): Thank you very much,
Mr. Chair.

I want to thank the finance committee for inviting me to discuss
what I believe is one of the most important public policy problems
facing Canada today.

First are my disclosures. I don't belong to or donate money to
any political party or allow lawn signs during federal, provincial or
municipal elections.

Second, I am a tenured professor paid by Carleton, not by busi-
ness or NGOs or unions. I don't consult. I'm not a lobbyist.

Third, immediately after the collapse of the Berlin Wall in 1980
until 2020 with the onset of the pandemic, I taught over 100 times
in former centrally planned economies across central-east Europe,
Cuba, Iran and China. There were none or only a few private, for-
profit corporations and very little competition, only state-owned
monopolies, which led to the very low income per capita that char-
acterizes countries that do not have a decentralized market econo-
my with private competitive firms.

It must be stated at the outset that competition policy is a critical
part of the policy infrastructure of a national government.

As an NFL junkie since the first Super Bowl in 1967, I deeply
understand the need for referees in a football or hockey game, be-
cause players cheat. They hook, they spear, they trip, they hold and
they grab face masks, and referees must penalize the cheaters.
However, the purpose and actions of the referees must never at-
tempt to displace the decision-makers, the coaches or the QB or the
CEO, such that they'll start to decide when Patrick Mahomes
should throw the ball or Sidney Crosby should shoot the puck.

Referees and competition policy are a means to an end. They are
not the end goal or purpose of national public policy. We should not
embrace competition policy as an intrinsic end. It is simply a tool to
possibly enhance competition.

Why bother? It's because Adam Smith and 250 years of econom-
ic theory and practice have taught us that competition between
competing firms drives down prices and increases choices. Even
more importantly, as Joseph Schumpeter famously taught us, it is
the only credible driver of productivity increases in the standard of

living. It's the only way that a country can increase its standard of
living over time.

Nowadays, the most widely accepted economic approach to
competition, I think it's fair to say, is the one proposed by Schum-
peter, who defined competition as a dynamic process wherein firms
strive to survive under an evolving set of rules that constantly pro-
duces winners and losers. Restated, competition is the true regula-
tor of economic activity, while competition policy is a poor, sec-
ond-best but necessary substitute.

My fear with the proposed and excellent Competition Bureau re-
port, “The Future of Competition Policy”, is the danger that deci-
sion-makers in Ottawa now view competition policy policing as the
source of competitiveness.

My second fear concerns the belief by, I think, an increasing
number of elected officials in Canada that big or large corporations
are intrinsically uncompetitive or anti-competitive. This is simply
contradicted by the superb research of Statistics Canada, John Bald-
win and other researchers that demonstrates that many of our
largest corporations achieve much higher rates of total factor pro-
ductivity.

What must be done?

Unfortunately, few parliamentarians seem to recognize that
which is on our nose and indeed created by parliamentarians—not
just this Parliament but past Parliaments. Our national and provin-
cial governments have created monopolies and oligopolies across
the economy as a matter of public policy. The telecom act prohibits
foreign telecom operators—I talk about this in class every week—
so that we have exactly three telcos and some of the highest cell-
phone fees in the world.

We have maybe 2.5 airlines, as the act of Parliament prohibits
entry by foreign airlines. Our Bank Act ensures that we have an
oligopoly. I worked for nine years in a bank and I have great re-
spect for the banks. However, we have an oligopoly of five or six
banks, with a concentration ratio of over 90%. Our supply manage-
ment laws mostly prohibit foreign dairy entry.

So that I don't just pick on the federal level, the Beer Store in
Canada's largest province mostly prohibits competition in corner
stores and grocery stores, where it belongs—as does the LCBO.
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When we do not create outright monopolies and oligopolies, we
create some of the highest regulatory standards in the world, such
as in mining, which have driven out capital investment in our coun-
try. This has been analyzed empirically and recently by Bill Robson
in his excellent article, “Working Harder for Less: More People but
Less Capital is No Recipe for Prosperity”.

Our non-residential capital stock per worker is second-lowest in
the OECD. Only New Zealand is worse.

Now, let's use plain English as I wrap up.

Capital stock is investment in businesses. We all know that. In-
vestment creates competition. That drives up productivity and
drives down prices, so what are we doing in Canada? We are sti-
fling competition in multiple industries by creating oligopolies and
monopolies. Pogo warned us, “We have met the enemy and he is

i)

us”.
Thank you.

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!
The Chair: Calm down, guys.

Thank you, Professor Lee.

Now we'll hear from the Canadian Anti-Monopoly Project.

Mr. Keldon Bester (Exective Director, Canadian Anti-
Monopoly Project): I am the executive director of CAMP, a Cana-
dian think tank dedicated to addressing issues caused by monopoly
power in Canada.

This is an exciting time for competition policy in Canada, and
CAMP is glad to see parties across Parliament putting forward
plans to strengthen Canada’s competition law and protect afford-
ability for Canadians.

Bill C-56 is an important investment in the future of competition
in Canada, and CAMP is happy to support it.

By removing the efficiencies defence, giving the commissioner
of competition the power to conduct market studies and expanding
the scope of enforcement against anti-competitive agreements, Bill
C-56 makes material positive contributions to the Competition Act.

I'll be frank. I don't believe that these changes will make gro-
ceries more affordable tomorrow. The situation today is the result
of decades of thinking, at the heart of the Competition Act, that has
supported consolidation and reduced competition at the expense of
Canadians. The work to reverse that thinking will take time. As I
mentioned, we see these proposed changes as investments that will
pay off for Canadians in the coming months, years and decades,
and in sectors well beyond grocery.

That being said, within the current scope of Bill C-56, we would
like to propose two changes to strengthen the bill so that it might
better serve Canadians.

First, the commissioner of competition should have the indepen-
dent authority to conduct market studies without the direction of the
minister. Bill C-56 provides appropriate checks and limits on the
commissioner's use of the market study power and, as such, inde-

pendent study authority should be granted to preserve the agency's
independence.

Second, powers related to anti-competitive agreements should be
further strengthened to ensure meaningful enforcement. This means
adding the ability to pursue past agreements and penalties for those
who engage in these agreements, the absence of which currently
renders the provision ineffective.

With these changes, Bill C-56 will deliver more benefits to Cana-
dians sooner, but looking beyond Bill C-56, more comprehensive
change is still needed to the Competition Act to ensure competitive
markets for Canadians going forward. Even with the removal of the
efficiencies defence, Canadians will not be fully protected from fur-
ther consolidation in important markets. Future reform should in-
troduce presumptions against mergers in already concentrated mar-
kets, banning them outright in highly concentrated ones. It should
also set the standard for remedies to harmful mergers at preserving
or improving competition, not making things worse at a more ac-
ceptable pace.

For markets already characterized by a small number of players,
we need stronger provisions to ensure that any dominance isn’t
abused at the expense of Canadian businesses, workers and con-
sumers. Today, abuse of dominance cases are few and far between
and can take years to investigate. Expanding the scope of the provi-
sion and streamlining its enforcement should be a key priority.

Finally, the enforcement of the Competition Act should be more
transparent and decentralized. The Competition Bureau has made
important strides in communicating how it works to Canadians, but
it is still very much a black box and we fall short of the transparen-
cy of peer jurisdictions like the United Kingdom. Canada's compe-
tition law enforcement is also quite centralized, with the Competi-
tion Bureau responsible for all markets across our $2-trillion econo-
my. By allowing private parties to seek damages under the Compe-
tition Act, Canada will have more eyes on the ground to identify
and address unfair methods of competition going forward.

Today, with Bill C-56, I think this committee has an opportunity
to make a material improvement toward more robust competition
law, but after Bill C-56, the priority should be to finish that work
with more comprehensive reform of the law that Canadians depend
on to protect competition and affordability.

Thank you for your time today. I look forward to your questions.
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The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Bester. I'm sure there will be many
questions.

Now we'll hear from the Canadian Human Rights Commission,
please.

Mrs. Marie-Josée Houle (Federal Housing Advocate, Office
of the Federal Housing Advocate, Canadian Human Rights
Commission): Thank you so much for the invitation.

[Translation]

My name is Marie-Josée Houle and as the first federal housing
advocate, my role is to carry out concrete actions at the national
level to ensure that legislation, policies and programs respect the
human right to adequate housing.

The housing crisis has reached catastrophic proportions.
[English]

I am here as a human rights accountability mechanism for people
in crisis. Canada enshrined the right to housing in the 2019 Nation-
al Housing Strategy Act. The need for Canada to uphold its human
rights obligations must be prioritized in this discussion.

The key reason for the housing crisis is that government housing
policy has focused on incentives for the private sector, and we
know from the past 30 years that the private sector does not create
affordable housing. The activities that this committee is looking at,
such as shareholder profits and passive income streams, are about
treating housing as a financial commodity and an asset for profit—
but not as a human right.

This is called financialization. It is a widespread practice that has
negatively shaped our housing system at the expense of affordable
and accessible housing supply. Our research on financialization es-
timates that 20% to 30% of Canada's rental housing supply is finan-
cialized. It demonstrates clearly the harm that it is causing to people
in Canada.

We need to adopt a human rights approach that puts people first.
Governments must invest in our housing system and use public
funds for public good. The best way forward is investing in non-
market housing. Non-market housing benefits society. It creates
permanently affordable, accessible housing to meet the needs of a
wide range of people. Disadvantaged groups that are spending a
disproportionate amount of their income on housing will have more
money for food, medicine, child care and other needs.

Investing in non-market housing also has an economic value and
is the best use of taxpayers' dollars. It benefits everyone because it
is not inflationary. When people are not paying so much for their
housing, they're able to spend in other areas, so it will bolster the
economic stability of other sectors. Investing in non-market hous-
ing will mean a more equitable and healthy housing system and al-
low governments to focus on other pressing portfolios.

Bridging the gap in Canada's affordable supply will require a
long-term plan. Research we commissioned from housing expert
Carolyn Whitzman estimates that Canada is currently short 4.4 mil-
lion affordable homes for those in need. She uses a human rights-
based approach to count people who are usually left out of supply
estimates and focuses on renters. Meanwhile, CMHC's 2022 report

on housing supply shortages based its estimate on housing demand,
including demand from investors, and only looked at home owner-
ship.

[Translation]
This is a complex problem that calls for multiple solutions.

I am happy to see that the fall economic statement emphasized
non-market housing. I am thinking, for example, of the elimination
of the GST for new housing cooperative construction projects.

[English]

More needs to be done. The national housing strategy's $82-bil-
lion suite of programs must change course to prioritize non-market
housing. The federal government can create an acquisition fund for
non-market and indigenous housing providers to buy, repair and op-
erate existing buildings. The federal government must attach condi-
tions to federal infrastructure projects and funding that mandate the
creation of non-market housing in these new projects.

Other measures include pushing for strong rent stabilization mea-
sures across Canada, amending federal policies related to pension
fund investments and taxation of real estate investment trusts, better
data collection on financialization and better accountability when
taxpayer funds are spent on incentives to the private sector.

All levels of government have a role to play. The federal govern-
ment has a responsibility to lead the way.

Thank you so much. I look forward to your questions.
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Houle.
[English]

We will now hear from Competition Bureau Canada.

I believe Matthew Boswell will be speaking.

Mr. Matthew Boswell (Commissioner of Competition, Com-
petition Bureau Canada): Good evening, Mr. Chair and members
of the committee. Thank you for the invitation to appear before you
this evening.

My name is Matthew Boswell. As you've heard, I am the com-
missioner of competition for Canada. Joining me is my amazing
colleague Anthony Durocher, the deputy commissioner responsible
for competition promotion.
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[Translation]

The Competition Bureau is an independent law enforcement
agency that protects and promotes competition for the benefit of
Canadian consumers and businesses. We do this because competi-
tion drives lower prices and innovation while fueling economic
growth.

[English]

We administer and enforce the Competition Act by investigating
and taking action to address anti-competitive business practices that
harm consumers, competition and our economy. These include
price-fixing, deceptive marketing and abuse of market power. We
also review mergers to ensure they do not substantially harm com-
petition. Finally, we advocate for pro-competitive government poli-
cies and regulations. We believe that our experience as Canada's
only competition law enforcement agency affords us an important
voice in identifying the limits and issues surrounding the act's ap-
plication on a day-to-day basis.

In March of this year, we made a public submission to the gov-
ernment's consultation on the future of competition policy in
Canada. We identified a number of areas where the bureau believes
reform is required, informed by our experience in administering
and enforcing the act. In fact, we made over 50 recommendations
to the government for its consideration. We are pleased that some
of our suggestions could be implemented through Bill C-56.

[Translation]
These suggestions include:

First, there is the updating of our market study powers, including
the ability to compel information when warranted. That would per-
mit us to better investigate certain industries as necessary.

Second, there is the repealing of the efficiencies defence, which
will strengthen the Bureau’s position to challenge anti-competitive
mergers for the benefit of all Canadians.

[English]

On introducing a vertical collaboration provision, while such a
change was not part of our recommendation package to the govern-
ment's consultation, the bureau welcomes this addition to tackle po-
tentially anti-competitive conduct.

Further, we were encouraged by Parliament's decision to poten-
tially expand the scope of Bill C-56 to allow this committee to
make additional amendments to the act, most notably to increase
the penalty amounts for the abuse of dominance provision, to give
the commissioner of competition the ability to initiate market study
inquiries, and to revise the legal test for abuse of dominance prohi-
bition orders.

We believe these amendments mark a key step in modernizing
Canada's competition law and ensuring the bureau can better pro-
tect and promote competition in Canada. A more competitive econ-
omy will benefit all Canadians by offering more choice and greater
affordability for consumers and businesses.

[Translation]

If these proposed amendments become law, the Bureau will take
care to ensure that its approach going forward with respect to their
application is communicated clearly and transparently to businesses
and stakeholders alike. We are keenly aware of the importance of
predictability in this realm.

We look forward to discussing these proposed amendments today
with you.

[English]
Thank you. We look forward to your questions.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Boswell and Mr. Durocher.

We'll now hear from the Co-operative Housing Federation of
Canada.

Mr. Timothy Ross (Executive Director, Co-operative Housing
Federation of Canada): Good evening. Thank you again for the
invitation to appear this evening.

My name is Tim Ross. I'm the executive director of the Co-oper-
ative Housing Federation of Canada. CHF Canada is the national
voice of housing co-operatives from coast to coast to coast.

In a world of growing housing insecurity, unbearable rent in-
creases and social isolation, housing co-operatives offer solutions
to these economic and social challenges. Co-operative housing is a
well-documented success story. For over 50 years, co-ops have
been providing good-quality and affordable housing owned and
managed by their members. There are more than 2,200 housing co-
operatives located in every province and territory. They are home to
a quarter of a million Canadians.

Co-op housing operates at cost, meaning members' housing costs
remain stable. They cover the costs of operating and maintaining
vibrant communities.

Research from last year proves that co-op homes cost $400
to $500 less per month than comparable private rental buildings in
similar cities. Think of what an extra $400 or $500 a month could
mean to your household. It could mean more nutritious meals. It
could mean supporting extracurriculars for kids. It could mean sav-
ing for education, saving for a house or saving for retirement. The
value of co-ops is well known to their members, but we want to do
more to build more co-operative housing.

Another benefit of co-operative housing is that co-ops offer secu-
rity of tenure. There is no outside landlord who might sell or ren-
ovict the property, or jack the rents just because the markets can
bear it. Finally, co-ops are very strong communities. The members
who live there care about their community, and they care about
their neighbours.
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The value of co-op housing has been recognized by governments
of all political stripes throughout Canada’s history, most recently in
the legislation that is the purpose of this study by the committee
and in the fall economic statement.

I wanted to offer that context before I spoke a bit about our reac-
tion to Bill C-56.

Bill C-56 includes the new GST rental rebate, which has been
designed to incentivize the construction of purpose-built rental
housing. While we know that increasing the supply of multi-unit
rental housing is important, we need to make sure that we are build-
ing the right kind of supply—the type of housing that people can
actually access and afford. Co-ops certainly fit the bill.

The fall economic statement proposes including co-operative
housing in this rebate. We appreciate this policy change, as we
know it will be directly passed on to future members living in fu-
ture co-op homes built across the country.

Reduced project costs will translate to lower project debts, result-
ing in lower housing charges for the members from the outset.
Through the co-op housing model that operates on a not-for-profit
basis, these savings will be passed on directly to the households oc-
cupying these new co-op homes from day one, and this benefit will
increase over time.

I would also be remiss if I didn't speak about this rebate in the
context of the co-operative housing development program. We are
quite excited to see the co-operative housing sector growing in
Canada. The federal budget in 2022 included the first federal in-
vestment in co-op housing in over 30 years, as well as a commit-
ment to codesign the program with the co-operative housing sector.

CHF Canada encourages the federal government to launch the
co-op housing development program as soon as possible, as there is
a lost opportunity cost in waiting for a program to launch as costs
continue to rise.

Our excitement for this program is tempered by the fact that we
know more is needed to solve the housing crisis. Ms. Marie-Josée
Houle gave some of these numbers as well. The key to solving the
crisis is not just building more homes; it’s building more communi-
ty homes, meaning more co-op and non-profit housing.

You would ask, perhaps, “At what cost?”” I know we're all mind-
ful of the fiscal situation and its potential impact on inflation. It's
very important that we tame inflation.

I want to highlight a study that was just published today by the
Canadian Housing and Renewal Association. It was written by De-
loitte. It demonstrates the benefit to Canada's economy if we con-
tinue to grow the community housing sector in Canada just up to
the OECD average. By doing so, by 2030, we would increase eco-
nomic productivity in Canada by 5.7% to 9.3%. It would lift our
GDP by up to $136 billion. What's very important is that this study
further demonstrated that government investment in the creation of
new community housing was non-inflationary.

Thank you very much for the opportunity to share some of these
updates from the co-operative housing sector. I look forward to
your questions.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Ross. There will plenty of time for
questions.

By video conference, we're now going to hear from Option con-
sommateurs. I believe Sara Eve Levac is speaking first, followed by
Carlos Castiblanco.

[Translation]

Ms. Sara Eve Levac (Lawyer, Option consommateurs): Hello,
Mr. Chair and committee members. We thank you for offering us
the opportunity to present our comments today.

My name is Sara Eve Levac and I am a lawyer with Option con-
sommateurs. [ am joined by my colleague Carlos Castiblanco, who
is an economist and analyst.

Option consommateurs was created in 1983 and is a not-for-prof-
it association whose mission is to help consumers and defend their
rights. Option consommateurs has been involved in issues relating
to competition for decades. It often answers consumers' questions
concerning deceptive marketing practices. It has initiated class ac-
tions alleging violations of the Competition Act. It also contributed
to the recent consultation on the future of competition policy in
Canada.

We are therefore in a good position to provide our comments on
Bill C-56.

Option consommateurs supports Bill C-56 and urges that it be
enacted. First, in this inflationary period, it proposes better over-
sight of market competition. We also welcome the repeal of the ef-
ficiencies defence in corporate merger cases. Second, it is part of a
comprehensive and multi-faceted approach for stimulating the
housing supply.

However, we propose that the measures put forward in the bill be
strengthened. Our presentation will focus on two of these sugges-
tions.

First, the amendments to the Competition Act should give the
Competition Bureau the necessary leeway in carrying out market
studies.

Second, there should be more focus on creating affordable hous-
ing. This would mean specifying the criteria for housing units that
are eligible for the excise tax rebate, for one thing.

I would note that we have produced a written brief setting out
our position on the bill in detail.

First, Bill C-56 gives the Competition Bureau a mandate to con-
duct inquiries into the state of competition in a market, at the re-
quest of the minister. We propose that the Competition Bureau have
powers that enable it to obtain the necessary information directly in
conducting such inquiries.



November 20, 2023

FINA-121 79

For example, the Competition Bureau recently did a market
study on the retail grocery sector. In that study, it pointed out that
the companies had not all cooperated to the same degree.

To ensure that the market studies provided for in Bill C-56 are
effective, the Competition Bureau should have the power to compel
a person to provide information to it.

At present, Bill C-56 provides that the Bureau must apply to a
court for an order that a person provide information to the Bureau.
This additional step cause additional delays in the conduct of in-
quiries.

We note that elsewhere in the world, including in the United
States and the European Union, the institutions responsible for
overseeing the state of competition do have that power.

As well, the power of the Competition Board to undertake a mar-
ket study should be included in the act. Elsewhere in the world and
in Canada, the power of other oversight institutions to undertake
studies is expressly provided in the law.

I will give my colleague Mr. Castiblanco the floor to talk to you
about our comments on the proposed amendments to the Excise
Tax Act.

Mr. Carlos Castiblanco (Economist and Analyst, Option con-
sommateurs): Thank you.

We acknowledge the government's efforts to respond to the hous-
ing crisis. However, we believe that eliminating the GST on new
purpose-built rental buildings, as proposed in the bill, is still not
enough.

Our initial concerns were assuaged by the measures in the 2023
fall economic statement. The elimination of the GST was extended
to include purpose-built rental housing cooperatives. The govern-
ment also expanded construction programs and access to credit for
affordable housing.

The economic statement also tackles the problem of short-term
rentals by denying tax deductions for units that do not comply with
municipal bylaws. In addition, it strengthens protection for mort-
gage holders by introducing a mortgage charter.

These initiatives illustrate the federal government's desire to
adopt a multi-faceted approach in order to stimulate the housing
supply. Nonetheless, these measures could still be improved.

We suggest that the eligibility criteria for the excise tax rebate be
specified. This would mean clearly defining what constitutes an af-
fordable housing unit and prioritizing non-market housing. It is also
crucial that the procedure for accessing financing initiatives be
standardized, taking the agreement between the Quebec and federal
governments as a model, to ensure consistency in the response to
the housing crisis, while respecting provincial jurisdictions.

Optimizing the mortgage charter and toughening regulation of
short-term rentals would be wise. Revising the mortgage structure
to provide better protection for landlords from interest rate fluctua-
tions and enacting more stringent legislation regarding temporary
rentals, as Japan has done, would provide the benefit of stabilizing
the rental market in the long term.

Thank you.

We will be happy to answer your questions.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Castiblanco and Ms. Levac.
[English]

We are going into questions from members. In this first round of
questions, each party will have up to six minutes to ask the witness-
es questions.

We're starting with MP Williams for the first six minutes.

Mr. Ryan Williams: Thank you, Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses for coming today. This is a great
discussion on competition. I think it's long overdue, and I certainly
love all the comments so far.

Mr. Boswell, we'll start with you. You and the bureau did excel-
lent work on your study on competition in the grocery industry ear-
lier this year, and I have a couple questions on that study.

What impact did the efficiencies defence have on pricing in the
grocery industry?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: I thank the honourable member for the
question.

There aren't a lot of examples where the efficiencies exception
has been relied upon in mergers in the grocery industry in Canada.
There is an interesting example from 2019 that serves to underscore
why the efficiencies defence should be repealed, which was CN
purchasing a company called H&R Transport. The bureau found
that this transaction was going to result in a substantial lessening of
competition in eight markets. The key service in question was re-
frigerated intermodal transport in eight local markets in Canada,
which was going to drive up the price of foodstuffs. We examined
the efficiencies advanced by the party and came to the conclusion
that the defence applied, and we had to allow the merger to go
ahead. There's an example of how the efficiencies exception in real
life can ultimately end up costing Canadians more money.

Mr. Ryan Williams: That's right. I think the other one was the
Superior Propane efficiencies defence. Is that correct?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: Yes, but I was talking about this in rela-
tion to food, in relation to groceries.

Mr. Ryan Williams: That's right.

What impact did the minister's inability to order the bureau to
conduct market inquiries have on prices in the grocery industry?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: We undertake market studies at the bu-
reau, and I want to be clear on that point. However, we undertake
those studies with one hand tied behind our backs in that we can
only rely on voluntarily-provided information from the people
we're looking into in the market.
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In that particular situation, we were seeking financial data from
the major grocers, and we didn't receive full compliance with our
requests for that data despite making repeated requests. At the end
of the day, it was an aspect of our report where we didn't have the
information we thought we needed.

Mr. Ryan Williams: The report stated that the bureau did not re-
ceive the type of data it needed. Would having the power to obtain
that type of data help the bureau in its mandate?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: Absolutely, and it's already been said
this evening, I think, several times. We're an outlier among our key
international partners in this regard. They have formal market study
powers, and they can use information-gathering tools to get the in-
formation to look at markets to make recommendations to govern-
ment.

There are lots of examples with our foreign counterparts where
they make recommendations that result in meaningful change in the
economy. For example, the United Kingdom did an open banking
study and made recommendations to their government that resulted
in the government putting in place the open banking framework in
the U.K. several years ago. It's a very powerful tool.

I should point out that it's not targeted at companies. We're also
looking at government regulations that can hinder competition at all
levels of government, which, as Mr. Lee said earlier, is a big prob-
lem in Canada.

Mr. Ryan Williams: I think it goes without saying that you
would support an amendment that gives you that kind of power.

There is an amendment in the bill right now that gives the minis-
ter that kind of power. I think of you as the sheriff of competition,
and your deputy is Mr. Durocher. You're going out to police compe-
tition, but does the minister need the power to direct market stud-
ies? You're supposed to be an arm's-length organization, not em-
bedded in ISED. It's its own organization. Why do you think the
amendment is here to give the minister the power to direct market
studies? Would you want the laws changed to allow you to make
those market studies when you want to make them?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: Yes, and I'll go back.

I'm being very candid. As I said in my opening statement, we
made extensive recommendations to the government on amend-
ments to the act. One of them was to protect the independence of
the bureau. It's very important. It's an international best practice for
it to be an independent organization. The second was that the mar-
ket study power should also be independent, and the commissioner
should have the ability to initiate a market study that allows us to
use information-gathering powers in the act.

We were very clear on that. We said that a lot of caution has to be
exercised in the minister being able to direct market studies because
there's a risk, whether it's real or perceived, of politicization of
these studies and the use of these studies for politicians to direct the
Competition Bureau to go into hot-button issues that may not be the
most important competition issues for the bureau to examine. To a
great extent, it takes out our ability to prioritize where we want to
look and where we want to give recommendations to government
on how to improve competition in Canada.

It's something we flagged. At the end of the day, we're very hap-
py to get the information-compelling powers, but we would re-
spectfully suggest that maybe it ought to be a combination of the
minister being able to direct and the commissioner of competition
being able to initiate a market study on his or her own volition in
order to advance those inquiries.

Mr. Ryan Williams: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Williams.

Now we'll have MP Weiler, please.
Mr. Patrick Weiler: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank all our witnesses for being here today and for the
great testimony we've had already, and especially for being here
late in the evening.

The first question I would like to ask is for Mr. Bester.

In your opening, you mentioned a couple of amendments that
you'd like to see. The first one we just touched on. I was hoping
that you could speak a bit more about your second recommendation
on looking at past agreements as well.

Mr. Keldon Bester: Section 90.1 is the part of the act that gov-
erns anti-competitive agreements. Both CAMP and the bureau have
commented on this in the past couple of years. The way the provi-
sion is phrased right now, it can only look at existing agreements.
Along with that, it has no formal penalties associated with it. That
creates a situation where companies can engage in the agreement
right up to the point where they are under investigation by the bu-
reau, stop the agreement so the bureau says, “Okay, good job”, and
then re-enter the agreement should the attention come off of the
player.

The issue there is a sort of cat-and-mouse element. If we looked
at past agreements, it would allow there to be real deterrence for fu-
ture agreements.

Mr. Patrick Weiler: Thank you very much for that.

In your opening, you also mentioned that allowing private parties
to launch actions under the Competition Act would be helpful. I be-
lieve you would have seen in the fall economic statement that there
is provision to broaden the reach of the law to enable more private
parties to bring cases before the tribunal and to receive payment if
they are successful. I'm hoping that you can comment a bit more on
that.

Mr. Keldon Bester: Certainly.

There are two parts to this. One is the ability for parties to collect
damages. Again, I use the term “eyes on the ground”. The bureau
has something like 400 people. They're responsible for every mar-
ket across the economy. The second piece of that is the standard for
leave to the tribunal. Bringing that standard down while still main-
taining the rigorous tests for valid cases is a great way to decentral-
ize our enforcement and pick up where the bureau can't be in all
places at a given time.
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We were encouraged to see that in the fall economic statement.
Mr. Patrick Weiler: Thank you.

Next I would like to ask the Competition Bureau a couple of
questions.

Mr. Williams touched on the change to allow the compelling of
information during market studies, and you mentioned that this was
an impediment in the grocery study you did. I'm hoping that you
can speak a bit more broadly on how often you're seeing this issue
in your upcoming studies and how that's been an impediment to de-
livering the best possible analysis and recommendations to govern-
ment.

Mr. Matthew Boswell: I can't give you statistics on previous
studies, but in this situation, we're always reliant on voluntary co-
operation. If we get to the edges of sensitive stuff, if I can use that
technical term, then voluntary co-operation will often cease, or
we'll get less information than we probably think there is.

It is an issue, and it was obviously an issue in our grocery market
study.

Mr. Patrick Weiler: If this legislation is passed and a new abili-
ty to compel information is made available, do you see the bureau
looking back at previous studies that were done and reopening them
to make sure there aren't aspects that were left not discovered?
Would it be in the public interest to look into those further?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: We often discuss—particularly Mr.
Durocher's team, which leads these studies—what study we should
do next and what area we should look into. Where do we see poten-
tial competition issues that matter to Canadians? That's one of the
driving forces behind what we decide to do.

Going forward, if Bill C-56 is to become law and these changes
come about, at that point we'll have to assess the landscape and the
options available to us in terms of market studies. We'll make deci-
sions at that time.

We don't have any plans right now to revisit anything, but it's
very fluid. We'll see what happens if the bill is passed.

Mr. Patrick Weiler: Thank you very much, Commissioner.

With my remaining time, I'd like to ask Mr. Ross a couple of
questions.

As you saw less than a week ago in the fall economic statement,
there was mention of how the rebate on GST will be made available
to co-operative housing. I know some experts mentioned that the
measure we brought forward will ensure that 200,000 to 300,000
more rental units are built in Canada.

I'm curious about whether you'd be able to comment on that. I
know this announcement was made quite recently, but what type of
difference...? Could you put a ballpark figure on the number of new
co-operative rental housing units this might help incentivize?

Mr. Timothy Ross: I won't be able to offer you a unit count.
What I will say is that the rebate will make the difference in the
economic viability of “go” or “no go” for many co-op projects to-
day, tomorrow and into the future.

There's another aspect to this. The rebate, because of the co-op-
erative model, passes affordability on right to the end-user—to the
member who lives there and the future members who will live there
too.

It's for those two reasons that we are very much welcoming this
addition through the legislation.
Mr. Patrick Weiler: Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Weiler.

Now it's over to MP Ste-Marie.

[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good evening to all the witnesses, whom I thank for their presen-
tations and for being with us to answer our questions.

My first question is for the representatives of the Competition
Bureau.

As Ms. Levac said, Bill C-56 repeals the efficiencies defence in
anti-competitive agreements. My question relates to this change
and the other measures set out in Bill C-56.

You analyzed the potential acquisition of HSBC Canada by the
Royal Bank. Do you think that if Bill C-56 were enacted, the con-
clusions of your study might be different?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: I thank the member for his question.
[English]

The removal of the efficiencies defence from the Competition
Act, as I think was said earlier by several other witnesses, is for-
ward-looking and wouldn't apply to mergers that were previously
notified to the bureau. We examined RBC-HSBC in the context of
the Minister of Finance's public interest review of that merger.
What's important to point out is that we concluded it would not re-
sult in a substantial lessening of competition. Efficiencies did not
play a role in our conclusion in that case.

Even if there were some retroactive application of the repeal of
the efficiencies defence, it wouldn't impact our assessment of the
RBC-HSBC merger. We found there was no substantial lessening
or prevention of competition as a result. We wouldn't be able to go
back in any event. Even if we could, we wouldn't.

I hope that answers your question.

[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Yes, your answer was very clear. Thank
you very much.

My next question is for Ms. Levac.

Ms. Levac, thank you for being here and for your presentation.
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You are asking for the Competition Bureau to have the power to
undertake inquiries into the state of competition on its own. If I un-
derstood your remarks correctly, under the current provisions of
Bill C-56, when the Competition Bureau conducts an inquiry, it
does not have all the tools it needs to demand all of the evidence or
compel people to testify. That is also my interpretation of the bill.
However, Mr. Champagne seemed to be saying, earlier, that every-
thing was provided in the bill and there was no problem. As we
know, however, the Minister sometimes takes a very cheery view of
things.

I would like to hear your comments on what I am asking you. Do
you think this is already in Bill C-56 or should it be added?

Ms. Sara Eve Levac: In fact, Bill C-56 provides that the Com-
petition Bureau may ask a court to make an order to obtain infor-
mation. In other words, it does not have the autonomous power to
compel a witness to give testimony or provide information. We be-
lieve that this could cause delays in a market study inquiry, when
Bill C-56 provides for a maximum of 18 months for that type of
study.

I would also like to point to what happens elsewhere, outside
Canada. For example, the European Commission, which has the
power to initiate sectoral inquiries, also has the power to compel
witnesses to provide information.

If the Competition Bureau had the ability to compel people to
provide information to it, that would enable it to get a more com-
plete picture of the situation when it does a market study and, at the
end of the study, to make more useful recommendations.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Yes, the maximum time is 18 months.
We know that there are also delays in the justice system. It would
probably significantly limit the power to conduct an inquiry into
market studies.

You are also asking that the commissioner be able to decide on
their own initiative to conduct an inquiry, without having to wait
for the minister to request it. Can you explain that again?

Ms. Sara Eve Levac: We believe that as an independent body
that has the power to oversee the state of competition, the Competi-
tion Bureau must have a comprehensive view and should be able to
initiate an inquiry or market study autonomously, if it believes there
is a competition problem in a sector.

I would reiterate that there are independent bodies on the interna-
tional scene such as the European Commission, or the Federal
Trade Commission in the United States, that have the power to un-
dertake inquiries themselves. Incorporating that power into the act
would allow for greater predictability and clarity. It would also en-
able the Bureau to obtain information.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you.

I am now going to ask Mr. Boswell from the Competition Bureau
to answer these questions.

You also would suggest that the Bureau have the power to under-
take these kinds of inquiries on its own. Under Bill C-56, the Bu-
reau will instead have to obtain a court order to compel witnesses to
produce documents or appear.

Do you agree with that too?

[English]

Mr. Matthew Boswell: As it stands now in Bill C-56, the com-
missioner wouldn't be able to initiate a market study inquiry to al-
low us to go to court to compel records and testimony from partici-
pants in the market study. The minister would have the power to
commence that inquiry in discussion with the bureau, and we'd cre-
ate terms of reference paraphrasing how Bill C-56 is set out. We be-
lieve that the commissioner should have the ability to initiate a
market study inquiry, which gives us the right to go to court and
make an application for records and information.

That's not exactly how it's worded now. I understand that in mo-
tion 30, there is some potential change to the market study provi-
sion, but I'm not clear on what the details are there.

[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: That is what happens when there are
super gag orders: we are working blind.

Thank you for your answers.
[English]
The Chair: Thank you.

Now we'll hear from MP Blaikie, please.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Thank you to the witnesses for appearing here tonight.
I want to start briefly with Mr. Ross.

Recently in the House of Commons, the Conservative leader
Pierre Poilievre characterized co-ops and social housing as a “Sovi-
et-style takeover of housing” in Canada. Do you think that's a fair
or accurate portrayal of what the co-operative housing movement is
in Canada?

Mr. Timothy Ross: Well, I would implore all parties to depoliti-
cize the housing crisis and take action on housing. I'm not familiar
with the quote, so all I would say is that housing co-operatives in
Canada are independent and autonomous from government and are
owned democratically by the members who live there.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.

Ms. Houle, we hear a lot—and there's some truth to this, for
sure—that wherever you are on the housing spectrum today, there's
a need for more supply. However, I think the danger is that certain
types of supply are more likely to emerge organically, particularly
various forms of market housing, and then there are kinds that re-
quire government investment to make them work. Those are vari-
ous types of affordable and social housing.
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I think sometimes when we hear, as we did earlier, “supply, sup-
ply, supply”, any type will do and we should not worry if we build
more supply at the high end as the benefits will trickle down to the
people at the bottom, there's the potential that we don't really ad-
dress an important aspect of the housing crisis in Canada. I wonder
if you can speak a bit to that supply question. Do you think it's ade-
quate just to say we should build more supply, no matter what kind,
or do you think there has to be discrimination within the types of
supply, particularly for the focus of public policy?

Mrs. Marie-Josée Houle: First of all, we're sitting on an $82-
billion national housing strategy fund. These are taxpayers' dollars,
and this is precious. It really does need to reach the people who
need it the most.

We are talking about affordability. Affordability, no matter where
that investment is put, needs to live beyond the first buyer or the
first renter. For everything I've known around housing and housing
affordability, non-market housing is the best bang for the buck.
Yes, $82 billion is a lot for federal investment. It's the most we've
seen in about 30 years—well, ever. Relatively, with inflation, it is a
lot but it's certainly not going to meet the need, so we need to start
with those who need it most.

As the housing co-op sector and the non-profit housing sector
have demonstrated, investments in those areas and in that type of
market, in non-market housing—and it only represents 3.5% of the
purpose-built rentals in Canada—create affordability in perpetuity,
long after the operating agreements are done and long after the
mortgages are paid. Non-profits are owned by the community and,
as Tim said, housing co-ops are owned by the people who live
there. These are not owned by government. These are independent
of government, yet they are still able to stay by their mission. That
extra money in people's pockets means a better economy in other
sectors.

If we're looking at OECD numbers, you have the Netherlands,
where the percentage of non-market housing represents 35% of the
entire rental portfolio. In Austria and Denmark, it is over 20%. In
the UK., it's 15%. In Canada, it is a mere 3.5%, yet this is the
housing that makes a difference in perpetuity.

If as a federal housing advocate I'm looking at outcomes for peo-
ple and housing is a human right, this is the best investment for the
government's money.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: We've heard about the trickle-down theory
of it not mattering where you invest in the spectrum, but is it not
also the case that investments in the social and affordable end of the
housing spectrum actually trickle up?

You have people renting market housing but can't afford it and
they're cutting pills and skipping meals. They're doing lots of things
to make their market rent—for those who can—but by transitioning
those folks into units that they can properly afford, that creates
more room in the market rental space for folks who can afford it
but just can't find it.

Mrs. Marie-Josée Houle: Non-market housing is not just hous-
ing that's subsidized, because there are subsidies for people who
have deeper economic needs. For the people who are non-subsi-
dized, again, Tim's numbers spoke to that.

That being said, when I'm hearing people talk about the rental
market and say that if we only build more homes for mortgages,
people will get out of the rental market and it will free up rentals....
Because we don't have vacancy and rent control applied when peo-
ple move out, whatever those people were paying for rent is not go-
ing to be what's available for new people moving in.

If there is a dependency to look at the whole housing system and
the whole housing spectrum trickling down, regulations need to be
put in place. It doesn't seem that government has an appetite for
that, certainly not around vacancy control. If that's not going to
happen, we'll have to focus on non-market housing, and that's the
point.

If we're talking about taxpayers' money, the private market will
do what the private market will do. It will look out for itself. How-
ever, if we're looking at government investments and regulations,
this is where they need to be focused.

If we had a higher representation of non-market housing, it might
have a chance to compete with purpose-built rentals and the private
market. It certainly won't when it represents only 3.5%.

There's a lot I could say. I'm afraid I strayed—

The Chair: You'll have more opportunities. We're well over our
time.

We are going into our second round, members and witnesses, and
we are starting with MP Morantz, for five minutes.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Boswell, I want to pick up where my colleague left off with
respect to the issue of market inquiries. Michael Geist, the profes-
sor you're probably familiar with, has expressed concerns that the
provisions of Bill C-56 relating to inquiries by the Competition Bu-
reau into the state of competition in the market or industry could
undermine the bureau's independence from the government by al-
lowing the minister to order an inquiry not only if he believes an
offence or contravention of the act has been committed but also on
the basis of public interest. Do you share his concern?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: I wasn't able to hear everything you said.
I apologize.

I can reiterate that we did caution in our recommendations to the
government on the future of competition policy that it's very impor-
tant to maintain the independence of the bureau. It's important to
maintain the public's perception that the bureau is an independent
entity that is able to make the decision of where it's most appropri-
ate to engage in market studies and to seek to use its powers to
compel information.
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Mr. Marty Morantz: Is there any other country you're aware of
that provides this type of power to a politician?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: Yes. I believe it's in New Zealand, but
I'll let Mr. Durocher reply.

Mr. Anthony Durocher (Deputy Commissioner, Competition
Promotion Branch, Competition Bureau Canada): I believe
New Zealand is one example. If I'm correct, Australia has a dual
model where I believe the minister, or the agency, can initiate a
market study.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Did I understand you correctly when you
said you were unclear as to whether you would have the authority,
should this bill pass, to initiate a market study on your own?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: Yes. The way it's worded in new subsec-
tion 10.1(1) of the bill, the minister can direct a market study in-
quiry. That would be done in consultation with the commissioner,
as would the resources and scope of the inquiry, but it wouldn't be
the commissioner of competition initiating a market study inquiry
under new subsection 10.1(1) of the bill.

Mr. Marty Morantz: To be clear, right now, with the way the
existing legislation is written, you do have that authority.

Mr. Matthew Boswell: No.
Mr. Marty Morantz: Who does? Not this bill....

Mr. Matthew Boswell: We conduct market studies, but.... I'm
sorry. I guess the trick here is that if you do an inquiry under the
act, as it stands now, it gives certain powers to the commissioner of
competition to do things like go to court or seek orders, but that's
related to enforcement investigations. We do our market studies in
our general competition advocacy role in Canada informally, if I
can put it that way, but we don't have any powers to compel infor-
mation when we do those types of market studies.

For the grocery market study, we decided it was appropriate to
look into competition issues in the retail grocery sector. We said we
were going to study it, but we didn't have any powers when we did
that. The act will give the minister the power to initiate a market
study inquiry. Once the minister initiates it, that will give the bu-
reau the power to go to court under the market study to compel
records from people involved in the study.

Mr. Marty Morantz: If we were to seek an amendment around
this, what would you like Bill C-56 to say?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: As we said in our recommendations to
the government, we'd like it so the commissioner can initiate a mar-
ket study inquiry, whether that's in addition to the minister directing
a market study inquiry or just the commissioner on his or her own.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Mr. Bester, the act is named the affordable
housing and groceries act. Do you think the name of the act actual-
ly reflects the provisions of the act?

Mr. Keldon Bester: As I said, I think this act is an investment in
the future of competition in markets much beyond grocery. We've
seen a particular focus on anti-competitive agreements.

With the restrictive covenants, clearly there is an onus on gro-
cery, but I think the great part about the Competition Act is the
economy-wide framework. If you strengthen it with one market in
mind, you really are strengthening the approach across the econo-
my.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Morantz.

Now we'll go to MP Baker.

Mr. Yvan Baker: Thanks very much, Mr. Chair.

Thanks to all the witnesses for being with us today. I won't have
a chance to ask questions of all of you, but I appreciate your input
and look forward to asking some of you some questions.

I'm going to focus the questions toward you, Mr. Ross, at the out-
set.

I know you said that we don't want to politicize housing, and I
agree we shouldn't, but I share my colleague Mr. Blaikie's concern
about what Pierre Poilievre said about co-op housing. Let's de-
politicize it for a moment.

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!

Mr. Yvan Baker: For my constituents who are watching and
who want to understand what co-op housing is, what is co-op hous-
ing?

Mr. Timothy Ross: Housing co-operatives in Canada are not-
for-profit associations incorporated under provincial or territorial
legislation or federal legislation, like a business act or a non-profit
act. They are an association of members whose mutual purpose is
to develop and provide housing at cost on a not-for-profit basis.
Members elect a board of directors to oversee the co-operative and
hire the management to ensure the co-operative is well run, runs as
affordably as possible and maintains a good state of repair.

Those are some essential elements of a housing co-operative in
Canada.

Mr. Yvan Baker: Who owns the housing in a co-op?

Mr. Timothy Ross: The members who live in the co-operative
own the co-operative.

Mr. Yvan Baker: There's nothing “Soviet-style” sounding in
that to me.

The irony is Mr. Poilievre's concern about co-ops being a “Sovi-
et-style takeover of housing”, which they're clearly not, while he
seems to be okay with a “Soviet-style takeover” of Ukraine. How-
ever, that's a conversation for another day.

Mr. Ross, could we talk about the GST rebate for a moment and
how that is going to impact housing supply? We all know housing
supply is one of the key reasons we've seen the price of housing go
up. The GST rebate is focused on purpose-built rentals. We've had
witness after witness come forward here at the finance committee
and tell us the GST rebate on purpose-built rentals will help in-
crease the supply of purpose-built rentals. Obviously, all things be-
ing equal, if you increase the supply, that should help with the price
of housing.
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I'm wondering what your thoughts are on this. If you build more
purpose-built rentals and folks move into the new rental units that
are constructed, presumably they vacate other units—other forms
of housing of all kinds. Do you think the GST rebate will impact
the pricing, the affordability or even the supply of other forms of
housing outside of purpose-built rentals?

Mr. Timothy Ross: I would agree with the many experts who
have indicated that the rebate will incentivize the creation of multi-
unit residential rental housing, now including co-ops thanks to this
legislation.

As to whether that supply is affordable or not, I would say it's
very difficult to create affordable supply in today's market with the
high cost of land and construction, the supply and labour issues and
the high cost of borrowing. The starting rents that are being asked
for new multi-unit residential housing today will not be affordable
to those with low and moderate incomes. That's why it's important
to complement this with other initiatives that directly invest in
funding and financing of new supply of non-market housing, non-
profit housing and co-operative housing.

Research indicates that in 2021 we had a supply deficit of 1.4
million homes affordable to low- and moderate-income households.
This rebate is very important, because it will increase supply and
will be the difference between making some projects go forward or
not. However, it's also important to complement it with strong in-
vestments in community housing and co-operative housing to make
sure that everybody has access to housing in Canada.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Baker.

MP Ste-Marie, go ahead, please, for two and a half minutes.

[Translation]
Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Castiblanco, in my party, we prefer to provide more support
for social housing, which includes cooperatives, as a housing inter-
vention measure or strategy. We have problems with the term "af-
fordable", because affordability is not based on ability to pay, and
affordable housing is very often not really affordable. The Minister
was very clear earlier: in Bill C-56, the GST credit is for all hous-
ing units, not just affordable units. The Minister would have had
the power to define it, but she decided that what is wanted is simply
more housing.

Since the bill was presented to us, we have been asking the Min-
ister and her team to show us their studies, their projections, their
figures, and we have been given an undertaking by them that they
will do so. The measure is expensive and targets all housing, so we
wanted to know what more it would provide. Just now, the officials
seemed to say that there had been no studies, and the Minister quot-
ed a study by an academic, Mike Moffatt. That is all.

My question is this: is the GST credit for all housing units a good
measure? Should we support it? Can you remind us of what has to
be done and, if you have the time, the importance of having data or
models on which to base decisions of this kind?

Mr. Carlos Castiblanco: Thank you for the question.

The measure as it stands in the bill is clearly insufficient. Yes, it
is intended to stimulate supply, but it is not very precise. There are

a lot of low-income people who will not necessarily benefit from it.
We welcome the inclusion of housing cooperatives in all new apart-
ment buildings, because that will expand the supply that is more in-
tended for the communities that really need them.

We also have to understand that this is just one mechanism. In-
creasing supply is not about just increasing one type of supply; it is
not just about increasing the supply of rental units. We also have to
increase supply in general, to give everyone the right to have decent
housing. It is important to base decisions on studies that may show
this. According to a number of presentations that have been made,
in Canada it is only 3.5% while in other countries in Europe it is 15
to 30%.

We are also not wanting to eliminate the construction of rental
housing. We are really wanting to increase general supply so that
everyone, regardless of their income, has access to decent housing.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Ste-Marie.
[English]

MP Blaikie, go ahead, please.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you.

This is for either Mr. Ross or Ms. Houle.

I'm curious to know whether in your travels you've become
aware of non-profit or non-market housing projects that received or
were awarded federal grants, federal funding or federal financing
under the national housing strategy and that have since been put on
pause because of rising interest rates. Do you think applying this
GST rebate to those projects might help them get back under way?

Mrs. Marie-Josée Houle: Do you want to speak to that, Tim?

Mr. Timothy Ross: Yes.

We know of many projects that are stuck right now because of
the rising cost of borrowing, so it's important that we do two things.
One, the rebate certainly helps, but from the co-operative housing
sector's point of view, the second very important thing is that the
federal government launch as soon as possible the co-op housing
development program first committed to in budget 2022. There is a
lost opportunity cost in the time that it has taken to get this program
to market, and we know of many projects that are waiting for this
program to launch that would be ready to go.



86 FINA-121

November 20, 2023

We are very appreciative of the rebate. We know that the fall
economic statement has also increased the contribution level to the
co-op housing development program. That is absolutely critical to
making the program create projects that are economically and so-
cially viable and at an appropriate affordability level. All that being
said, we would really love to see the program launch as soon as
possible.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I hear you.

Ms. Houle, are you aware of projects in that vein?
Mrs. Marie-Josée Houle: Yes, absolutely.

I think Ray Sullivan from the Canadian Housing and Renewal
Association commented on the GST rebate moving forward, espe-
cially wishing that it could also be applicable to projects that were
started a couple of years ago and then stalled. Through interim fi-
nancing and the interest rate going up, the numbers have changed
from the inception to what's happening now, so a lot of projects
have stalled and it's unfortunate because they're not housing people.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Where CMHC is involved, do you think it
would be useful to lock in the interest rate earlier in the project? I'll
put this to both of you again, perhaps Ms. Houle first and then Mr.
Ross.

Mrs. Marie-Josée Houle: Well, at least you know what you're
looking at. When you do construction—and I was a developer for
many years—you have your interim financing and you have your
rate for that. Then, when you're ready to move in and you get your
occupancy permit, you lock in your interest rate, and the ground
has moved so quickly.

However, there are ways to decrease that amount. It's to have a
direct relationship with government and not have all these middle
groups having their cut along the way—so relationships with banks.
Co-ops and non-profits need a direct funding relationship with gov-
ernment to decrease that rate.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Blaikie.
Now we'll go to MP Chambers.

I haven't heard from you.
Mr. Adam Chambers: Thanks very much, Mr. Chair.

I'm okay. I'm here. I'm glad to participate, as always.
The Chair: That's good.
Mr. Adam Chambers: Mr. Boswell, there were a number of sig-

nificant Competition Act changes made in the first budget bill in
2022. Is that correct?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: That's correct.

Mr. Adam Chambers: The process, as | understand it, was that
draft regulations were proposed and there was a round of consulta-
tions. Normally in such a case, the government would circulate fi-
nal regulations for a final round of consultations. That didn't hap-
pen. Is that correct? Are you aware of the process?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: Was that in 2022?
Mr. Adam Chambers: Yes, it was 2022.

Mr. Matthew Boswell: No, I don't believe that happened. 1 be-
lieve it was part of budget 2022 and flowed from there.

Mr. Adam Chambers: Right. At the time, the government billed
these Competition Act changes as monumental, but only provided
industry an ability to comment on them once. Fast-forward another
year, and they made off-budget cycle changes to the Competition
Act with a separate bill, and they also called them monumental.
They obviously forgot about them in the budget just a couple of
months ago but came up with these new ideas just a few months
later.

Are you concerned that we have significant changes to Competi-
tion Act law being driven a bit more by politics than by good public
policy?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: 1 don't want to get into the political
sphere; that's clearly not my role, but what I can say is that a very
extensive consultation on the future of competition policy in
Canada was undertaken by Innovation, Science and Economic De-
velopment. There were some officials here earlier. We participated
in that as one of the multiple parties that were interested in the fu-
ture of competition policy.

I think there were 400 submissions, including from business or-
ganizations and the Canadian Bar Association. It was extensive and
long; it went on for a while. We put in a lengthy submission of over
50 recommendations, and lots of other parties responded to our rec-
ommendations and put forward their own.

As somebody who was involved and also an observer, I would
describe it as a pretty comprehensive consultation.

Mr. Adam Chambers: I can appreciate that. I guess what I'm a
bit concerned about is that every three or four or six months, the
government comes out with what they call monumental changes to
the Competition Act, which is kind of on a piecemeal basis and
with not as much time to consult on the final version of what
they're proposing.

I mean, this is the consultation on the final version of significant
Competition Act changes, when they could have put it in the budget
just a couple of months ago.

Mr. Matthew Boswell: I'm sorry. I'm not really placed to com-
ment on what they can or can't do. I'm just a lowly government em-
ployee.

Voices: Oh, oh!

Mr. Adam Chambers: Listen, with what's going on in the
world, I appreciate that you're in a very tough spot.

Mr. Lee, thank you for coming back to committee. I always love
having you here.

The government talks about significant houses that will be built
as a result of cutting the GST off of purpose-built apartment rentals.
I'll concede that point. It's something that the Conservatives had
proposed previously.

At the same time, Natural Resources Canada has come out with
proposed changes to Canada's building code. They proposed these
changes in 2017. No department, as far as we can tell, because
we've asked officials, has done an analysis on how much additional
cost that will add to each unit.
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Don't you think that's a number we should want to know?

Dr. Ian Lee: Well, of course, because we're talking about the
problem of housing today. As you've already heard from the other
panellists, we have a problem with housing. Whether the figure is
CHMC's 2.5 million or 3.2 million, we have an enormous supply
shortage. Second, because of the land prices going up, it's far more
costly to build a unit. Anything that drives up the cost now will
make it even more acute. We should at least have a good cost-bene-
fit analysis of what the cost is before we go forward and make a
policy decision.

Mr. Adam Chambers: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair. I think
that's my time.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Chambers.

Now we go to MP Dzerowicz, please.
Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank everyone for answering questions and being here
with us this evening to answer questions on Bill C-56.

My first question is for you, Mr. Boswell. We had officials here
earlier, and I asked questions about all of the ways we're trying to
improve competition policy in Canada. For me, it didn't seem like it
was willy-nilly. It seemed like there was a very deliberate plan to
improve competition in Canada. It was very thoughtful in terms of
how they were going about doing it.

One thing we are worried about here in Canada is around pro-
ductivity and business investment. Can you comment on the
changes we've made to competition policy? Do you think it will
have a positive impact on improving productivity and business in-
vestment here in Canada?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: Well, more competition in the economy,
however that's generated, will result in a bunch of very positive
outcomes. I'm sure you've heard about it all day today in terms of
lower prices, more choice, more innovation and better service. It al-
so drives productivity growth, though, which we all know Canada
is in desperate need of at this time, and GDP growth. Improvements
to the competition law framework over time will, we believe, im-
prove competition in Canada.

I should say, though, and Mr. Lee referenced this in his opening
statement, that this is not the end of the discussion. One of the big
problems we have in Canada is regulatory barriers to competition.
We at the bureau have been pointing this out for some time now.
We really need to take a whole-of-government approach to compe-
tition in our economy, at all levels of government, to examine the
regulations we have that might unnecessarily hinder competition.

These reforms are important to give the bureau more powers to
be an effective law enforcement agency. The government increased
our budget, which had been stagnant for a very long time. They did
that in 2021. In 2022 there were amendments. There are amend-
ments in Bill C-56. As we heard last week in the fall economic
statement, there's more to come.

That's all very important for the policy framework and for the en-
forcement of the law, but we also have to be a country that takes
competition seriously in the organization of all its affairs, including
how governments regulate and how they can unintentionally hinder

competition through regulations without analyzing the competitive
impact.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Thank you, I appreciate that.

My next question, because I have only another two minutes left,
is for Mr. Ross.

Mr. Ross, you have been in my riding a number of times, be-
cause I have a number of co-ops, and co-ops are very popular. I
want to thank you for your leadership in promoting the co-op hous-
ing development program we announced in 2022. We hear your
message very loud and clear in terms of getting that launched AS-
AP, so thank you for that.

Our federal government has also invested in supporting co-ops in
terms of providing top-ups, I think for 10 years. Can you remind us
of how federal government investment in co-ops has been support-
ive of them and keeping them going and healthy in Canada?

Mr. Timothy Ross: I believe you may be referring to the federal
community housing initiative, which is a program that doesn't sub-
sidize housing co-operatives but helps low-income members of
housing co-operatives with their cost of housing so that they can re-
main affordably housed and stably housed within the communities
they're so much a part of. That was a $500-million investment
through the national housing strategy.

That program did replace stable rental assistance to low-income
households that had been in place for decades previously, so we
welcome the 10-year reinvestment to create security of tenure for
low-income members of housing co-operatives, though 2028 is
coming quite soon, so we will certainly be seeking solutions to
make sure co-ops remain inclusive, mixed-income communities
and affordable to low-income households as well.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Dzerowicz.

Members and witnesses, we're going into our third round, which
will be our last round.

We are starting with MP Lawrence for five minutes.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you very much.

I'd like to thank you guys for all being here late on a Monday
night. That's terrific—thank you very much for your commitment
to Crown and country, as it were.

Mr. Boswell, I have a question for you, just a technical question.
With respect, of course, to the fanfare for the elimination of the ef-
ficiencies defence, the amendment does leave in section 90.1(4),
which has similar language to section 96. Are you concerned at all
that the efficiencies defence stays in place or could potentially be in
place without the elimination of section 90.1(4)?
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Mr. Matthew Boswell: Yes, we believe it should be repealed as
well in section 90.1(4), because it doesn't make sense that competi-
tor collaborations could benefit from an efficiencies exception
whereas mergers no longer can. We said in our lengthy submission
to the government that 90.1(4) should be repealed. We've also made
other submissions on how 90.1 could be improved that align with
what Mr. Bester said earlier, because to a great extent, it's a tooth-
less section.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: That's perfect. Thank you very much.

I hope all the members were listening, because there might be an
amendment to that effect.

I want to change course a bit to talk about restrictive covenants.
It's my understanding that the intention is to remove those restric-
tive covenants, where they say, for example, you can't have a bak-
ery within 1,000 miles of the other bakery. My question is, first, is
that true? Secondly, is it retroactive, or is it only going forward in
your understanding?

Mr. Anthony Durocher: The way it's framed in Bill C-56 right
now is such that it would be going forward and take effect a year
from royal assent. Part of what that provision for that change to
section 90.1 would do is that it would enable us to address anti-
competitive agreements between parties that are not direct competi-
tors, so to address vertical agreements, including in the form of re-
strictive covenants, when appropriate.

To add on restrictive covenants, it's certainly an issue that we ex-
amined in the context of our grocery market study. One of our key
recommendations to governments, particularly at the provincial and
territorial level, was that these can be very harmful to competition,
particularly in the grocery sector, and that provincial and territorial
governments should consider limiting their use or banning them
outright.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Mr. Lee, I see you nodding your head
there.

Would you agree with those comments about the removal of re-
strictive...?

Dr. Ian Lee: Yes, and I don't want to leave the impression that [
don't think the Competition Bureau is doing a great job. I think they
are.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Oh, oh!
Dr. Ian Lee: They're doing a fabulous job.

However, that's the sort of.... Those kinds of anti-competitive
practices are what should be pulled out, banned and abolished. Ab-
solutely.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: That's perfect.

I'm sorry. Is it “Mr.” Lee or “Dr.” Lee?

Dr. Ian Lee: It's Ian Lee.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Oh, oh! All right. It's Ian Lee.

Moving on from there, I've talked a bit about—and the other

side's eyes will start glazing over when I mention it—the carbon tax
in this. We're talking about competition. The Fraser Institute has

done reports on the carbon tax. Many other reputable...such as C.D.
Howe have done studies on the impact of the carbon tax.

My belief is that how it hurts competition is twofold.

One is the fact that, of course, it has another cost. Countries like
the United States, India and the People's Republic of China do not
have a carbon tax, so it makes us less competitive.

It also hurts us as we compete to eliminate emissions and be-
come more green. What's happening is that our green companies
are moving over to places like India and West Virginia, where
they're powered by coal. Instead of clean natural gas, our manufac-
turers are putting.... We're moving them aside, so we're actually
greenwashing, creating more emissions and losing out on that.

I'd like to get your thoughts, in general, with respect to the car-
bon tax and competition.

Dr. Ian Lee: Okay. I'll be very quick.

I talk about this in my classes. I don't think anyone should deny
the Pigou tax. Professor Pigou created the idea of putting a tax on
something. Make it more expensive, and we consume less of it.
That's a Pigou tax—a carbon tax, a cigarette tax or an alcohol tax.
They work.

The problem is, in this instance, we're in a unique market. We
think we're huge in Canada, and we are, geographically, but we're
very small. We're smaller than the state of California. There are
fewer people in Canada than in California, and they do not have a
carbon tax. They are our largest competitor. Pierre Trudeau said
they are our best friend, whether we like that or not.

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!

Dr. Ian Lee: There are 330 million...and they are the largest,
most productive and most dynamic economy in the world. China is
actually declining as a percentage of U.S. GDP. Europe is declin-
ing. People don't realize that. The United States keeps getting big-
ger, larger and more competitive, and we have to take that into ef-
fect. For GDP and income per person, the gap between us and the
States is widening. We have to pay our government services, uni-
versities, health care and so forth with the revenues that come in.
However, our GDP per person is not increasing, so our standard of
living is declining relative to that of the United States. That's going
to precipitate a brain drain to the States.

There are all kinds of things we should take into effect when
looking at our relationship vis-a-vis the United States.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Lawrence.

MP Thompson.
Ms. Joanne Thompson: Thank you.

Thank you, again, to the witnesses for staying with us. It's been a
long evening. I'm sure it's been, for you, probably, a long day as
well.

1 will start with you, Mrs. Houle.
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You referenced—thank you for this—housing as a human right. I
absolutely agree with you. I would go so far as to say it's also very
clearly part of the determinants of health. I think the link in the ac-
celerator fund to transit and to understanding how we live in a
broader community is very important. We are realizing that housing
is a link to well-being, connectivity and all those things that enable
people to be well in the place they live. Obviously, it's complex.
There are many players who need to be at the table, and there are
many solutions.

You also referenced, as part of that link, rent stabilization across
the country. Would you speak about that for a moment and about
what role the federal government can play, if any, in terms of creat-
ing a lead?

There are provinces, provincial links, and I also want, in my little
preamble, to talk about the link to the municipalities in the acceler-
ator fund, because it's closer to the ground and very strongly in the
lead in terms of bringing three layers of government to the table.

Ms. Marie-Josée Houle: Absolutely. I'll start with rent stabiliza-
tion. These mechanisms could be brought in by the federal govern-
ment through their bilateral agreements with provinces, because the
provinces certainly have the jurisdiction over vacancy control and
rent control, but it can be imported as part of the agreement. It has
been done in Canadian history, not too long ago, where it was a
temporary measure until the housing market was stabilized, so this
can be done again.

It is absolutely primordial that the federal government and the
provinces really come to some agreement, because the pointing of
fingers and saying, “This is terrible, but it's them,” has to stop.

This is one mechanism, and this is where we always say that the
federal government needs to take leadership around the question of
housing. It is a national issue. People's circumstances cannot the
change the minute they cross over an invisible line, and this is ex-
actly the case whether it's a municipal line, a provincial line or a
territorial line, or, if you're indigenous, over your community line.

People migrate in this country, so we need something that people
can expect—that they're treated equally and that their human right
to housing is realized equally, regardless of where they live.

That is one. That's why we need federal leadership on this.

I'm sorry, what was the other question, Mr. Chair, if I could ask
the honourable Ms. Thompson to repeat it?

Ms. Joanne Thompson: Thank you.

It was on the link to engaging municipalities in a very specific
way, because obviously I can certainly speak to the challenges
sometimes with zoning. We need to do something substantial in a
short period of time. We need all players at the table, so if we could
have your thoughts there....

Mrs. Marie-Josée Houle: Again, these are amazing opportuni-
ties. I think we are sitting on a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity, and I
see the window closing very quickly. This is very concerning to
me.

With the housing accelerator fund, this is an attempt for the fed-
eral government to have a direct relationship with municipalities

that are willing, with the exception, unfortunately, of municipalities
in Quebec, but, again, to really build in these conditions, because it
is a substantial amount of taxpayers' money.

I come back to the fact that this is taxpayers' money. It is pre-
cious. It needs to have real results, and the results need to be afford-
ability and perpetuity. How do you build that in? Here's our chance.

Ms. Joanne Thompson: Thank you. I agree.

Mr. Ross, if I could, I would like to finish with a quick question
for you. I meet with the local branch of the federation of co-opera-
tives in Newfoundland and Labrador in my riding. Unfortunately,
there are not a lot of them, but they're very enthusiastic, and I'm al-
ways very pleased to support them in any way I can. How do we
get the message across the country that co-operatives are a wonder-
ful way to ensure affordable rents? It's, to some degree, stabilized
rent for people. How do we get the message out to really clear up
the misconceptions about what a co-operative is?

Mr. Timothy Ross: I think the best way to get the message out
about new co-op homes is to build new co-op homes. That's why

we really look forward to, and anticipate, the launch of the co-op
housing development program as soon as possible.

We have, as a sector, worked to co-design that program with the
federal government. We aim to create as many co-op homes as pos-
sible and to create an ongoing sector finance capacity, because gov-
ernment funding and financing comes and goes. It's very important
that we leverage this opportunity to maintain a continuing finance
capacity as a sector.

The answer is to get building, and then more people can benefit
from co-op housing.

Ms. Joanne Thompson: Thank you.

I think I'm out of time. I'll just say that I want to see more in my
riding.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Thompson.

Now, we will go to MP Ste-Marie, please.
[Translation]
Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I quite agree with your comments, Mr. Ross.

Ms. Levac, do you have anything to add concerning the Compe-
tition Act?
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Ms. Sara Eve Levac: In addition to our recommendations re-
garding the powers of the Competition Bureau, another of our rec-
ommendations would be to repeal the efficiencies defence for anti-
competitive agreements as well, not just for mergers.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Can you explain that a little more,
please?

Ms. Sara Eve Levac: Right.

At the international level, to my knowledge, that defence does
not apply to anti-competitive agreements. If that defence is being
repealed for mergers, we do not understand why it should be pre-
served for anti-competitive agreements, since that kind of agree-
ment can have negative effects on competition.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Right, thank you.

Mr. Castiblanco, on the point of the importance of better collabo-
ration among the various levels of government, I imagine that the
answer is not found in Pierre Poilievre's bill, under which the trans-
fers to municipalities would be cut if there is not enough construc-
tion. However, Ms. Freeland seems to have adopted that perspec-
tive in her economic statement.

In your opinion, what does better cooperation among the differ-
ent levels of government look like?

Mr. Carlos Castiblanco: The current agreement between Ot-
tawa and Quebec does not involve municipalities directly, but it
does allow for the rights of each province to be respected. In the
case of an interdepartmental agreement, better cooperation also al-
lows the expectations of a provincial government to be conveyed to
the federal government and allows for the federal and provincial
expectations to be communicated to the municipalities. That suits
everyone and means that the needs of all levels can be analyzed, in-
stead of jumping from the federal level directly to the municipali-
ties.

Even though excellent results were achieved in Ontario, a num-
ber of agreements were signed with certain cities under the same
program. We agree that it also works for the agreement we have be-
tween Quebec and Ottawa.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you.

Bill C-56 proposes to remove the GST for the construction of
rental housing. Would it have been useful for the government to
consult the provinces so they could better align their tax policies in
this regard?

Mr. Carlos Castiblanco: For the moment, what the government
has done is rather to encourage the provinces to take similar mea-
sures of their own. The economic statement established that some
provinces were going to do that and were going to eliminate their
own taxes on new buildings.

That is a good approach. However, the federal government also
cannot force the provinces to take measures of this kind. It can only
suggest that they follow the measures it has already taken.

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you, MP Ste-Marie.

Now we'll go to MP Blaikie.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Boswell, obviously in Bill C-56 there are some important
new powers that the bureau will be getting, and presumably there
are some commensurate expectations as well. I'm wondering, does
your office need some time after royal assent in order to prepare for
managing those new powers, or are these powers that, in your opin-
ion, your office will be able to implement immediately?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: One of the amendments will come into
effect only the year after, which is good. We can engage, as we do,
in transparent communication with the market about making
changes so that they're in compliance with that amendment when it
comes into effect.

The repeal of the efficiencies exception defence will not require
us to do a heck of a lot, because it will in fact take a lot of work—
complicated, expensive work—off our plate that we've been en-
gaged in since 1986. That will be very positive.

On market studies, as I say, we already do them. We're excited
about the idea of having the ability to compel information in con-
nection with a formal market study power. That won't add a
tremendous amount to our workload either.

As I said in the opening statement, when there are amendments
to the law.... With the 2022 amendments to the law, we engaged in a
process of publishing guidance for the business community about
how we were going to approach the different amendments, and we
will do that on a regular basis with any amendments to the act.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Is it normal, that 12-month period for im-
plementation of things that require acceptance in the market, for
lack of a better way of phrasing it? You can put it better if you like.

Mr. Matthew Boswell: 1 don't know the history of delayed im-
plementation after royal assent in all different areas, but I suppose
it's fair to the marketplace to allow people to organize their affairs,
which may have been in place for a long time, so that they're in
compliance with the law.

For example, when a criminal provision to prohibit wage-fixing
and no-poach agreements was added to the Competition Act in June
2022, it did not come into effect until June 2023—just this sum-
mer—to allow businesses that had no-poach agreements in place to
get rid of them so that they weren't criminally violating the law.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Okay. Thank you very much.
The Chair: Thank you, MP Blaikie.

MP Williams is next, please, for five minutes.
Mr. Ryan Williams: Thank you, Chair.

PepsiCo hiked their prices earlier this year, and the CFO is on
record as saying that they can charge whatever they want for their
products.

Is this something that, given new powers, you would investigate?
When we look at big studies, we know that PepsiCo is not alone in
manufacturing.... We talk about shrinkflation and other big prob-
lems occurring across the manufacturing sector.

What do you think off the hop? Would it constitute an investiga-
tion from the Competition Bureau?
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Mr. Matthew Boswell: No.

Generally, the Competition Bureau and competition enforcers
around the world are not price regulators. We enforce the law as it's
set out and don't get into the business of regulating prices in the
economy. That's what competition is supposed to do. If somebody
is charging too much, there are other competitors, like Coca-Cola,
for example. Coca-Cola will sell its products for cheaper and that
will take market share from Pepsi. That's how competition regu-
lates things.

We've been pretty clear about this over the years. We don't really
want to be a price regulator. We're a law enforcement agency. We
apply the competition laws as you folks here in Parliament set
them, and that's what we do.

There are other avenues that the government can regulate if they
feel it's appropriate, but we would prefer it wasn't us.

Mr. Ryan Williams: We need easier barriers to entry. Maybe we
need to see RC Cola re-enter the market or something like that.

I want to swing around and look at the distribution side of the in-
dustry for a second.

As you know, the food wholesale industry is dominated by the
same companies that dominate grocery sales. Particularly, the mid-
dle mile supply is dominated by our two American food giants,
Costco and Walmart.

With price margins getting slimmer and a looming recession on
the horizon, what is the chance of Canadian wholesalers getting
squeezed out of the middle mile and further entrenchment and dom-
inance by our American wholesalers?

Mr. Anthony Durocher: We took a deep dive in our grocery
market study but really focused on the retail side of the issue to
customers. There is a wholesale component that's very important,
particularly because some of the large retailers are vertically inte-
grated and distribute to some independent grocers. That's some-
thing we're very alive to.

Beyond grocery, there are high levels of concentration across the
economy and across the food production landscape. I think our con-
tinued voice in that debate is to probe for open competitive mar-
kets, particularly if there are government regulations that can be at
play to make sure we can bring new entry into the market and con-
tinue to see dynamism in our economy.

Mr. Ryan Williams: We talked to the minister today about the
grocery code of conduct.

It was industry-led, but I guess it was made optional. Is a grocery
code of conduct effective if participation is not mandatory?

Mr. Anthony Durocher: While it's certainly something that is
important, we have not studied that particular issue, about the bene-
fits of the code being mandatory versus voluntary. What we can say
is that we have been closely watching and speaking with stakehold-
ers about the grocery code of conduct. We recognize its potential
importance to giving suppliers the certainty they need to innovate
and invest, which can be good for the entire food segment as well.
It's something on which we continue to monitor the developments
closely in relation to the code of conduct.

Our role in this is to lend our voice as to how it can be as pro-
competitive as possible.

Mr. Ryan Williams: We've heard from a lot of industry mem-
bers about the revised promise of a second phase of the moderniza-
tion of the Competition Act. I know that you submitted, through
consultations, many recommendations.

Do you have any indication from the government...besides what
we call this almost drip, drip, drip? We have lots of little parts that
are making up some good changes, but we need a really good mod-
ernization of the act.

Do you have any indication that it is coming at all? Have you
heard that?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: Well, we heard what everyone else heard
in the fall economic statement, that there are four key areas where
they intend to further amend the Competition Act.

We're looking forward to seeing what that involves, what the lan-
guage is, and the specific amendments to the act. Obviously, we're
hopeful that they align with some of the recommendations we
made.

I think they also indicated that they are going to amend the Com-
petition Tribunal Act on the question of costs.

I have no more insight than anybody in this room on when that's
going to happen or when that implementation bill will be put in
front of Parliament.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Williams.

We are getting close to the finish line here with witnesses on Bill
C-56.

Our final questioner is MP Weiler. No. PS Bendayan is our final
questioner.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I'm bringing it home, sir.

[Translation)

I would like to thank the witnesses who are present on screen and
in person. I understand that it is very late for a Monday evening, so
I thank them for participating in this very important exercise with
us.

[English]
My first question will be for you, Mr. Boswell.

I am wondering if you can help explain to Canadians what hap-
pened in June this past year. My understanding is that the Canada
Bread Company was fined $50 million, which is the largest fine, I
believe, in competition history here in Canada.

I wonder if you can walk us through what exactly happened and,
in your view, whether that was a significant step or a significant
moment in competition law here in Canada.
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Mr. Matthew Boswell: Canada Bread's criminal guilty plea in
the summer related to our extensive investigation into allegations of
criminal price-fixing in the bread industry in Canada over many
years. Canada Bread was a co-operative party with our criminal in-
vestigation through what we call our leniency program, which is an
established program that many of our colleagues around the world
also have. The fine that it received was the highest price-fixing fine
ever in Canada. We continue to pursue that investigation.

The way it works for us with criminal investigations is that we
are the investigative body—we're the police force, for lack of a bet-
ter term—and we go through all the facts and all the evidence we
can uncover with respect to allegations of price-fixing or, in other
cases, bid-rigging. We then provide that as a package to the Public
Prosecution Service of Canada as a referral. It makes a decision on
whether or not to lay criminal charges against other parties under
investigation.

As far as it relates to other companies that are involved in our in-
vestigation, there's no finding of wrongdoing at this time, but we
have benefited from the co-operation of both Loblaw and Weston
Foods—and now Canada Bread.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: How long did that investigation go on
for? Is it still ongoing?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: The investigation has been going on for
some time, and it's ongoing.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Can you be a bit more specific about
“some time”?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: Do you mean when we started it? It was
several years ago. I don't know the exact date.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Are there any recommendations that you
might like to share with our committee in light of that experience
you've just had?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: Fundamentally—and I'm not talking
specifically about this particular case—in criminal investigations,
the criminal standard of proof is very high, and it's important that
we do our job carefully and well. The Public Prosecution Service of
Canada expects that of us. It scrutinizes our referrals and applies a
test to decide whether or not charges will be laid, whether there's a
reasonable prospect of conviction and whether it's in the public in-
terest.

This investigation—and this is public—is a very large, wide-
ranging investigation involving many companies over an extended
period of time, but as I said, there's no finding of wrongdoing at
this point with respect to those other companies.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Do you think we should raise or modify
the minimum fine in relation to matters such as that, or any other?

Mr. Matthew Boswell: The fines with respect to price-fixing are
now at the discretion of the court, so there's no max. There used to
be a max, and the Competition Bureau suggested that it wasn't ap-
propriate to have a max. We were pleased to see that removed.

At the end of the day, it is a decision, first of all, for the Public
Prosecution Service of Canada to make on what fine, upon a find-
ing of guilt, it would advocate for. Ultimately, it's up to a criminal
judge.

The fact that there's no cap, we believe, is important, especially
in these criminal conspiracy cases, which can be quite significant.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: In cases of price-fixing, Canadians are
the ones paying the price.

Thank you very much, Mr. Boswell.
The Chair: Thank you, PS Bendayan.

To our excellent expert witnesses, thank you for your hard work
and for your advocacy on housing and competition. We thank you
for your testimony before our committee on Bill C-56.

We are suspended until Wednesday.

[The meeting was suspended at 9:29 p.m., Monday, November
27, 2023]

[The meeting resumed at 4:37 p.m., Wednesday, November 29,
2023]

The Chair: We are resuming meeting number 121 of the House
of Commons Standing Committee on Finance.

Pursuant to the order of reference of Thursday, November 23,
2023, the committee is resuming its study of Bill C-56, an act to
amend the Excise Tax Act and the Competition Act.

I'd like to provide members of the committee with a few com-
ments on how the committee will proceed with the clause-by-clause
consideration of Bill C-56.

As the name indicates, this is an examination of all the clauses in
the order in which they appear in the bill. I will call each clause
successively, and each clause is subject to debate and a vote.

If there is an amendment to the clause in question, I will recog-
nize the member proposing it, who may explain it.

I'd like to remind committee members that pursuant to the order
adopted by the House on Thursday, November 23, all amendments
had to be submitted to the clerk of the committee by noon yester-
day.

As a result, the chair will allow only amendments submitted be-
fore that deadline to be moved and debated. In other words, only
amendments contained in the distribution package of amendments
will be considered.

When no further members wish to intervene, the amendment will
be voted on. Amendments will be considered in the order in which
they appear in the package each member received from the clerk.

In addition to having to be properly drafted in a legal sense,
amendments must also be procedurally admissible. The chair may
be called upon to rule amendments inadmissible if they go against
the principle of the bill or beyond the scope of the bill—both of
which were adopted by the House when it agreed to government
business motion 30 and the bill at second reading—or if they of-
fend the financial prerogative of the Crown.
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Amendments have been given a number in brackets in the top
right corner to indicate which party submitted them. There is no
need for a seconder to move an amendment. Once it has been
moved, you will need unanimous consent to withdraw it.

During debate on an amendment, members are permitted to
move subamendments. Subamendments must be provided in writ-
ing. Those subamendments do not require the approval of the
mover of the amendment. Only one subamendment may be consid-
ered at a time, and that subamendment cannot be amended.

When a subamendment is moved to an amendment, it is voted on
first. Then, another subamendment may be moved, or the commit-
tee may consider the main amendment and vote on it.

Finally, pursuant to the order adopted by the House, if the com-
mittee has not completed the clause-by-clause consideration of the
bill by 11:59 p.m., all remaining amendments submitted to the com-
mittee shall be deemed moved, the chair shall put the question
forthwith and successively without further debate on all remaining
clauses and amendments submitted to the committee, as well as
each and every question necessary to dispose of the clause-by-
clause consideration of the bill, and the committee shall not adjourn
the meeting until it has disposed of the bill.

I thank members for their attention and wish everyone a produc-
tive clause-by-clause consideration of Bill C-56.

Today's meeting is taking place in a hybrid format pursuant to
Standing Order 15.1. Members are attending in person in the room
and remotely using the Zoom application.

I'd like to make a few comments for the benefit of the witnesses
and members.

Please wait until I recognize you by name before speaking. For
those participating by video conference, click on the microphone
icon to activate your microphone, and please mute yourself when
you are not speaking.

Regarding interpretation for those on Zoom, you have the choice
at the bottom of your screen of floor, English or French audio.

For those in the room, you can use the earpiece and select the de-
sired channel.

Although this room is equipped with a powerful audio system,
feedback events can occur. These can be extremely harmful to in-
terpreters and cause serious injuries. The most common cause of
sound feedback is an earpiece worn too close to the microphone.
We therefore ask all participants to exercise a high degree of cau-
tion when handling the earpieces, especially when your microphone
or your neighbour's microphone is turned on. In order to prevent in-
cidents and safeguard the hearing health of the interpreters, I invite
participants to ensure that they speak into the microphone into
which their headset is plugged and avoid manipulating the earbuds
by placing them on the table away from the microphone when they
are not in use.

I will remind you that all comments should be addressed through
the chair.

For members in the room, if you wish to speak, please raise your
hand. For members on Zoom, please use the “raise hand” function.
The clerk and I will manage the speaking order as best we can, and
we appreciate your patience and understanding in this regard.

In accordance with the committee's routine motion concerning
connection tests for witnesses, I've been informed that all witnesses
have completed the required connection tests in advance of the
meeting.

Members, just before we welcome our witnesses, you should
have received the budgets that we need approved. Could I just get a
thumbs-up?

(Motion agreed to)
The Chair: That's great. Those are approved.
Thanks to you and to the clerk.

Today, we are studying Bill C-56, an act to amend the Excise Tax
Act and the Competition Act.

With us today are our witnesses. From the Department of Fi-
nance, we have Robert Ives, who is an expert adviser on real prop-
erty and financial institutions. From the Department of Industry,
Mark Schaan is with us. He is the senior assistant deputy minister
of the strategy and innovation policy sector. Also from the Depart-
ment of Industry, we have Samir Chhabra, who has joined us. He is
the director general of the marketplace framework policy branch.
Finally, we have Martin Simard, who is the senior director in the
strategy and innovation policy sector.

Those are all of the officials who are with us today.

I saw MP Ste-Marie.
[Translation]
Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I have a few comments to make concerning the conduct of the
study we are doing of Bill C-56. I don't know whether this is the
right time to talk about it. If not, I will do it when I speak to the
first amendment I am going to suggest.

I want to let you know that I will shortly be withdrawing two of
the amendments that I submitted. I am not happy about withdraw-
ing them, because they reflect needs that have been expressed by
groups of experts in the field who are directly affected by
Bill C-56. However, as they stand, those amendments would have
adverse effects that might outweigh the benefits they were sup-
posed to provide.

I am talking about this because we have a serious problem. We
had to submit our amendments at the same time as we were listen-
ing to the witnesses in committee. Why? Because, as a result of the
super gag order, we did not have enough time to do our work prop-
erly in committee. This is very serious. The fact that the govern-
ment has an agreement and everything will be passed does not
mean that we should bypass the work that members do in commit-
tee. This kind of contempt for parliamentarians is rarely seen. We
cannot do our work properly.
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I will give you an example. On day 1, at the briefing on
Bill C-56, we asked the finance department officials to send us the
projections they had concerning the GST rebate. What effects were
expected? How many more buildings and units would be built?
How many fewer condos would be built? What figures is the bill
based on? The day before yesterday, I again asked the Minister for
these figures, and she said yes and they would be sent to us.

Now we are shortly going to be starting the clause by clause
study of the bill, but we are going to be voting blindly, in a fog, be-
cause we still do not have those figures. The Minister named an
academic who she said had done a study that the officials seemed
not even to have read. That is not a serious way of doing things; it
is not disciplined. We are still waiting. Ordinarily, I would not be
prepared to vote, because I have not received the finance depart-
ment's answer, even though the Minister of Finance undertook to
send us the information.

On this point, I want to reiterate that the finance department
seems to regard members of Parliament with contempt. For the last
two years, when in camera studies of the budget or the economic
statement took place, there were no officials on site to answer our
questions, despite our repeated requests. Journalists, however, get
in-person access to the officials. We are given only hard copy docu-
ments, while journalists have access to the same documents on
USB keys. It is as if the media were more trustworthy than mem-
bers of Parliament, the people's elected representatives. It reflects
the finance department's perception of the House of Commons and
its members. It is unacceptable.

This week, in addition, we received a notice of ways and means
motion five minutes before the briefing started. I would reiterate
that there was no summary. There was nothing. We received
529 pages of incomprehensible legislative and tax gibberish and we
had only five minutes to read the whole thing before asking the of-
ficials our questions. That shows the contempt that the department
has for Parliament. I have an assistant who does research and has
worked in the party for 25 years, and he says he has never seen
things done this way in 25 years. As well, during the presentation,
the sound quality of the official's remarks was so bad that we did
not understand half of what he said. I was the only member who
asked questions. I asked two questions. The answers were clear, but
we did not have the means to prepare.

Then they will be coming to us with Bill C-60, the follow-up leg-
islation, and I warn you. There are two weeks and a bit left before
the work of the House is adjourned for the winter break. Does the
government seriously want to get through the entire process to en-
act this mammoth bill and still think we are going to be able to do
our job well? Does it not care at all about our work? This is not ac-
ceptable.

Some of the amendments I will shortly be proposing and I will
not be withdrawing may create inconsistencies in the act. They
were drafted with the help of the Office of the Law Clerk, but it
was done quickly. The message I am sending to the government is
"tough": if my amendments are adopted and create inconsistencies,
it will be up to you to introduce other legislation to solve the prob-
lems, because you do not respect the work we do here, and that is
unacceptable.

I hope that for the next budget implementation bill acceptable
time is allowed so we are able to do our work properly.

In Bill C-60, for example, there should be the follow-up to the
reform of the Competition Act. This is the first time in 37 years that
there has been such a reform. However, if we want it to be enacted
by Christmas, we can expect that we will not even have time to
study it. Ultimately, there will be a reform of the Competition Act,
when there has not been one for 37 years and there have been
20 years of calls for reform, but we will not even be able to do our
work on it properly. This is not a serious way of doing things and it
is undisciplined.

1 oppose gag orders. Obviously, my party will always be in oppo-
sition here. I do not like it when Parliament is gagged. The govern-
ment, which is in charge of how the work is done, could at least al-
low enough time for us to be able to hear witnesses and experts in
committee, to talk to officials, and be able to delve a little more
deeply into things and do our work properly.

That has not been possible with Bill C-56. That is why I am
shortly going to withdraw two of my amendments and why some of
my other amendments might create problems in the overall struc-
ture of the bill. However, we have no choice, because of the super
gag order that limited us to a single day of study before going to the
vote. That is unacceptable.

During the pandemic, it might have been excusable; that was a
special situation. Now, however, we have had two years of the fi-
nance department not respecting members of Parliament by pre-
venting us from doing our work properly, both in camera and in
committee and the House. This has to change, please.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Ste-Marie.
[English]

On MP Ste-Marie's point of order, go ahead.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: In brief, I think that was extremely well
said—eloquent, I might say as well. I realize that we are where we
are with respect to Bill C-56, but Conservatives would agree almost
entirely with your comments, Mr. Ste-Marie.

As we go forward into the fall economic statement, I know Mr.
Blaikie particularly to be an advocate for good process. I'm hoping
he will use his voice and his power to make sure that we have a
good process with respect to the fall economic statement.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Lawrence.
I have PS Bendayan.
[Translation]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I would like to thank Mr. Ste-Marie for his introductory com-
ments.



November 20, 2023

FINA-121 95

I would just like to point out that we had over 20 hours of debate
on Bill C-56 in the House, in addition to six hours of debate on mo-
tion number 30. We debated this bill at great length in the House. I
understand that it was a bit tight this week, but we are 10 days from
the end of the parliamentary session. As well, I think that everyone
around the table agrees that this is a bill that should be passed be-
fore the holidays.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you, PS Bendayan.

Now members, as per the annotated agenda pursuant to Standing
Order 75(1), consideration of clause 1, the short title, is postponed.
The chair calls clause 2.

(On clause 2)
The Chair: On clause 2 we have Bloc-1.

MP Ste-Marie.

[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you.

As was said at the meeting on Monday, we have been contacted
by many entrepreneurs to tell us that in their opinion, there are
vague points in the bill when it comes to the GST credit that will be
applied to projects. This is an example that comes up often: a
project has been started, but the ground floor, which will house
commercial premises, has not yet been begun. They want to build
rental housing above. These entrepreneurs want to know what point
marks the start of the project, so they know what it consists of.

If the first shovel of earth has been turned, we can assume that it
is for the commercial part. They are in the process of deciding how
many storeys they want to build and wondering what to do with the
rest of the project. Whether they will have access to credit will
change their financing arrangement and what will be built. They
have to know this information in order to determine whether they
will construct a five-storey building or an eight-storey building, for
example. That is what we are being told.

We have therefore requested clarification. Because we have not
received any clarification from the Minister, or at least this is my
understanding of what has been said, this is what we are proposing
here: for a project that has been started but for which the housing
component did not start before September 14, 2023, we suggest that
the project be considered to be eligible, in order to provide more
stimulus for building housing.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you, MP Ste-Marie.
I have PS Bendayan who would like to speak to this.

[Translation]
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
I have had the opportunity to speak with my colleague. I have a

lot of respect for amendment BQ-1, but there are a few points |
would like to clarify.

The intent of the bill, and in particular the measures to encourage
housing construction, is really to provide an incentive for new sup-
ply, not to reward existing supply.

In addition, we understand that the change proposed in amend-
ment BQ-1 would actually involve new spending. On the govern-
ment side, we would like to spend on building more housing, not
rewarding the existing supply, as I said.

For those two reasons, I will not be able to vote for the Bloc
Québécois amendment.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you, PS Bendayan.

Is there anyone else to speak?

Shall amendment BQ-1 carry?

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I'd like a recorded vote, Mr. Chair.

(Amendment negatived: nays 6; yeas 5 [See Minutes of Proceed-
ings])

(Clause 2 agreed to)

(On clause 3)
The Chair: Clause 3 has amendment BQ-2.

No, it's withdrawn. We are now at amendment NDP-1.

Mr. Blaikie, go ahead.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

This amendment essentially is to allow the commissioner to con-
duct—

The Chair: Mr. Blaikie, you are moving this.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I am.

The Chair: Okay, just let me read something into the record
here.

If amendment NDP-1 is adopted, members, amendment CPC-1
cannot be moved because of a line conflict. The House of Commons
Procedure and Practice, third edition, states on page 769:

Amendments must be proposed following the order of the text to be amended.
Once a line of a clause has been amended by the committee, it cannot be further
amended by a subsequent amendment as a given line may be amended only
once.

That's just so members are aware of that.

MP Blaikie, go ahead.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

The purpose of this amendment is to allow the commissioner to
initiate, on their own authority, a market or industry inquiry. There's
some allowance for consultation with the minister, but it does not
allow the minister to prevent the commissioner from moving ahead.

That is the essence of the amendment, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Okay.
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MP Lawrence, go ahead, please.
Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

We'll make a decision as to whether we want to go forward with
the CPC one or the NDP one, so [ will, at this point, make an argu-
ment for why I believe it should be the CPC one.

The CPC one would give solely the commissioner the ability to
make a decision about an investigation, thus taking it out of the po-
litical realm. This is what the commissioner asked for fairly clearly
with respect to the testimony. Conservatives fear that if investiga-
tions are allowed to be directed by a minister, they could be politi-
cized and used as a weapon to attack companies that are un-
favourable to the government.

Not to be antagonistic, but we certainly have seen, in the past,
governments that have utilized their powers to promote one compa-
ny over another. Therefore, Conservatives are in favour of a com-
pletely and 100% depoliticized situation in which it is a non-parti-
san, independent commissioner who decides who will be investi-
gated.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Lawrence.

We are on amendment NPD-1.

Is there anybody else to speak to NDP-1?
(Amendment agreed to [See Minutes of Proceedings))
The Chair: We are onto amendment BQ-3.

MP Ste-Marie, go ahead, please.

[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: This amendment is in the same vein,
and, according to the legislative clerk, it may also be adopted, and
be added to the others. Its purpose is to give the Competition Bu-
reau the power to initiate its own inquiries without needing to con-
sult the minister. The commissioner would also have the power to
extend an inquiry if they considered it necessary. The commissioner
would therefore have more independence.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Ste-Marie.
[English]
Is there anybody to speak to this?

Go ahead, MP Blaikie.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: My impression is that NDP-1 provided suf-
ficient authority for the commissioner to be able to initiate his own
studies. I appreciate there are some differences, but my plan is to
vote against.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, MP Blaikie.

Is there anyone else?
We will have a recorded vote.

(Amendment negatived: nays 10; yeas 1 [See Minutes of Pro-
ceedings])

(Clause 3 as amended agreed to on division)

The Chair: Members, we do have the next four clauses and if
we have unanimous consent we can adopt all of those. Those are
clauses 4, 5, 6, and 7.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I'm sorry. I just need a clarification there.

Has BQ-4 been withdrawn?
The Chair: No, that is clause 7.1. That's a new clause.
Mr. Philip Lawrence: Okay, I'm ahead of the game.

The Chair: We do have unanimous consent.
(Clauses 4 to 7 inclusive agreed to)

The Chair: We are at new clause 7.1, BQ-4.
No...? Okay, that has been withdrawn.

We are onto BQ-5.
[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The purpose of amendment BQ-5 is to incorporate an element of
the bill introduced by Jagmeet Singh, the leader of the NDP. In our
opinion, it is a very important point. It was raised on Monday dur-
ing debate. When a business has a regional monopoly, there is no
room for competition, as in the case of a service station located in
the middle of an isolated highway. Given the fixed costs, no com-
peting business could ever be more efficient in that location than
the one that has the monopoly. When profits and prices are consid-
ered to be too high, there must therefore be a power to intervene.

I am also thinking of situations in villages. In the village where
my parents live, there is room for only one grocery store. The resi-
dents of the village are lucky because the grocer is a good one who
doesn't try to sell their products at prices that are too high. Howev-
er, if prices were too high, the small number of residents would not
make up a big enough market for a second grocery store to open,
given the fixed costs.

In our opinion, this is a very important provision in Mr. Singh's
bill that is entirely appropriate here. That is why we are moving this
amendment, which creates a new section.

[English]
The Chair: To speak to this, yes, go ahead, MP Blaikie.
[Translation]

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Mr. Chair, I am very familiar with
Mr. Singh's bill, to which Mr. Ste-Marie refers, and I am also very
familiar with the arguments that Mr. Ste-Marie has made. I am hap-
py to support his amendment.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you.

Now I will give my ruling on this. There is a ruling from the
chair.
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The amendment seeks to amend section 78 of the Competition
Act. House of Commons Procedure and Practice, third edition,
states on page 771, “an amendment is inadmissible if it proposes to
amend a statute that is not before the committee or a section of the
parent Act, unless the latter is specifically amended by a clause of
the bill.”

Since section 78 of the Competition Act is not being amended by
Bill C-56, it is therefore the opinion of the chair that the amend-
ment is inadmissible.

[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Mr. Chair, I respectfully challenge your
decision.

[English]

The Chair: There's been a challenge to the chair. It's not debat-
able.

We will ask the clerk to take the vote.
(Ruling of the chair overturned: nays 6; yeas 5)
The Chair: Is there more debate on BQ-5, members?

(Amendment agreed to: yeas 11; nays 0 [See Minutes of Proceed-
ings])
The Chair: Now we are on NDP-2.

MP Blaikie, would you like to move this?
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Yes, I will be moving it.

I'm happy to follow up one good amendment with another.

This one does two things. One is that it lowers the threshold for
abuse of dominance, so that you don't have to prove dominance, in-
tent and harm, but you have to prove dominance and either intent or
harm.

It also adjusts the penalties in the act to make them more severe,
including having a higher penalty for subsequent offences.

The Chair: Thank you.
Is there anybody else?

Go ahead, MP Lawrence.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Conservatives are very supportive of
amendments in legislation that improve competition. We will be
supporting this.

The Chair: Members, shall NDP-2 carry?

(Amendment agreed to: yeas 11; nays 0 [See Minutes of Proceed-
ings])

(On clause 8)
The Chair: Members, we are at clause 8, and it's CPC-2.

MP Lawrence, are you speaking to this? Are you moving this?
Mr. Philip Lawrence: Yes, [ am.

This removes the many efficiencies defence. The commissioner
stated full support for this amendment, so what this actually did

was.... | asked the commissioner the question directly, and he's con-
cerned that, if we delete the efficiencies defence without deleting
subsection 90.1(4), there's a back door for the efficiencies defence
to still exist.

We would accept a subamendment to keep subsections 90.1(5)
and 90.1(6), so long as subsection 90.1(4) is still being deleted—if
that's clear.

The Chair: Members, is there any debate or discussion on this?

MP Blaikie.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Yes, it's just to say that I'm happy to have
consistency through the act by eliminating the efficiencies defence
in all its forms, and I'm glad to support the amendment.

The Chair: Members, shall CPC-2 carry?
A recorded vote has been requested.

(Amendment agreed to: yeas 11; nays 0 [See Minutes of Proceed-
ings])

(Clause 8 as amended agreed to)
(Clauses 9 to 13 inclusive agreed to)

The Chair: Shall the short title carry?
Mr. Philip Lawrence: Can I talk?

I am actually going to comment on this.

I did have numerous questions for our colleagues, and actually,
to Mr. Ste-Marie's point, I did ask the officials if they could provide
me with any evidence that this bill would either restore affordabili-
ty to housing or restore affordability to groceries.

Could the officials tell me whether they have any information or
any data to prove that?

Mr. Samir Chhabra (Director General, Marketplace Frame-
work Policy Branch, Department of Industry): Thank you for
the question.

I think there's a long-standing history in evidence-based econom-
ic research that demonstrates that enhanced competition across the
economy does result in greater consumer choice, as well as im-
proved price competition and lower prices for consumers.

That's as far as I think we can go on that.
Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Do you have any evidence as to the actual reduction, when the
reduction will occur and how much it will be?

Mr. Samir Chhabra: Thank you for the question.

Given that the Competition Act applies broadly across all mar-
kets in all sectors in Canada, it's impossible to estimate what kind
of price reduction would happen across the board. The number of
sectors, the number of competitive dynamics at play and the num-
ber of competitors in a given space or market all kind of speak to
the challenge of determining exactly how prices would vary.
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That's not to mention the exogenous variables that would need to
be taken into account as well.

In that sense, it's fairly difficult to pinpoint a single number here.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you.

I know you're doing your job. I know that you're all working
hard in the civil service. You did use some nice big words like “ex-
ogenous” and other nice big words. I think the answer there was
“no”—wasn't it, sir?

You don't have any evidence showing me a timeline or how
much it will cost.

Mr. Samir Chhabra: Again, just to be clear, the Competition
Act is a broad framework act of general application. Its implica-
tions in change are very well founded in terms of economic re-
search that demonstrates that increased competition does drive low-
er prices over time and does increase consumer choice.

To tie a specific figure to it is very challenging, given the number
of variables at play and the number of markets and sectors that
would be impacted by it.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Once again, I do thank you for your
work. Yours is not the political. I will respect that and perhaps put
my more pointed questions toward the government.

I think it's pretty clear and on the record that there is no evidence
that this act will reduce the affordability of housing and groceries.
Perhaps it's just because it cannot be determined, or it is not.

Perhaps it could also be as Mr. Ste-Marie said. Maybe we just
haven't given it enough time. If the officials were given the appro-
priate amount of time or we could enlist private economists who
could calculate such things, we would have the ability.

It is Conservatives' intention to oppose this short title. We have
absolutely no evidence that it will restore affordability for housing
and groceries to the way it was, I might say, eight years ago.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Lawrence.

I have MP Dzerowicz to speak to this on the short title.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: It's always good just to be clear. I'm as-
suming we're doing.... The short title is “Affordable Housing and
Groceries Act”. Then the title right now is “An Act to amend the
Excise Tax Act and the Competition Act”. Am I right on that?

Okay, I just wanted to make sure.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you.

Members, shall the short title carry?

(Clause 1 agreed to on division)

The Chair: Shall the title carry?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Chair: Shall the bill as amended carry?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Chair: Shall the chair report the bill as amended to the
House?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Chair: Shall the committee order a reprint of the bill as
amended for the use of the House at report stage?

Some hon. members: Agreed.
The Chair: Members, thank you very much.
On that, we are suspended until our next meeting.

[The meeting was suspended at 5:18 p.m., Wednesday, November
291

[The meeting resumed at 4:14 p.m., Monday, December 4]

The Chair: We're resuming meeting number 121 of the House of
Commons Standing Committee on Finance. The committee is pro-
ceeding to the consideration of matters related to committee busi-
ness, more specifically the motion of PS Rachel Bendayan and the
amendment of MP Lawrence.

Today's meeting is taking place in a hybrid format, pursuant to
Standing Order 15.1. Members are attending in person in the room
and remotely using the Zoom application.

I would like to make a few comments for the benefit of the mem-
bers.

Please wait until I recognize you by name before speaking. For
those participating by video conference, click on the microphone
icon to activate your mic, and please mute yourself when you are
not speaking. For interpretation, for those on Zoom, you have the
choice, at the bottom of your screen, of floor, English or French au-
dio. For those in the room, you can use the earpiece and select the
desired channel.

Although this room is equipped with a powerful audio system,
feedback events can occur. These can be extremely harmful to in-
terpreters and cause serious injuries. The most common cause of
sound feedback is an earpiece worn too close to the microphone.
We therefore ask all participants to exercise a high degree of cau-
tion when handling the earpieces, especially when your micro-
phone, or your neighbour's microphone, is turned on. In order to
prevent incidents and safeguard the hearing health of the inter-
preters, I invite participants to ensure that they speak into the mi-
crophone their headset is plugged in to and to avoid manipulating
the earbuds by placing them on the table away from the micro-
phone when they are not in use.

This is a reminder that all comments should be addressed
through the chair. For members in the room, if you wish to speak,
please raise your hand. For members on Zoom, please use the
“raise hand” function. The clerk and I will manage the speaking or-
der as best we can, and we appreciate your patience and under-
standing in this regard.

I see that MP Ste-Marie's hand is up, and then I will go through
the speakers list that we had when we last left off.

MP Ste-Marie, go ahead, please.
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[Translation]
Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

On a point of order, I would like to ask the analysts a technical
question. All fall, we held numerous consultations in order to sub-
mit the report on our pre-budget consultations to the Minister and
the House. I would like to know where we stand.

I will take this opportunity to remind my colleagues that we are
deadlocked. If we had used all the meetings we spent debating this
motion to work on writing and adopting the report on our pre-bud-
get consultations, it would be done.

The House is asking us to present it in December. I hope we will
be able to adjourn the debate on this deadlocked motion today and
come back to adopting the report. I would therefore like to ask the
analysts where they are in writing the report.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Ste-Marie.
[English]
MP Hallan, was it on this?
Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: No, I wanted to ask you a question.

The Chair: This is a point of order from MP Ste-Marie. I want
to reply to MP Ste-Marie.

First off, I want to thank the committee. We have done a tremen-
dous job on pre-budget consultations. I'm thanking, of course, the
clerk, the analysts and everybody here who has put in this great ef-
fort. We did get an opportunity, as members know, to travel the
country and get to pretty much every province. From that, we've
gathered a lot of evidence for pre-budget consultations, so we are in
a good place.

I know there are conversations happening to see if we can take it
further. Hopefully, we can get something done. That's where we are
right now. I just had an opportunity to speak with Brett Capwell,
our analyst. He said he has a structure and everything put together. I
know recommendations have come in from the NDP and the Bloc,
and we're looking for any other recommendations that may come in
from members.

[Translation)

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you very much for that, MP Ste-Marie. I ap-
preciate it.

Did you have a point of order, MP Hallan?

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: No.

The Chair: We'll get to the business of our committee. We were
dealing with the motion by PS Bendayan, and the amendment by
MP Lawrence.

On our speaking order, I had MP Blaikie. He had the floor last,
so he will have the floor.

I then had MP Genuis, MP Lawrence, MP Majumdar and MP
Soroka. That was the list I had.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Go ahead, PS Bendayan, on a point of order.
[Translation]

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Mr. Chair, I would like to speak on the
point of order raised by my colleague Mr. Ste-Marie.

I wonder whether one of the two analysts could tell us where we
stand. I think that is what our colleague wanted to know. Maybe the
analysts would like an opportunity to reply to him.

[English]
The Chair: Yes, we'll hear from Brett.

Go ahead.

Mr. Brett Capwell (Committee Researcher): The body of the
report is mostly prepared at this point. I think there are a few small
aspects that are still being drafted or are in translation. I would say
that the next.... If the committee were to meet on the report, the
most logical place to start would be to begin going through the rec-
ommendations.

The Chair: Good.
Thank you, PS Bendayan.

Now we'll go to MP Blaikie.
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Just with respect to those pre-budget consultation issues, I will
say that I'd be happy for the committee to be able to move on to
that in the very short term. I think we just.... With the minister ap-
pearing on Thursday, that gives us two more meetings after today in
our regular schedule. It would be wonderful to be able to spend
those meetings on the pre-budget consultation report.

I think that the best way to do that is to get to a vote on the
amendment and the motion that we have before us. I'm going to
spend a little time talking, but with the caveat that I'm very happy
to stop talking at any point if we have unanimous consent to give
each party another two or three minutes to speak and then proceed
to a vote on the amendment and a vote on the motion.

Mr. Jasraj Singh Hallan: We don't need to speak anymore.
Mr. Philip Lawrence: We're ready to go to a vote.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: If there's agreement to go to a vote on the
amendment and then on the main motion, I'm prepared to do that,
Mr. Chair. Otherwise, I'm sure I can dream up a few things to say.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I'm sorry. I don't want to crosstalk, but we
are prepared to go to a vote on the amendment. I can see a path to
finishing today.

That's what I can give you right now.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I won't stand in the way of that, Mr. Chair.
We're prepared to have votes, as I say, on the amendment and the
main motion today.

Let's get going.

The Chair: What I'm hearing is that members are asking for a
vote on the amendment and then on the main motion.
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Mr. Philip Lawrence: We want the amendment. I want to be
clear. We are agreeable to vote immediately on the amendment.

I'll put all of our cards on the table. We have another amendment
that we want to put forward, but we don't want a lengthy debate on
that. Then we'll proceed to the vote on the main motion.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Okay.

The Chair: We are going to a vote on the amendment.

(Amendment negatived: nays 7; yeas 4 [See Minutes of Proceed-
ings])

The Chair: Go ahead, MP Blaikie.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: I think we can go to Mr. Lawrence.

The Chair: Okay.

MP Lawrence, the floor is yours.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: I'd like to move the following amendment
to the main motion. We're replacing paragraph three with “Stands
with Canadians who wish to protect the CPP and encourages Alber-
tans to remain in the CPP so that it can be secured for all Albertans
and Canadians”.

The Chair: Okay.
MP Blaikie, you have the floor.
[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The interpreters are signalling that they do not have the text of
the motion, so they would like to have the French version of the
motion.

Thank you.

[English]
Mr. Philip Lawrence: We'll send it right now.
The Chair: Let's give them some time.

Would you like some time, MP Ste-Marie, to get it in French?

[Translation]

Mr. Gabriel Ste-Marie: I would like the clerk or the Conserva-
tive members to send us the motion in French.

Thank you.
[English]
The Chair: We'll suspend then.
1620
¢ 1620 (Pause)
® (1625)

The Chair: Okay, members, you should have received the
French translation.

I'm looking at MP Ste-Marie, and he's giving me a thumbs-up. It
is good.

On this amendment, is there discussion or debate?
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Yes, I'm happy to offer a couple thoughts.

First of all, I want to say thank you for what I think is a reason-
able amendment.

Although it's not one I intend to support, I do think it's construc-
tive, and I think it's the right kind of dialogue to have around this
table. I don't think it's a terrible amendment, but I think part of
what's been at stake in the debate so far is the appropriateness of
having some criticism for other levels of government. Of course,
we see many times members of the House offer criticisms of vari-
ous levels of government.

For me, I'm very much of the view that this initiative coming
from the Smith government is political from the get-go. It's a politi-
cal criticism that's meant to create a certain kind of political discon-
tent, and I think it's unfortunate. There are many ways that
provinces can do that, and it's fair game to criticize the federal gov-
ernment. However, when it comes to the CPP, the wide level of
consensus that's there about the CPP and the good performance of
the CPP over a long time, I do think it's not something that should
be brought into some of the typical debates between provinces and
the federal government.

I don't really think, in this case, that the federal government is
the one that's going to suffer for this debate, and I talked at the last
meeting a little bit about how even the spectre of these changes has
the potential to do damage and to do damage now. Canadian work-
ers and people who depend on the CPP are most likely to get hurt.
It's not Justin Trudeau and the Liberals. It's not the federal govern-
ment generally. I think being able to name that in the motion is an
important part of what we're doing here, and it's why I don't intend
to support the amendment.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, MP Blaikie.
Is there anyone else? No, okay.
We'll go to the vote.

(Amendment negatived: nays 7; yeas 4 [See Minutes of Proceed-
ings))

The Chair: We're going to the main motion.
Who would like to speak to the main motion?

Go ahead, MP Lawrence.

Mr. Philip Lawrence: Thank you.

I'll be true to my word. It won't be a lengthy debate. I just want to
get a couple of comments on the record.

As you can see from these amendments we've brought forward,
particularly the second, Conservatives stand in full support of the
CPP, and our encouragement is that Alberta stay within the CPP
regime.
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That being said, unfortunately, the divisive rhetoric of this mo- The Chair: We are now on the main motion. Is there any further
tion is really just meant for purely political reasons, and that's  discussion?
what's come across. It's clear from this that the goal is not to show
solidarity or support for the Canada pension plan but instead to pick We will go to a vote on the main motion.
fights, unfortunately, with our provincial counterparts, which I don't
think is productive. Quite frankly, I don't think calling names is a (Motion agreed to: yeas 10; nays 1 [See Minutes of Proceed-
way to encourage Albertans to stay in the CPP. ings])

Obviously, Conservatives stand alone. That's not unusual, and we Mr. Philip Lawrence: Mr. Chair, before you....

ill continue to stand for what's right. . .
W " W £ The Chair: Actually, since don't have anything else, we're ad-

With that, we Conservatives would like to call for a vote on this. journed at this time.
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